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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-6249

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its ceficate of incorporation)

Ohio 34-6513657
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)
7 Bulfinch Place, Suite 500, Boston, Massachuse 02114
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

(617) 570-4614

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) afie Act:

Title of Each Clas: Name of Exchange on Which Registere
Common Shares, $1.00 par valu New York Stock Exchange
9.25% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Shares, $1 04 value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢iie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dbéturities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sectic3 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Ad9®4 during th:
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periottti@registrant was required to file such reppeajl (2) has been subject to such filing requirgstor at least tt
past 90 days. YedX] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant nésnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ib site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T (8§ 232.405 of this chapter) during theceing 12 months (or for such shorter period thatréegistrant
was required to submit and post such files). Y&  No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ oontained herein, and will not be containedhltest of
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfeation statements incorporated by reference ibIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrol0-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&wge the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer,” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file O Accelerated filel

Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 22b- Yes O No
As of March 1, 2014, there were 36,409,710 Comniwarés outstanding.
At June 30, 2013, the aggregate market value o€ttramon Shares held by non-affiliates was $3946%31,

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Staent for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, whgcbxpected to be filed with the Securities andraxge
Commission within 120 days after the Registrarigsdl year ended December 31, 2013, are incorgbtateeference into Part 11l hereof.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS

Any statements included in this prospectus, inclgdiny statements in the document that are incat@aby reference herein that are not strictlyohisal are
forward-looking statements within the meaning @ sfafe harbor provisions of the Private Securitiggation Reform Act of 1995. Any such forward-kiag
statements contained or incorporated by refereacshshould not be relied upon as predictionsitfré events. Certain such forward-looking stateémean be
identified by the use of forward-looking terminojoguch as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “shuld,” “seeks,” “approximately,” “intends,” “plaris;pro
forma,” “estimates” or “anticipates” or the negatithereof or other variations thereof or comparsdinology, or by discussions of strategy, plamgntions or
anticipated or projected events, results or comuiiti Such forward-looking statements are depermeassumptions, data or methods that may be ircta@re

imprecise and they may be incapable of being re@liduch forward-looking statements include statesneith respect to:

. the declaration or payment of dividends by

. the ownership, management and operation of prese

. potential acquisitions or dispositions of our pnties, assets or other busines:

. our policies regarding investments, acquisitiofspaksitions, financings and other matte

. our qualification as a real estate investment waster the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as andemdech we refer to as the Coc
. the real estate industry and real estate markefsrieral.

. the availability of debt and equity financir

. interest rates

. general economic condition

. supply of real estate investment opportunitiesdgmand

. trends affecting us or our asse

. the effect of acquisitions or dispositions on cafgation and financial flexibility

. the anticipated performance of our assets andafiger] properties and businesses, including, withoitation, statements regarding anticipa

revenues, cash flows, funds from operations, egsiiefore interest, depreciation and amortizapooperty net operating income, operating or profit
margins and sensitivity to economic downturns dicgrated growth or improvements in any of the fmiag; anc

. our ability, and that of our assets and acquireg@rties and businesses to gr

You are cautioned that, while forward-looking sta¢mts reflect our good faith beliefs, they arequarantees of future performance and they invohan and
unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results aiffer materially from those in the forward-lookjistatements as a result of various factors. Tioenration
contained or incorporated by reference in this repod any amendment hereof, including, withouttition, the information set forth in “Item 1A - §i Factors”
below or in any risk factors in documents thatinoerporated by reference in this report, idendifimportant factors that could cause such diffezen@/e undertake
no obligation to publicly release the results of egvisions to these forward-looking statements thay reflect any future events or circumstances.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Winthrop Realty Trust is a real estate investmerdttformed under the laws of the State of Ohio.d®teduct our business through our wholly owned aljey
partnership, WRT Realty L.P., a Delaware limitedipership, which we refer to as the Operating Fastnip. All references to the “Trust”, “we”, “us’ur”,
“WRT” or the “Company” refer to Winthrop Realty T8uand its consolidated subsidiaries, including@perating Partnership.

We are engaged in the business of owning real popad real estate related assets which we caregoto three reportable segments: (i) the owriprsh
investment properties including wholly owned prdigsrand investments in joint ventures which owrestment properties, which we refer to as operating
properties; (ii) the origination and acquisitionsefior loans, mezzanine loans and debt secucititteralized directly or indirectly by commercald multi-family
real property, which we refer to as loan assets;(&i) the ownership of equity and debt interdststher real estate investment trusts (REITs)chviwve refer to as
REIT securities.

At December 31, 2013 we held (i) interests in ofieggproperties totaling $868,736,000 containingragimately 5.3 million square feet of rentablecpand 6,204
apartment units; (i) loan assets totaling $147,00Q and (iii) cash and cash equivalents of $122(8ID. We did not hold any REIT securities at Deloen81, 201

Our executive offices are located at 7 BulfinchcBleSuite 500, Boston, Massachusetts 02114 andJévicho Plaza, Jericho, New York 11753. Our telegho
number is (617) 570-4614 and our website is locatédp://www.winthropreit.com The information contained on our website doescoostitute part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. On our website you chtain, free of charge, a copy of our Annual ReparForm 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, €ntr
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those refiledsor furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) ofd)®f the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as as0
reasonably practicable after we file such mat@liedtronically with, or furnish it to, the Secuesi and Exchange Commission, which we refer toeSEC.

History

We began operations in 1961 under the name FinsinUReal Estate Equity and Mortgage Investmentsciiatiged our name to Winthrop Realty Trust in 2005.
Since January 1, 2004, we have been externally geainay FUR Advisors LLC, which we refer to as FURVsors or our Advisor. Prior to this past year,FFU
Advisors was an entity owned by our current exeeutifficer sand senior management and membersa@rsaanagement of AREA Property Partners, a NevkYo
based real estate investment advisor. During 2648ain of the AREA senior management member’séstén FUR Advisor was redeemed and, as a réduR
Advisors is now majority owned by our current exeaiofficers and senior management, including M. Ashner and Carolyn Tiffany.

Commencing January 1, 2004, we began to seek ot apportunistic investments across the real esfaetrum, whether they be operating properties &ssets
or REIT securities. On January 1, 2005 we eleaddrim the Operating Partnership and contributedfadur assets to the Operating Partnership imaxge for
100% of the ownership interests in the Operatingneeship. Our Operating Partnership structure,roonly referred to as an umbrella partnership retdte
investment trust, provides us with additional flekiy when acquiring properties as it enablesaadquire properties for cash and/or by issuirggtters, as a form
of consideration, limited partnership interestsim operating partnership thereby enabling usrtagire transactions which may defer tax gainsfeeller while
preserving our available cash for other purposes.

Management

We have engaged FUR Advisors to administer ouiraffacluding seeking, servicing and managing ouestments. For providing these and other servitlgR,
Advisors is entitled to a base management feeiar@drtain instances, an incentive fee and terriandee. See “Employees” below for a descriptiothef fees
payable to FUR Advisors.

Pursuant to our bylaws, the consent of our BoarBira$tees is required to acquire or dispose ohaestment with a value in excess of $10,000,000.eRecutive
officers are permitted to acquire or dispose offi@estment with an aggregate value of $10,000,008ss without the consent of our Board of Trustegsvever, if
such transaction is with (i) our Advisor (and angeessor advisor), Michael Ashner, or any of thespective affiliates; (ii) certain stated entitiesich are, or were,
affiliated with us; (iii) a beneficial owner of mathan 4.9% of our outstanding common shares dafflugal interest which we refer to as our Commomu8h, either
directly or upon the conversion of any of our prefd shares; or (iv) a beneficial owner of morentha®% of any other entity in which we hold a 10Pgreater
interest, then regardless of the amount of theséretion, such transaction must be approved by arityapf our independent trustees, acting in ticajpacity as
members of our Conflicts Committee.
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Investment, Operating and Capital Strateqy

We are engaged in the business of owning and nmagagal property and real estate related assetsh@iness objective is to maximize long term shealder value
through a total return value approach to real estatesting which emphasizes superior risk adjustadns. These investments have in the past Ingdnay in the
future have, returns weighted towards the backoétide invested life which negatively impact cutrearnings and funds from operations or FFO. Assalt of our
emphasis on total return, while we seek to achéestble, predictable dividend for our shareholdeesdo not select or manage our investments fant-garm
dividend growth, but rather towards achieving ollexaperior total return. While this approach magult in short-term uneven earnings, we believeapproach
will result in long term increased entity value.

We are a diversified REIT and as such we are ablevest in transactions which a dedicated REIhwirrow investment parameters would be unablensider,
resulting in a broad range of investment opporiesitThese opportunities include different investhigpes, sectors and geographic areas all athgitgiels in the
capital stack. In addition, because of our sizeaveeable to make investments in transactions teagraaller and would generally be disregarded igefareal estate
investors. Further, we also acquire assets thr@mighventures and strategic alliances which alles$o employ third party co-investment capitairtaximize
diversification of risk and reduce capital concatiom and, in certain instances, leverage off ointjventure partnes’ experience and expertise in specific geogr:
areas and/or specific asset types.

While we invested substantial capital in significaaw investments in 2013, most notably the padfatquisition of four luxury residential multifalpihigh rise
apartment buildings and our election to participathe hotel portion of our 701 Seventh Avenuesstment, we have of late observed very competitiieng for
quality real estate assets. We believe this priisragproduct of a continued relatively low inténege environment and increasing amounts of dagtiitected to real
estate and real estate related assets. We presgptlgt that during 2014, absent a change in tlreaeeonomic economy, new opportunities that meet ou
investment criteria may be limited. Nevertheless will continue to seek new investments and loo&upexisting portfolio for follow-on investment prtunities.

Consistent with this view, we have evaluated oabiized mature assets with a view towards sellimuge assets to take advantage of rising pricetavel begun
executing on such sales. In so doing, we may iserear cash balances in order to take advantagfeaofes in the macroeconomic environment that meste
favorable investment opportunities or consider ogf@rnatives.

Subject to economic and credit market conditioresywll seek to:

. acquire operating properties of specific propeypes and locations that we belie
. are undervaluec
. present an opportunity to outperform the marketplahbile providing recurring current or potentialcurring cash flow, c
. can provide superior returns through an infusionagfital and/or improved manageme
. acquire portfolios or interests in portfolios abperties with characteristics similar to the abc
. acquire loan assets using the same criteriagferating properties, as well as consideratidoarf assets that may present an opportunity féo asquire
through foreclosure or otherwise an equity inteieshe underlying real estate collate!
. acquire securities issued by other REITs we beleeaundervalued; ar
. divest investments as they mature in valuéégbint where we may be unlikely to achieve bdltten market returns in order to redeploy capdabhat we
pelieve to be higher yielding opportunities. Cotesis with our total return approach to investirigs inot possible to predict when we will exit guarticular
investment

Our primary sources of income are rental incometandnt recoveries from leases of our operatingentas, interest income and discount accretiom foor loan
assets, and interest and dividend income and d@ppicecfrom our investments in REIT securities.

We utilize leverage to enhance our total potemétirn. We seek to limit risk associated with métion of leverage by seeking to make our investsigmough
discrete single purpose entities in which we doguatranty, other than customary environmental andurse carve-out guarantees and, in certain iresamterest
guarantees as credit enhancements, the debt sfrmle purpose subsidiaries, thereby limiting tisk of loss to that particular investment or jorenture.

5



Table of Contents

As a REIT, we are primarily dependent on extergaity and debt financing to fund the growth of business. The dividend requirements for a REITiggmtly
limit our ability to re-invest cash flow and capifsoceeds. We have historically used public eqoigrkets, joint venture equity, and secured finageis our
primary sources of capital. This includes raisiagital through public offerings of equity and dsbturities. In this regard, in September 2013 wedd an
additional 2,750,000 Common Shares through a poffiszing. We expect to continue to fund our invesits through one or a combination of: cash reserve
borrowings under our credit facility, redeploymenftapital from timely asset sales, property lodhs,issuance of debt or equity securities anddimeation of joint
ventures. Finally, we maintain a stock purchasedividend reinvestment plan which enables our exgsshareholders to reinvest their dividends a$ aspurchase
additional shares at a discounted price.

Assets

Operating Properties

See Item 2. Properties for a description of ourr@ieg Properties

Operating Property Acquisition and Financing Adies

1515 Market Street — loan modification, equity dsijion and refinancing- On December 12, 2012 we acquired for $58,650e0800,000,000 non-performing first
mortgage loan collateralized by a 20 story, 514 8ffare foot office building located at 1515 Mar®&eet, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (“1515 Markez&”). On
February 1, 2013 we entered into a loan modificasigreement which extended the maturity date tougep 1, 2016, increased the loan balance to $91062,

from $70,000,000, and changed the interest rabe the greater of 7.5% or LIBOR plus 6.5%.

Simultaneously with the modification of the loarg acquired, for $10,000, an indirect 49% equitgriest, including the 0.1% general partner intefeshe entity
(“1515 Market Owner”) that owns the property lochtd 1515 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvakéaa result, we consolidate this property asedfrBary 1,
2013 and all intercompany transactions, includhmgse associated with our loan receivable are editachin consolidation.

On April 25, 2013 1515 Market Owner obtained a $88,000 non-recourse first mortgage loan (the “15it& Mortgage”) from an unaffiliated third partjhe
1515 First Mortgage bears interest at LIBOR pl@@per annum, requires monthly payments of intemlst and matures on May 1, 2016. On the same tete,
1515 Market Owner entered into an interest ratgpsagreement which effectively fixes LIBOR at 0.5@86the term of the 1515 First Mortgage. We recéive
$38,472,000 of loan proceeds from the 1515 Firsttydge financing which reduced the balance on thegage loan we hold to $33,157,000. The loan lcalaan
be increased through future funding advances @& @ggregate of $6,000,000 to cover tenant impremésncapital expenditures and leasing commisskorseach
$500,000 of future advances, the interest rateasas by 0.10%. As of December 31, 2013 we hadcheddan additional $1,500,000 resulting in a 0.8&taase in
the interest rate. The loan modification also pilesius with a 40% participation interest in theeaafsa capital event. At December 31, 2013 the ivarnold had a
balance of $36,171,000 inclusive of accrued inteegsl entitles us to interest in an amount equalrate of 14.3% (subject to increase by 0.10%#oh additional
$500,000 we advance). At December 31, 2013 oustnvent in this loan was $21,098,000 resulting ieféective interest rate on our cash investmetigasset ¢
19.6%.

Summit Pointe Apartments — property acquisitidbr-October 25, 2013 we contributed $4,962,000 fidB@26 equity interest in a newly formed venture.tim
same date, the venture acquired a 184 unit gaitnaent complex known as Summit Pointe Apartmierated in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma for a gross pase
price of $14,500,000. In connection with the acitjiois, the venture assumed an existing $9,248,080rhortgage loan. The loan bears interest ateaafds.7% per
annum, requires monthly payments of principal artérest and matures in February 2021. Pursuahettetms of the venture agreement, we hold anyeouérest
which entitles us to an 8% priority return fromcdlew and, upon disposition of the property, a imiam priority return equal to a 12% IRR.

Luxury Residentie— property acquisitior- On October 31, 2013 we acquired through a whalged venture four newly constructed luxury apartnieiildings for
an aggregate purchase price of $246,000,000. Tdpepres are located in Phoenix, Arizona; Stamf@ahnecticut; Houston, Texas and San Pedro, Caiomhe
properties consist of an aggregate of 761 unsasideatial condominium or apartment units and apprately 25,000 square feet of retail space. Theiiattpn was
funded with a $150,000,000 first mortgage loan wWhsccross collateralized by all four propertieeeToan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus @2%yires
monthly payments of interest only and matures otokir 31, 2016 with two one year extension optidine balance of the purchase was funded from castand.
On the same date, the venture
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entered into an interest rate swap agreement veffebtively fixes LIBOR at 0.69% for the initialrra of the first mortgage. In addition, the ventaoguired two
interest rate caps, each with a notional amou$66f000,000 for an aggregate cost of $390,000iritial cap is effective for the first one year emsion period and
caps LIBOR at 4%. The second cap is effectivetierdecond one year extension period and caps LIBGRo.

On November 6, 2013 New Valley LLC (“New Valley"putributed approximately $16,365,000 to the eritigt acquired the properties in exchange for aimentl
16.3% interest in the properties. We retained ar%3nterest in the venture and have the right &ierall decisions with respect to each of the piteg= other than
the Stamford, Connecticut property, subject to ioirig New Valley’s consent to certain major deaisioWith respect to the Stamford, Connecticut prigperior to
November 6, 2016 the consent of New Valley is neglion all matters other than those that are adtrétive in nature. New Valley has the right at Eime after
November 6, 2015 (or in certain instances prioretw, but on or prior to November 6, 2016, to hisénterest in the venture redeemed for a 50%r@st in the
Stamford, Connecticut property.

Amherst, New Yoi-During 2013 we acquired four residential parceja@eht to our Amherst, New York office property for aggregate purchase price of
$896,000. We are in the process of leveling theiiaed parcels and expanding the parking area fopffice property. Development of this propertgipected to b
completed during the second quarter of 2014. Tta éstimated cost to complete the development 825,000, of which $482,000 has been incurred as o
December 31, 2013.

Houston, Texa— Non Controlling Interest Buring 2013 we acquired two addition®4 limited partner units in 5400 Westheimer Holder(\Westheimer”) for an
aggregate price of $150,000. As a result of thesesactions, we now own 32% of Westheimer.

Churchill, Pennsylvania — financing®On June 28, 2013 we obtained a $5,100,000 firstgage on our Churchill, Pennsylvania property. [t bears interest at a

rate of 3.5% per annum, requires monthly paymeinpsiocipal and interest and matures on AugusiOPA42 After closing costs, we received net procedds
approximately $4,922,000.

Operating Property Acquisitions and Financing Aittiv Equity Investments

WRT-Elad Lender/Equity (Sullivan Center) — loan ification, equity investment and refinancir@n August 21, 2013 we acquired from an affiliateetzefd Canad
Inc. (“Elad”), our joint venture partner, its 50%injt venture interest (the “Elad Interest”) in WHETad One South State Lender LP (“Lender LP”) fod $80,000
(“Acquisition Price”).The mezzanine loan had an outstanding balancerdfipal and accrued interest of approximately $56,200 at the time the Elad Interest\
acquired. Concurrently with the acquisition of ad Interest, we entered into an option agreerfibat‘Elad Option”) which grants Elad the optiont Imot the
obligation, to repurchase its interest in LenderftuPthe Acquisition Price adjusted for the proarabrtion of any accrued and unpaid interest amtipal payments
made by the borrower. Per the terms of the agreenthe Elad Interest and Elad Option cannot besfesred to parties other than us and Elad. Thme ¢éithe Elad
Option corresponds with Lender LP’s mezzanine loan.

On October 18, 2013 the owner of the Sullivan Cemiteperty obtained a new $113,500,000 first mayégi@an. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3 9&annurn
requires monthly payments of interest only and megton November 6, 2018. The proceeds from theweaa used to repay the existing $110,550,000 first
mortgage loan which bore interest at a rate of%Ip@r annum.

In February 2013 our joint venture which holds radliriect future interest in Sullivan Center increhge future ownership interest from 65% to 70%jchtinterest
was further increased to 76% in November 2013.iftieases were in exchange for a forbearance bgldrdrP with respect to the failure by the borroteemake
required debt service payments from January 20b8i¢fin October 2013. Our ownership interest becatirest in 2018.

Atrium Mall LLC—- equity investmentGn June 20, 2013 we, through a newly formed 50s8@ yenture with Marc Realty, acquired a non-perfing $10,650,000
mortgage loan for $6,625,000. In addition, thetjerenture paid $1,137,000 to fund escrows at thsilg. We invested a total of $3,935,000 in thistjgenture
during 2013. The loan was in maturity default &t time of acquisition and was acquired with theritibn of foreclosing or working out a consensisasignment
with the borrower. The loan was collateralized Hgasehold interest in the Atrium Mall in Chicaglbnois. The leasehold interest is for 71,000 sguaet of
commercial/retail space that comprises the bottoeetfloors of an office building known as the JarRe Thompson building of which the lease expires i
September 2014 with six automatic five-year exmsiwhich are exercisable at the lessee’s optiba.blilding is owned by the State of lllinois.
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On July 26, 2013 the joint venture entered intagreement with the borrower pursuant to which tredwer conveyed the leasehold interest to thewverin lieu o
foreclosure. Accordingly, the venture now holds l#esehold interest in the property.

701 Seventh Avenue, New York, New York — equégtiment During 2013, with respect to the joint venture timalirectly owns the property located at 701 Selw
Avenue, New York, New York we elected to particgat the future hotel development, and during 20&8made additional cash contributions to the wentu
totaling $24,465,000. We have contributed an aolfiti $33,419,000 in 2014 bringing our total capitattributed at such date to $86,855,000 agairst ou
$125,000,000 commitment. The contribution was n@eurrently with the refinancing of the propertgsting indebtedness with a new $237,500,000 gage
loan and $315,000,000 mezzanine loan of which 806000 was advanced at closing with the balanbe @dvanced for constructions costs of the apprately
80,000 square feet of retail space which will iidan approximately 120 foot high, 20,000 squané dtate of the art LED sign. Both the mortgage laad
mezzanine loan bear interest at LIBOR plus 8% peum, require payments of interest only and malareiary 31, 2017, subject to two-one year exterigions.
These loans refinanced the then existing mortgaderezzanine loans that bore interest at LIBOR pli$#é per annum.

In addition, the venture also entered into two &ddal loan agreements providing for supplemertahk totalling $262,500,000, which agreements eletih
escrow and only become effective upon the satistacif certain conditions. At such time as suctnlagreements are released from escrow, if ahallyénture will
be permitted to draw on such loans to provide &t construction financing in order to develop=2 room hotel which will be constructed aboverttail
component. If fully funded, the maximum aggregabtdamong the various loans funded would be $805000.

Simultaneous with entering into the loans, the wenexecuted an agreement with a wholly-ownediaf§lof Marriott International, Inc. (NASDAQ: MARYD
manage and operate an “EDITION" hotel at the priypdihe hotel will include 452-rooms and approxiehat30,000 square feet of food, beverage and extenent
space. As additional collateral for the lendersyrid#t International, Inc. agreed to provide theders with the right upon an uncured event of defader the loan
agreement by the venture to require Marriott tachase the hotel component of the property durieditkt two years after opening for $314,600,000.

Construction of the retail and hotel space is etqubto be completed in 2017. It is currently buddehat we will contribute an additional $13,14%,@Qring 2014
against our remaining commitment of $38,145,000.

WRT-Fenway Wateridge — mortgage lea®n October 15, 2013, our venture that holdsptoperty obtained a $7,000,000 first mortgage lmaits San Diego,
California property. The loan bears interest atgreater of 6%, or LIBOR plus 4.5% per annum, rezgimonthly payments of interest only and matures o
November 1, 2016. The venture purchased an intexestap which caps LIBOR at 2.5%. In connectidth ¥he financing, we received a distribution of 2#5,00C
in partial redemption of our preferred equity invesnt. We retain the balance of our preferred gdnierest as well as a 50% equity interest invérgture.

Operating Property Disposition Activity

Andover, Massachuse— property sale On March 28, 2013 we sold our Andover, Massadisiséice property to an independent third padydross sale
proceeds of $12,000,000. After costs and pro-ratiae received net proceeds of approximately $B100® and recorded a gain of $2,775,000 on theo$ale

property.

Deer Valley, Arizon— property sale ©On June 11, 2013 we sold our Deer Valley, Arizofie property to an independent third party foogg sale proceeds of
$20,500,000. After costs and pro-rations, we reskivet proceeds of approximately $19,585,000 acatded a gain of $6,745,000 on the sale of thequtpp

Denton, Texa— property sale ©On July 2, 2013 we sold our Denton, Texas retaipprty to an independent third party for gross padeeeds of $1,850,000. After
costs and pro-rations, we received net proceedpmiximately $1,703,000. No gain or loss was reizegl on the sale of the property.

Seabrook, Texas — property salen August 1, 2013 we sold our Seabrook, Texas! ioperty to an independent third party for greale proceeds of $3,300,000.
After costs and pro-rations, we received net prdseé approximately $3,202,000 and recorded a gfef1,428,000 on the sale of the property.
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Lisle, lllinois— property sale -©n December 17, 2013 we sold our Lisle, lllinoiagf property known as 701 Arboretum to an indegendhird party for gross sale
proceeds of $2,500,000. After costs and pro-ratieaseceived net proceeds of approximately $2,38llghd recorded a gain of $58,000 on the saleegbitbperty.

Meriden, ConnecticL— property sale On February 26, 2014 we sold our Meriden, Connetpcoperty to an independent third party for gresie proceeds of
$27,500,000. After costs and pro-rations and asfearof the mortgage debt, we received net procekdpproximately $5,106,000 on the sale of theerty. This
property was under contract to be sold with a $80@non-refundable deposit as of December 31, 2Ii8.property was classified as held for salefas o
December 31, 2013 and the results of operations begen classified as discontinued operations faeailods presented in the consolidated interiraritial
statements.

Operating Property Dispositions through our Eguityestments

Sealy Airpark — Nashville, Tennessee — foreclosu@s October 7, 2013 the lender foreclosed ondae that was collateralized by this property. Wil loeir
interest in this property through a venture thas wenaged by our partner and had previously writtemn our investment to zero. Accordingly, for ficéal
reporting purposes we did not recognize a gaigs in connection with the foreclosure.

Sealy Newmarket — Atlanta, Georgia — foreclosu@n December 2, 2013 the lender foreclosed ototrethat was collateralized by this property. Vé&hour
interest in this property through a venture thas wenaged by our partner and had previously writtemn our investment to zero. Accordingly, for ficéal
reporting purposes we did not recognize a gaings in connection with the foreclosure.

Operating Property Significant Leasing Activity

Amherst, New Yoi-On July 29, 2013 we entered into a lease amendwitinthe existing tenant, Ingram Micro Inc., whigases the entire 200,000 square foot
premises. The initial lease was signed in 1988veamischeduled to expire October 31, 2013 (sulxgetstd five-year extensions). The new lease extémelserm
through October 31, 2023 with one ten-year or tiwe-year renewal options. Lease payments under thedmesn remained unchanged through the expiratighe
original lease. Annual rents under the originatéewere $2,016,000. Annual rents under the ameedsd are $1,802,000 for the period November 13 8xbugh
October 31, 2018 and $2,002,000 for the period Rdpar 1, 2018 through October 31, 2023. The basdgenbject to increase upon the delivery of adilétl
parking area to the tenant, which is expected todoepleted during the second quarter of 2014. Ahrards are expected to increase by approxima@d@H00
upon the delivery of the additional parking.
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Loan Assets

The following table sets forth certain informatiatating to our loans receivable, loan securit@sied at fair value and loans held in equity inments. All

information presented is as of December 31, 201 thfusands).

Carrying
Loan Amount Par Maturity Senior

Name Position Asset Type Location Stated Interest Rate ( (2) Value Date (3) Debt (4)

Loans Receivabl

Hotel Wales (10 Whole loal Hotel New York, NY LIBOR +4% (5) $ 20,10. $20,00( 10/05/1: $ —

Shops at Waile B Note Retail Maui, HI 6.150% 6,292  7,58¢ 10/06/1¢ 106,17(

Legacy Orchari Securec Corporate Loa n/a 15.00% 9,75C  9,75((6) 10/31/1: —

Queensridge Towel Whole loal Multi-Family Las Vegas, N\LIBOR + 11.5% (7 2,94z  2,90¢ 11/15/1¢ —

San Marbeya (1€ Whole loal Multi-Family ~ Tempe, AZ 5.88% 28,54t 29,30¢ 01/01/1¢ —

Playa Vista * Mezzanine Office Playa Vista, C; LIBOR +14.25% 10,327 10,25( 01/23/1¢ 80,30(

Churchill Whole loai Mixed use  Churchill, PA LIBOR + 3.75% 68¢ 68¢ 06/01/1¢ —

Rockwell (8) Mezzanine Industrial Shirley, NY 12.00% — 1,48¢ 05/01/1¢ 16,38

50C-512 7th Ave B Note Office New York, NY 7.19% 10,25 10,87: 07/11/1¢ 243,87(

Pinnacle Il B Note Office Burbank, CA 6.313% 4,64¢ 5,071 09/06/1¢ 83,46¢

Poipu Shopping Villag B Note Retalil Kauai, HI 6.618% 2,05¢ 2,82 01/06/1" 28,541

Wellington Tower Mezzanine Mixed use New York, NY 6.79% 2,991  3,50Z 07/11/1° 22,50(

Mentor Building Whole loal Retail Chicago, IL 10.00% 2,51z 2,497 09/10/1° —
$101,10(

Loan Securitie:

WBCMT 2007 WHLS8 CMBS Hotel Various LIBOR+1.75% $ 22€ $ 1,13( 03/09/1+ $1,232,00
$ 22¢

Loans in Equity Investme

Stamford Office * Mezzanine Office Stamford, CT LIBOR+3.25% $ 9,06¢ $ 9,40( 08/06/1« $ 400,00(
$ 9,064

* Loan Asset was acquired in 2013. Additional loaseasletails are described bela

(1) Represents contractual interest rates without gieffert to loan discount and accretion. The stateztest rate may be significantly different tham effective interes

rate on certain loan investmer

(2) Carrying amount includes all applicable accruedriest and accretion of discou

(3) Maturity date after giving effect to all contractextensions

(4) Debt which is senior in payment and priority to aaar.

(5) Minimum rate of 7.0%

(6) Parvalue is presented at the borrc's discounted payoff option (DPO) amot

(7)  Minimum rate of 12.0%

(8) Loan defaulted in December 2013. Carrying amourectsf a $348 loan loss reser

(9) Does not include our equity interests in Concord,GE) Management and WI-Elad.

(10) Serve as collateral for our secured financings. Weighted average borrowing cost for these loanss8%. The ratio of debt to receivable is 5¢

Loan Asset Origination Activit

Playa Vista, Californie— loan origination- On January 24, 2013 we originated a $20,500,00@¢améze loan collateralized by a 260,000 squaredtfate campus i
the Los Angeles, California area. The loan is sdimate to an $80,300,000 mortgage loan, maturasada23, 2015, bears interest at LIBOR plus 14.2&%
annum, with a 0.5% LIBOR floor and requires payreaiftinterest only at a rate of 8.25% with the rieimag interest being accrued and added to principal
connection with the origination, the borrower paidis an origination fee of $205,000. On March@,2we sold a 50% pari passu participation intérette loan
for $10,250,000 and gave the transferee a credil®®,000 from the initial loan origination.
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Loan Asset Repayment/Disposition Acti

Disney B Not« sale of participation ©On January 25, 2013 we sold for $9,000,000 a 10&¢&icfpation interest in the $10,000,000 B Notdatefalized by an offic
building located in Burbank, California. The sdfjiprice was equal to our carrying value of the BeéNo

127 West 2% Street — loan payoffOn March 1, 2013 the $8,583,000 loan collateedlilay the property located at 127 West 25th Sty York, New York was
paid off in full at par.

180 N Michigan — loan payoffOn March 28, 2013 the $5,200,000 loan collateealiby the property located at 180 North Michigare#ue, Chicago, lllinois was
paid off in full at par.

Fenway She- loan payoff -On June 14, 2013 the $2,250,000 loan collateraligeithe property located at Shea Blvd. in Phoefiiizona was paid off in full at par.

Renaissance Wa— loan payoff -On October 31, 2013 the $3,000,000 loan collatedlby the property known as Renaissance WalkdddatAtlanta, Georgia
was paid off in full at par.

Queensridge Tower — loan paymenBuring 2013, several of the condominium units delalizing the Queensridge Tower loan receivableevgeld resulting in
payments to us of approximately $35,863,000. Weentadresponding pay downs of $23,770,000 in fuls&ection of our recourse debt with KeyBank whighs
collateralized by the Queensridge Tower loan rexse

Loan Portfolio— loan sale +n February 2014 we sold our interests in the |la@tared directly or indirectly by Hotel Wales, Wejton Tower, 500-512 Seventh
Avenue, Legacy Orchard and San Marbeya for an ggtgesales price of $42,917,000 and the seniocipations in the Hotel Wales and San Marbeya |pasich
for financial reporting purposes were classified@asured financings, were deemed assumed by thbgser for financial reporting purposes. In conpeavith the
sale, we retained an interest only participatioeach of the Legacy Orchard loan and the Hotel ¥Malan entitling us to payments equal to intere&t%%o per
annum on the principal amount of the Legacy Orcli@aid and 0.5% per annum on the principal amouth@Hotel Wales loan.

Loan Asset Activity through our Equity Investme

RE CDO Managemetr asset salesOn February 20, 2013, RE CDO Management (“RE CD@xi entity in which we hold a 50% interest, stddsubordinated
interests in, and collateral management agreemigimtr@spect to, Sorin CDO 11 for $2,750,000. Onmegta8, 2013 RE CDO sold its C Tranche subordinatestest:
in Sorin CDO |V for $6,240,000. As a result of gales, we received distributions of approximately1$6,000 in the aggregate. RE CDO had originaluaed the
sold assets and its interest in Sorin CDO IV, whichill retains, for $2,500,000.

CDH CDO LLC - sale of interestOn February 25, 2013 we sold for $25,000 a 174%rést in the equity of CDH CDO, exclusive of theerest in the entity that
holds the collateral management agreement of CDI® QD Inland American. As a result of the sale,nges hold a 49.67% interest in CDH CDO. We maintain
100% of CDH CDO'’s interest in WRP Management.

10 Metrotech Loan LLC — equity investment repaymé July 30, 2013 the $40,000,000 loan collaterdltzgthe property at 10 Metrotech Center, Brooklfaw
York and held by a venture in which we held a drigdtinterest was paid off at par. The venture &equired the loan in August 2012 for $32,500,008aAesult of
the payoff, we received a distribution of $13,388,0

Concord Debt Holdings and CDH CDO - loan payoffsvo of the underlying loans held by our Concordtuess paid off during the third quarter of 2013Judy
2013 the loan collateralized by the property comimoeferred to as Thanksgiving Tower located inl&sl Texas was satisfied. In August 2013 the loan
collateralized by the property referred to as OneRvalk located in San Antonio, Texas was satikfes a result of the loan payoffs we received ggregate
distribution of $6,470,000.
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REIT Securities

During 2013 we liquidated all of our holdings of REsecurities. In particular, we sold 3,000,716rekaf common stock in Cedar Realty Trust, Ince@&™)which
we had acquired for an aggregate cost of $12,89¥@0aggregate sales proceeds of $16,292,000.I8%esald 1,250,000 shares of MPG Office Trust Wnlgich we
had acquired for an aggregate cost of $2,984,008dgregate sale proceeds of $3,626,000.

Revolving Line of Credit

We maintain a revolving line of credit with KeyBaNlational Association, which we refer to as KeyBaRkrsuant to the terms of the line (i) we are [echto
borrow up to $50,000,000, subject to having a sigffit borrowing base and (ii) interest accrueslbbaarowings at LIBOR plus 3%. We pay to KeyBankuarterly
fee of 0.35% on the unused portion of the line. e of credit matured on March 3, 2014 and werditlexercise our option to extend the line foadditional
year. At December 31, 2013 we had no amounts owlistg. on the line.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013 we had no employees. Gairafire administered by our Advisor pursuanhtterms of an advisory agreement which on Febrbary
2013 was amended and restated to, among othestta@rtgnded the term for five years (subject tbexdermination by us for both cause (as defirett) without
cause), modified the required return on the thrieshmount for which the incentive fee is payablelisgsussed below and provided for a supplemengapégyable to
our Advisor in the event of an early terminatiortlid advisory agreement under certain circumstanca the liquidation or disposition of the Truéte refer to the
advisory agreement, as the same may be amendedifnento time, as the “Advisory Agreement.”

Under the Advisory Agreement, we pay to our Adviaajuarterly base management fee equal to 1.5%tbE(issuance price of our outstanding equitysges
plus (ii) 0.25% of any equity contribution by anafiiliated third party to a venture managed byTise Advisory Agreement provides that any dividepdsl on
account of Common Shares that result in a reductidhe threshold amount (as described below)ettte of our liquidation or disposition are deermedduction
in the aggregate issuance price of the Common Shitwereby resulting in a reduction of the baseagament fee. In addition to receiving a base managefee,
our Advisor is entitled to receive an incentive feeadministering the Trust and, in certain ins&s) a supplemental fee upon an early terminafitimecAdvisory
Agreement under certain circumstances or the lagiod of disposition of the Trust. Further, our Asbr, or its affiliate, is also entitled to recepmperty
management fees and construction management feematercially reasonable rates.

The incentive fee is equal to 20% of any amounéslable for distribution in excess of the threshaldount and is only payable at such time, if at(glwhen
holders of our Common Shares receive aggregatdatids above the threshold amount or (ii) upon tegtion of the Advisory Agreement if the net valdeor
assets exceeds the threshold amount based onuirentanarket values and appraisals. That is,ritentive fee is not payable annually but only ahgime, if at
all, as shareholders have received dividends irexof the threshold amount (set at $534,224,0@eaember 31, 2012 plus the issuance price foegmity
interests in the Trust issued from and after Januia2013 plus an annual return thereon equale@tbater of (x) 4% or (y) the 5 year U.S. Treaxigld plus 2.5%
(such return, the “Growth Factor”) less any dividempaid from and after January 1, 2013). The iricerfiée will also be payable if the Advisory Agreemhis
terminated, other than for cause (as defined) by wgth cause by our Advisor, and if on the ddtéeamination the net value of the Trust's ass&teeds the
threshold amount. At December 31, 2013 the threlstiwiount required to be distributed before anyritice fee would be payable to FUR Advisors was
$563,966,000, which was equivalent to $15.75 peteti Common Share.

With respect to the supplemental fee, it is onlyagtde if there is (i) a termination of the Advisokgreement for any reason other than for causddfsed) by us or
with cause by our Advisor, (ii) a disposition of @t substantially all of our assets, or (iii) daation by us to orderly liquidate our assets. $hpplemental fee, if
payable, is equal to the lesser of (i) the baseagrment fee paid to our Advisor for the prior tveetaonth period or (i) either (x) in the case @éamination of the
Advisory Agreement, 20% of the positive differenéany between (A) the appraised net asset valoeioassets at the date of termination and (B}theshold
amount less $104,980,000, or (y) in the case adodition or liquidation, 20% of any dividends ghain account of our Common Shares at such timeesthteshol(
amount is reduced to $104,980,000, which will beiexeed at such time as aggregate distributionppfaximately $12.82 per Common Share in excesseof t
Growth Factor have been paid. For example, if thesfThad been liquidated at January 1, 2014, thplsmental fee would only have been payable if titadends
of approximately $12.82 per Common Share had beih and then only until the total supplementalgai& would have equaled $9,289,000 (the base neamef
fee for calendar 2013), which amount would be addevhen total dividends paid per Common Shareledwpproximately $14.12.
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In the event that the supplemental fee is payabbd®nnection with a disposition, the entire fepagable upon such disposition. In all other cadesra/the
supplemental fee is payable, we are permitted fier gayment of the first $3,000,000 of the suppletakfee for 30 days and the balance, if any, fpeaod of six
months. If it is determined that the supplemergalit less than $3,000,000, our Advisor is oblid@epromptly return to us the difference betwden$3,000,000
paid to it and the actual supplemental fee.

Upon the termination of the Advisory Agreement amoection with a disposition, all the fees payableur Advisor are required to be paid in immediatvailable
funds. In all other cases where the Advisory Agreeinis terminated, we are required to pay the supehtal fee, if any, in immediately available fuadsl the
incentive fee, if any, may be paid in a numbereély tradable Common Shares (subject only to stahskecurities law restrictions) equal to the anboue to our
Advisor divided by the greater ¢f) the closing price for the Common Shares ordgite of termination of the Advisory Agreement or$%1.05 (which was the
closing price of the Common Shares on Decembe?@®112).

In connection with the modifications entered imdrebruary 2013 with respect to the Advisory Agreetnwe issued 600,000 restricted Common Sharashwh
Common Shares were issued under our 2007 Long Trexrentive Plan. The restricted Common Shares vesteed as follows:

Name and Positic Number of Share
Michael L. Ashner, Chairman and CE 198,00
Carolyn Tiffany, Presider 102,00(
John Garilli, Chief Financial Office 75,00(
John Alba, Chief Investment Offic 75,00(
Non-Executive Officer Employee Grot 150,00(

The restricted Common Shares issued are subjéue tollowing restrictions:

. The Common Shares awarded to any person withtbeited if such person does not remain in camtirs service with our Advisor through January 1,80
On December 4, 2013, 7,500 shares were forfeiteal Wgr-Executive Officer
. The Common Shares will immediately vest andomger be subject to forfeiture on the earlieripfanuary 1, 2018, (ii) upon a change in contjit),if the

Advisory Agreement is terminated by us for any ogasther than cause, or by our Advisor for causéivdin the case of Michael Ashner and Carolyn
Tiffany, in the event of the death or disabilitytbé holder. Change in control is defined as trmigence of any of the following, in one transattiy a series
of related transactions: (1) any “person” (as decim is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of theuBtes Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Brge
Act”)) becoming a “beneficial owner” (as definedRule 13d3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectlf our securities representing more than 50'
the voting power of our then outstanding securitigsour consolidation, equity exchange, reorgatidn or merger resulting in our equity holders ietiately
prior to such event not owning at least a majasftshe voting power of the resulting entity’s sdtias outstanding immediately following such eve@); the
sale or other disposition of all or substantiallyohour assets; or (4) our dissolutic

. So long as the Common Shares awarded are stbjecfeiture, our secretary has the sole andusiwe right to exercise all voting rights with pest to the
awarded Common Share

. Until the Common Shares awarded are no longer sutgjdorfeiture, all cash dividends payable theredll be payable as follows: (i) the holder wiaeive &
portion of the dividend equal to (i) five percemiyltiplied by (ii) the number of full calendar qgteus that have transpired between January 1, 20d e
applicable dividend payment date, less any requaedvithholding and (ii) the remaining portiontbe dividend will be held by us in escrow and witly be
paid to the holder thereof if and when the Commbar&s awarded are no longer subject to forfeititee Common Shares awarded are forfeited, then th
dividends held in escrow will similarly be forfeite

Competition

We have competition with respect to our acquisitboperating properties and our acquisition angdimation of loan assets with many other compariresduding
other REITS, insurance companies, commercial batkste investment funds, hedge
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funds, specialty finance companies and other imvesSome competitors may have a lower cost ofsamdi access to funding sources that are not biatiaus. In
addition, some of our competitors may have higlsiriolerances or make different risk assessmaurttish could allow them to consider a wider variety
investments. We cannot assure you that the corivestitessures we face will not have a material esdveffect on our business, financial condition eesililts of
operations.

We will continue to capitalize on the acquisitiardanvestment opportunities that our Advisor britgsis as a result of its acquisition experienceelsas our
partners in ventures. We derive significant berfefitn our present advisor structure, where our 80v$ experienced management team provides ug@sthurces
at substantially less cost than if such persong diectly employed by us. Through its broad exgere, our Advisor's senior management team habless$ted a
network of contacts and relationships, includingtienships with operators, financing sources, strent bankers, commercial real estate brokersnpat tenants
and other key industry participants.

Environmental Reqgulations

Our operations and properties are subject to varfederal, state and local laws and regulations@&wming the protection of the environment includigand water
quality, hazardous or toxic substances and heafifsafety. These are discussed further under |#em Risk Factors.

Segment Data
Business segment data may be found under Itemianéial Statements and Supplementary Data Note 23.

Additional Information

The following materials are available free of cleatigrough our website at www.winthropreit.com agrsas reasonably practicable after they are elaicatby filed
with or furnished to the SEC under the Securitieshange Act of 1934, as amended:

. our Annual Reports on Form -K and all amendments there
. our quarterly reports on Form-Q and all amendments there
. our current reports on Forn-K and all amendments there

. other SEC filings

. organizational document

. Audit Committee Charte

. Compensation Committee Chart

. Conflicts Committee Charte

. Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee €hi
D Code of Business Conduct and Ethics;

. Corporate Governance Guidelin

We will provide a copy of the foregoing materialgh@ut charge to anyone who makes a written recfoestir Investor Relations Department, c/o FUR Adis,
LLC, 7 Bulfinch Place, Suite 500, P.O. Box 9507 sBm, Massachusetts 02114.

We also intend to promptly disclose on our websitg amendments that we make to, or waivers foToustees or executive officers that we grant frime,Code o
Business Conduct and Ethics.

New York Stock Exchange Certification

As required by applicable New York Stock Excharigting rules, on May 22, 2013, following our 2018rAial Meeting of Shareholders, our Chairman an@fChi
Executive Officer submitted to the New York StockcBange a certification that he was not aware ghdmlation by us of New York Stock Exchange coiger
governance listing standards.
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ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS

We, our assets and the entities in which we inaessubject to a number of risks customary for REpFoperty owners, loan originators and holdedsexquity
investors as well as a number of risks involvediuninvestment, operating, and capital strategicpdhat not all REITs may have. Material factdrattmay
adversely affect our business operations and finhoonditions are summarized below.

Risks incidental to real estate investmel

As a REIT our investments are limited to direct evahip and operation of operating properties, E@sets secured, directly or indirectly, by opegagiroperties,
and investments in other REITs. Accordingly, arestment in us depends upon our financial performand the value of our operating properties hehftime to
time as well as those securing our loan assetstharsé held by the REITs in which we invest, whiglerating properties are subject to the risks nilyraasociated
with the ownership, operation and disposal of estdite properties and real estate related assatsling:

. adverse changes in general and local economic ttmmslwhich affect the demand for real estate as

. competition from other propertie

. fluctuations in interest rate

. reduced availability of financing

. the cyclical nature of the real estate industry poskible oversupply of, or reduced demand fope@rties in the markets in which our investments
located;

. the attractiveness of our properties to tenantspamchasers

. how well we manage our propertit

. changes in market rental rates and our abilitetd space on favorable tern

. the financial condition of our tenants and borramiacluding their becoming insolvent and bankri

. the need to periodically renovate, repair ar-lease space and the costs ther

D increases in maintenance, insurance and operaistg;

. civil unrest, armed conflict or acts of terrorisgainst the United States; a

. earthquakes, floods and other natural disastessterof God that may result in uninsured los

In addition, changes to applicable federal, statklacal regulations, zoning and tax laws and pgaikliability under environmental and other lavffeat real estate
values. Further, throughout the period that we oeah property, regardless of whether or not a pitype producing any income, we must make signiftca
expenditures, including those for property taxeaimenance, insurance and related charges andelefite. The risks associated with real estatesinvents may
adversely affect our operating results and findnmaition, and therefore the funds available fistribution to you as dividends.

We may change our investment and operational p@gi

We may change our investment and operating stragitlggr voluntarily or as result of changing ecoimaoonditions, including our policies with respéat
investments, acquisitions, growth, operations, fibeléness, capitalization and dividends at any timieh could result in our making investments thatdifferent
from, and possibly riskier than, our current inveshts. A change in our investment strategy mayeame our exposure to interest rate risk, defakltand real esta
market fluctuations, all of which could adverseffeat our financial condition, results of operatioishare price and our ability to pay dividends.

We may not be able to invest our cash reservescieretive investments.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 12000 of cash and cash equivalents available¥estment. Our ability to increase our overall wetth is
dependent upon our ability to grow our asset bgigavesting these funds, as well as additional fuwtlich we may raise or borrow, in real estatetedlassets that
will ultimately generate returns in excess of oostoof capital.
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We may not be able to obtain capital to make inweshts.

As a REIT, we are in a capital intensive businbas it dependent primarily on third party debt agdity financing to fund the growth of our businessause one
the requirements for a REIT is that it distributéeast 90% of its annual REIT taxable income, scijo certain adjustments, to its shareholdersess to third part
capital sources depends, in part, on general madkatitions, the market's perception of our groptiential, our current and expected future earniogscash flow
and the market price of our Common Shares. Additipnwe may not be able to obtain debt or equitgricing on favorable terms. Accordingly, if we nahobtain
capital from third parties or if such access isiofavorable terms, it will likely have a materialverse effect on our financial condition and resoftoperations, our
stock price and our ability to pay dividends to sbareholders.

We are subject to significant competition and we ynmeot compete successfully.

We have significant competition with respect to acquisition of operating properties and our adtjaisand origination of loan assets with many ott@mpanies,
including other REITS, insurance companies, comiakbanks, private investment funds, hedge fungiscialty finance companies and other investors safme
which may have a lower cost of funds and accefisniding sources that are not available to us. titeh, many of our competitors have greater resesithan we
do and for this and other reasons, we may not leetalzompete successfully for particular investtaen

Investing through ventures presents additional rssl

Our investments in ventures present additionakr&lch as our having objectives that differ froosthof our partners or in the investments we mag&eoming
involved in disputes concerning operations, or fphgsompeting with those persons for investmemielated to our venture. In addition, where we dbaontrol
the venture, we rely on the internal controls andrfcial reporting controls of our partners andsach, their failure to comply with applicable stards and mainta
effective internal controls over financial repodimay adversely affect us.

Investing in private companies involves specifisks.

We have held and may acquire additional ownerstigrésts in private companies not subject to thertang requirements of the SEC. Investments ingbei
businesses involve a higher degree of busines§iraanttial risk, which can result in substantialdes and accordingly should be considered speceldthere is
generally no publicly available information abolese private companies, and we will rely signiftbaon the due diligence of our Advisor to obtaifiarmation in
connection with our investment decisions.

Our due diligence may not reveal all of the lialtiés associated with a proposed investment and matyreveal other weaknesses.

There can be no assurance that due diligence bfaxisor in connection with a new investment witiaover all relevant facts which could adverselgetfthe valu
of the investment and the success of the investment

We face risks associated with property acquisitions

We acquire properties and portfolios of propertiesluding large portfolios that would increase size and potentially alter our capital structuxithough we enter
into these acquisitions with the belief that thalf @nhance our future financial performance, thecgss of such transactions is subject to a nuofifactors,
including the risk that:

. we may not be able to obtain financing for acqigsi on favorable term

. acquired properties may fail to perform as expec

. the actual costs of repositioning or redevelopioguired properties may be higher than our estim

. acquired properties may be located in new niarkéere we may have limited knowledge and undedstg of the local economy, an absence of

business relationships in the area or unfamiliaxityr local governmental and permitting proceduees]

. we may not be able to efficiently integratesioed properties, particularly portfolios of propies, into our organization and manage new progeiti a
way that allows us to realize cost savings andrgyes.

In the future we may acquire properties or port®bf properties through tax deferred contributiansactions in exchange for partnership inteiestsir Operating
Partnership. This acquisition structure has thecgffamong other factors, of reducing the amourtdofiepreciation we can deduct over the tax lifdne acquired
properties, and typically requires that

16



Table of Contents

we agree to protect the contributors’ ability tdedteecognition of taxable gain through restrica@m our ability to dispose of the acquired prapsrand/or the
allocation of partnership debt to the contributorsnaintain their tax bases. These restrictiondispositions could limit our ability to sell an assluring a specified
time, or on terms, that would be favorable abseah sestrictions.

Acquired properties may subject us to known and anokvn liabilities.
Properties that we acquire may be subject to knachunknown liabilities for which we would have re@ourse, or only limited recourse, to the formeners of

such properties. As a result, if a liability wesserted against us based upon ownership of anraddqurioperty, we might be required to pay significeums to settle
it, which could adversely affect our financial rissiand cash flow. Unknown liabilities relatingaoquired properties could include:

. liabilities for clear-up of preexisting disclosed or undisclosed environmentataxmmation;
. claims by tenants, vendors or other persons ar@ingccount of actions or omissions of the formveners of the properties; al
. liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of mess

Failure to renew expiring leases could adverselyezt our financial condition.

We are subject to the risk that, upon expiratieases may not be renewed, the space may not berrée terms of renewal or reletting, includihg tost of any
required renovations, may be less favorable thamptior or current lease terms. This risk is sulighwith respect to our net leased propertiesoBecember 31,
2013, our 11 single tenant properties, containimgggregate of approximately 2,093,000 squareofegtace are net leased to 9 different tenantsssdeases
accounting for approximately 4% of the aggregateuahbase rent from our operating properties fdr32@epresenting approximately 3% of the net rdatajuare
feet at the properties, are scheduled to expi2®il. Other leases grant tenants early terminaigbs upon payment of a termination penalty. Leaq@rations will
require us to locate new tenants and negotiatacepient leases with them. The costs for tenanowepnents, tenant concessions and leasing commsssitim
respect to new leases are traditionally greater ¢ogts relating to renewal leases. If we are wnbpromptly relet or renew leases for all or lassantial portion of
the space subject to expiring leases, or if theateates upon such renewal or reletting are sicanitly lower than expected, our revenue and resirire could be
adversely affected.

We are subject to risks associated with the finalaondition of our tenants and our borrower’s tents.

Our tenants or tenants at properties securingoaur ssets may experience a downturn in their éssiresulting in their inability to make rental pents when
due. In addition, a tenant may seek the proteafdrankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws, whichutresult in the rejection and termination of stehant’s lease
and cause a reduction in our cash flow. If thisaxteroccur at a net lease property, the entiregstgppvould become vacant.

We cannot evict a tenant solely because of itsgfifor bankruptcy. A bankruptcy court, however, raaghorize a tenant to reject and terminate itsdebn such a
case, our claim against the tenant for past duearhunpaid future rent would be subject to autday cap that might be substantially less tharréimeaining rent
owed under the lease. In any event, it is unliklet a bankrupt tenant will pay the entire amotioties us under a lease. The loss of rental paynfiem tenants
could adversely affect our financial condition asdults of operations.

Similarly, if a tenant at a property securing anleaset fails to meet its rental obligations, thedwer may have insufficient funds to satisfy tledbt service resultir
in a default on our loan asset. Additionally, tbed of a tenant at a property securing a loan aesé negatively impact the value of the property, therefore, our
collateral.

The loss of a major tenant could adversely affeat éinancial condition.

We are and expect that we will continue to be stlifea degree of tenant concentration at certa@upoperating properties and the properties $eguur loan
assets. As indicated above, we are subject to aisksciated with the financial condition of ouraets and tenants at properties securing our losetadn the event
that a tenant occupying a significant portion of @n more of our properties or whose rental incoepeesents a significant portion of the rental nexeat such
property or properties were to experience finaneidkness, default on its lease, elect not to rétselease or file bankruptcy it would negativetypact our
financial condition and results of operations. $amty, if a tenant occupying a significant portiohone or more of the properties securing our lassets or whose
rental income represents a significant portiorhefrental revenue at such property or propertipsrances financial weakness defaults on its ledsets not to
renew its lease or files for bankruptcy, it woukbatively impact our financial condition and resulf operations.

17



Table of Contents

We may experience increased operating costs, whidght reduce our profitability.

Our properties are subject to increases in opegratipenses such as for cleaning, electricity, hgatientilation and air conditioning, administratieosts and other
costs associated with security, landscaping araineepnd maintenance of our properties. In genenaler our leases with tenants, we pass througir alportion of
these costs to them. There can be no assuranderthats will actually bear the full burden of thésgher costs, or that such increased costs utillead them, or
other prospective tenants, to seek office spaeswblsre. If operating expenses increase, the ailditadf other comparable office space in the geqiric markets of
our properties might limit our ability to increasmts; if operating expenses increase without eesponding increase in revenues, our profitabdidyld diminish
and limit our ability to pay dividends to sharehmisl

We leverage our portfolio, which may adversely affeur financial condition and results of operatian

We seek to leverage our portfolio through borrowir@ur return on investments and cash availabpayadividends to holders of our Series D Prefe8kdres and
Common Shares may be reduced to the extent thageban market conditions make new borrowings finaacing of existing debt difficult or even impdse or
cause the cost of our financings to increase weldti the income that can be derived from the asgeir debt service payments, including interegapke on our
Senior Notes, reduce the cash available to payeiids to holders of Series D Preferred Shares andr©n Shares. We may not be able to meet our delits
obligations and, to the extent that we cannot,iglethe loss of some or all of our assets to famale or forced sale to satisfy our debt obligatighdecrease in the
value of the assets may lead to a requirementtbaepay certain existing or future credit facditi We may not have the funds available, or thigyatm obtain
replacement financing, to satisfy such repayments.

Interest rate fluctuations may reduce our investnteeturn.

Certain of our loan obligations and loan assetelimating interest rates. In such cases, an isergainterest rates would increase our loan ofitiga while a
decrease in interest rates would decrease thegtterceived on our loan assets. Where possiblealeto mitigate these risks by acquiring interatgt cap
agreements, rate collars and other similar praipstiTo the extent we have not mitigated thesea slour actions are ineffective, a fluctuationniterest rates could
negatively impact our cash flow due to an incréadean obligations or a decrease in interest kazkon our loan assets.

We engage in hedging transactions that may limitiggor result in losses.

We have and may continue to use hedging instruniemtsr risk management strategy to limit the eeaf changes in interest rates on our operatidiiedge may
not be effective in eliminating all of the risksgrent in any particular position. Further, we hamd could in the future recognize losses on adedgition which
adversely effects our financial condition and ressaf operations. In addition, we run the risk efalilt by a counterparty to a hedging arrangement.

We may be unable to refinance our existing debtpoeferred share financings or obtain favorable refincing terms.

We are subject to the normal risks associated détit and preferred share financings, includingigiethat our cash flow will be insufficient to nteequired
payments of principal and interest on debt anddeivds and redemption payments to holders of peefestnares and the risk that indebtedness on operties, or
unsecured indebtedness, will not be able to bearetierepaid or refinanced when due, or that thegef any renewal or refinancing will not be asoia@ble as the
terms of such indebtedness. If we were unableficarce indebtedness or preferred share finan@ngscceptable terms, or at all, we might be fotoedispose of
one or more of our investments on disadvantagesasst which might result in losses to us, whichlddwave a material adverse effect on us and olityatsi pay
dividends to our holders of preferred shares anti@on Shares. Furthermore, if a property is mortdagea loan pledged to secure payment of indebtedaed we
are unable to meet the debt payments, the lenddd éareclose upon the property or the loan, appaireceiver or obtain an assignment of rents aaskls or pursue
other remedies, all with a consequent loss of reesrand asset value to us. Foreclosures couldrate taxable income without accompanying casbegas,
thereby hindering our ability to meet the REIT diemnd requirements.
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The loans we invest in are subject to delinquencyldoss.

Our loan assets are directly or indirectly secumgihcome producing property. The ability of a lnever to make payments on the loan underlying teesarities is
dependent primarily upon the successful operatidheoproperty rather than upon the existence @éjirendent income or assets of the borrower sircarttlerlying
loans are generally non-recourse in nature. TreEseslare subject to risks of delinquency and foseok as well as risk associated with the capitakets. If a
borrower were to default on a loan, it is possthl we would not recover the full value of therloa

We may be unable to foreclose on the collaterals&w) our loan assets on a timely basis or our loassets may be subject to unfavorable treatmerd in
borrower bankruptcy.

In certain states foreclosing on a property caa lengthy and costly process. In addition, a boerean file for bankruptcy or raise defenses tbatatdelay our
ability to realize on our collateral on a timelysis In such instances, the increased costs amdréfuired to realize on our collateral would likegsult in a reduced
return or loss on the investment. Further, if adwer were to file for bankruptcy protection, arpleould be approved over our objection that wouttéred our loan
for a period of time at an interest rate that $s lthan our cost of funds, thereby having a negiatiypact on our cash flow.

The subordinate loan assets in which we invest aubject to risks relating to the structure and tesrof the transactions, and there may not be suéiti funds or
assets to satisfy our subordinate notes, which mesult in losses to us.

We invest in loan assets that are subordinateympat and collateral to more senior loans. If ateer defaults or declares bankruptcy, after theensenior
obligations are satisfied, there may not be swfitfunds or assets remaining to satisfy our subatel notes. Because each transaction is privagggtiated,
subordinate loan assets can vary in their struicthi@acteristics and lender rights, including vghts to control the default or bankruptcy proc@8se subordinate
loan assets that we invest in may not give usigie to demand foreclosure as a subordinate dddehd-urthermore, the presence of intercreditoe@gents, co-
lender agreements and participation agreementdimeyur ability to amend the loan documents, gsshe loans, accept prepayments, exercise remailies
control decisions made in bankruptcy proceedintgging to borrowers. Bankruptcy and borrower litiga can significantly increase the time neededioto
acquire possession of underlying collateral indhent of a default, during which time the collatenay decline in value. In addition, there are gigant costs and
delays associated with the foreclosure process.

The widening of credit spreads could have a negatimpact on the value of our loan assets and RE@bdsecurities.

The fair value of our loan assets is dependent tipeield demanded on these assets by the maaketllon the underlying credit as well as genemi@nic
conditions. Although many of our directly held loassets were purchased at significant discourfitstteer deterioration of the real estate marketa large supply ¢
these loan assets available for sale combinedradthiced demand will generally cause the marketdaire a higher yield on these loan assets, raguitia higher,
or “wider,” spread over the benchmark rate of doaim assets. Under these conditions, the valueeobian assets in our portfolio would decline.

Our investments in REIT debt securities are aldjesti to changes in credit spreads as their valdependent upon the yield demanded on these ety the
market based on the underlying credit. Excessipplgwf these securities combined with reduced daehveill generally cause the market to require débigyield or
these real estate securities, resulting in theotiaehigher, or “wider,” spread over the benchmatk to value such securities. Under such condititire value of our
REIT debt securities portfolio would tend to deelitsuch changes in the market value of our pootioiay adversely affect our financial condition aesults of
operations.

Deterioration of the credit markets may have an agse impact on the ability of borrowers to obtaieplacement financing

A deterioration in the credit markets will makeitremely difficult for borrowers to obtain mortgafinancing. The inability of borrowers to obtagptacement
financing has, in the past, led and will in theufet, likely lead to more loan defaults thereby itasy in expensive and time consuming foreclosutioas and/or
negotiated extensions to existing loans beyond therent expirations on terms which may not béssrable to us as the existing loans.

A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or sewaression or continued instability in the credit mkeets could harm our operations and viabilit

A prolonged economic slowdown, a lengthy or sevecession or the continued instability in the drettirket will affect our operations and viabilitya number of
ways including:
. Depressing prices for our investments, operatioggnties and loan asse
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. Decreasing interest income received or increasiggerest expenses pa
. Reducing the number of potential purchasers foragsets

. Increasing risk of default on loan assi

. Limiting the ability to obtain new or replacemeintancing; anc

. Limiting the ability to sell additional debt or etusecurities

Many of our investments are illiquid, and we maytrioe able to adjust our portfolio in response toariges in economic and other conditions, which magult in
losses to us.

Many of our investments are relatively illiquid ankerefore, our ability to sell or purchase assetesponse to a change in economic or other tondimay be
limited. The requirements of the Code that we lasisiets for a set period of time or risk losingust@s a REIT also may limit our ability to sell @&¥ments. These
considerations could make it difficult for us tepidse of assets, even if a disposition were ités¢ interest of our shareholders. As a resultability to adjust our
portfolio in response to changes in economic ahdratonditions may be relatively limited, which nragult in losses and lost opportunities.

Our investments in REIT securities are subject foesific risks relating to the particular REIT issueof the securities and to the general risks of @sting in
REITs.

Our investments in REIT securities involve spedils. These risks include many, if not all, of fbeegoing risks which apply to an investment ininsluding:
(i) risks generally incident to interests in resiate assets; (i) risks associated with the faitarmaintain REIT qualification; (iii) risks thatay be presented by the
type and use of a particular property; and (iRgithat the issuer of the security may reduceioriehte expected dividend payments.

Some of our potential losses may not be coverethbyrance.

We use our discretion in determining amounts, cayetimits and deductibility provisions of insuranwith a view to maintaining appropriate insuranoeerage o
our investments at a reasonable cost and on seitatvhs. This may result in insurance coverage ith#étie event of a substantial loss, would nosiicient to pay
the full current market value or current replacenwast of the lost investment and also may resuteirtain losses being totally uninsured. Inflaticimanges in
building codes, zoning or other land use ordinaneegironmental considerations, lender imposedictisins or other factors might not make it feasiti use
insurance proceeds to replace the building afteln building has been damaged or destroyed. Undbratcumstances, the insurance proceeds, if aogjvred by
us might not be adequate to restore our econonsitigo with respect to such property. With resgeatur net leased properties, under the lease mgrés for such
properties, the tenant is required to adequatslyranthe property, but should a loss occur thdurfaor inability to have adequate coverage maghtersely affect
our economic position with respect to such property

We have significant interest obligations to holdestour Senior Notes and dividend obligations toltlers of our Series D Preferred Shares.

The provisions of our Senior Notes require us tpaarterly interest presently aggregating $1,694 @& $6,684,375 annually. The provisions of ouie3eD
Preferred Shares require us to pay quarterly diddéeresently aggregating $2,786,562 or $11,146280ally before any dividends may be paid on amm@on
Shares.

Covenants and other provisions in our debt instrunte could adversely affect our financial conditicand our ability to make future investments.

Debt instruments under which we are an obligor@iontustomary covenants such as those that limiability, without the prior consent of the lender further
encumber, directly or indirectly, the applicableperty. Our credit facility contains, and otherredahat we may obtain in the future may contaist@mwary
restrictions, requirements and other limitationanability to incur indebtedness. These restigican include, among other things, a limitatioroar ability to
incur debt based upon the level of our ratio ddltdebt to total assets, our ratio of secured ttetuttal assets, our ratio of earnings before @stiettaxes, depreciation
and amortization (which is commonly referred t¢EBBITDA”") to interest expense and fixed charges] arequirement for us to maintain a certain lefel
unencumbered assets to unsecured debt. Our abilityrrow under our credit facility with KeyBank tianal Association is subject to compliance withtai other
covenants including the absence of factors bothimand outside of our control. In addition, theénture governing our Senior Notes
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provides that it is an event of default under thdehture if (i) our consolidated leverage ratiodeined in the Indenture) is equal to or greatant60% on the last
day of any calendar quarter or (ii) subject toaerexceptions, we or any of our consolidated slitases do not pay when due, after the expiratioany applicable
grace period, the principal of indebtedness irailpgregate principal amount of $7,500,000 or maréh@acceleration of our or our consolidated slibsj’s
indebtedness in the aggregate principal amount &0®,000 or more so that it becomes due and payeiibre the date on which it would otherwise Haeeome
due and payable. If we fail to comply with our coaats, it would cause a default under the applecebbt instrument, and we may then be requiredpayr such
debt with funds from other sources which may noabelable to us, or be available only on unativadterms. Further, a default under a debt instntroeuld limit
our ability to obtain additional equity or debtdimcing in the future, either of which would advéyssfect our financial condition and results ofeoations.

Increased market interest rates may hurt the valfeour common and preferred share

We believe that investors consider the dividend oat REIT shares, expressed as a percentage miiceeof the shares, relative to market interegisras an
important factor in deciding whether to buy or ¢ke# shares. If market interest rates go up, patsfepurchasers of REIT shares may expect a higjiiatend
rate. Higher interest rates would likely increase lmorrowing costs and might decrease funds aveitabpay dividends. Thus, higher market interatts could
cause the market price of our common and prefesinades to decline.

Future issuances and sales of equity or debt intsemay affect the market price of our Common Shaend the amount of dividends payable to our
shareholders.

We can issue preferred and Common Shares withoutnom shareholder approval. The actual issuancddifianal common or preferred shares or the satiebt
securities by us may decrease the market pricaro€ommon Shares. In paying dividends on our Com8twares we endeavor to have our dividends trackniag
cash flow from operations. Accordingly, as we isadditional Common Shares, the per share dividetidikely decrease until such time as we deplog fitoceeds
from such issuance of Common Shares in investnvemitsh increase our recurring cash flow.

We may issue Common Shares or equity or debt séiesrconvertible into Common Shares at a price ongersion price less than our then per Common Share
net asset value.

Our Common Share price has historically tradedmice less than our estimated per Common Sharasset value. Accordingly, if we were to issue toldal
Common Shares or debt or equity securities corbteritito Common Shares it is likely that the offeice or conversion price, as applicable, will &sslthan such
net asset value. As a result, such issuance woeddeca dilution to the net asset value of ourtassdil such time, if at all, as the proceeds famh offering were
invested in assets that are accretive to our et aalue.

Our focus on total return investing may impact oability to maintain our dividend rate.

Our focus on a total return value approach to itingsnay result in our inability to maintain therpent dividend rate as we do not necessarily sesé&ta that provic
recurring or potentially recurring cash flow buekeo invest in assets that we believe will providewith a superior risk-adjusted total return vahémcompasses
both current return and capital appreciation. Adedly, the true value of an investment may notdaized until such investment is liquidated.

If we issue preferred equity or debt we may be esqubto additional restrictive covenants and limitats on our operating flexibility, which could advsely affect
our ability to pay dividends.

If we decide to issue preferred equity or debhimfuture, it is likely that they will be governbg an indenture or other instrument containing cawvgs that may
restrict our operating flexibility which could haga adverse effect on the market price of our Com8twares or our ability to pay dividends.

The change of control conversion feature of our $3 D Preferred Shares may make it more difficultrfa party to take over our company or discouragparty
from taking over our company

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, holdétse Series D Preferred Shares will have thet (ignless we timely provide notice of our electiorredeem the
Series D Preferred Shares) to convert some of #ikeir Series D Preferred Shares into our Comnifwarés (or equivalent value of alternative constitemg Upon
such a conversion, the holders will be limited fmaximum number of our Common Shares equal tofpcable share cap multiplied by the number of
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Series D Preferred Shares converted. If the ConBiname price is less than $4.44, subject to adjugtrtiee holders will receive a maximum of 5.63061@aon
Shares per share of Series D Preferred Sharedh wigg result in a holder receiving a value th&¢ss than the liquidation preference of the Sdbi€seferred
Shares. In addition, the change of control coneer&ature of the Series D Preferred Shares mag teveffect of discouraging a third party from ingkan
acquisition proposal for our company or of delayideferring or preventing certain change of corntnasactions of our company under circumstancasotierwise
could provide the holders of our Common SharesSeries D Preferred Shares with the opportunitg#tize a premium over the then-current market pichat
shareholders may otherwise believe is in their ingstests.

We may fail to remain qualified as a REIT, which wigl reduce the cash available for dividends to @lrareholders.

Qualification as a REIT for federal income tax pases is governed by highly technical and complexipions of the Code for which there are only ledifudicial
or administrative interpretations. Our qualificatias a REIT also depends on various facts andmstances that are not entirely within our contiroladdition,
legislation, new regulations, administrative intetptions or court decisions might change theawslwith respect to the requirements for qualifisats a REIT or
the federal income tax consequences of qualifina®a REIT. Although we currently intend to operiata manner designed to allow us to continueutdify as a
REIT, future economic, market, legal, tax or otbensiderations might cause us to elect to revo&dREIT election. In that event, we and our shaiggrsi would no
longer be entitled to the federal income tax bésefpplicable to a REIT.

If, with respect to any taxable year, we were tbtfamaintain our qualification as a REIT or el¢éatrevoke our REIT election, we would not be ableeduct
dividends paid to our shareholders in computingtaxable income and would have to pay federal aatpdncome tax (including any applicable alteneti
minimum tax) on our taxable income. If we had ty fedleral income tax, the amount of money availabldistribute to our shareholders would be reddoethe
year or years involved. In addition, we would bequialified from treatment as a REIT for the fowatale years following the year during which quatiion was
lost and thus our cash available to pay dividendsut shareholders would be reduced in each oétiears, unless we were entitled to relief undevaat statutory
or regulatory provisions.

In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we mag lfiorced to borrow funds or sell assets during unéaiable market conditions

As a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of aumual REIT taxable income, subject to certain ddjesits, to our shareholders. To the extent thadatisfy the
REIT dividend requirement but distribute less th@0% of our taxable income, we will be subjectdddral and, where applicable, state corporate irdamon our
undistributed taxable income. In addition, if wé fa distribute at least 90% of our annual REIXahle income, subject to certain adjustments, wiebeisubject to
a 4% nondeductible excise tax.

From time to time, we may have taxable income grethtan our cash available to pay dividends toshareholders (for example, due to substantial remtuctible
cash outlays, such as capital expenditures oripahpayments on debt). If we did not have otherses of funds available in these situations, wedbe required
to borrow funds, sell investments at disadvantagguices or find alternative sources of funds tp gigidends sufficient to enable us to pay out eoaf our
taxable income to satisfy the REIT dividend reguieat and to avoid income and excise taxes in é&péat year. Additionally, we could elect to papaertion of our
required dividend in Common Shares. Each of thitsenatives could increase our operating costsdiméhish our rate of growth.

Factors that may cause us to lose our New York KtBgchange listing.

We might lose our listing on the New York Stock Bange depending on a number of factors, includiiigre to qualify as a REIT, or our not meeting ew
York Stock Exchange’s requirements, including thedating to the number of shareholders, the prfaeur Common Shares and the amount and compositioar
assets.

Ownership limitations in our bylaws may adverselffext the market price of our Common Shares.

Our bylaws and the certificate of designationsoiar Series D Preferred Shares contain ownershifaliions that are designed to prohibit any tranefé€ommon
Shares or Series D Preferred Shares that wouldt iesur being “closely-held” within the meanin§ $ection 856(h) of the Code. This ownership litidta, which
may be waived by our Board of Trustees, generathipits any single shareholder, or any group bfi@ed shareholders, from beneficially or constively
owning more than 9.8% of our outstanding Commorr&har Series D Preferred Shares. Our Board oft@easas waived this
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ownership limitation in the past where there iséxald to be a benefit derived by us from grantimghswvaiver and the party obtaining the waiver piesiassurances
that the issuance of the waiver will not resulagbecoming, or likely becoming, “closely held.”lelss the Board of Trustees waives the restrictiorepoproves a
bylaw amendment, Common Shares or Series D Prdf8itares owned by a person or group of persong@se of 9.8% of our outstanding Common Shares or
Series D Preferred Shares are not entitled to atigg/rights, are not considered outstanding fargm or voting purposes, and are not entitled ¥aénds, interest
or any other distributions with respect to the CamrShares. The ownership limit may have the efféathibiting or impeding a change of control areader offer
for our Common Shares.

We must manage our investments in a manner thabai$ us to rely on an exemption from registrationder The Investment Company Act in order to avoiegth
consequences of regulation under that Act.

We intend to operate our business so that we amgixfrom registration as an investment companyeutite Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended. Therefore, the assets that we may invest acquire, are limited by the provisions of heestment Company Act and the rules and reguiatio
promulgated thereunder. If we are required to niakestments in order to be exempt from registratsach investments may not represent an optimunofuser
capital when compared to other available investment

Certain of our subsidiaries are required to compljth the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

RE CDO Management LLC, an entity in which we holsi0& economic interest, and WRP-Management LL&ndity in which we hold a 100% economic interest,
are registered as investment advisers under trestment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, whichefer to as the Advisers Act, because they provalateral
management services to private funds as definedrihd Advisers Act. As registered investment aatgisthese subsidiaries are required to operaterpliance

with the Advisers Act which results in increasedtdo us. Further, if we were to fail to comply lvthe Advisers Act, we could be subject to sanstiomp to and

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Aahd fire, safety and other regulations may requiis to make unanticipated expenditures that advéyse
affect our financial condition and results of opetians.

All of our properties are required to comply wittetAmericans with Disabilities Act, which we referas the ADA. The ADA has separate complianceirements
for “public accommodations” and “commercial faddi,” but generally requires that buildings be madeessible to people with disabilities. Although elieve
that our properties are in compliance with the AllAs possible that we may have to incur additi@ngenditures which, if substantial, could advirséfect our
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we are required to operate our prageih compliance with fire and safety regulatidmsi)ding codes and other land use regulationthesmay be
adopted by local, state and federal governmentaicgs and bodies and become applicable to ouegiep. We may be required to make substantiataapi
expenditures to comply with those requirementstaede expenditures could have an adverse effemtiofinancial condition and results of operations.

We may incur costs to comply with environmental Bw

The obligation to pay for the cost of complyingwéxisting environmental laws, ordinances and i&gis, as well as the cost of complying with fetlegislation,
may increase our operating costs. Under variousrfdstate and local environmental laws, ordinameel regulations, a current or previous owneiperator of re¢
property may be liable for the costs of removalesnediation of hazardous or toxic substances amder the property. Environmental laws often impasdality
whether or not the owner or operator knew of, os vesponsible for, the presence of such hazardaosio substances and whether or not such sutestanc
originated from the property. In addition, the @mese of hazardous or toxic substances, or thedaituremediate such property properly, may adweedéect our
ability to borrow by using such property as coltateWe maintain insurance related to potentiaimmental issues on our properties which are pbteased
which may not be adequate to cover all possibléirgancies. In 2011 we were conveyed title to #rellunderlying our Churchill, Pennsylvania propefsior to
the conveyance of the land, a Phase Il environrhetudy was performed. The study found that thezesvzertain contaminants at the property all ofclwhiere
within permitted ranges. In addition, given theunatand use of the property currently and in thet,ptais possible that additional contaminatiomldooccur which
could require remediation. We believe that basedppiicable law and existing agreements any sutiedétion costs would be the responsibility of iapowner ol
tenant.
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Ability of our Advisor and other third parties dily affects our financial condition

Other than for severe economic conditions or nafaraes which may be unanticipated or uncontréiathe ultimate value of our assets and the resdilour
operations will depend on the ability of our Advismd other third parties we retain to operaterandage our assets in a manner sufficient to maiotaincrease
revenues and control our operating and other exgsensorder to generate sufficient cash flows tpgraounts due on our indebtedness and to pay diggi® our
shareholders.

We are dependent on our Advisor and the loss of Adwvisor’s key personnel could harm our operatioasd adversely affect the value of our shares.

We have no paid employees. Our officers are emplopé our Advisor. We have no separate facilities @are completely reliant on our Advisor who ham#icant
discretion as to the implementation of our investtraad operating strategies. We are subject toigkehat our Advisor will terminate its Advisorygheement with
us and that no suitable replacement will be foluithermore, we are dependent on the efforts,atilig, skill, network of business contacts and cdopervision of
all aspects of our business by our Advisor angairticular, Michael Ashner, Chairman of our Boafd'nustees and our chief executive officer, Cardlyffiany, our
president, as well as our other executive officérkile we believe that we could find replacementstfiese key personnel, the loss of their sendoetd have a
negative impact on our operations and the marke¢ jof our shares.

The supplemental fee and incentive fee payableuo Advisor may be substantial.

Pursuant to the terms of our Advisory Agreemenhwitr Advisor, our Advisor is entitled to receiveiacentive fee and, in certain instances, a suppfeal fee
equal to 20% of any amounts available for distitiutn excess of a threshold amount. The incerftrees only payable at such time, if at all, (i)emhholders of our
Common Shares receive aggregate dividends abdweshbld amount or (i) upon termination of our Asbry Agreement, if the value of our net asseteegddche
threshold amount based on then current market salnd appraisals. That is, the incentive fee igpagable annually but only at such time, if at al shareholders
have received the threshold amount or, if the Aglyis\greement is terminated, the net assets of thst exceed the threshold amount. At Decembe2@13, the
threshold amount required to be distributed befangincentive fee would be payable to FUR Adviseas approximately $563,966,000 which was equivakent
$15.75 for each of our Common Shares on a fullytéld basis. The threshold amount required to kighiised before any supplemental fee payable to RldRsors
was approximately $458,986,000 which was equivateftL2.82 for each of our Common Shares on a lilied basis. At such time as shareholders’ gqnit
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipteeexceeds the applicable threshold amount, leegord a liability in our financial statemernggual to
approximately 20% of the excess of shareholdensitg@n accordance with generally accepted accagntrinciples and the applicable threshold amount.

Termination of the Advisory Agreement may be costiynot in our best interest.

Termination of the Advisory Agreement either bywithout cause or by our Advisor for cause may b&tlgoUpon termination of the Advisory Agreementy o
Advisor would be entitled to the incentive fee thaiuld be paid as if we sold all of our assetsaivamount based on appraised valuation of oursaasstiming we
were then liquidated. In addition, unless the AdrsAgreement is terminated by us for cause orunyAulvisor without cause, our Advisor will also éstitled to th:
supplemental fee upon the termination of the Adyigggreement or the liquidation or disposition #fa substantially all of our assets. The amountgble on
termination of the Advisory Agreement, or liquidatior disposition, could be substantial which mayeha negative effect on the price of our Common

Shares. Further, affiliates of our Advisor hold @pgmately 9.4% of our outstanding Common Sharessanve as our executive officers. Accordinglyvé were
inclined to terminate the Advisory Agreement, thenership position of our Advisor in our Common Sfsacould result in other adverse effects to ustiamgrice o
our Common Shares.

If we recognize substantial impairment charges onuwr properties, loan assets, or equity and preferre@quity investments, our net income may be reduced.

On a combined basis, we have recognized impairsterges and loan loss reserves totaling $10,939%8)260,000 and $28,658,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelfhdriuture, we may incur substantial impairmentrgaa, which we are required to recognize wheneeesell a
property or loan asset for less than its carryiaigie or we determine that the carrying amount efptfoperty or loan asset is not recoverable andesiits fair
value. For equity and preferred equity investmentsare required to recognize impairment chargesnwthe estimated fair value of the
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investment’s underlying net assets in comparisdhaaarrying value of our interest in the investtigas declined on an other-than-temporary bagish&r nature,
the timing and extent of impairment charges arepnedictable. We may incur non-cash impairmentgésiin the future, which may reduce our net income.

ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2 — PROPERTIES
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth a schedule of coitstéd operating properties at December 31, 2018 p0rtfolio of consolidated properties consistd 8f
commercial properties consisting of 3,671,000 sgfieet and seven residential apartment complexesisting of 1,549 units.

($00C's) Cost pet

Depreciatec Debt
Rentable (**) Major Tenants Major Square  Ownership ($00C's) Deb Maturity
Description and Year Trust’s Square % (Lease / Options Tenant Cost Foot or & Int
Location Acguired Ownership Feet Leaset Expiration) Sq. Ft. Basis Unit of Land Balance Rate (2)
Office
Ambherst, NY 2005 10(% 200,00t 10(% Ingram Micro 200,000 $ 17,10¢ $ 86 Fee 1) (1)
Systems
(2023/2033;
Cerritos, CA (3] 2012 10(% 187,00( 8% Sunwes! 37,00( 21,88¢ 117 Fee $ 23,14 01/2017
(2018) 5.07%
Chicago, IL 2005 10(% 126,00( 97% River North 15,00( 20,71¢ 164 Fee 19,85¢ 03/2016
(One East Erie Surgery (2023 5.75%
Chicago, IL 2007 60% 253,00t 5C% ITAV 37,00( 14,25 56 Fee 8,567¢ 04/2015
(River City / Marc Realty) (2024/2029; 5.50%
MFS/Worldcom 60,00(
(2019/2023;
Englewood, CC 2010 10(% 118,00( 9€% Hitachi Data 61,00( 7,28% 62 Fee 1) (1)
Crossroads (2024/2034;
RGN-Denver LLC 17,00(
(2015/ 2025,
Englewood, CC 2010 10(% 118,00( 9€% TIC Holdings 95,00( 9,98¢ 85 Fee ) 1)
Crossroads | (2019/2044;
Houston, TX 2004 32% 614,00( 10(%  Spectra Energ  614,00( 55,35¢ 90 Fee 47,20: 04/2016
(2026/2036, 6.01%
Lisle, IL 2006 10(% 169,00( 78% United Healthcar  41,00( 18,827 111 Fee 5,752 10/2014
(2015) Libor+2.5%
Lisle, IL Ryerson 03/2017
(Marc Realty) 2006 60% 54,00( 10(% (2018/2023; 54,00( 3,631 67 Fee 5,47(C 5.55%
New York, NY 2011 (4) 105,00( 82% Alice + Olivia 27,00( 56,507 194 Ground 51,95( 05/2016
(450 West 14th (2021/2031; Lease Libor + 2.5%
Fast Retailing 23,000
(2026/2036,
Access Industrie  14,00(
(2021/2031;
Orlando, FL 2004 10(% 257,00( 10(% Siemens Re: 257,00( 13,34¢ 52 Ground 36,98: 07/2017
Estate, Inc Lease 6.40%
(2017/2042,
Philadelphia, P4 2013 49% 502,00( 73% Temple Universit 128,00( 43,39: 86 Fee 42,44( 05/2016
(1515 Market Stree (2022) Libor+2.0%
Plantation, FL 2004 10(% 120,00( 10(%  AT&T Service, 120,00( 10,897 91 Fee 10,68 04/2018
Inc. 6.48%
(2020/2035,
South Burlington, V1 2005 100% 54,00( 10(% Fairpoint Comm 54,000 2,731 51 Ground 1) (1)
(2014) Lease
Subtotal- Office 2,877,000 $ 295,93 $ 252,05

(Continued on next pac
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CONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROPERTIES (Continued)

Greensboro, N(

Louisville, KY
Subtotal Retail

Other

Warehoust

Jacksonville, FL
Mixed Use

Churchill, PA
Subtotal- Other

Residential
Memphis, TN
Houston, TX

San Pedro, C/
Stamford, CT
Phoenix, AZ
Greensboro, NC (¢

Oklahoma City
OK

Subtotal- Residential

Total Consolidated Propertie

2004

2004

2004

200<

2012

201<

201%

2012

201%

201z

201%

10C%

10C%

10C%

10C%

10C%

84%

84%

84%

84%

10C%

80%

(**) Occupancy rates include all signed leases, inctuspace undergoing tenant improveme

Notes to Consolidated Properties - Selected Data

(1) These properties collateralize our revolving lifieredit.
(2) The one month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2013 wE870%.

46,00(

47,00(
154,00(

588,00(

52,00(
640,00(

320 unit:
396 unit:
89 unit:
92 unit:

184 unit:
284 unit:

184 unit:

1,549
units
3,671,000

10C%

10C%

10C%

10C%

93%

90%

99%

95%

93%

96%

97%

The Kroger Cc
(2017/2037,

The Kroger Cc
(2015/2040;

Football
Fanatics
(2015/2024;

Westinghous
(2024)

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

46,00(

47,000

561,00(

52,00(

n/e

n/e

n/e

n/e

n/e
n/e

n/e

(3) The stated debt balance is the fair value of th deDecember 31, 2013. The contractual debt balaras $23,000 at December 31, 2(
(4) We hold a preferred equity interest. At December2Bil3 our effective ownership interest was 8
(5) The stated debt balance is the fair value of th deDecember 31, 2013. The contractual debt balams $13,600 at December 31, 2(
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2,93«

2,471
$ 7,22

$ 10,55(

5,52¢
$ 16,07¢

$ 20,29¢
104,51¢
19,73¢
78,85:

39,36(
17,80¢
14,60¢

$295,17¢
$614,42(

64

53

18

10€

65

264

222

214

65

79

Grounc
Lease

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

Fee

(€}

(€}

(€}

$ 5,04¢

$ 5,04¢

$ 13,12¢
64,63¢
12,19t
48,78(

24,39(
14,73t
9,961

$187,82°
$444,93

(€}

(€}

(€}

08/2024
3.50%

08/2014
Libor +
2.5%
10/2016
LIBOR +
2.0%
10/2016
LIBOR +
2.0%
10/2016
LIBOR +
2.0%
10/2016
LIBOR +
2.0%
08/2016
6.22%
02/2021
5.7%
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UNCONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth a schedule of unctidated operating properties at December 31, 2018.portfolio of unconsolidated properties is agued for
under the equity method of accounting. These ptigseconsist of 10 commercial properties consisting,339,000 square feet and 27 residential agentm

complexes consisting of 4,655 units.

($00C's) ($00Cs)
Major Tenants Major Equity Debt
(**)%  (Lease/Option: Tenants Investmeni Ownership Debt Maturity &
Year Trust’s Rentable Balance Int Rate
Acquired Ownership  Square Feet Leasec Expiration) Sq. Ft. Balance of Land (1) (13)
Marc Realty Portfolio- Equity Investments
223 West Jacksc
Chicago, IL No tenants ove 09/2017
(Brooks Building) 2005 50% 168,00( 75% 10% — 6,551 Fee 6,77C Libor + 2.75%
4415 West Harriso North Americar
Hillside, IL Medical Mgmt 12/2015
(High Point) 2005 50% 192,00( 65% (2015/2020.  24,00( — Fee 4,33t 5.62%
1701 E. Woodfield No tenants ove 09/2015
Schaumburg, Il 2005 50% 175,00( 87% 10% — 15C Fee 5,36¢ Libor + 3% (2
Consumel
220¢-55 Enterprist Portfolio
Westchester, Il 2005 50% 130,00( 91% (2014/2019.  18,90(
Uro Partner: 10/2019
(2015) 14,50( 50 Fee 8,75¢ 4.30%
Total - Marc Realty Portfolio 665,00( $ 6,751 $25,23:
Sealy Venture Propertie- Equity Investment:
09/2015
Atlanta, GA Original Mattres Libor + 5.35%
(Northwest Atlanta 2006 60% 472,00( 77%  (2020/2025° 57,000 $ 7,63t Fee  $ 13,59: 3)
Mentor Retail LLC- Equity Investmen'
American
39 South State Stre Apparel 09/2017
Chicago, IL 2012 50% 7,00( 10(% (2022) 7,000 $ 63E Fee $ 249 10%
WRT-Elad One South Stat- Equity Investmen
One South State Stre
Chicago, IL Target 11/2018
(Sullivan Center 2012 38% 942,00( 83%  (2038/2063 147,000 $  23,66: Fee  $113,50( 3.95%
Walgreens
(2022/2027,  95,00(
lllinois Dept. of
Employment
(2019/2024;  243,00(
Art Institute of
Chicago
(2020/2030;  153,00(
701 Seventh WRT Invest« Equity Investmen 10/2015
701 Seventh Avenu Under LIBOR +
New York, NY 2012 54% Developmen (5) — $ 55,25¢ Fee $376,60( 10.20%(4)
WRT-Fenway Wateridge Equity Investmen 11/2016
10525 Vista Sorrent Greater of 6%
Parkway San Diegt Verint Americas or LIBOR +
CA 2012 50% 62,00( 89% (2018) 6,50C $ 1,89¢ Fee $§ 7,00C 4.5%(6)
Flores Lunc
(2017) 10,00¢
Quidel Corp
(2014) 11,00¢
Verizon Wireles
(2016) 13,00(
Atrium
No tenants ove
Chicago, IL 2013 50% 71,00( 76% 10% — 3 3,84t Fee § —

(**) Occupancy rates include all signed leasesuitiog space undergoing tenant improvem

(Continued on next pac
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UNCONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROPERTIES (Continued)

($00C's) Subordinated Subordinated
Debt Debt
Year Trust’s % Ownership Balance Maturity & Debt ($ Debt
Acquired Ownership Units Leasec of Land (1) Int Rate (8) 000's) Maturity

Vintage Housing Holdings LLC - Equity Investment
Agave Associate 10/2036 12/2036
Elk Grove, CA 2011 (7) 18t 97% Fee $ 14,60( SIFMA +1.28% $ 2,50( 3.50%
Vintage at Bent 12/2036
Bend, OR 2011 (7)  10€ 9% Fee 5,50( SIFMA + 1.24%
The Bluffs Apartment: 10/2035 712033
Reno, NV 2011 (7) 30c 96% Fee 18,30( SIFMA + 1.57% 8 3%
Bouquet Canyon Senio 712028
Santa Clarita, C/ 2011 (7) 264 98% Fee 10,72¢ 6.38%
Vintage at Bremerto 3/2033
Bremerton, WA 2011 (7) 14: 95% Fee 6,20( SIFMA + 1.55%
Vintage at Burier 1/2038
Burien, WA 2011 (7) 101 96% Ground Leas 6,68( SIFMA + 1.50%
Vintage at Chehali 6/2040
Chehalis, WA 2011 (7) 15C 100% Fee 8,19C SIFMA + 1.70% (9’
Elk Creek Apartment 11/2039
Sequim, WA 2011 (7) 13t 95% Fee 7,302 6.60%
Vintage at Everel 1/2038
Everett, WA 2011 (7)  25¢ 100% Fee 16,18( SIFMA + 1.50%
Falls Creek Apartmen 12/2040
Couer (¢ Alene, ID 2011 ) 17C 93% Fee 8,267 6.37%
Forest Creek Apartmen 6/2040
Spokane, W/ 2011 (7) 25z 96% Fee 13,68( SIFMA + 1.68%
Hamilton Place Seniol 7/2033 7/2014
Bellingham, WA 2011 7) 94 96% Fee 3,59( SIFMA + 1.67% 43 5.88%
Heritage Place Apartmen 712015 5/2039
St. Ann, MO 2011 (7) 11z 90% Fee 1,732 8.37% 49C 1.0%
Holly Village Apartments 712032
Everett, WA 2011 (7) 14¢ 97% Fee 6,87( SIFMA + 1.58%
Larkin Place Apartmeni 712033
Bellingham, WA 2011 (7) 101 96% Fee 4,82¢ SIFMA + 1.51%

1/2037
Vintage at Mt. Vernol 7,50C SIFMA +1.73% (1C
Mt. Vernon, WA 2011 (7) 154 99% Fee 93C SIFMA +1.73% (11
Vintage at Napi 6/2034
Napa, CA 2011 (7) 11t 9%% Fee 5,89¢ 6.26%
Vintage at Richlan 1/2038
Richland, WA 2011 (7) 15C 96% Fee 7,53t SIFMA + 1.83%
Rosecreek Senior Livin 12/2037
Arlington, WA 2011 (7) 10c 9%% Fee 3,267 SIFMA + 0.51%
Vintage at Sequir 3/2038
Sequim, WA 2011 (7) 11¢ 98% Fee 6,23¢ SIFMA + 2.35%
Silver Creek Apartment 1/2018
Pasco, WA 2011 (7) 24z 97% Fee 12,77¢ SIFMA + 1.75%
Vintage at Silverdal 9/2039
Silverdale, WA 2011 (7) 24C 97% Fee 14,88( SIFMA +2.89% (12
Vintage at Spokan 8/2040
Spokane, WA 2011 (7) 287 99% Fee 16,29¢ SIFMA + 1.46%
Seven Hills/ St Ros 10/2035
Henderson, N\ 2011 (7) 244 97% Fee 14,77( SIFMA + 1.47%

1/2038
Twin Ponds Apartment 5,51t SIFMA + 1.53%
Arlington, WA 2011 (7) 134 96% Fee 1,17¢ 6.20%

1/2035
Vintage at Vancouve 7,72¢ SIFMA + 2.16%
Vancouver, WA 2011 (7) 154 98% Fee 53¢ 8.12%
Vista Sonoma Seniors Ap 1/2032
Santa Rosa, C. 2011 (7) __18¢ 98% Fee 9,77¢ 6.562%
Total - Vintage Propertiet 4,65¢

units $247,46! $ 3,041
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UNCONSOLIDATED OPERATING PROPERTIES - (Continued)

Notes to Unconsolidated Operating Properties T

®)

9)

(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)

Debt balance shown represents the property levtlateumbering the propertie

An interest rate swap agreement with a notionaluarnof $5,369 effectively converts the intereserat a fixed rate of 4.78¢

An interest rate cap was purchased that caps LIBORo.

There is a LIBOR floor of 1%

There are no major tenants as the property ismilyrim development

An interest rate cap was purchased that caps LIBORS%.

The Vintage equity investment of $34,153 repnts a 75% interest in Vintage Housing Holdings |BE entity which owns the general partnershipréss
in the properties listed abov

SIFMA = Securities Industry and Financial Mas@ssociation Municipal Swap Index. The one-mdBitRMA rate at November 30, 2013 was 0.05%. Each
of the Vintage floating rate debt instruments isjsat to an interest rate cap ranging from 5.50%&25%.

An interest rate swap agreement with a notionaluarhof $7,844 effectively converts the intereserat a fixed rate of 4.769

An interest rate swap agreement with a notionaluarnof $7,500 effectively converts the intereserat a fixed rate of 5.319

An interest rate swap agreement with a notionaluarhof $920 effectively converts the interest ttata fixed rate of 6.86%

An interest rate swap agreement with a notionaluarnof $14,246 effectively converts the interese ta a fixed rate of 5.729

The one month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2013 w70 %.

LEASE EXPIRATIONS

The following table sets forth a schedule of lemggirations at our consolidated and unconsolidatedmercial properties respectively, with respedé&ses in plac
at December 31, 2013 for each of the next ten yaaishereafter (assuming that no tenants exeneisavals or cancellation options and that therenarenant
bankruptcies or other tenant defaults). Annuali@mtal rent under expiring leases representsrieaseharges for the year ended December 31, 204 8@es not
reflect any straight-line rent adjustments or exggereimbursements. The average annualized revemwsgpare foot as of December 31, 2013 was $28r56 f
consolidated multi-tenant operating properties $d5 for consolidated single tenant operating eridgs. Annualized revenue represents contrachss bent for
December multiplied by twelve.
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The following tables set forth certain informatiooncerning lease expirations:

Net Rentable
Square Feet

Percentage of Leas

Annual Contractui

Square Footage

Annual Rent Per
Leased Square Fc

Number of Subject to Represented by Rent Under of Expiring
Year of Lease Expiratio Expiring Lease Expiring Lease  Expiring Leases (%  Expiring Leases (¢ Leases ($
Consolidated Multi Tenan
Operating Properties
2014 29 102,00( 8% $ 1,635,000 $ 16.0¢
2015 23 130,00 11% 2,453,001 18.8i
2016 18 67,00( 6% 1,272,001 18.9¢
2017 1¢ 94,00( 8% 1,664,00 17.7¢
2018 26 130,00( 11% 2,596,00! 19.9;
2019 14 211,00( 18% 4,904,001 23.2¢
2020 3 7,00C 1% 146,00( 20.8¢
2021 1C 87,00( 7% 4,554,001 52.3¢
2022 8 182,00( 15% 4,319,001 23.7¢
2023 4 38,00( 3% 996,00( 26.21
2024 and Thereaftt 11 147,00( 12% 2,426,00! 16.5(
10C%
Consolidated Single Tenar
Operating Properties
2014 1 54,00( 3% 840,00( 15.5¢
2015 2 608,00( 2% 1,045,001 1.72
2016 2 88,00( 1% 382,00( 4.3
2017 2 303,00( 14% 3,822,001 12.61
2018 1 54,00( 3% 945,00( 17.5C
2019 — — — — —
2020 1 120,00( 6% 1,447,001 12.0¢
2021 — — — — —
2022 — — — — —
2023 1 200,00t 9% 1,980,001 9.9C
2024 and Thereaftt 2 666,00( 32% 8,684,001 13.04
10C%
Unconsolidatec
Operating Properties
2014 7 148,00( 11% 2,328,00! 15.7¢
2015 66 168,00( 12% 3,654,001 21.8(
2016 32 97,00( 7% 3,634,001 37.5¢€
2017 23 70,00( 5% 3,087,001 44.01]
2018 26 73,00( 5% 2,625,00! 35.7¢
2019 16 342,00( 2% 8,060,00! 23.5¢
2020 12 169,00( 12% 6,457,00! 38.3(
2021 4 5,00( — 693,00( 126.3¢
2022 4 135,00( 1C% 6,230,00! 46.1¢
2023 5 22,00( 2% 2,948,00! 135.4¢
2024 and thereaft: 23 159,00( 11% 4,897,001 30.8:¢
10C%
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TENANT DIVERSIFICATION

The following table sets forth information regamlithe leases with respect to the five largest tisnarour consolidated properties portfolio, basadhe amount of
square footage leased by our tenants at Decemb2033.

Percentage ¢

Aggregate Percentage of
Remaining Portfolio Aggregate
Lease Term i Total Lease Leased Squa Portfolio Annua
Tenan Property months Square Fe Feet (%) (1 Rent (%) (2)
Spectra Energ Houston, TX 14¢ 614,00( 18.5% 12.(%
Football Fanatics, Inc Jacksonville, F 19 561,00( 16.9% 1.€%
Siemens Real Estate, Ir Orlando, FL 48 257,00( 7.8% 7.2%
Ingram Micro, Inc. Amherst, NY 58 200,00t 6.C% 3.2%
The Kroger Compan Various (3) 29 154,00( 4.7% 1.5%

(1) Represents percentage of square footage leasediegmonth to month lease

(2) Represents base rent plus straight line rent adgrs.

(3) The Kroger Company is a tenant in three netddaroperties located in Georgia, Kentucky andiNGarolina. Remaining lease term represents ahiezig
average based on square footage and percentageual aent represents an aggregate of all thregepties.

GROUND LEASES

On certain of our properties we own the improversamd lease the land underlying the improvementsupnt to ground leases.

The following table sets forth the terms of theugrd leases:

Current Terr
Property Locatio Expiration Renewal Term Lease Term Rents Per Annt
Atlanta, GA 09/30/16 Two 5-Year Ground lease calls for $30,000/yr. plus 1/2 of Hates greater than
Renewal Options $27,805,800. (1)
(Extended Term 202¢
Greensboro, NC 12/31/17 Two 5-Year and 15 one-year RenewaGround lease calls for $83,041/yr. increased by@apmately $12,000
options for each successive renewal period plus 1% of sales$37,405,200.
(Extended Term 204: Q)
Orlando, FL 12/31/17 Five 5-Year Ground lease calls for $2/yr. of rent though theent term and then fe
Renewal Options market value for each successive renewal perigd. (1
(Extended Term 203"
South Burlington, VT 01/02/15 Three 5-Year and Ground lease calls for $51,854/yr. though the curerm and then fair
One 10-Year market value. (1)
Renewal Options
(Extended Term 204(
450 West 14th Street 05/31/53 None Ground Lease calls for $115,032/month plus increa$&8% per annum
New York, NY each June as well as $100,000 increases per armdtovember 1,

2015 and 2017

(1) The lease requires the tenant to perform all cavsnander the ground lease including the paymegtaind rent. All extensions are at our opti
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MORTGAGE LOANS

Information pertaining to the terms of the firstmgages for each of the properties is includedhéntable at the beginning of Item 2 - Properties.

ITEM 3 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Trust is involved from time to time in litigati on various matters, including disputes with tesi@nd disputes arising out of agreements to psebr sell
properties. Given the nature of the Trust's busiregivities, these lawsuits are considered rodtirtbe conduct of its business. The Trust doegrpéct that the
liabilities, if any, that may ultimately result frosuch legal actions will have a material adveffereon the consolidated financial position, réswaf operations or
cash flows of the Trust. As of December 31, 208, Trust was not involved in any material litigatio

ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5 — MARKET FOR TRUST'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Market Information

Our Common Shares are listed for trading on the Mevk Stock Exchange, under the symbol “FUR.”

The table below sets forth the high and low sat&ep as reported by the New York Stock Exchangedo Common Shares for each of the periods ineitat

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 20:

First quarte! $12.2¢ $10.3-

Second quarte 12.2¢ 10.04

Third quartel 12.67 10.5¢

Fourth quarte 11.5( 10.32
Year Ended December 31, 20:

First Quarte| $12.8( $11.0¢

Second Quarte 13.2¢ 11.4C

Third Quartel 13.6¢ 11.07

Fourth Quarte 12.0z 10.77

Holders

As of December 31, 2013 there were 601 record melofeour Common Shares. This does not includeftmaleowners for whom Cede & Co. or others act as
nominee.

Dividends

In order to retain REIT status, and thus avoid pgyéederal corporate tax, we are required by théeGo distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxablime. We
declared dividends of $0.1625 per Common Sharach guarter for the last two years.

Pursuant to the terms of our Series D PreferredeShee are required to pay quarterly dividend8@578125 per Series D Preferred Share.

While we intend to continue paying regular quayteiilvidends to holders of our Common Shares, futlivielend declarations will be at the discretioroaf Board ¢
Trustees and will depend on our actual cash flaw financial condition, capital requirements, timm@al dividend requirements under the REIT prowisiof the
Code and such other factors as our Board of Trasteems relevant. The actual cash flow availabpayodividends will be affected by a number of dast
including, among others, the risks discussed utilisk Factors” in Part |, Item 1A and “Managemeriscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults
of Operations” in Part Il, Item 7 of this Annual [Ret.

We do not believe that the financial covenantsa@oed in our loan agreements will have any adviengact on our ability to pay dividends in the nohmaurse of
business to our common and preferred shareholdéosdistribute amounts necessary to maintain oalifications as a REIT.

See Item 7 — Common and Preferred Share Divideords further description of our dividend policy.
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The following table sets forth the shares repuretiakiring the fourth quarter of 2012. No additiostzdres have been repurchased since November 28, 20

Total Number ¢ Average Price Total Number of Shares ~ Maximum Number of Shar

Common Share Paid per Purchased as Part of Publiic  that May Yet Be Purchased
Perioc Purchase! Common Shal  Announced Plans or Progra  Under the Plans or Progra
11/1/12-11/30/12 70,040 $ 10.5Z 70,04( 1,429,96!

Performance Graph

The following graph is a comparison of the fivedyeamulative return of Common Shares, a peer giodgx and the Morgan Stanley REIT Index (“MSCI US
REIT”) for the periods shown. The peer group cassi$ REITs with diverse investments which is imrast to REITs which target a certain asset tyfass or
geographic location. The peer group REITs also leaveent market values as of January 27, 2014 ubiti0,000,000. The graph assumes that $100 wastéd/en
December 31, 2008 in our Common Shares, a peep gndex and the Morgan Stanley REIT Index and élfiadividends were reinvested without the paymédratry
commissions. There can be no assurance that tfe@pance of our shares will continue in line witte tsame or similar trends depicted in the grapghduld also b
noted that if Common Shares were purchased at tftessDecember 31, 2008, the results depicteddwoat have been the same.

Winthrop Realty Trust

Total Return Performance

225
—— Winthrop Realty Trust
200 —&—MSCI US REIT (RMS)
—a— FUR Peer Group Index*
175
- 3
=
g 150
- 2
-
£
125
100
75
12131108 12131109 123110 1263111 1213112 1213113
Period Ending
Index 12/31/0¢  12/31/0¢  12/31/1C 12/31/11 12/31/1z 12/31/1¢
Winthrop Realty Trust 100.0¢ 110.9¢ 137.4¢ 116.2¢ 133.7( 141.3¢
MSCI US REIT (RMS] 100.0C 128.6: 165.2¢ 179.6( 211.5( 216.7:
FUR Peer Group Index 100.0C 111.1¢ 136.5¢ 107.3( 127.6¢ 162.0¢

* Peer Group consists of REITs with a diversity atiteoproperty focus and have a current market valsi®f January 27, 2014 of less than $75
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ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected, historicainsolidated financial data for the Trust andusthde read in conjunction with the Consolidateddficial
Statements of the Trust and Notes thereto and Mameugt's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cdadiand Results of Operations included in this Aainu
Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended December &

Operating Results 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share d

Revenue $ 61,100 $ 44,217 $ 3584f¢ $32,98: $ 344U
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 21,110 $24,74¢ $ 1058 $ 19,45 $(86,63)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 7,667 (118) 34¢ (2,975 2,28¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Winthrop Realtust 28,77¢ 24,63! 10,93 16,477 (84,34°)
Preferred dividend (11,149 (9,285) (9249) (28¢) (147
Amount allocated to Restricted Common Shi (307) — — — —
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Shi $ 17,32F $ 15,346 $ 10,00¢ $ 16,18¢ $(84,49¢)

Per Common Shai

Income (loss) from continuing operations, b $ 028 $ 04 $ 031 $ 08 $ (539
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, baj 0.22 — 0.01 (0.19) 0.14
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharesgl $ 051 $ 046 $ 032z $ 07z $ (519
Income (loss) from continuing operations, dilu $ 026 $ 04¢ $ 031 $ 08 $ (539
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, dilt 0.2¢ — 0.01 (0.19) 0.14
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharestatil $ 051 $ 04¢ $ 03z $ 072 $ (5.19
Cash dividends declared per Common S| $ 06E $ O06E $ 06t $ 0.6 $0.912¢
Balance Sheet Data

(in thousands

Total Assets $1,132,32. $923,16: $733,93: $610,12¢ $493,19:
Total Debt $ 562,07t  $421,42.  $300,09(  $277,19!  $238,06°
Non-Controlling redeemable preferred inter $ — $ — $ — $ 3,221 $ 12,16¢
Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred St $ 120,50( $120,50( $ 40,00( $ — $ —
Total Shareholde’ Equity $ 480,87: $454,51( $387,80: $295,77. $217,08¢

(1) Income (loss) from continuing operations, includpey share data, are net of -controlling interests

(2) The results of the Creekwood apartment propeere classified as discontinued operations fo920be results of the Athens, Georgia and Sherfexas
properties were classified as discontinued operatior 2009 and 2010. The results of the Lafayktiejsiana; Knoxville, Tennessee and St. Louis,ddisi
properties were classified as discontinued operatior 2009 through 2011. The results of the Inalfaris, Indiana and Memphis, Tennessee propertes w
classified as discontinued operations for 2009uhho2012. The results of the Andover, Massachydeéiston, Texas; Lisle, lllinois (701 Arboretum)dan
Seabrook, Texas properties were classified as wliseeed operation for 2009 through 2013. The resfithe Deer Valley, Arizona and Meriden, Conreudti
properties were classified as discontinued operatior 2010 through 201
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ITEM 7 — MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements coritaed herein constitute forward-looking statementsugh term is defined in Section 27A of the SemgiAct of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended. Forwatdeking statements are not guarantees of performartey involve risks, uncertainties
assumptions. Our future results, financial conditamd business may differ materially from thoseresgped in these forward-looking statements. Youficahmany
of these statements by looking for words such ppraimates,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipatesifitends,” “plans,” “would,” “may” or similar exg@ssions in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These forward-iogkstatements are subject to numerous assumptisks,and uncertainties. Many of the factors thidit
determine these items are beyond our ability tdarobor predict. Factors that may cause actualligsw differ materially from those contemplatedthg forward-
looking statements include, but are not limitedthose set forth under “Forward Looking Statemeats] “Item 1A — Risk Factors,” as well as our offigrgs with
the SEC. For these statements, we claim the piotect the safe harbor for forward-looking statemsezontained in the Private Securities Litigaticefd®m Act of
1995. We expressly disclaim any responsibility poate forwardeoking statements, whether as a result of newindédion, future events or otherwise. Accordin
investors should use caution in relying on forwkraking statements, which are based on informajicdgments and estimates at the time they are nade,
anticipate future results or trends.

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi United States of America requires managenoemiztke
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartedints of assets and liabilities and disclosuofingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial
statements and the amounts of revenues and expiuragg the reporting periods. Actual results cadiffer from those estimates. This section shodddad in
conjunction with the financial statements, footisafeereto and other items contained elsewheradsmeport.

Overview

As a diversified REIT, we operate in three strategigments: (i) operating properties; (ii) loareéssand (iii) REIT securities. As value investaes focus and
aggressively pursue our investment activity ingdagment we believe will generate the greater ovetairn to us given market conditions at the titneprior years
we have demonstrated our ability to adjust ourress plan to capitalize on evolving market condgiboth with respect to business segment and tapitature.
We will continue to invest in opportunities whictewelieve will yield superior risk adjusted returfibese investments have in the past had, and mthg ifuture
have returns weighted towards the back end ofrnesied life which negatively impact current eagsiand funds from operations.

In connection with our strategy, in certain insesjove seek to acquire assets through joint ventunich allows us to employ third party co-investineapital to
maximize diversification of risk and reduce cap@ahcentration and in certain instances leverafiefafur joint venture partner’'s experience andezkpe in
specific geographic areas and/or specific assestyp

As value investors we focus and aggressively puosménvestment activity in the real estate invesitrsegments we believe will generate the greatenall return
to us given market conditions at the time. In pyiears we have demonstrated our ability to adjusbasiness plan to capitalize on evolving marketditions both
with respect to business segment and capital steiciVhile we made significant new investmentsdf® most notably the portfolio acquisition of fduxury
residential multifamily high rises and our electiorparticipate in the hotel portion of our 701 EsnSquare investment, we have observed very campeiricing
for quality real estate resulting from a low intreate environment and increasing capital seeldabestate and real estate related investmentexyéxt that durir
2014, absent a change in the macroeconomic envaofmew opportunities that meet our asset qualtityinvestment return requirements may be limited.
Nevertheless, we will continue to seek new investsiand we will continue to look to our existingtbalio for follow-on investment opportunities. Consequently,
we have evaluated our stabilized assets with a toewards selling those assets to take advantagsimg prices and have begun executing on sucls saeddition,
subject only to the disposition restrictions unther Internal Revenue Code in order to maintainRIEIT status, we will continue to realize returnstibose
investments that we believe have matured in vahgeracycle the proceeds for new investments amdiqorate reserves.

During 2013 we (i) invested $284,408,000 in newrafieg property assets and $51,437,000 in new&sarts. (see Item 8~nancial Statements and Supplemer
Data, Note 4 for a description of our acquisitigris) sold operating properties and loan assetaggregate proceeds of $77,953,000; (iii) receiv&81477,000 in
loan repayments and returns of our capital investrfiem our equity investments and (iv) receivetipreceeds of $30,021,000 from the issuance oflR0T®
common shares of beneficial interest which we refers our Common Shares.
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We often acquire assets through joint ventures hwvhilows us to employ third party co-investmentitpo maximize diversification of risk and reducapital
concentration and in certain instances, leverafjefafur joint venture partner’s experience andeskpe in specific geographic areas and/or spegget types.

With respect to our operating results for 2013,inedme attributable to Common Shares was $17,8250 $0.51 per Common Share as compared witmoetrie
in 2012 of $15,346,000 or $0.46 per Common Shared§ From Operations attributable to Common Shaass$45,817,000 or $1.36 per Common Share for 2013
as compared to Funds From Operations of $46,44%080.40 per Common Share in 2012. See “ResulBpefations” below.

Loan Assets

During 2013 we (i) received repayment in full omifdoans receivable and partial repayment on oae teceivable for a total repayment of $56,088,00had
three loans held in equity investments that wellg fepaid resulting in return of capital distrilwrns to us totaling $13,844,000, (iii) sold tworhsaeceivable for net
proceeds of $19,319,000, (iv) sold loan assetsihedd equity investment resulting in a return @bi¢al distribution to us of $774,000, and (v) istezl
approximately $51,437,000 in new loan assets ctngisf a mezzanine loan and a secured financiogivable. As a result of our loan investments, afieg
income from loan assets increased by $2,306,0885¢661,000 for the year ended December 31, 20dbaed to $33,355,000 for the year ended Decenther 3
2012. For a description of our loan assets acquivenhg 2013 see Item 8. Financial Statements, Mote

With the exception of our $1,500,000 mezzanine loaltateralized by a flex warehouse property lodateShirley, New York which was recently vacatsdts
tenant and is in default, all of our loan assetsparforming in accordance with their terms.

When making new loan investments, we focus on leatisunderlying collateral value, future incoméur potential and in certain cases, acquisitidmson-
performing loans in the fulcrum position which havhigh possibility that our debt position in thepital stack will be converted into equity partetion.

Operating Properties

During 2013 we (i) acquired five new consolidat@emating properties, (i) made an equity investniemine new operating property, (iii) sold five sotidated
operating properties and (iv) lost through foregtestwo of our Sealy equity investments, which weied at $0. For details of our 2013 operatingoprty
transactions see ltem 8 — Financial Statement® #lot

Consolidated Operating Properties

During 2013 we have seen increases in our operataogne from our operating properties as a resftivmrable operating results from same store pia that is
properties held for all 12 months of both 2013 2682, complemented by our new store property ojpera¢sults, that is, properties not held durinthbmmplete
12 month periods. The full impact of the improvetrismot reflected in continuing operations asaiarof our properties with improved operating résulere sold
or are held for sale and are classified as discoat operations. See our Results of Operation®admlow for details of our consolidated propertiet income. As
of December 31, 2013 our consolidated propertiee &pproximately 90.0% leased compared to apprdzign89.9% leased at December 31, 2012.

Tenant Concentration At December 31, 2013, we had two tenants, Specteagy and Siemens Real Estate, which represenpgdxamately 12.1% and 7.4%,
respectively, of our annualized base rental revefmaen consolidated commercial operating propegies 7.0% and 4.3%, respectively, of total revenue.

1515 Market Street On February 1, 2013 we entered into a loan nuatifin agreement which extended the maturity dakebruary 1, 2016, increased the loan
balance to $71,629,000, from $70,000,000, and @thtite interest rate to be the greater of 7.5%BOR plus 6.5%.

Simultaneously with the modification of the loare acquired, for $10,000, an indirect 49% equitgriest, including the 0.1% general partner inteirshe entity
(“1515 Market Owner”) that owns the property lochss 1515 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvafia have consolidated this property as of Febrtia®013.
For segment reporting purposes, this propertyveéltlassified within the operating properties segras of February 1, 2013. Prior to consolidattbis investment
was part of the loan assets segment.
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On April 25, 2013 1515 Market Owner obtained a $88,000 non-recourse first mortgage loan (the “15it& Mortgage”) from an unaffiliated third parfihe
1515 First Mortgage bears interest at LIBOR pl@¥@per annum, requires monthly payments of intemelst and matures on May 1, 2016. On the same tiete,
1515 Market Owner entered into an interest ratgpsaggeement which effectively fixes LIBOR at 0.5@86the term of the 1515 First Mortgage. We recdive
$38,472,000 of loan proceeds from the 1515 Firsttyéme financing which reduced the balance on thegage loan we hold to $33,157,000. The loan lcal@an
be increased through future funding advances am ggregate of $6,000,000 to cover tenant impremesncapital expenditures and leasing commisskmrseach
$500,000 of future advances, the interest rateasas by 0.10%. At December 31, 2013 we had addamcadditional $1,500,000 resulting in a 0.3%éask in th
interest rate. The loan modification also provitteslender with a 40% participation interest in tase of a capital event At December 31, 2013dhe We hold had
a balance of $36,171,000, inclusive of accruedésteand entitles us to interest in an amountlequarate of 14.3% (subject to increase by 0.f6f&ach
additional $500,000 we advance). At December 3132{ur investment in this loan was $21,098,000ltiespin an effective interest rate on our castestment in
this asset of 19.6%.

Summit Pointe Apartment—On October 25, 2013 we contributed $4,962,000 fid8@6 equity interest in a newly formed venture.t@msame date, the venture
acquired a 184 unit garden apartment complex kresv@ummit Pointe Apartments located in Oklahomyg, Ciklahoma for a gross purchase price of $14,510,0
In connection with the acquisition, the ventureuasad an existing $9,248,000 first mortgage loare [ban bears interest at a rate of 5.7% per anregmijres
monthly payments of principal and interest and mestin February 2021. Pursuant to the terms oféméure agreement, we hold an equity interest wéitfiles us
to an 8% priority return from cash flow and, upaspdsition of the property, a minimum priority rettequal to a 12% internal rate of return (“IRR”).

Luxury Residential- On October 31, 2013 we acquired through a whollpedwenture four newly constructed luxury apartnieriidings for an aggregate purch.
price of $246,000,000. The properties are locaigehioenix, Arizona; Stamford, Connecticut; Housfexas and San Pedro, California. The propertiasisbof an
aggregate of 761 unsold residential condominiumpartment units and approximately 25,000 squateofeetail space. The acquisition was funded aith
$150,000,000 first mortgage loan which is crostatedalized by all four properties. The loan beatsrest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2%, requires miyntlayments ¢
interest only and matures on October 31, 2016 twithone year extension options. The balance optirehase was funded from cash on hand. On the datagthe
venture entered into an interest rate swap agretentech effectively fixes LIBOR at 0.69% for theitial term of the first mortgage. In addition, thenture acquire
two interest rate caps, each with a notional amoti§60,000,000 for an aggregate cost of $390,066.initial cap is effective for the first one yeatension period
and caps LIBOR at 4%. The second cap is effectivéhie second one year extension period and c&©ORIat 5%.

On November 6, 2013 New Valley LLC (“New Valley"pitributed approximately $16,365,000 to the eritint acquired the properties in exchange for aiment
16.3% interest in the properties. We retained a%3nterest in the venture and have the right &erall decisions with respect to each of the piag= other than
the Stamford, Connecticut property, subject to ioirig New Valley’s consent to certain major deaisioWith respect to the Stamford, Connecticut prigperior to
November 6, 2016 the consent of New Valley is negglion all matters other than those that are adtrédttive in nature. New Valley has the right at &me after
November 6, 2015 (or in certain instances prioretw, but on or prior to November 6, 2016, to hasénterest in the venture redeemed for a 50%rést in the
Stamford, Connecticut property.

Leasing

Amherst, New Yorl-0On July 29, 2013 we executed a lease amendmenthvetaxisting tenant, Ingram Micro Inc., which leashe entire 200,000 square foot
premises. The initial lease was signed in 1988veamischeduled to expire October 31, 2013 (sulgetstd five-year extensions). The new lease extémelserm
through October 31, 2023 with one ten-year or twe-year renewal options. Lease payments under thedmrent remained unchanged through the expiratidhe
original lease. Annual rents under the originatéewere $2,016,000. Annual rents under the ameedsd are $1,802,000 for the period November 13 #bugh
October 31, 2018 and $2,002,000 for the period Rdper 1, 2018 through October 31, 2023. The basdgenbject to increase upon the delivery of acilétl
parking area to the tenant, which is expected todnepleted during the second quarter of 2014.

39



Table of Contents

Sales

Andover, Massachuset—On March 28, 2013 we sold our Andover, Massachsiséfice property to an independent third partydorss sale proceeds of
$12,000,000. After costs and pro-rations, we rezekivet proceeds of approximately $11,425,000 azmtded a gain of $2,775,000 on the sale of thegutppThe
results of operations have been classified as diszed operations for all periods presented incthresolidated interim financial statements.

Deer Valley, Arizone—On June 11, 2013 we sold our Deer Valley, Arizoffi@® property to an independent third party foogg sale proceeds of $20,500,000. A
costs and pro-rations, we received net proceedpmximately $19,585,000 and recorded a gain gf485000 on the sale of the property. The restiltperations
have been classified as discontinued operationalifperiods presented in the consolidated intéimancial statements.

Denton, Texas< On July 2, 2013 we sold our Denton, Texas progergn independent third party for gross sale prdse $1,850,000. After costs and pro-rations,
we received net proceeds of approximately $1,7@3,80 gain or loss was recorded on the sale optbperty. The results of operations have beenitiledss
discontinued operations for all periods presentetié consolidated interim financial statements.

Seabrook, Texa—On August 1, 2013 we sold our Seabrook, Texas ptppean independent third party for gross satepeds of $3,300,000. After costs and pro-
rations, we received net proceeds of approximé&i@/202,000 and recorded a gain of $1,428,000 osdleeof the property. The results of operationelzeen
classified as discontinued operations for all p#sipresented in the consolidated interim finarstiziements.

Lisle, lllinois —On December 17, 2013 we sold our Lisle, Illinoifoef property known as 701 Arboretum to an indegendhird party for gross sale proceeds of
$2,500,000. After costs and pro-rations we recenetdoroceeds of approximately $2,351,000 and decba gain of $58,000 on the sale of the prop@tig.results
of operations have been classified as discontiopedations for all periods presented in the codaddid interim financial statements.

Meriden, Connecticu— On February 26, 2014 we sold our Meriden, Connetticoperty to an independent third party for gresie proceeds of $27,500,000. After
costs and pro-rations and a transfer of the moetgiedpt, we received net proceeds of approximati 05,000 on the sale of the property. This progpses under
contract to be sold with a $500,000 non-refunddefeosit as of December 31, 2013. This propertychassified as held for sale as of December 31, 20i3the
results of operations have been classified as ”iszed operations for all periods presented incthresolidated interim financial statements.

Equity Investment

Vintage Housing- During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 2ecorded net income from our investment in \getdlousing of $9,174,000 and
$4,603,000, respectively, and received cash digtdbs of $5,555,000 and $6,023,000, respectivighg. Vintage properties were 97% occupied at Noverdbe
2013. We have elected to recognize our earningsare month lag.

WRT-Elad Lender/Equity — Sullivan CenterOn August 21, 2013 we acquired from an affiliaté&lad Canada Inc. (“Elad”), our joint venture jo@r, its 50% joint
venture interest (the “Elad Interest”) in WRT-El@de South State (“Lender LP”) for $30,000,000 (“Aisition Price”). The mezzanine loan had an outiitam
balance of principal and accrued interest of apiprately $56,150,000 at the time the Elad Interest wcquired. Concurrently with the acquisitionhef Elad
Interest, we entered into an option agreement‘fke Option”) which grants Elad the option, but tiee obligation, to repurchase its interest indemLP for the
Acquisition Price adjusted for the pro-rata portarany accrued and unpaid interest and principgirents made by the borrower. Per the terms adgheements,
the Elad Interest and Elad Option cannot be trarexfeo parties other than us and Elad. The tertheoElad Option corresponds with Lender LP’s meizealoan.

On October 18, 2013, the owner of the Sullivan €eptoperty obtained a new $113,500,000 first nagrggloan. The loan bears interest at a rate 0P/ 19&
annum, requires monthly payments of interest onty matures on November 6, 2018. The proceeds tertoan were used to repay the existing $110,550\65
mortgage loan which bore interest at a rate of%Ip@r annum. The new loan eliminates the requiréfioerthe cash trap with the lender and the prgpewiner re-
commenced making payments on the mezzanine lo&toeember 9, 2013 in accordance with the termsefdhbearance agreement.
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In February 2013, our joint venture which holdsradirect future interest in Sullivan Center increadéts future ownership interest from 65% to 70%iolv interest
was further increased to 76% in November 2013.iltieases were in exchange for a forbearance bgdrdrP with respect to the failure by the borroteemake
required debt service payments from January 20D8i¢fh October 2013.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 ecorded net income on our equity investmenguiltivan Center of $1,315,000 and $903,000, respyg,
and received cash distributions of $5,116,000 dhde&pectively. The Sullivan Center was 83% leasédbvember 30, 2013. We have elected to recognize
earnings on a one month lag.

701 Seventh Avenue, New York, New Yerburing 2013, with respect to the joint venture timafirectly owns the property located at 701 Selvéntenue, New
York, New York we elected to participate in theufiet hotel development and during 2013, we madeiadél cash contributions to the venture totali2g 65,000
We have contributed an additional $33,419,000 it426ringing our total capital contributed at sueltedto $86,855,000 against our $125,000,000 comenitnThe
contribution was made concurrently with the reficiag of the property existing indebtedness with a new $237,500,00@gage loan and $315,000,000 mezza
loan of which $346,500,000 was advanced at clositiythe balance to be advanced for constructiasssoof the approximately 80,000 square feet aflrspace
which will include an approximately 120 foot higt0),000 square foot state of the art LED sign. Bbtéhmortgage loan and mezzanine loan bear intarésBOR
plus 8% per annum, require payments of interest andl mature January 31, 2017, subject to two-eae gxtension terms. These loans refinanced timeetkisting
mortgage and mezzanine loans that bore interésB&R plus 11% per annum.

In addition, the venture also entered into two &ddal loan agreements providing for supplemertahk totalling $262,500,000, which agreements eletih
escrow and only become effective upon the satisiadf certain conditions. At such time as suchlagreements are released from escrow, if ahallyénture will
be permitted to draw on such loans to provide &ufdit construction financing in order to develogp® room hotel which will be constructed aboverttail
component. If fully funded, the maximum aggregabtdamong the various loans funded would be $805000.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 2ecorded net income from our investment in 7&e8th Avenue of $3,424,000 and $0, respectivedy an
received cash distributions of $2,813,000 and $&80),respectively. We have elected to recognizeeaumings on a three month lag.

Atrium Mall LLC - On June 20, 2013 we, through a newly formed 5B venture with Marc Realty, acquired a nonfpaming $10,650,000 mortgage loan for
$6,625,000. In addition, the joint venture paidl8¥,000 to fund escrows at the closing. We inveatastal of $3,935,000 in this joint venture dur@L3. The loan
was in maturity default at the time of acquisitemd was acquired with the intention of foreclosimgvorking out a consensual assignment with thedveer. The
loan was collateralized by a leasehold interegiénAtrium Mall in Chicago, lllinois. The leasehadtderest is for 71,000 square feet of commer@tit space that
comprises the bottom three floors of an office din) known as the James R. Thompson building otlttie lease expires in September 2014 with soraatic
five-year extensions which are exercisable atébede’s option. The building is owned by the Stéat#inois.

On July 26, 2013 the joint venture entered int@agreement with the borrower pursuant to which thredwer conveyed the leasehold interest to thewrerin lieu o
foreclosure. Accordingly, the venture now holds l#eesehold interest in the property.

WRT-Fenway Wateridge- On October 15, 2013, our venture that holdsgtoperty obtained a $7,000,000 first mortgage lmaits San Diego, California property.
The loan bears interest at the greater of 6%, BOR plus 4.5% per annum, requires monthly paymefitsterest only and matures on November 1, 20be. T
venture purchased an interest rate cap which cEg8R at 2.5%. In connection with the financing, reeeived a distribution of $6,255,000 in partialemption of
our preferred equity investment. Subsequent talisteibution, our preferred equity balance is $229, We retain the balance of our preferred eqdotgrest as well
as a 50% equity interest in the venture.

Sealy Airpark— Nashville, TennesseeOn October 7, 2013 the lender foreclosed on the fbat was collateralized by this property. We haldinterest in this
property through a venture that was managed bypadner and had previously written down our invesitrio zero. Accordingly, for financial reportingrposes we
did not recognize a gain or loss in connection withforeclosure.

Sealy Newmarke— Atlanta, Georgia -On December 2, 2013 the lender foreclosed on tire tleat was collateralized by this property. Wellwlr interest in this
property through a venture that was managed bypadner and had previously written down our invesitrio zero. Accordingly, for financial reportingrposes we
did not recognize a gain or loss in connection withforeclosure.
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Marc Realty- In February 2014 we entered into a letter agregmvéh Marc Realty to sell our interest in thegrsuburban Chicago, lllinois properties and our
interest in the River City, Chicago, lllinois cofislated property for a gross sales price of $6,000, The sale of these assets occurred on Ma2bi13,. See Resul
of Operations for additional discussion on the pthan-temporary impairment charges totaling $6,238 on our investments in the three suburban piiepeat
December 31, 2013. These impairment charges deeted in equity in earnings for the year endeddbauer 31, 2013. See Results of Operations foriaddlit
discussion on these impairments.

We also granted to Marc Realty an option exercesalithin two years to acquire our interest in theperty located at 223 W. Jackson, Chicago, ll&rfor a
purchase price, depending on adjustments and tirekpected to be not less than $5,800,000. SedtRe$perations for additional discussion on dfiger-than-
temporary impairment charge of $1,452,000 at Deeerilh, 2013 on our equity investment in this propéFhis impairment charge is reflected in equityearnings
for the year ended December 31, 2013.

REIT Securities

During 2013 we liquidated all of our holdings of RESecurities. In particular, we sold 3,000,716rssaf common stock in Cedar Realty Trust, Ince@i@”)which
we had acquired for an aggregate cost of $12,80¥@0aggregate sales proceeds of $16,292,000.180esald 1,250,000 shares of MPG Office Trust imgich we
had acquired for an aggregate cost of $2,984,008ggregate sale proceeds of $3,626,000.

Liguidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2013, we held $112,512,000 in dricésd cash and cash equivalents.

We believe that cash flow from operations will dooé to provide adequate capital to fund our ofregand administrative expenses, as well as debicse
obligations in the short term. As a REIT, we mustribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxahleome. As a result of this dividend requiremevs, like other
REITs, are unable to reinvest all of our operatiagh flow and are dependent on raising capitabititrequity and debt issuances or forming venturtsinvestors
to obtain funds with which to expand our businégordingly, we anticipate that capital with whitthmake future investment and financing activitié be
provided from return of capital received from preds from loan maturities and prepayments, borrosyittge issuance of additional equity and debt sigzsias well
as proceeds from sales of existing assets.

Our primary sources of funds include:

. the use of cash and cash equivale

. rents and reimbursements received from our operatioperties
. payments received under our loan as:

. disposition of REIT securitie:

. sale of existing assel

. cash distributions from joint venture

. asset specific borrowings; a

. the issuance of equity and debt securi

Public Offerings

On September 30, 2013 we closed a public offerfrgy#50,000 Common Shares at a price of $11.45keare before underwriters discount. We received net
proceeds of approximately $30,021,000 after und@wsrdiscount and expenses.

Debt Maturities

At December 31, 2013, we had consolidated mortémayes payable of $444,933,000. We have $18,87h06tbrtgage debt maturing in 2014, $8,579,000 niragur
in 2015 and $326,182,000 maturing in 2016 withréreainder maturing in 2017 or later. With respeatur two mortgage loans maturing in 2014, we gdie
exercising our one year extension options whichaaeglable on each loan. Our $50,000,000 revollimgof credit had no amounts outstanding at De@ergt,
2013
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and matures in March 2014. We elected not to esemur one remaining one-year renewal option. Wiirnaally evaluate our debt maturities and basedwn
current assessment, we believe there are vialdading and refinancing alternatives for debts ag thature that will not materially adversely impaat liquidity or
our expected financial results.

Net Loss Carry Forward

At December 31, 2012, we had a net operating lagy forward of approximately $4,830,000 which egpiin 2023. We do not anticipate having to utiimg of the
net operating loss carry forward to offset 201&tdA& income. The utilization of a majority of owetroperating loss carry forward will limit our abjlto shelter
taxable income in the future which may requireaidistribute funds and reduce cash available fiovestment on a going forward basis. We had caluits carry
forwards of $31,697,000 at December 31, 2012 wahigire from 2014 through 2015. We anticipate Uitilig$15,697,000 of the capital loss carry forwaraffset
2013 capital gains.

Cash Flows

Our liquidity based upon cash and cash equivalanteased by approximately $14,830,000 from $97@&2at December 31, 2012 to $112,512,000 at
December 31, 2013.

Our cash flow activities for the year ended Decen®de 2013 are summarized as follows (in thousands)

Net cash flow provided by operating activit $ 30,26¢
Net cash flow used in investing activiti (182,279)
Net cash flow provided by financing activiti 166,84(

Increase in cash and cash equival $ 14,83(

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2013, our operatitigties generated net income of $24,488,000parsitive cash flow of $30,268,000. Our cash pregidy
operations reflects our net income adjusted bya @ecrease for non-cash items of $10,337,000geptieg primarily equity earnings from non-consafeti
interests, current period loan discount accretiwhr@alized gains on the sale of real estate imeysis offset by adding back depreciation and azaiitin expenses
and $10,591,000 for impairment charges; (ii) amease of $37,000 for discount accretion receivezish; (iii) an increase for $24,719,000 of disttibns from
non-consolidated interests; and (iv) a net decrdaseo changes in other operating assets anditlieof $8,639,000. See our discussion of Resfl®perations
below for additional details on our operations.

Investing Activitie:

Cash flow used in investing activities for the yeaded December 31, 2013 was approximately $180Q0&s compared to cash flows used in investitigities of
approximately $109,447,000 for the comparable pend@012. Cash is used in investing activitiesnarilly to fund acquisitions, loan originations amet
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. Itimgsactivity for 2013 consisted primarily of thecisition of five residential properties, a newroorigination, th
acquisition of a commercial property through a nefefmed unconsolidated joint venture and followimvestments in existing joint ventures. These stveents
were offset by proceeds received from the salévefgroperties, two loans receivable and all of REAT securities holdings as well as distributiénasn our
unconsolidated joint ventures.
Net cash used in investing activities of $182,208,fr the year ended December 31, 2013 was coatppsmarily of the following

. $245,931,000 for the acquisition of four luxury apaent buildings which were acquired on October281L3;

o $30,000,000 for the secured financing transactitated to the purchase of E's 50% interest in Lender L

. $25,913,000 for investment in our 701 Seventh Averardure;

. $20,569,000 for our mezzanine loan origination iedily secured by a property in Playa Vista, Catifar

. $5,867,000 for the acquisition of our Oklahoma C@klahoma residential proper

. $5,344,000 for investment in capital and tenant mepments at our operating properti
. $3,935,000 for investment in our new Atrium Malljbiventure; an
. $868,000 of advances made on our 1515 Market Staetreceivable prior to our consolidating thispedy.
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These uses of cash flow were offset primarily by:

$56,088,000 in collection of loans receival

$19,918,000 in proceeds from the sale of securitkesed at fair value

$19,774,000 in proceeds from the sale of our Dedley,aArizona office property
$19,319,000 in proceeds from the sale of two loassivable

$11,538,000 in proceeds from the sale of our Anddviaissachusetts office proper
$10,834,000 in return of capital distributions fromr 10 Metrotech ventur

$5,771,000 in return of capital distributions fromr &/RT-Fenway Wateridge joint ventur
$4,905,000 in proceeds from the sale of two neeleatil properties

$3,009,000 in return of capital distributions fromr &oncord joint venture:

$2,473,000 in proceeds from the sale of out Lidlimois property known as 701 Arboretum; &
$774,000 in return of capital distributions from &®E CDO Management joint ventu

Financing Activities

Cash flow provided by financing activities for thear ended December 31, 2013 was approximately,$46®00 as compared to cash flow provided by fiiran
activities of approximately $119,742,000 for thenp@rable period in 2012. This change of approxim#47,098,000 resulted primarily from proceedsrfroew
mortgage loans payable and proceeds from the isswarour Common Shares.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $188®00 for the year ended December 31, 2013 wagprised primarily of the following

$150,000,000 in proceeds from a new mortgage loasuoffiour luxury residential propertie

$43,000,000 in proceeds from a new mortgage loaouori515 Market Street office proper

$30,021,000 in proceeds from the issuance of ComBinames

$16,365,000 in contributions from r-controlling interests at our four luxury residehpeoperties:

$5,100,000 in proceeds from a new mortgage loaruoiCaurchill, Pennsylvania proper!

$1,342,000 in contributions from n-controlling interests at our Summit Pointe Aparttse@klahoma property; ar

$922,000 in contributions from n-controlling interests at our 450 W t Street property

These sources of cash flow were offset primarily by

$23,770,000 for payments on our recourse securadding;
$22,287,000 for principal payments on our mortgagas$ payable
$21,919,000 for dividend payments on our Common &h
$11,146,000 for dividend payments on our Series &dpred Share:
$796,000 for deferred financing costs; ¢

$150,000 for the acquisition of n-controlling interests on our 5400 Westheimer HomisT@xas property

Future Cash Commitmer

Future Funding Requirements

We have future funding requirements relating to4k0 W 14th Street property, our 701 Seventh Avenue investraedtour 1515 Market Street loan which total
approximately $71,092,000 at December 31, 2013afary 2014 we increased our funding commitmeatit&?01 Seventh Avenue investment by $5,000,080 an
to date in 2014 we made additional contribution$38,419,000 to our 701 Seventh Avenue investmehtaing our overall future funding commitment foese
investments to $42,673,000.
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Common and Preferred Share Dividends

As a result of our emphasis on total return, whviéeseek to achieve a stable, predictable dividendudr shareholders, we do not select or managameestments
for short-term dividend growth, but rather towaadieving overall superior total return. While wéeind to continue paying dividends each quarterathount of
our dividend will depend on the actual cash flawafcial condition, capital requirements, utilizatiof available capital losses, distribution regoients for REITs
under the Internal Revenue Code, and such othtréaas our Board of Trustees deem relevant. Sutgebe foregoing, we expect to continue distiitgiour
current cash flow from operations after reservinghmal and customary amounts to maintain adequaiiéateeserves. In addition, when deemed prudent or
necessitated by applicable dividend requiremem&ETs under the Internal Revenue Code, we mayeroale or more special dividends during any padicytar.
However, during a favorable investing environmerg,expect that we will utilize our carry forwardpial losses to shelter gains from the dispositibour assets ¢
we may use the proceeds for investment. We expexdrttinue applying these standards with respeatit@ividends on a quarterly basis which may cdlse
dividends to increase or decrease depending oa tle®us factors.

During 2013 we paid a regular quarterly dividen$0f1625 per Common Share. We paid a regular qladieidend of $0.578125 per Series D Preferredr8h

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our payment oblgyadiunder contractual obligations, including adefl and variable rate debt obligations, exceptlesraise
noted, as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Peric

Less thai After

Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Mortgage loans payable (principal and interest $513,71:  $45,64¢  $350,97. $ 80,14: $ 36,95
Senior notes payable (principal and inter 143,90: 6,68 13,36¢ 13,36¢ 110,48:
Secured financing 29,88t 14,73t 15,15( — —
Revolving line of credit (principal and interest) — — — — —
Ground lease obligations ( 115,53« 1,40t 3,05¢ 3,44 107,62°
Advisors' fee (3) 37,15¢ 9,28¢ 18,57¢ 9,28¢ —

$840,18¢  $77,75¢  $401,12! $106,24¢  $255,05¢

(1) Does not reflect financing activity subsequent ec@mber 31, 201.

(2) This obligation relates to the ground lease afppaperty located at 450 West th Street, New York, New York which expires May 3153C

(3) Advisor's fee based upon the terms of the AalyisAgreement with our external advisor, effecthamuary 1, 2014, with no effect given to any eqtkigt may
be issued or repurchased after December 31, 2aianibunts have been included for subsequent renasialds of the Advisory Agreemel

We carry comprehensive liability and all risk pragensurance covering fire, flood, extended cogerdacts of terrorism,” as defined in the TernmoriRisk
Insurance Act of 2002 and rental loss insuranck wespect to our operating properties where coeeisagot provided by our net lease tenants. Urtdeterms of
our net leases, the tenant is obligated to maimtdéyuate insurance coverage.

Our debt instruments, consisting of mortgage I&atsired by our operating properties (which are gdiggion-recourse to us), contain customary comtna
requiring us to maintain insurance. Although weea that we have adequate insurance coverage thretsr agreements, we may not be able to obtaéqw@malen
amount of coverage at reasonable costs in theefuRurther, if lenders insist on greater coverage e are able to obtain at reasonable costsylid @adversely
affect our ability to finance and/or refinance puoperties and expand our portfolio.
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Comparability of Financial Data from Period to Period

The comparability of financial data from periodpteriod is affected by several items includingf@ timing of our acquisitions and leasing actigiti@i) the
purchases and sales of assets and investmentaii@nh material other-than-temporary impairmentgaa on assets in our portfolio are taken; andtfie)
reclassification of assets. In this regard, the garability of financial results for the years pretsel were impacted by other-than-temporary impaitrobarges on
our equity investments recognized in 2013, propenfyairments recognized in 2012, the addition v fboperating properties in 2013 and three operatingerties
in 2012, the acquisition of several loan asse®0it?, the divestiture of our REIT securities in 2@hd 2012, the sale of five consolidated operginogerties in
2013 and the sale of several of our Marc Realtytgduwestments in 2012.

Results of Operations

Our results of operations are discussed below dsneat:
¢ Operating Propertie— our wholly and partially owned operating propert
¢ Loan Asset- our loans receivable, loan securities carriediat&ue, and equity investments in loan ass

«  REIT Securitie— our ownership of equity and debt securities in pthal estate investment trusts; ¢

Non-segment specific results which include interestash reserves, general and administrative expamsksther non-segment specific income and exptarss,
are reported under corporate income (expense).

The following table summarizes our assets by segatgrear end (in thousands):

2013 2012
Operating propertie $ 845,69¢ $562,82.
Loan asset 147,70: 239,53¢
REIT securities — 19,69
Corporate
Cash and cash equivalel 112,51: 97,68:
Restricted cas 18¢€ —
Accounts receivable and prepa 545 33€
Deferred financing cos 2,64t 3,09t
Discontinued Operatior 23,03¢ —
Total Assets $1,132,32 $923,16:

Our increase in operating property assets is doet@cquisition of four luxury residential propest ($248,648,000), and our Summit Pointe Apartsi@klahoma
City, Oklahoma residential property ($15,261,0@0)] the conversion of our 1515 Market Street ptydesm a loan asset to an operating property @85,000) as
a result of our acquisition of a 49% equity intéréxclusive of the general partner interest, ia phoperty. These increases were partially offeghfthe sale of five
operating properties in 2013 ($31,605,000).

The decrease in loan assets was due primarilyetoghversion of our 1515 Market Street propertgrt@perating property, collections on our Queegsridan
receivable, the sale of our Disney B Note at gag,fayoffs at par of three loans receivable, aag#yoff of our Metrotech loan equity investmerisef by the
acquisition of our venture partner’s interest ia 8ullivan Center mezzanine loan and the originatioour loan receivable indirectly secured by a@perty in Playa
Vista, California.

The decrease in REIT securities assets was thk oéslie sale of all of our holdings of REIT seitigs.
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The following table summarizes our results fromtoarnng operations by segment for each of the yeaded December 31, (in thousands):

Operating properties
Loan asset
REIT securities
Corporate expenst
Consolidated income from continuing operati

Comparison 2013 to 2012
Operating Properties

2013 2012 2011
$ 5,70¢ $ $(14,73¢)
33,36¢ 31,74( 35,29t
60C 3,89t
(22,856 (15,469 (13,056
$ 16,82 $ 24,50: $ 11,39¢

The following table summarizes our results fromtgarnng operations for our operating propertiesnsegt for the years ended December 31, 2013 and (2012

thousands):

Rents and reimbursemet

Operating expenst

Real estate taxe

Equity in income (loss) of Marc Realty investme

Equity in income of 701 Seventh Aven

Equity in income of WR-Fenway Wateridg

Equity in loss of Atrium Mal

Equity in loss of Sealy Northwest Atlar

Equity in income of Vintage Housir

Equity in income of WR-Elad

Equity in income of Mento

Equity in loss of Sealy Newmark

Equity in income of -1l Co-invest
Operating properties operating inco

Depreciation and amortization expel

Interest expens

Impairment loss on investments in real es
Impairment loss on Marc Realty equity investn
Settlement expen:

Gain (loss) on extinguishment of d¢

Operating properties net incor

2013

$ 61,10
(20,72
(5,876
(284)
3,42¢
79¢
(90)
(469)
9,17
1,31
84

48 45
(20,44%)
(14,202

(7,687

(411

$ 5,70¢

2012

$ 44,21
(13,619
(3,679
33

(38
4,60z
90z

46
(2,819
232
29,54
(15,119
(12,349
(1,739

(121)
$  21¢

Operating income from our operating properties,clvhie define for our consolidated operating praesras all items of income and expense directlivedrfrom o
incurred by this segment before depreciation, amaiion, interest expense and other non-recurrotgoperating items, and including our share of ine@r loss
from equity investments, increased by $18,908,@00ared to the prior year period.
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The following table sets forth our operating resfilom same store properties (properties held titrout both the current and prior year reportindqais) and new
store properties (in thousands):

Consolidated Operating Properties

For the Year Ended December

2013 2012
Rents and reimbursemet
Same store propertit $ 38,87. $ 41,00:
New store propertie 22,23. 3,20¢
61,10: 44,21
Operating expenst
Same store propertit 10,97¢ 12,25¢
New store propertie 9,74¢ 1,35¢€
20,72« 13,61«
Real estate taxe
Same store propertit 2,96¢ 3,27
New store propertie 2,90¢ 39¢
5,87¢ 3,677
Consolidated operating properties operating inc
Same store propertit 24,92¢ 25,46¢
New store propertie 9,57¢ 1,45¢

$ 34,50 $ 26,92,

The decrease in operating income for our same ptogerties was primarily the result of a decréasevenues of $2,132,000 which was partially dffsea
decrease in operating expenses of $1,282,000 dadraase in real estate taxes of $309,000. The stamngeresults were supplemented by positive efin our
new store properties.

D Rental revenues increased by $16,890,000 dae iocrease in new store revenues of $19,022y@l0ite there was a decrease in same store revefiues ¢
$2,132,000. The decrease in same store revenuthaessult of

. A decrease in average occupancy at our Chidligojs property known as River City from 63%48% primarily due to the loss of a
55,000 square foot tenant in August 2012. The spemgously occupied by this tenant remained vaaafitecember 31, 201

. An amendment to the lease terms for Spectra Erarg00 Westheimer located in Houston, Texas. Toeified lease reduces tl
average annual contractual obligation but exteheddrm of the lease through April 30, 20

. The sale of a portion of our Churchill, Pennsyleapioperty which occurred May 14, 20:

. An amendment to the lease terms for Ingram &inc. at our Amherst, New York property. The magtiflease reduces the average
annual contractual obligation but extends the tefthe lease through October 31, 20

Which were partially offset by increases from:

. Increased average occupancy at our property knewib@ W 140 Street located in New York, New York from 82% td8;
. Increased average occupancy at our property knav@rassroads Il located in Englewood, Colorado f82% to 88%
. Increased average occupancy at our property kngv@rassroads | located in Englewood, Colorado &% to 80%

New store revenues for the year ended Decemb&03B, were as follows:
. $9,484,000 from our 1515 Market St office propertyhiladelphia, Pennsylvania which is consolidaedf February 1, 201
. $3,873,000 from our four luxury residential propestacquired on October 31, 20



$3,430,000 from our Waterford Apartments propertii@mphis, Tennessee which was acquired April 1122

$2,756,000 from our office property in Cerritos, @ahia which was acquired October 4, 20

$2,353,000 from our Lake Brandt Apartments propart@reensboro, North Carolina which was acquiredévaber 2, 2012; an
$335,000 from our Summit Pointe Apartments properi®klahoma City, Oklahoma which was acquired Oetd, 2013
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Operating expenses increased by $7,110,000 dueiteease in expenses at our new store propeft®®,392,000. Same store operating expenses dec &y
$1,282,000 due primarily to a decrease in expeofs$$,277,000 at our Churchill, Pennsylvania propes a result of the partial sale of the propartgl the new net
lease with Westinghouse.

Real estate tax expense increased by $2,204,0@DeRate tax of $2,908,000 at our new store ptigganas offset by a decrease of $309,000 at one shore
properties. The reduction at our same store priggentas a result of the following:

. A decrease of $187,000 at our Crossroads | proglertyprimarily to a prior year tax abatement appdoand received in 201

. A decrease of $175,000 at our Crossroads |l prpplere primarily to a prior year tax abatement appdoand received in 201

. A decrease of $112,000 at our Churchill, Pennsyévproperty as a result of a prior year tax abaterapproved and received in 20.

These decreases were partially offset by an inereaeal estate tax of $238,000 at our Chicadjapls (River City) property.

Depreciation and amortization expense increasekbl824,000 in 2013 primarily as a result of our ret@re properties. Interest expenses related togenating
properties increased by $1,856,000 primarily assalt of financing at our new store properties ielbhis, Tennessee; Greensboro, North Carolina amitd3,

California which were all acquired in 2012 and at new store properties in Philadelphia, Pennsy&sabklahoma City, Oklahoma; Houston, Texas; Stadhfo
Connecticut; Phoenix, Arizona and San Pedro, Qalidowvhich were acquired in 2013.

During 2012 we recognized impairment charges 6733,000 on our Atlanta, Georgia Kroger property #8284,000 on our Denton, Texas Kroger property as a
result of changes to the respective holding perodthese properties.

Non-Consolidated Operating Properties: Equity Investsien

Net operating income from equity investments we% $30,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 amdpo net income of $2,618,000 for the year el
December 31, 2012. The increase was due primarily t

. Operating income from our Vintage portfolio increddy $4,571,000 primarily due to a decrease inrazation of lease intangible
. Operating income from our 701 Seventh Avenue imaest, which closed October 16, 2012, was $3,424.

. Operating loss from our Sealy Newmarket investimecreased by $2,811,000 as a result of haeiwgnized losses in 2012, which brought our
investment balance to zero at December 31, 2012hensuspension of recognition of additional lo$8€2013;

. Operating income from our combined W-Elad investment which closed February 3, 2012 ased by $412,000; at

. Operating income from our WF-Fenway Wateridge investment, which closed Decerg2be2012, was $796,00

During the fourth quarter of 2013, our equity inwvesnts in the Brooks Building, LLC (“223 West Jaok®, High Point Plaza, LLC (“High Point"}1701 Woodfield
LLC (“1701 Woodfield”), and Enterprise Center, LI{iddividually “Enterprise” and the aforementionewéstments collectively the “Marc Investments”)fetgd
declines in occupancy, increasing competition émants, and increasing costs to operate the ineessmAdditionally, recent discussions related tokating
available space to potential tenants, along witsderenewals with existing tenants, indicated &aldapfusion from us would be necessary to upgrihee
investments to achieve rental rates in line withgbburban Chicago, lllinois office market. Thetéas above along with increasing capital demandisrising cost ¢
capital caused us to reassess our business placiaed with the Marc Investments in the fourthrtgraof 2013.

Subsequent to year end we entered into an agreawithrilarc Realty, our joint venture partner ingkeequity investments, to sell our interests irhHrgint, 1701
Woodfield and Enterprise Center along with our oalfing interest in the River City property, locdti Chicago, Illinois, which is consolidated, fbgross sales
price of $6,000,000. Additionally, we granted M&ealty an option exercisable within two years tquai@ our interest in 223 West Jackson for a pueehmaice
ranging from $5,000,000 to $6,600,000. The purclpaise for 223 West Jackson is dependent upon wenption is exercised and certain operating cheriatics
of the investment at the time of exercise.
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Based on the factors noted above, we concludea#udt of the Marc Investments were other-than-tearihp impaired in the aggregate by $7,687,000 at
December 31, 2013 and a corresponding impairmergethas been included in equity in income (loggpaity investments for the year then ended.

Loan Asset

The following table summarizes our results from loan assets segment for the years ended Decerhp20B3 and 2012 (in thousands):

2013 2012
Interest $14,33¢ $11,73¢
Discount accretiol 4,121 8,33¢
Earnings of Concord Debt Holdin 3,072 422
Earnings of CDH CD( 1,03: 1,71¢
Equity in earnings of ROI-Riverside — 70€
Realized gain on sale of loan securities carriddiatvalue — 614
Unrealized gain on loan securities carried atvalue 21F 447
Equity in loss of ROIC Lakeside Eac (25) (42
Equity in earnings of RE CDO Managem 3,70¢
Equity in earnings (loss) of SoCal Office Loan Rait 2 9,70¢€
Equity in earnings (loss) of Concord Debt Holdiritys 64 (45¢€)
Equity in earnings (loss) of CDH CDO ( 4,92¢ (997)
Equity in earnings of WR-Stamford 93C 76¢
Equity in earnings of 10 Metrote: 3,28¢ 33t
Loan assets operating incol 35,66: 33,35¢
Interest expens (1,89¢) (1,499
Provision for loss on loans receival (34¢) —
General and administrative expel (46) (121)
Loan assets net incon $33,36¢ $31,74(

(1) Represents the interest acquired from LexingtoritiR&aust on May 1, 2012

Operating income from loan assets, which we dedBall items of income and expense directly derfveeh or incurred by this segment before generdl an
administrative and interest expense and other aourring non-operating items, increased by $2,3Wb6a% compared to the prior year period. The irsereaas due
primarily to:

. a $8,411,000 increase in net earnings from our @ahequity investments resulting from the payoffenm of the underlying loan assets during
third quarter of 2012

. a $3,642,000 increase in net earnings fromREICDO Management equity investment which resuhtmuh the sale of subordinated interests in
collateralized debt obligation entities held bysthenture

. a $2,949,000 increase in net earnings fromlOuvletrotech equity investment as a result of theeulying loan asset being paid off at par in 20¢3;
and

. a $2,598,000 increase in interest income asualtrof our 2012 and 2013 origination and acquoisiactivity, primarily our Queensridge Tower loan
which generated $2,200,000 of interest income dutie year ended December 31, 2(

Partially offset by:

. a $9,708,000 decrease in earnings from our Bdiae Portfolio Loan investment as a resultteé ppayoff of the underlying loan asset at par in
September 2012; ar

. a $4,212,000 decrease in discount accretiorpdo®rily to the payoff at par in May 2012 of di0 Spear and Magazine loans which had been
acquired at a discour
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Interest expense represents interest on (i) thel$0M00 senior participation held by Concord Resthte CDO 2006-1, Ltd. (“CDO-1"), an unaffiliatédrd party,
on our San Marbeya loan receivable, (i) the $1@,000 senior participation held by CDO-1 on ouréfid¥ales loan and (iii) on the recourse secureahfiing on
our Queensridge Towers loan receivable. Both os#reor participations are treated as secureddinga for financial statement purposes.

REIT Securitie:

The following table summarizes our results from B&IT securities segment for the years ended DeeeBih 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

2013 2012
Dividends $— $1,05¢
Gain on sale of securities carried at fair ve 74z 41
Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi (142 6,91¢€
REIT securities operating incor $ 60C $8,011

Operating income from REIT securities, which weidefs all items of income and expense directlivddrfrom or incurred by this segment before inteexpense
decreased by $7,411,000 as compared to the p@ompggiod. The decrease was primarily due to theédation of all of our holdings of REIT securities2013.

Corporate
The following table summarizes our results from ponsegment specific income and expense items forehesyended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thods

2013 2012

Interest and other incon $ 37t $ 69¢
General and administrati\ (4,319) (3,409)
Related party fee (9,289 (8,959
Transaction cosi (1,88%) (421
Interest expens (7,310 (3,159
Federal, state and local ta» (430) (232)
Operating los: $(22,85¢) $(15,46%)

The decrease in corporate operations for the cabjgmperiods was due primarily to the following:
e anincrease in corporate interest expense of $4Q@8esulting from the issuance of our Senior BateAugust 2012
*« a$1,464,000 increase in transaction costs priynastociated with our acquisition of the four luxuesidential properties; ar

e a$909,000 increase in general and adminig&r&kpense due to $899,000 in compensation expasseiated with the issuance of Restricted Shares i
2013.
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Comparison 2012 to 2011
Operating Properties

The following table summarizes our results fromtoarnng operations for our operating propertiesnsegt for the years ended December 31, 2012 and Ztfiain
balances have been reclassified as a result afrdisced operations (in thousands):

2012 2011
Rents and reimbursemet $ 44,21 $ 35,84¢
Operating expense (13,619 (12,43))
Real estate taxe (3,672) (3,547
Equity in income (loss) of Marc Realty investme 32 (775)
Equity in income (loss) of Sealy Northwest Atla (38¢) 4,30¢
Equity in loss of Sealy Airpark Nashvil — (1,034
Equity in loss of Sealy Newmark (2,81)) (2,93¢)
Equity in income of Vintage Housir 4,60: 11z
Equity in income of WR-Elad 90:< —
Equity in income of Mento 4€ —
Equity in income of -1l Co-invest 232 —
Operating incom: 29,54¢ 19,54¢
Depreciation and amortization expel (15,119 (20,69
Interest expens (12,349 (11,05))
Impairment loss on investments in real es (1,739 (4,600
Impairment loss on Marc Realty equity investmr — (15,769
Gain on consolidation of propet — 81¢
Settlement incom — 5,86¢
Impairment loss on Sealy equity investme — (5,299
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of de (121 6,43¢
Operating properties net income (lo $ 21¢ $(14,736)

Operating income from our operating properties,clvhie define for our consolidated operating praesras all items of income and expense directlivedrfrom o
incurred by this segment before depreciation, aaiibn and interest expense and other non-reguniém-operating items and our share of incomess foom
equity investments, increased by $9,999,000 condparthe prior year period.

The following table breaks out our operating restrtbm same store properties (properties held tirout both the current and prior year reportindgqoks) and new
store properties (in thousands):

Consolidated Operating Properties

For the Year Ended December

2012 2011
Rents and reimbursemet
Same store propertit $ 34,58¢ $ 34,92
New store propertie 9,62 921
44,21 35,84¢
Operating expenst
Same store propertit 8,17¢ 12,11
New store propertie 5,43¢ 32€
13,61« 12,43;
Real estate taxe
Same store propertit 2,544 3,47¢
New store propertie 1,12¢ 67
3,67 3,541
Consolidated operating properties operating inc
Same store propertit 23,86: 19,34:
New store propertie 3,06¢ 52¢
$ 26,920 $ 19,87(
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The increase in operating income for our same gharperties was primarily the result of a decréasmperating expenses of $3,932,000 and a decireasal estate
taxes of $930,000. The same store results werdesuppted by positive results from our new storepproes.

Rental revenues increased by $8,365,000 due tacagaise in new store revenues of $8,706,000, wiele was a slight decrease in same store rev
of $341,000. The decrease in same store revenuthe/assult of

. The sale of a portion of our Churchill, Pennsyleaproperty which occurred May 14, 20:

. An amendment to the lease terms for Spectragyret 5400 Westheimer located in Houston, Texas. Modified lease reduces the
average annual contractual obligation but exteheddrm of the lease through April 30, 20

. A decline in parking revenue at our One Eag Broperty located in Chicago, lllinois resultiiigm spaces taken out of service due to a
restoration projec

Which were partially offset by increases from:

. Lease termination income of $785,000 from a 55&ffare foot tenant at our Chicago, lllinois prop&rtown as River City, whic
tenant terminated the lease effective August 2

. Increased average occupancy at our property knav@rassroads Il located in Englewood, Colorado fEd¥ to 82%

. Increased average occupancy at our property knaviis@/650 Corporetum located in Lisle, Illinoisfr®&8% to 75%

Operating expenses increased by $1,177,000 dug@émses at our new store properties of $5,43598Me store operating expenses decreas
$3,932,000 due primarily to a decrease in expeofs$3,240,000 at our Churchill, Pennsylvania properhich had incurred $1,423,000 of costs
associated with pursuing a settlement in 2011 $&99,000 at our Chicago, lllinois (River City) pesty;

Real estate tax expense increased by $131980esult of our new store properties. Real etdatef $1,128,000 at our new store properties offset
by a decrease of $930,000 at our same store piegerhe reduction at our same store propertiegonasrily due to lower taxes at our Churchill,
Pennsylvania and Chicago, lllinois (River City) pegties.

Depreciation and amortization expense increasektb27,000 in 2012 primarily as a result of our ret@re properties. Interest expenses related togenating
properties increased by $1,291,000 primarily assalt of interest expense of $2,240,000 at our steve properties, in particular $1,594,000 at &0 W 14t Stree
new store property located in New York, New YorkisTincrease was partially offset by refinancing bisle, lllinois properties which resulted in deased interest
expense of $422,000 as well through amortizatioounfother same store properties.

During 2012 we recognized impairment charges 6733,000 on our Atlanta, Georgia retail propertpaesult of a change to the holding period for gnisperty.
During 2011 we recognized impairment charges cd@2,000 on our Churchill, Pennsylvania propertyadidition, we recognized income of $5,868,000 in
connection with the settlement of the litigatioroat Churchill, Pennsylvania property. We also gggped $6,439,000 of gain on extinguishment of debt
connection with the early satisfaction of the dabbur Lisle, lllinois property. As a result of hange in control at our 450 W $Street property effective
November 1, 2011, we began consolidating this ptgpe 2011, and we recognized a gain on consatdatf $818,000 in 201:

Non-Consolidated Operating Properties: Equity Investsien

Net operating income from equity investments wa8@2,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 cadpa a net loss of $324,000 for the year er
December 31, 2011. The increase was due primarily t

Operating income from our Vintage portfoliotieased by $4,490,000 primarily due to recognizifigllaear’s income in 2012, a decrease in
amortization expense and the addition of two prig®rOur initial investment in the Vintage porifotlosed on June 24, 201

Operating loss from our Sealy Airpark Nashvilieestment decreased by $1,034,000 as a resuétvirig written this investment down to $0 as of
December 31, 201
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. Operating income from our combined W-Elad investment which closed February 3, 2012 vé&3¥®00 for the year ended December 31, 2
. Operating loss from our Marc Realty investmentgelesed by $808,000 primarily as a result of the shfive investments during 2012. We recogni
a gain of $165,000 on these sa
Partially offset by:
. Operating income from our Sealy Northwest Aidaimvestment decreased by $4,696,000 due printarilye discounted payoff of the first mortgage
loan in June 2011. The discounted payoff resulteghi allocation of cancellation of debt income $améiapproximately $5,502,0C

We recognized other-than-temporary impairment akang $15,764,000 on our Marc Realty equity invesits in the fourth quarter of 2011 as a resuliootioued
decline in operations particularly in the suburldricago, Illinois assets, together with increassmgital needs both of which have resulted in anreffg us to divest
of certain of these investments. We recognized®50 of other-than-temporary impairment chargesur Sealy investments due primarily to overlegera
concerns as well as continued market declines esetproperties.

Loan Asset
The following table summarizes our results from loan assets segment for the years ended Decerhp20B and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Interest $11,73¢ $11,07:
Discount accretiol 8,33¢ 13,40:
Equity in earnings of preferred equity investmeitiarc Realty — 33€
Equity in earnings of Le-Win Concord — 25¢
Equity in earnings of ROIC Riversic 70€ 93¢
Equity in earnings of Concord Debt Holdir 422 3,21¢
Equity in earnings of CDH CDt 1,71¢ 48C
Equity in earnings (loss) of ROIC Lakeside Ee (42 664
Equity in earnings of 46th Street Goth. — 621
Equity in earnings of Sofite — 2,17
Equity in earnings of RE CDO Managem: 67 46
Equity in earnings of Socal Office Loan Portfc 9,70¢ 272
Equity in loss of Concord Debt Holdings | (45€) —
Equity in loss of CDH CDO (1 (997 —
Equity in earnings of WR-Stamford 76¢ —
Equity in earnings of 10 Metrote: 33t —
Realized gain on sale of securities carried atalne 614 —
Unrealized gain on loan securities carried atvalue 447 2,73¢
Loan assets operating incol 33,35¢ 36,22(
General and administrative expel (121) (75)
Interest expens (1,499 (850)
Loan assets net incor $31,74( $35,29¢

(1) Represents the interest acquired from LexingtoritiR&aust on May 1, 2012

Operating income from loan assets, which we defall items of income and expense directly derfveih or incurred by this business segment befereegal and
administrative and interest expense, decrease@ 8$%,000 as compared to the prior year period.dBoeease was due primarily to:

. a $5,068,000 decrease in discount accretiorpdoerily to the repayment of our Metropolitan Tewand Beverly Hilton loans in 2011 which was
partially offset by an increase related to our $§@ar and Magazine loans in May 20
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. a $3,270,000 decrease in earnings from our Corineestment primarily due to a loan loss reserv€oncor(s Thanksgiving Tower loan in 2012; ¢

D a $2,291,000 decrease in unrealized gain on loamisies carried at fair valus

Partially offset by:
. a $6,825,000 increase in net earnings fronother equity investment loan assets primarily duearnings of $9,706,000 on our SoCal office ptidfo
loan investment which resulted from the payofftef tinderlying loan asset at p

Interest expense represents interest on (i) thel$0M00 senior participation held by CDO-1, anfiilfeted third party, on our San Marbeya loan rigable, (i) the
$14,000,000 senior participation held by CDO-1 anldotel Wales loan and (jii) on the $23,770,006orese secured financing on our Queensridge Tolwars
receivable. Both of the senior participations agated as secured financings for financial stat¢impermposes.

REIT Securitie:
The following table summarizes our results from B&IT securities segment for the years ended DeeeBih 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Dividends $1,05¢ $ 984
Gain on sale of securities carried at fair ve 41 12¢
Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi 6,91¢€ 2,78¢
REIT securities net incon $8,011 $3,89¢

Operating income from REIT securities, which weidefs all items of income and expense directlivddrfrom or incurred by this segment before inteexpense
increased by $4,116,000 as compared to the prarperiod. The increase was primarily due to aZ8L00 increase in unrealized gain on securitiesechat fair
value primarily as a result of a change in the @atiour shares of Cedar acquired subsequent ter8bpr 30, 2011.

Corporate
The following table summarizes our results from wonsegment specific income and expense items forehesyended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thous

2012 2011

Interest and other incon $ 69¢ $ 1,17
General and administratiy (3,40¢) (3,452)
Related party fee (8,957%) (7,690
Transaction cost (421) (519
Interest expens (3,159 (2,099
Loss on redemption of Serie-1 Preferred Share — (100)
State and local taxe (232) (37¢€)

Operating los: $(15,46%) $(13,05¢)

The increase in operating loss for the comparablimgs was due primarily to a $1,220,000 increasgeneral and administrative expense due primarign
increase in the base management fee paid to ouiséwyf $1,263,000 and an increase of $361,00@downting fees which was partially offset by a $860
decrease in legal fees, and an increase in cogpmtarest expense of $1,059,000 resulting fronigsigance of our Senior Notes.
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Discontinued Operations

Our office properties in Deer Valley, Arizona; laslllinois; Indianapolis, Indiana; and Andover, 88achusetts, our retail properties in Lafayettejdiana; St.
Louis, Missouri; Knoxville, Tennessee, Memphis, fiessee; Denton, Texas; and Seabrook, Texas amdsidential property in Meriden, Connecticut arsslfied
as discontinued operations for all periods presknte

The Lafayette, Louisiana property was classifiediasontinued operations as of September 30, ZlXi®ownership of the Lafayette, Louisiana proptstseverted
back to the land owner as of November 1, 2010.IBeilement with the tenant occurred in 2011.

The Knoxville, Tennessee location has also beessified as discontinued operations since SepteB8he2010. In August 2011, we sold our Knoxvillenfiessee
property for net proceeds of $2,151,000.

In January 2011 the St. Louis, Missouri property weclassified into discontinued operations. InrBaty 2011 we entered into an agreement to seligittperty an
in December 2011 the property was sold for netgeds of $1,485,000.

In September 2012 we classified our Indianapatididna property as discontinued operations upagriegtinto a purchase contract for, and the suls#gale of
this property. The property was sold on SeptemBe@12 for $6,300,000 and we received procee®4 071,000 after satisfaction of the debt.

We also classified our Memphis, Tennessee propergliscontinued operations in the third quart&20df2. On September 28, 2012, the Kroger Co. tetethits
lease on this property and paid a cancellatiorof&00,000. Concurrently, we sold the propertanidndependent third party for $600,000. We reah@l§698,000
impairment charge in connection with the sale effiroperty.

In March 2013 the Andover, Massachusetts propeay elassified as discontinued operations and $blel property was sold for net proceeds of $11,58Bdhd w
recorded a $2,775,000 gain on the sale of the pope

In June 2013 the Deer Valley, Arizona and Dentaxab properties were classified as discontinuecatipas. The Deer Valley, Arizona property was saldune
2013 for net proceeds of $19,585,000 and we redaadkb, 745,000 gain on the sale of the propertyréerded an $824,000 impairment charge on thedbent
Texas property in 2012 as a result of a changlede@nticipated holding period of this property. Weorded an additional $154,000 impairment chaog¢hfis
property in June 2013 as a result of the purchasgact. The property was sold in July 2013 andeeeived net proceeds of $1,708,000.

In August 2013, the Seabrook, Texas property wassified as discontinued operations. The propeaty sold in August 2013 for net proceeds of $3,02dhd we
recorded a $1,428,000 gain on the sale of the pope

In September 2013, our 701 Arboretum property kdtat Lisle, lllinois was classified as held fotesdVe had previously recorded a $3,000,000 impamtncharge
on this property in 2011 as a result of continuedides in occupancy. We recorded an addition&%2000 impairment charge in 2013 as a result®ptirchase
contract. The property was sold in December 20L8éb proceeds of $2,351,000 and we recorded ®888ain on the sale.

The Meriden, Connecticut property was classifietield for sale as of December 31, 2013. A purchasesale contract was signed for a gross sales gfic

$27,500,000 and we received a non-refundable depio500,000. The sale of the property was consatachon February 26, 2014. After satisfaction efdbbt,
we received net proceeds of $5,106,000 on theo$ales property.

Funds From Operations

We have adopted the revised definition of Fundsff@perations (“FFO”), adopted by the Board of Gawees of the National Association of Real Estateebiment
Trust (“NAREIT”). Management considers FFO to beappropriate measure of performance of a REIT. ®Weutate FFO by adjusting net income (loss) (corgut
in accordance with GAAP, including non-recurringnits), for gains (or losses) from sales of propgrtieal estate related depreciation and amortizadiepreciation
and amortization related to unconsolidated parhipssand ventures, and impairments. Managemerevadithat in order to facilitate a clear understandf our
historical operating results, FFO should be comsidlén conjunction
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with net income as presented in the consolidatehfiial statements included elsewhere herein. Managt considers FFO to be a useful measurement for
reviewing our comparative operating and financaf@mance because, by excluding gains and lostsed to sales of previously depreciated operagabestate
assets and excluding real estate asset deprecitibamortization (which can vary among ownersleftical assets in similar condition based on hisabcost
accounting and useful life estimates), FFO can bepcompare the operating performance of a compaegl estate between periods or as comparedfevetit
companies.

Calculation of FFO may not be directly comparabl&FO reported by other REITS or similar real estaimpanies that have not adopted the term in danoe witt
the current NAREIT definition or that interpret therrent NAREIT definition differently. FFO is natGAAP financial measure and should not be consitias an
alternative to net income (loss), the most directignparable financial measure of our performant®itzied and presented in accordance with GAARas
indication of our performance. FFO does not represash generated from operating activities deteethin accordance with GAAP and is not a measuliquitlity
or an indicator of our ability to pay dividends. \Welieve that to further understand our performaR€® should be compared with our reported netrrecand
considered in addition to cash flows in accordamite GAAP, as presented in our consolidated finalhsiatements.

Based on the October 31, 2011 and January 6, 28d&ted guidance on reporting FFO, we have exclidpdirment losses on depreciable real estate dsagvel
other-than-temporary impairment on real estatetgeuéthod joint ventures in the calculations of F&@ have restated prior period calculations todresistent
with this presentation. The other-than-temporargaimments have been excluded as they relate teases in the fair value of depreciable real estgt by the
investee.
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The following presents a reconciliation of net immto funds from operations for the years endeceBer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, epegghare
amounts):

2013 2012 2011
Basic
Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr $ 28,77¢ $24,63: $10,93:
Real estate depreciati 13,67: 11,28: 8,64¢
Amortization of lease intangible 8,23t 6,78t 4,89t
Gain on sale of real este (11,00 (945) (392)
(Gain) loss on sale of equity investme 11C (299) (207)
Gain on property consolidatic — — (81¢)
Trus's share of real estate depreciation and amortizafionconsolidated interes 10,31« 13,75 11,46¢
Trus'’'s share of loss on sale of real estate of uncategelil interest 72z — —
Impairment loss on investments in real es 2,904 3,26( 7,60(
Impairment loss on equity investme 7,681 — 21,05¢
Less: Nol-controlling interest share of real estate deprieiaind amortizatio (4,14¢) (2,83)) (3,489
Funds from operatior 57,27( 55,73¢ 59,69¢
Preferred dividend on Series C Preferred St — — (58¢%)
Preferred dividend on Series D Preferred Sh (11,14¢) (9,28¢) (339)
Amount allocated to Restricted Sha (307) — —
Allocation of earnings to Series-1 Preferred Share — — (325)
Allocation of earnings to Series C Preferred Sh — — (213
FFO applicable to Common Share:- Basic $ 45,81° $46,44¢ $58,23¢
Weightec-average Common Share 33,74 33,06: 31,42¢
FFO Per Common Share- Basic $ 13€ $ 1.4C $ 1.8¢
Diluted
Funds from operatior $ 57,27( $55,73¢ $59,69¢
Preferred dividend on Series C Preferred St — — (58¢)
Preferred dividend on Series D Preferred Sh (11,149 (9,285 (339
Amount allocated to Restricted C Sha (307) — —
Allocation of earnings to Series-1 Preferred Share — — (325)
Allocation of earnings to Series C Preferred Sh — — (213)
FFO applicable to Common Share: $ 45,81° $46,44¢ $58,23¢
Weighte-average Common Shar 33,74 33,06: 31,42¢
Stock options — — —
Restricted Share 31 — —
Diluted weightec-average Common Share 33,77 33,06: 31,42¢
FFO Per Common Share- Diluted $ 1.3¢€ $ 1.4C $ 1.8t

Off-Balance Sheet Investments

We have nine off-balance sheet investments in ¢ipgrproperties totaling $133,837,000 and six affamce sheet investments in loan assets totalif@4&,000 at
December 31, 2013. Our exposure to loss is lintitealir investment balance. See Item 8 — Finantae®ents, Note 8 for additional information onsthe
investments.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Below is a discussion of the accounting policied thanagement believes are critical to our operatid/e consider these policies critical becausgithelve
difficult management judgments and assumptiongjire@stimates about matters that are inherentgmiain and because they are important for undeistg and
evaluating our reported financial results. Theslgjnents affect the reported amounts of assetsatitities and our disclosure of contingent asseis liabilities at
the dates of the financial statements and the regp@mounts of revenue and expenses during thetirgpperiods. With different estimates or assuoi
materially different amounts could be reportedun financial statements. Additionally, other comigarmay utilize different estimates that may imghet
comparability of our results of operations to thofeompanies in similar businesses. Our most Seasstimates involve the allocation of the pusshprice of
acquired properties and evaluating our real ese#ged investments for impairment.
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Investments in Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assestathealue of acquired assets (including land, dinijs and improvements, and identified intangilsiesh as above
and below market leases and acquired in-placedeas®tenant relationships) and acquired liakdlitied we allocate purchase price based on thesgsassnts. We
assess fair value based on estimated cash flowqiajs and utilize appropriate discount and cpéton rates and available market informatiortirRates of
future cash flows are based on a number of fagtalsding the historical operating results, knowentds, and market/economic conditions that maycaffe

property.

Impairment

Operating properties We evaluate the need for an impairment loss onestate assets when indicators of impairment asept and the projected undiscounted
cash flows from an asset are not sufficient tovecan asset group’s carrying amount. The impaitriuas is measured by comparing the fair valudefasset
group to its carrying amount. The projection offtliews used in the impairment evaluation involsemificant judgment by management.

Loan asset— Loan assets are periodically evaluated for possileirment in order to determine whether it isesmary to establish a loan loss allowance. In some
instances if a borrower is experiencing difficitimaking loan payments we may assist the borrawaddress the problems, which could include extenthie loan
term, making additional advances, or reducing regupayments. A loan asset is considered to beiiethevhen, based on current information and evérits,
probable that we will be unable to collect all amizdue according to the existing contractual tesfriee loan. Impairment is then measured baseti@present
value of expected future cash flows or, if the I&moollateral dependent, the fair value of théatetal. When a loan is considered to be impaineyill establish a
allowance for loan losses and record a correspgraliarge to earnings. Significant judgments araired in determining impairment. We do not recargiest
income on impaired loans. Any cash receipts on iregdoans are recorded as a recovery reducingltvance for loan losses.

Preferred equity investmer—We have certain investments which are classifigogreferred equity investments. Determining whethpreferred equity investmen
other-than-temporarily impaired requires significarlgment. This evaluation includes consideratibthe length of time and extent to which the faifue of an
investment has been less than its cost basisntantiand ability to hold the investment until eeftasted recovery in value and the collateral uyiderthe
investment.

Equity investment— Equity investments are reviewed for impairmentqaiically. For equity investments in which the rgémg value exceeds the fair value, we
evaluate if these are other-than-temporarily imgghiSee Item 8 — Note 3 for further discussionignificant estimates associated with our equityestments.

Contingent liabilities- Estimates are used when accounting for the atioevéor contingent liabilities and other commitneeriEstimating probable losses requires
analysis of multiple forecasts that often depenjudgments about potential and likelihood of acsidwy third parties such as regulators. All of théneates and
evaluations are susceptible to change and actsiltsecould differ from the estimates and evaluetio

Variable Interest Entities

Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

Consolidated variable interest entities are thoserevwe are the primary beneficiary of a variabteriest entity. The primary beneficiary is the pahiat has a
controlling financial interest in the VIE, whichdgfined by the entity having both of the followidlgaracteristics: 1) the power to direct the atiigithat, when
taken together, most significantly impact the VIg&formance, and 2) the obligation to absorb bssel right to receive the returns from the VIE thauld be
significant to the VIE. We have two consolidatediafle interest entities at December 31, 2013.

Variable Interest Entities Not Consolidated

Equity Method and Preferred Equity Investme We have reviewed our various equity method aeéepred equity investments and identified nine gtrents for
which we hold a variable interest in a VIE. Of th@géne interests, there are five investments fdclthe underlying entities do not have sufficiequity at risk to
permit them to finance their activities without #duhal subordinated financial support. There anerfadditional entities for which the VIE assesstvess
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primarily based on the fact that the voting righftshe entity holders are not proportional to thabligations to absorb expected losses and rightsdeive residual
returns of the legal entities. These unconsolidaiied ventures are those where we are not theagssirbeneficiary of a VIE.

Loans Receivable and Loan Securi— We have reviewed our loans receivable and loanrisiesuand certain of these assets have been fidehtis variable interes
in a VIE because the equity investment at riskiatitorrowing entity level is not considered suéiti for the entity to finance its activities with@dditional
subordinated financial support. There is one aoiti loan receivable for which the VIE assessmexst made primarily based on the fact that the edpaitglers of
the underlying investment lack the right to receiteirns due to the lender’s participation interest

Certain loans receivable and loan securities whare been determined to be VIEs are performingsasseeting their debt service requirements, aadtirowers
hold title to the collateral. In these cases thedwer holds legal title to the real estate cotiatand has the power to direct the activities thast significantly
impact the economic performance of the VIE, inahgdnanagement and leasing activities. In the evedéfault under these loans we only have protediiyhts an
have the risk to absorb losses only to the exteatioloan investment. The borrower has been deteirto be the primary beneficiary for these perfiog assets.

We have determined that we do not currently hagegtiwer to direct the activities of the venturel§ateralizing any of its loans receivable and Isagurities. For

this reason, we believe that we do not control,arerwe the primary beneficiary of these ventuiesordingly, we account for these investments utllerguidance
for loans receivable and real estate debt invedsnen

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See “ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplemeitaty - Note 2.”
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ITEM 7A — QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

We have exposure to fluctuations in market interasts. Market interest rates are highly senstbwaany factors beyond our control. Various finahgehicles exis
which would allow management to mitigate the patémegative effects of interest rate fluctuationsour cash flow and earnings.

Our liabilities include both fixed and variableeatebt. As discussed in ltem 7 — Management’s B&on and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Rexf
Operations, we seek to limit our risk to interegerfluctuations through match financing on ounlaasets as well as through hedging transactions.

The table below presents information about the feaerivative financial instruments at December&113 (in thousands):

Notional

Amount of Estimated Fai
Type Maturity Strike Rat Hedge Cost of Hedg Value of Hedg
Cap May-14 1.75% $ 51,98: $ 434 $ —
Cap Aug-14 0.5(% 13,40¢ 22 4)
Cap Oct-14 1.0(% 5,75¢ 174 1
Swap May-16 0.5(% 42,44 — (33)
Swap Oct-16 0.6%% 150,00( — (86)
Cap Nov-17 4.0(% 50,00( 165 18¢€
Cap Nov-18 5.0(% 50,00( 22C 24¢&

The fair value of our mortgage loans payable awdree financings, based on discounted cash flowseaturrent rate at which similar loans would tedmto
borrowers with similar credit ratings for the remiag term of such debt, was $474,112,000 and $324)00 at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. The fair value of our Senior Notezsdnl on quoted market price, was $86,940,000 a&d &B 000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respBctive

The following table shows what the annual effechange in the LIBOR rate would have on intereseesp based upon our variable rate debt at Dece3ib2013
taking into consideration the effect of our derivatfinancial investments (in thousands):

Change in LIBOR (2

=0.17% A% 2% 3%
Change in consolidated interest expe $ (10) $13E $437 $461
Prc-rata share of change in interest expense of debbr-consolidated entities (. _ (a9 10z _15¢ _204
(Increase) decrease in net inca $ (29 $237 $59¢€ $66¢

(1) Represents our pro-rata share of a changedrest expense in our Marc Realty and Sealy equigstments. The amount does not reflect our equity
investment in Concord which has been written dowvretro.
(2) The one month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2013 wWE&77 %.
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The Trusts equity investment in Vintage, which is reportedao30 day lag, holds floating rate debt of apprately $170,541,000 and bears interest at a relexén
to the Securities Industry and Financial Marketsasation Municipal Swap Index (SIFMA). The follavg table shows the annual effect a change in thi18Irate
would have on the Trust based on property lever@st expense based upon the unhedged balancasaible rate debt at November 30, 2013 (in thousgnd

Change in SIFMA(1

0.05% 1% 2% 3%
Change in consolidated interest expe $— $— $ — $ —
Prc-rata share of change in interest expense on Virdabt _(46) 922 1,84¢ _2,76¢
(Increase) decrease in net inca $(46 $922 $1,84¢ $2,76¢

(1) The on-month SIFMA rate at November 30, 2013 was 0.0

We may utilize various financial instruments toigate the potential negative impact of interest fatctuations on our cash flows and earningspiticlg hedging
strategies, depending on our analysis of the isteste environment and the costs and risks of strategies.

The following table shows what the annual effechange in the LIBOR rate would have on interesbine based upon our variable rate loan assets anfies 31,
2013 (in thousands):

Change in LIBOR (1

0.17% 1% 2% 3%
Change in consolidated interest incao $ (3 $ 38 $ 85 $16E
Prc-rata share of change in interest income of loaetass no-consolidated entitie _@a7n  _10c 20C 30C
Increase (decrease) in net inca $ (2C $13¢ $28¢ $46¢

(1) The one month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2013 wWE&77%.

Market Value Risk

Our hedge transactions using derivative instrumaists involve certain additional risks such as ¢erparty credit risk, the enforceability of hedgizantracts and
the risk that unanticipated and significant charigésterest rates will cause a significant losgasis in the contract. We believe that therelimalikelihood that
these counterparties will fail to meet their obligas. There can be no assurance that we will aatetyuprotect against the foregoing risks.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of WiptRealty Trust:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairlygll material respects, the financial positidrwinthrop Realty
Trust and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013mwmber 31, 2012, and the results of their opermfind their cash flows for each of the threesygathe perio
ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accawnfirinciples generally accepted in the UnitedeStditAmerica. In addition, in our opinion, the fir@al
statement schedules listed in the index appeandgritem 15(a)(2) present fairly, in all materedpects, the information set forth therein whexii@ conjunction
with the related consolidated financial statemefitso in our opinion, the Company maintained, innadterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on @itstiablished imternal Control - Integrated Framewof®992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO® CTbmpany’s management is responsible for theaadial statements and financial statement schedoles
maintaining effective internal control over finaalieporting and for its assessment of the effec&ss of internal control over financial reportimgjuded in
Management’s Report on Internal Control over FiriReporting appearing under Item 9A. Our respitisi is to express opinions on these financiatements,
on the financial statement schedules, and on tmep@oy’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our integrated audits. We conducted otitsaind
accordance with the standards of the Public Compacpunting Oversight Board (United States). Thetsedards require that we plan and perform thesitali
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemmdhtrehether effective internal control over finahegporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our auditee financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amountsliantbsures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made &yagement, and evaluating the overall financiaéstant
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagaif internal control over financial reportingsassing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aaldi&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk. Qiitsaaiso
included performing such other procedures as weidered necessary in the circumstances. We bele¥®ur audits provide a reasonable basis foopimions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of financial repogtand the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. A company’s internal control o¥grancial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(thpertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions
and dispositions of the assets of the companyp((@yide reasonable assurance that transactions@veded as necessary to permit preparation aniial
statements in accordance with generally acceptenbiating principles, and that receipts and expenetit of the company are being made only in acceslaith
authorizations of management and directors of timepainy; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancerdagaprevention or timely detection of unauthodze
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then€iizh statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of any evaturadf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taisiethat controls may become inadequate becausleasfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, MA
March 17, 2014
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Investments in real estate, at ¢
Land
Buildings and improvemen

Less: accumulated depreciati

Investments in real estate, net (variable intezesties $65,275 and $21,423, respectiv
Cash and cash equivalents (variable interestentitl, 163 and $509, respective
Restricted cash held in escrows (variable intexesties $7,340 and $1,101, respectivi
Loans receivable, ni
Secured financing receivak
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $414$8ith, respectivel
Accrued rental incom
Securities carried at fair val
Loan securities carried at fair val
Preferred equity investmer
Equity investment
Lease intangibles, net (variable interest entii28,043 and $3,485, respective
Deferred financing costs, n
Other asset
Assets held for sal

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Mortgage loans payable (variable interest ent#@®,404 and $23,184, respective
Senior notes payab

Secured financing

Notes payable (variable interest entities $942%8ub, respectively

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and othdiliges

Related party fees payal

Dividends payabl

Deferred incom:

Below market lease intangibles, net (variable egeentities $527 and $51, respectiv:
Liabilities of assets held for se

TOTAL LIABILITIES
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

EQUITY
Winthrop Realty Trust Sharehold’ Equity:
Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sharbgé&2share liquidation preference, 5,060,000 shauthorized and 4,820,000
shares both issued and outstanding at Decemb@033,and December 31, 20
Common Shares of Beneficial Interest, $1 par, uididnshares authorized; 36,401,438 and 33,018s&Led and outstanding at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, resplgc
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated distributions in excess of net incc
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Total Winthrop Realty Trust Sharehold” Equity
Non-controlling interest:
Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31

2013 012

$ 8221 $ 43,25
588,65: 378,73
670,86t 421,98¢
(56,449 (51,559
614,42( 370,43¢
112,51; 97,68:
13,37: 13,25(
101,10 211,25(

30,72¢ —
2,22¢ 1,41¢
19,76( 17,24
— 19,69
22€ 11
6,48¢ 12,25(
149,08 134,85
49,86¢ 37,74
6,18¢ 4,86¢
3,31¢ 2,461

23,03¢ —
$1,132,32.  $923,16:
$ 444,93.  $ 280,57
86,25( 86,25(
29,15( 52,92(
1,747 1,67¢
26,26¢ 21,05¢
2,831 2,66¢
6,00¢ 5,36¢
1,35: 1,13¢
2,39¢ 2,25¢

21,63 —
622,66 453,89¢
120,50! 120,50
35,80¢ 33,01
647,12; 618,42t
(322,43)  (317,38)
(124) (50)
480,87: 454,51(
28,78¢ 14,75¢
509,66: 469,26+
$1,132,32.  $923,16:
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Revenue
Rents and reimbursemet
Interest, dividends and discount accre

Expenses
Property operatin
Real estate taxe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Interest
Impairment loss on investments in real es
Provision for loss on loans receival
General and administratit
Related party fee
Transaction cosi
Federal, state and local tay

Other income (loss)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Equity in income (loss) of equity investments (irstle of impairments of $7,687, $0 and $21,(

Earning: from preferred equity investmer

Realized gain on sale of securities carried atMaline
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities carried atvaiue
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt,

Realized gain on loan securities carried at faue
Unrealized gain on loan securities carried atvalue
Settlement income (expens

Gain on consolidation of proper

Interest and other incon

Income from continuing operatiol

Discontinued operations
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati

Net income
Net loss (income) attributable to r-controlling interes

Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Trust
Preferred dividend of Series C Preferred Sh
Preferred dividend of Series D Preferred Sh
Amount allocated to Restricted Common Shi

Net income attributable to Common Share:

Per Common Share datée- Basic

Income from continuing operatiol

Income (loss) from discontinued operatic

Net income attributable to Common She

Per Common Share date- Diluted

Income from continuing operatiol

Income (loss) from discontinued operatic

Net income attributable to Common She

Basic Weightec-Average Common Share:!
Diluted Weighted-Average Common Share:

Comprehensive income
Net income

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on interest ratevatives

Consolidated comprehensive inco
Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interes

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to-controlling interes
Comprehensive income attributable to Winthrop Realy Trust

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$61,100 $4421:  $ 35,84¢
18,45 21,12 25,45¢
79,55 65,33 61,30¢
20,72 13,61 12,43:
5,87¢ 3,67: 3,541
20,44:  15,11¢ 10,69:
2341: 16,99t 14,00:
— 1,73¢ 4,60
34¢ — —
4,36: 3,52¢ 3,521
9,28¢ 8,95: 7,69(
1,88¢ 421 51¢
43¢ 232 37€
86,77 64,27 57,38:
22,64 14,84  (12,71)
617 — 33¢
742 41 122
(142) 6,91¢ 2,78¢

— (121) 6,33¢

— 614 —
21F 447 2,73¢
(412 — 5,86¢

— — 81¢
37t 69¢ 1,17¢
24,03;  23,43¢ 747"
16,82:  24,50: 11,39¢
7,661 (118 34¢
2448t 24,38 11,74;
4,29( 247 (814)
28,77¢ 24,63 10,93:
— — (585)
(11,146 (9,285 (339
(307) — —
$17,32f  $1534¢  $ 10,00¢
$ 026 $ 046 $ 0.31
0.2: — 0.01

$ 051 $ 046 $ 0.3z
$ 026 $ 04¢ $ 0.31
0.2: — 0.01

$ 051 $ 04 $ 0.3z
33,74:  33,06: 31,42¢
33,77 33,06 31,42¢
$2448  $2438:  $11,74;
(74) 42 (29)
2441 24,42 11,71¢
4,29( 247 (814)
4,29 247 (814
$28,70: $24,67: $ 10,90
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Balance, December 31, 20

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

(In thousands except per share data)

Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr — — — —
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: — — — —

Distributions to no-controlling interest:

Contributions from nc-controlling interest:

Dividends declared on Common Shares of beneficial
interest ($0.65 per shar

Dividends declared on Series C Preferred Shared3%ie
share)

Dividends declared on Series D Preferred Shares
($0.212 per share

Change in unrealized loss on interest rate deviea

Net proceeds from Common Shares offel

Net proceeds from Series D Preferred Shares off

Stock issued pursuant to dividend reinvestment

Balance, December 31, 20

Accumulater
Common Shares Distributions ~ Accumulated
Series D Preferred Shai of Beneficial Additional Other Non-
of Beneficial Interes Interest Paic-In in Excesso Comprehensiv  Controlling
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Net Income  Income (Loss Interests Total
— $ — 27,03 $27,03( $569,58( $(300,78) $ (63) $ 14,07¢ $309,84°
— 10,93 — — 10,93
— — — 814 814
— — — — — — — (356) (35€)
— — — — — — — 6,52¢ 6,52¢
— — — — — (20,47%) — — (20,479
— — — — — (585) — — (585)
— — — — — (339) — — (339)
— — — — — — (29) (2€) (55
— 5,75(C 5,75(C 55,63¢ — — — 61,38¢
1,60( 40,00( — — (1,627) — — — 38,37¢
— — 261 261 2,49¢ — — — 2,76(C
1,60 $ 40,000 33,04. $33,04: $626,09¢ $(311,24) $ (92) $ 21,03« $408,83¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance, December 31, 20

Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr

Net income attributable to n-controlling interest:

Distributions to no-controlling interest:

Contributions from nc-controlling interest:

Purchase of nc-controlling interest:

Dividends declared on Common Shares of beneficial
interest ($0.65 per shar

Dividends declared on Series D Preferred Shares
($1.92628 per shar

Series D Preferred Share offeri

Change in unrealized gain on interest rate deviea

Stock issued pursuant to Dividend Reinvestment

Stock buybacl

Balance, December 31, 20

Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr

Net income attributable to n-controlling interest:

Distributions to no-controlling interest:

Contributions from nc-controlling interest:

Purchase of nc-controlling interest:

Dividends declared on Common Shares of Benefi
Interest ($0.65 per shar

Dividends declared on Series D Preferred Shares
($2.3125 per shart

Dividends declared on Restricted She

Change in unrealized loss on interest rate devies

Stock issued pursuant to Dividend Reinvestment

Net proceeds from Common Shares offe

Issuance of Restricted Sha

Amortization of Restricted Shar

Balance, December 31, 20

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

(In thousands except per share data)

Common Shares Distribution:

Series D Preferred Shai of Beneficial Additional Other Non-

of Beneficial Interes Interest Paic-In in Excess o Comprehensiv  Controlling

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Net Income Income (Loss Interests Total
1,60C $ 40,00C 33,04: $33,04: $626,09¢ $(311,249 $ (92) $ 21,03« $408,83¢
— — — — — 24,63: — — 24,63:
— — — — — — — (247) (247)
— — — — — — — (7,242 (7,247
— — — — — — — 4,57¢ 4,57¢
— — — — (4,537 — — (3,367 (7,900
= = = — — (21,485 — — (21,48
— — — — — (9,285) — — (9,285
3,22( 80,50( — — (2,93)) — — — 77,56
— — — — — — 42 — 42
— — 48 48 46¢ — — — 517
— — (70) (70) (672) — — — (742)
4,82( $ 120,50( 33,01¢ $33,01¢ $618,42( $(317,38) $ (50) $ 14,75¢ $469,26«
— — — — — 28,77¢ — — 28,77¢
— — — — — — — (4,290 (4,290
— — — — — — — (51) (51)
— — — — — — — 18,62¢  18,62¢
— — — — 10z — — (253) (150)
— — — — — (22,379 — —  (22,37)
— — — — — (11,149 — — (11,146
— — — — — (307 — — (307
— — — — — — (74) — (74)
— — 40 40 42¢ — — — 464
— —  2,75C 2,75  27,27: — — — 30,02:
— — 592 — — — — — —
— — — — 897 — — — 897
4,82( $ 120,50( 36,40. $35,80¢ $647,12: $(322,43) $ (124) $ 28,78¢ $509,66:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Net Income $ 24,48¢ $ 24,38¢ $ 11,747
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortization (including amortiaatof deferred financing costs and fair value dity 15,45: 11,82« 9,41:
Amortization of lease intanigible 8,55( 6,74¢ 4,472
Straigh-line rental income 66¢ (2,179 (872)
Loan discount accretic (4,12)) (8,339 (13,409
Discount accretion received in ce 37 15,72( 13,29(
Earnings of preferred equity investme (613) — (33¢)
Distrubutions of income from preferred equity inwvasnts 607 97 571
(Income) loss of equity investmer (22,647) (14,679 12,712
Distributions of income from equity investmel 24,11: 21,59¢ 12,69¢
Restricted cash held in escro 1,242 (3,477%) 1,431
Gain on sale of securities carried at fair ve (742) (42) (123)
Unrealized loss (gain) on securities carried atvfaiue 142 (6,91¢€) (2,78¢)
Gain on sale of real estate investme (11,00 (94£ (392)
Gain on sale of loan securities carried at faiug — (619 —
Unrealized gain on loan securities carried atvalue (215) (447 (2,73
Impairment loss on investments in real es 2,90 3,26( 7,60(
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of d¢ — 121 (9,25¢)
Gain on consolidation of proper — — (81¢)
Provision for loss on loans receiva 34¢ — —
Tenant leasing cos (4,229 (4,250 (1,319
Equity compensation expens 897 — —
Bad debt expense (recove 40 (265) 377
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Interest receivabl (2149) (51¢) 37
Accounts receivable and other as: (1,31¢) 72€ (785)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and othdyilliges (4,127 4,62 (1,83))
Net cash provided by operating activit 30,26¢ 46,43¢ 39,68
Cash flows from investing activities
Issuance and acquisition of loans receivi (21,43)) (163,801) (67,619
Investment in real esta (257,14)) (37,679 (9,75))
Investment in equity investmer (30,34) (78,679 (151,219
Investment in preferred equity investm — (20,750 (7,569
Return of capital distribution from equity investnte 14,61¢ 84,02¢ 31,89(
Return of capital distribution from preferred eguitvestmen 5,771 — —
Return of capital distribution from securities égadrat fair value 37¢€ — —
Purchase of securities carried at fair ve — (5,65%) (29,32)
Proceeds from sale of investments in real e: 38,69( 7,02¢ 3,62¢
Proceeds from sale of equity investme 26 4,297 6,00(
Proceeds from sale of securities carried at fdirev 19,91¢ 21,77« 26,40¢
Proceeds from pay off of loan securit — 6,35¢ 8,74¢
Proceeds from sale of loan receivat 19,31¢ — —
Restricted cash held in escro 862 (5,600 3,16(
Issuance of secured financing receive (30,000 — —
Collection of loans receivab 56,08¢ 68,82« 70,28¢
Deposits on assets held for s 50C — —
Cash from consolidation of properti 478 — —
Cash from foreclosure on propert — 411 —
Net cash used in investing activiti (182,279) (109,44) (105,35()

(Continued on next pac

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands, continued)

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from mortgage loans pay: $198,10( $ 36,897 $ 32,49
Proceeds from notes paya — 88( —
Payment of notes payat — (8C) —
Proceeds from revolving line of cre: — 67,32¢

Payment of revolving line of crec (40,000 (52,779

Principal payments of mortgage loans pay: (22,28Y) (25,58¢) (72,579
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes pay — 86,25( —
Proceeds from secured financi — 25,00( 29,15(
Payment of secured financil (23,770) (1,230) —
Restricted cash held in escro (228) (42) 89
Deferred financing cos (79€) (4,199) (78¢)
Purchase of nc-controlling interest: (150) (2,05() —
Contribution from no-controlling interes 18,62¢ 4.57¢ 1,34¢
Distribution to nor-controlling interes (51) (7,247) (35€)
Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares underddidiReinvestment Ple 464 517 2,76(
Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares throughraff net 30,02: — 61,38¢
Buyback of Common Shar — (742) —
Issuance of Series D Preferred Shi — 77,56 38,37¢
Dividend paid on Common Shar (21,919 (21,489 (19,496
Dividend paid on Series C Preferred Sh: — — (624)
Dividend paid on Series D Preferred She (11,14¢) (9,28¢) (339)
Dividend paid on Restricted Sha (27) — —
Redemption of Series-1 Preferred Share — — (21,400
Redemption of Series C Preferred Shi — — (3,22))
Net cash provided by financing activiti 166,84( 119,74. 61,35¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 14,83( 56,73( (4,30%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 97,68: 40,95: 45,257
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $112,51. $ 97,68:  $40,95:
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatior
Interest paic $ 23,73t $ 16,467 $16,24¢
Capitalized interes $ 1,44: $ — $ —
Taxes paic $ 247 $ 33 $ 39€

Supplemental Disclosure on No-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

Dividends accrued on Common Shares and Restrittecb$ $ 6,09 $ 5366 $ 539
Capital expenditures accru $ 314C $ 4011 $ 4,28t
Assumption of mortgage loan on investment in retdte $ 9,24¢ $ 13,60( $ 49,09:
Contribution to WR™-Elad One South State Equity L. $ 2,08: $ — $ —
Distribution from WR-One South State Lender | $ (208) $ — $ —
Fair value of assets acquir $ 62206 $ — $ —
Fair value of liabilities assume $ 62,19¢ $ — $ —
Transfer from preferred equity investme $ — $ 3,92¢ $ 7,84t
Transfer from loans receivak $ B877) $ 293% $ —
Transfer to equity investmer $ — $ (6,86) $ (5,039
Transfer from equity investmer $ — $ 17,60( $ 12,54«
Transfer to loans receivak $ — $(11,750 $ (6,539
Transfer to additional pz-in capital $ — $ (548) $ —
Transfer to no-controlling interest: $ — $ (36 $ —
Transfer to preferred equity investme $ — $ — $ (2,029
Transfer to investments in lease intangil $ — $ — $(11,904)
Transfer to investments in real est $ — $§ — $(52,77%)
Transfer to below market lease intangit $ — $ — $ 1,00¢
Transfer from loan securitie $ — $ — $ 662

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amounts related to number of buildings, squaredget occupancy and tenant data are unaudited.

1. Business

Winthrop Realty Trust (“WRT”"), a real estate invasint trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856-860 of théetnal Revenue Code (the “Code”), is an
unincorporated association in the form of a businesst organized in Ohio under a Declaration efsTdated August 1, 1961, as amended and restated o
May 21, 2009, which has as its stated principairtass activity the ownership and management of Jemding to, real estate and related investments.

Since January 1, 2005, WRT has conducted its besiteough WRT Realty L.P., a Delaware limited parship (the “Operating Partnership”). WRT is the
sole general partner of, and owns directly and-eutly, 100% of the limited partnership interesthie Operating Partnership. All references to fhreist”
refer to WRT and its consolidated subsidiariedyidiog the Operating Partnership.

The Trust is engaged in the business of owningpmexrderty and real estate related assets whidatagorizes into three segments: (i) ownership wéstment
properties including wholly owned properties angestments in joint ventures which own propertiespé€rating properties”)jif origination and acquisition
loans and debt securities collateralized directlindirectly by commercial and multi-family realqperty, including collateral mortgage-backed se@sriand
collateral debt obligation securities (collectivéligan assets”); and (iii) equity and debt intesdstother real estate investment trusts (“REITusées”).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements represertdhsolidated results of WRT, its wholly-owned taleaREIT subsidiary, WRT-TRS Management Corp.
(“TRS"), and the Operating Partnership. TRS’ saseds are its nominal ownership interest in ther&jpey Partnership, an indirect 33% interest in VWRT
ST Holdings LLC and an indirect interest in CDH CIROC. All majority-owned subsidiaries and affilimever which the Trust has financial and operating
control and variable interest entities (“VIE“s)which the Trust has determined it is the primamdiieiary are included in the consolidated finahcia
statements. All significant intercompany balanaes taansactions have been eliminated in consotidafthe Trust accounts for all other unconsolidgétt
ventures using the equity method of accounting.ofaiogly, the Truss share of the earnings of these joint venturesantpanies is included in consolida
net income.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances relating to gain op sékquity investments have been reclassifiedjtitg income, and certain prior year balances obaats
receivable have been reclassified to accrued rgmaine in order to conform to the current yeasprgation. Discontinued operations for the periods
presented include the Trust's properties in DedleyaArizona; Lisle, lllinois, Indianapolis, Indie&; Andover, Massachusetts; St. Louis, Missouripxéile,
Tennessee; Memphis, Tennessee; Denton, Texaseafo®k, Texas. Also included in discontinued ojpena for all periods presented are the operatifns
the Trust’s residential property in Meriden, Cortieett which was under contract to be sold andasgified as held for sale at December 31, 2013 Thi
property was sold on February 26, 2014.

Out of Period Adjustments

During 2013, the Trust identified an error in iteyiously reported interim financial statementsitiely to the purchase price allocation of the Tsust
investment in the 1515 Market Street property. Thest recorded an out of period adjustment in thewnt of $1.3 million to correct the overstatemeft
other liabilities and overstatement of buildinglie Trust's consolidated balance sheet. The Tiasstracorded an out of period adjustment to reduce
depreciation expense in the amount of $21,000 duhia Trust's fourth quarter of 2013 to correct depreciation expense in the consolidated stateafent
operations. The Trust concluded that these adjugtae not material to the current period or ther period’s financial position or results fromerations.
As such, this cumulative change was recorded icdhsolidated balance sheet and consolidated stateshoperations during the quarter ended on
December 31, 2013. This error had no impact onotimgr periods presented.
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During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, thetTdentified an error related to lease terminaf@mnincome for its St. Louis, Missouri propertycluded
in discontinued operations, which should have beédts December 31, 2010 financial statements. Assalt, net income was understated by $450,00théor
year ended December 31, 2010. This income wasdeddyy the Trust in the quarter ended Decembe2(@ll1. The Trust determined that this amount wa:
material to the year or any quarter for the yeaded December 31, 2011 or 2010. There was no ingpacash flow from operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America (“GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptionseimrdieing the values of assets and liabilities, Idsare of contingent assets and liabilities atdate of
the consolidated financial statements and the ata@mfmevenue and expenses during the reportiniggheFhe estimates that are particularly susceptibl
management’s judgment include but are not limitethe impairment of real estate, loans and investsrie ventures and real estate securities caatiéair
value. In addition, estimates are used in accogritnthe allowance for doubtful accounts. All bétestimates and evaluations are susceptible twetend
actual results could differ from the estimates enaluations.

Investments in Real Estate

Real estate assets are stated at historical oqeen8itures for repairs and maintenance are exgaasacurred. Significant renovations that extéreduseful
life of the properties are capitalized. Depreciafior financial reporting purposes is computed gdire straight-line method. Buildings are depredaiver
their estimated useful lives of 40 years, basetherproperty’s age, overall physical condition,eygd construction materials and intended use. Inrgrents
to the buildings are depreciated over the shoftéreestimated useful life of the improvementte temaining useful life of the building at the ¢itihe
improvement is completed. Tenant improvements epeatiated over the shorter of the estimated u$isfudf the improvement or the term of the lea¢he
tenant.

Upon the acquisition of real estate, the Trustsssethe fair value of acquired assets (including,|buildings and improvements, and identifiedrigibles
such as above and below market leases and acduiptgice leases and tenant relationships) and edjliabilities and the Trust allocates purchaseepr
based on these assessments. The Trust assessefufaipased on estimated cash flow projectionsusiies appropriate discount and capitalizatiates and
available market information. Estimates of futuasit flows are based on a number of factors inctuttie historical operating results, known trendsl a
market/economic conditions that may affect the priyp If the acquisition is determined to be a hass combination, then the related acquisitionsowit be
expended. If the acquisition is determined to basset acquisition, then the related acquisiti@tscwill be capitalized.

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquwreperty is determined by valuing the propertyf #swere vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” valughen
allocated to land, building and improvements artiifes and equipment based on management’s detramirof the fair values of these assets. Factors
considered by management in performing these amlpslude an estimate of carrying costs duringettpected lease-up periods, current market comditio
and costs to execute similar leases. In estimatnging costs, management includes real estags tinsurance and other operating expenses antaéssi of
lost rental revenue during the expected lease-tipgsebased on current market demand. Managemsmeatimates costs to execute similar leases imgud
leasing commissions.

Real estate investments and purchased intangibétsasubject to amortization are reviewed for impant whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset groap not be recoverable. Recoverability of reahtesinvestments to be held and used is measurad by
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset gtogstimated undiscounted future cash flows exgkiet be generated from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset group. If the carrying antef an asset group exceeds its estimated undiged future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized equal to the amount by which the cagrgimount of the asset group exceeds the fair \lthee asset group.

Assets to be disposed of that qualify as being fugldale are separately presented in the baldrext and reported at the lower of the carrying amoufair
value less costs to sell. The assets and liakilitidoe assumed by the buyer are classified sepaest held for sale in the consolidated balaneetshnd are r
longer depreciated.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligonigesstments purchased with maturities of threeth®or less. The Trust maintains cash and cash
equivalents in financial institutions in excessnsfured limits, but believes this risk is mitigategdonly investing in or through major financiaktitutions.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash in escrow accounts include caghnvwes for tenant improvements, leasing commissi@ad estate taxes and other expenses pursudig to t
loan agreements. In addition, certain security di¢@@counts are classified as restricted cashcHssification of restricted cash within the Cditated
Statement of Cash Flows is determined by the natutiee escrow account. Activity in escrow accoustated to real estate taxes, insurance, rentvesand
security deposits is classified as operating agtivictivity in escrow accounts related to capitaprovements and tenant improvements is classifged
investing activity. Any debt service reserves dassified as financing activity.

Loans Receivable

The Trust’s policy is to record loans receivable@t, net of unamortized discounts unless suahieeeivable is deemed to be impaired. Discounisams
receivable are amortized over the life of the loegeivable using the effective interest method dag®n an evaluation of prospective future cashidlorThe
amortization is reflected as an adjustment to @geincome. Other costs incurred in connection adthuiring loans, such as marketing and adminigérat
costs, are charged to expense as incurred. Loarafekbdirect costs associated with loans originbayetthe Trust are deferred and amortized overitb®f the
loan as interest income.

The Trust evaluates the collectability of the iattrand principal of each of its loans to deternpiontial impairment. A loan receivable is considieto be
impaired when, based on current information andhsyét is probable that the Trust will be unatetllect all amounts due according to the existing
contractual terms of the loan receivable. Impairni®then measured based on the present valugpetted future cash flows or the fair value of thiateral.
When a loan receivable is considered to be impaihedTrust will record a loan loss allowance arbaesponding charge to earnings equal to the atimu
which the Trust’s net investment in the loan exsdeifair value. Significant judgments are recgiire determining impairment. The Trust does nobréc
interest income on impaired loans receivable. Amshcreceipts on impaired loans receivable are dedaais a recovery reducing the allowance for loasds.
The Trust charges uncollectible loans againstlissvance for loan loss after it has exhausted@hemically warranted legal rights and remediesoltect
the receivables or upon successful foreclosurdalidg of loan collateral.

Certain real estate operating properties are aegjtiimough foreclosure or through deed-in-lieuaoé€losure in full or partial satisfaction of noarforming
loans that the Trust intends to hold, operate veld for a period of at least twelve months. Upequisition of a property, tangible and intangirsets and
liabilities acquired are recorded at their estirddtér values and depreciation is computed in Hreesmanners as described in “Investments in ReéateEs
above.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the contraamalunt and do not bear interest. The allowancddabtful accounts is the Trust's best estimatief
amount of probable credit losses in existing actoteceivable. The Trust reviews the allowancealfarbtful accounts monthly. Past due balances are
reviewed individually for collectability. Accountlances are charged off against the allowancedobiful accounts after all means of collection hagen
exhausted and the potential for recovery is comsdleemote.

Accrued rental income includes the difference betwstraight line rent and contractual amounts @be. Trust reviews its straight line rent receivable
monthly in conjunction with its review of allowanoédoubtful accounts.

Securities and Loan Securities at Fair Value

The Trust has the option to elect fair value fasthfinancial assets. The Trust elected the faievaption for real estate securities to mitigativ@rgence
between accounting and economic exposure for tesets. These securities are recorded on the @atsdl balance sheets as securities carried atefhie
and loan securities carried at fair value. The gkarin the fair value of these instruments arerdszbin unrealized gain (loss) on securities aad kecurities
carried at fair value in the Consolidated StatemefOperations.

73



Table of Contents

Preferred Equity Investment

The Trust has certain investments in ventures wéittlle it to priority returns ahead of the otleeuity holders in the ventures. At the inceptiorath such
investment, management must determine whetherisuebtment should be accounted for as a loan, peefequity, equity or as real estate. The Trust
classifies these investments as preferred equigsiments and they are accounted for using theyeapaithod because the Trust has the ability toifsogmtly
influence, but not control, the entity’s operatantd financial policies. Earnings for each investtraa recognized in accordance with each respective
investment agreement and where applicable, basatampallocation of the investment’s net assetglpisted book value as if the investment was
hypothetically liquidated at the end of each rejpgrperiod.

At each reporting period the Trust assesses wh#ibez are any indicators of declines in the falue of preferred equity investments. An investrisevalue
is impaired only if the Trust’s estimate of therfa@lue of the investment is less than the carryige of the investment and such difference isrdekto be
other-than-temporary. To the extent impairmentdesirred, the loss shall be measured as the eat#ss carrying amount of the investment over the
estimated fair value of the investment.

Equity Investments

The Trust accounts for its investments in entitieshich it has the ability to significantly inflnee, but does not have a controlling interest, $iggithe equit
method of accounting. Factors that are consideretermining whether or not the Trust exercisegrobinclude (i) the right to remove the generaitper ol
managing member in situations where the Trust igheogeneral partner or managing member, andufiytantive participating rights of equity holdiers
significant business decisions including disposgiand acquisitions of assets, financing, operatéom capital budgets, and other contractual righider the
equity method, the investment, originally recoréédost, is adjusted to recognize the Trust's sbanet earnings or losses as they occur and fiitiadal
contributions made or distributions received. Teognize the character of distributions from eqiityestments, the Trust looks at the nature of #shc
distribution to determine the proper characterasfcflow distributions as either returns on investmwhich would be included in operating actistier
returns of investment, which would be includedninesting activities.

At each reporting period the Trust assesses wh#tkeg are any indicators or declines in the falug of the equity investments. An investment'sieds

impaired only if the Trust’s estimate of the fa@lwe of the investment is less than the carryirigevaf the investment and such difference is deeimée

other-than-temporary. To the extent impairmentdasirred, the loss shall be measured as the eatdss carrying amount of the investment over the
estimated fair value of the investment.

Lease Intangibles

In estimating the fair value of the identified intgble assets and liabilities of an acquired progp@bove-market and below-market lease valuesea@ded
based on the difference between the current inedizaese rent and a management estimate of cureeketirents. Below-market lease intangibles arercsz
as a liability and amortized into rental revenueraie non-cancelable periods of the respectiveeteplus the term of any below-market fixed ratewel
options, if any. Above-market leases are recordegubat of intangible assets and amortized as atdilerge against rental revenue over the non-tariee
portion of the respective leases. In-place leafgegaare based upon the Trust’s evaluation ofpleific characteristics of each tenant lease. Facto
considered include estimates of carrying costaduai hypothetical lease up period considering otimearket conditions and costs to execute sim@asés.
The in-place lease value is recorded as an intbng#set and amortized as a charge to amortizexijpense over the life of the respective lease.

Deferred Financing Costs

Direct financing costs are deferred and amortiaest the terms of the related agreements as a canpohinterest expense.

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments held by the Trust includehcaisd cash equivalents, restricted cash, reakestaurities, loans receivable, interest rate haggeement:
accounts receivable, revolving line of credit, acds payable and long term debt. Cash and caskiadenis, restricted cash, real estate securiti@sraerest
rate hedge agreements are recorded at fair vaheefalr value of accounts receivable and accoumyalgle approximate their current carrying amounts.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

The Trust’s interest rate swap and interest rapeagaeements are classified on the balance she#tasassets and are carried at fair value. Aerést rate
swap is carried as an asset if the counterpartydimeirequired to pay the Trust, or as a liabifityhe Trust would be required to pay the countespto settle
the swap. For the Trust's interest rate contrdzs dre designated as “cash flow hedges,” the ehniipe fair value of such derivative is recordedther
comprehensive income or loss for hedges that quadifeffective and the change in the fair valueaissferred from other comprehensive income ortoss
earnings as the hedged item affects earnings.rnéffective amount of the interest rate swap agreénfeany, is recognized in earnings.

Upon entering into hedging transactions, the Tdesuments the relationship between the interestfigdincial instrument agreements and the hedged it
The Trust also documents its risk management jesliéncluding objectives and strategies, as thieyer¢o its hedging activities. Both at inceptidracdhedge
and on an on-going basis, the Trust assesses wiethet the hedge is “highly effective” in achiegioffsetting changes in cash flow attributablée
hedged item. The Trust discontinues hedge accayotira prospective basis with changes in the etifrfair value reflected in earnings when: (igit i
determined that the derivative is no longer effexin offsetting cash flows of a hedged item (indhg forecasted transactions); (ii) it is no longesbable
that the forecasted transaction will occur; o) (tiis determined that designating the derivatisea hedge is no longer appropriate. The Trustesiits intere:
rate swap and interest rate cap agreements to mantagest rate risk and does not intend to enterderivative transactions for speculative oritrgd
purposes.

Revenue Recognition

The Trust accounts for its leases with tenantpasating leases with rental revenue recognizedsiraight-line basis over the minimum non-cancédiaérm
of the lease. The straight-line rent adjustmenteksed revenue by $862,000 in 2013 and increasedue by $2,177,000 in 2012 and $872,000 in 20hé&. T
accrued straight-line rent receivable amounts @ebber 31, 2013 and 2012 were $19,760,000 and 41,00, respectively.

Leases typically provide for reimbursement to tinesT of common area maintenance costs, real d¢atate and other operating expenses. Operating sgpen
reimbursements are recognized as earned and tkesegare incurred.

Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreementsegiffect to net lease properties, the tenant atgraglerty is required to pay all costs associati the
property including property taxes, ground rent,mtexiance costs and insurance. These costs areflested in the consolidated financial statements.

Tenant leases that are not net leases generallidprfor (i) billings of fixed minimum rental and)(billings of certain operating costs. The Trastrues the
recovery of operating costs based on actual costsried.

The Trust recognizes lease termination paymenascasnponent of rental revenue in the period receipeovided that the Trust has no further obligaio
under the lease; otherwise, the lease terminaigmpnt is amortized on a straight-line basis dverémaining obligation period.

Income Taxes

The Trust operates in a manner intended to enatdeontinue to qualify as a REIT. In order to lifyaas a REIT, the Trust is generally requiredlegear to
distribute to its shareholders at least 90% afitable income (excluding any net capital gainier€ is also a separate requirement to distritetteapital
gains or pay a corporate level tax. The Trust idéeio comply with the foregoing minimum dividendjugements.

In order for the Trust to continue to qualify aRBIT, the value of the TRS stock cannot exceed 268e value of the Trust's total assets. The netbine of
TRS is taxable at regular corporate tax rates.gbtiincome taxes are recognized during the peniethich transactions enter into the determination o
financial statement income, with deferred incomesabeing provided for temporary differences betwtbe carrying values of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and such values arm@ted by income tax laws. Changes in deferrednmectaxes attributable to these temporary diffezenc
are included in the determination of income. ThesTand TRS do not file consolidated tax returns.

The Trust reviews its tax positions under accognginidance which require that a tax position maly be recognized in the financial statementsis inore
likely than not that the tax position will previichallenged by taxing authorities. The Trust &edis it is more likely than not that its tax pasig will be
sustained in any tax examination. The Trust hasicame tax
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expense, deferred tax assets or deferred taxitiebiassociated with any such uncertain tax pwsitior the operations of any entity included ia th
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Compreleelrcome. The only provision for federal incorages relates to the TRS. Our tax returns are subjec
to audit by taxing authorities. The tax years 2@0Q3 remain open to examination by major taxingglictions to which we are subject.

Series D Preferred Shares

On March 23, 2012 the Trust closed on a publicroféeof 3,220,000 Series D Cumulative Redeemat®éeimed Shares of Beneficial Interest (the “Selbes
Preferred Shares”) at a price of $25.0385 per slparevalue of $1 per share. The Trust receivegragteeds, after underwriters discounts and exgen$e
$77,563,000. The Series D Preferred Shares rarérderthe Common Shares with respect to divideglts and liquidation or dissolution rights. Theige
D Preferred Shares have no stated maturity dates@ndot subject to mandatory redemption or arkirsinfund. Holders of the Series D Preferred Shaiiés
generally have no voting rights except for limiteating rights if the Trust fails to pay dividends &ix or more quarterly periods. The Series D étrefl
Shares are classified as a component of permageity @t December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Concurrent with the Series D Preferred Sharesinffethe Trust entered into an agreement with thidérs of the Series B-1 Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares (“Series B-1 Pref8hates”) and Series C Cumulative Convertible Redé&rPreferred Shares (“Series C Preferred Shares”
to repurchase all the outstanding shares pridrea@bnsummation of the Series D Preferred Shapssgland issuance. The Trust repurchased 1008 of t
Series B-1 Preferred Shares and the Series C Rr@f8hares on November 18, 2011 at a price of $2%00 plus accrued dividends. The Trust recogrized
loss of $100,000 on the repurchase of the Serig$Beferred Shares.

StockBased Compensation

Pursuant to the Trust's 2007 Long Term Stock Inger®lan the Trust may, from time to time, isswektbased compensation awards to certain eligible
persons including those performing services for FAdRisors LLC (“FUR Advisors”), the Trust's exterredvisor. During 2013, the Trust issued 600,000
restricted common shares of beneficial interest. I$ate 21 for further discussion. The Trust accefimt this stock-based compensation in accordaribe w
ASC 505-50Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employeédstil the awards are no longer subject to fouiedf the Trust measures stock-based compensation
expense at each reporting date for any changesrimdlue and recognizes the expense proratethéopartion of the requisite service period complete

Earnings Per Share

The Trust determines basic earnings per share loastiet weighted average number of common sharesrefficial interest (“Common Shares”) outstanding
during the period and reflects the impact of paiting securities. Prior to November 18, 2011, mvtie Trust repurchased 100% of the Series B-leReaf
Shares and the Series C Preferred Shares, thahofdbe Trust's Series B-1 Preferred Shares hadberies C Preferred Shares were entitled tovecei
cumulative preferential dividends on a quarterlgib@qual to the greater of (i) $0.40625 per shaeeterly (6.5% of the liquidation preference on an
annualized basis) or (ii) cash dividends payabléhemumber of Common Shares into which the S&ig<Preferred Shares and Series C Preferred Shares
(assuming for this purpose that the conversiorepiche Series C Preferred Shares equals the sdongrice of the Series B-1 Preferred Sharesgwer
convertible. The Trust computes diluted earningsspare based on the weighted average number ofm@arBhares outstanding combined with the
incremental weighted average effect from all owigitag potentially dilutive instruments.
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The Trust has calculated earnings per share irdagoe with relevant accounting guidance for pigiiing securities and the two class method. The
reconciliation of earnings attributable to Commdra®s outstanding for the basic and diluted easnreg share calculation is as follows (in thousaagsept
per share data):

2013 2012 2011
Basic
Income from continuing operatiol $ 16,82: $24,50: $11,39¢
(Income) loss attributable to n-controlling interes 4,29( 247 (8149
Preferred dividend of Series C Preferred Sh — — (58¢5)
Preferred dividend of Series D Preferred Sh (11,14¢) (9,28¢) (339)
Amount allocated to Restricted Sha (307) — —
Income from continuing operations applicable to Gwn Share 9,65¢ 15,46¢ 9,66(
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 7,667 (11¢) 34¢
Net income applicable to Common Shares for earrnpegshare purpos $17,32¢ $15,34¢ $10,00¢
Basic weighte-average Common Shar 33,74 33,06: 31,42¢
Income from continuing operatiol $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 031
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 0.2 — 0.01
Net income per Common She- basic $ 051 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.32
Diluted
Income from continuing operatiol $ 16,82: $24,50: $11,39¢
(Income) loss attributable to n-controlling interes 4,29( 247 (8149
Preferred dividend of Series C Preferred Sh — — (585)
Preferred dividend of Series D Preferred Sh (11,14¢) (9,28%) (339)
Amount allocated to Restricted Sha (307) — —
Income from continuing operations applicable to @wn Share 9,65¢ 15,46¢ 9,66(
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 7,661 (11¢) 34¢
Net income applicable to Common Shares for earrpiegshare purpos $17,32¢ $15,34¢ $10,00¢
Basic weighte-average Common Shar 33,74 33,06: 31,42¢
Series I-1 Preferred Shares ( — — —
Series C Preferred Shares — — —
Stock options (3 — — —
Restricted Shares (. 31 — —
Diluted weighte-average Common Shar 33,77 33,06: 31,42¢
Income from continuing operatiol $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.31
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 0.2:2 — 0.01
Net income per Common She- diluted $ 0.51 $ 0.4¢€ $ 0.32

(1) The Series B-1 Preferred Shares are anti-aduftir the year ended December 31, 2011 and araclated in the weighted-average shares outstgrfdinthe
calculation of diluted earnings per Common Sh

(2) The Series C Preferred Shares were-dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2011 aténtluded in the weight-average shares outstanding for
calculation of diluted earnings per Common Sh

(3) The Trust's stock options were exercised in®0he resulting shares were included in the basighted average Common Shares. The Trust's stobds
were dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2Uh2. weighted-average stock options for the yedediecember 31, 2012 were less than one thousand
shares. The stock options were anti-dilutive feryear ended December 31, 2011 are not includdekiweighted-average shares outstanding for the
calculation of diluted earnings per Common Sh

(4) The Trus's Restricted Shares were issued in 2013 and weitevdifor the year ended December 31, 2(
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

On February 5, 2013, FASB issued ASU No. 2013-@2nfrehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AntsltReclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, to improve the transparehogporting the reclassifications of significant@mts out of accumulated other comprehensive income
This guidance requires entities to present theceffen the line items of net income of significeettlasses from accumulated other comprehensiveneco
either where net income is presented or in thesnatewell as cross-reference to other disclostgently required under U.S. GAAP for other
reclassification items (that are not required und&. GAAP) to be reclassified directly to net imein their entirety in the same reporting periblde new
disclosure requirements are effective for annyabméng periods beginning on or after January 1,220 he new disclosures are required for bothiimtend
annual reporting. The adoption did not have a riatienpact on the Trust’'s consolidated financialtsiments.

On December 16, 2011, FASB issued ASU No. 2011Balance Sheet (Topic 210)—Disclosures about Offigeftssets and Liabilitiewhich requires entitie
to disclose both gross information and net infoiaraibout both instruments and transactions ebdibt offset in the financial statements particyléor
transactions related to derivatives, sale and ofyase agreements and reverse sale and repurchasmagts, and securities borrowing and securiedihg
arrangements. The new disclosure requirementdfaetiee for annual reporting periods beginningasrafter January 1, 2013. The new disclosures are
required for all prior comparative periods presdnihe adoption did not have a material impacthenTrrust's consolidated financial statements aethes
no collateral received or posted related to thesflsulerivatives.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The accounting standards establish a frameworkn&asuring fair value as well as disclosures atmouvhlue measurements. They emphasize that faie ve
a market based measurement, not an entity-specfasurement. Therefore a fair value measurementdshe determined based on the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the assdiability. As a basis for considering market fi@pant assumptions in fair value measurements, th
standards establish a fair value hierarchy thdingisishes between market participant assumptiasedon market data obtained from sources indepentle
the reporting entity (observable inputs that aassified within Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy)l &ime reporting entity’s own assumptions about rgrk
participant assumptions (unobservable inputs dledswithin Level 3 of the hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize unadjusted quoted priceadtive markets for identical assets or liabilitiest the Trust has the ability to access. Levelgiis are inpul
other than quoted prices included in Level 1 thatabservable for the asset or liability, eitheedily or indirectly. Level 2 inputs may includeatad prices
for similar assets and liabilities in active magkets well as inputs that are observable for thetas liability other than quoted prices, suclnéerest rates,
foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that bserwable at commonly quoted intervals. Level iis@re unobservable inputs for the asset or ifgbihich
are typically based on an entity’s own assumptiasghere is little, if any, related market acgivih instances where the determination of thevfaiue
measurement is based on inputs from different seskthe fair value hierarchy, the level in the failue hierarchy within which the entire fair valu
measurement falls is based on the lowest levelithat is significant to the fair value measuremiarits entirety. The Trus$’ assessment of the significanc:
a particular input to the fair value measuremeritsientirety requires judgment, and considersofacspecific to the asset or liability.

Level 1 financial investments include highly ligugdvernment bonds, mortgage products and exchaadeet equities. If quoted market prices are not
available, then fair values are estimated by upiigng models, quoted prices of securities withikdr characteristics, or discounted cash flowsarggles of
such instruments, which would generally be clasgifivithin Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, indéucertain derivative financial instruments. Intair case
where there is limited activity or less transpayeamund inputs to the valuation, securities aassified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarcl3ecurities
classified within Level 3 include, for example,ick&l interests in securitizations and other legsd securities, investments in joint ventures esal estate
investments.

The following is a description of the valuation medologies used for instruments measured at faieyas well as the general classification of such
instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.

Recurring Measurements

Securities Carried at Fair Value
Securities carried at fair value are classifiechimit_evel 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Loan Securities Carried at Fair Value

The Trust uses a third party pricing model to dithlvalues for the loan securities in its portfolThe Trust also performs further analysis ofghgormance
of the loans and collateral underlying the se@sitthe estimated value of the collateral supppgirch loans and a consideration of local, induestiy broade
economic trends and factors. Significant judgmenitilized in the ultimate determination of failwa. The significant assumptions used in this asisly
include market interest rates and interest rateagfs. This valuation methodology has been chaizeteas Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Trust uses interest rate swaps and interestagis to manage its interest rate risk. The vialuaf these instruments is determined using batntjtative
and qualitative valuation techniques including diseted cash flow analysis on the expected castsftdveach derivative as well as potential credksiwith
the swap counterparty. This analysis reflects traractual terms of the derivatives, including pleeiod to maturity, and uses observable marketebexgrits,
including interest rate curves, and implied voiti¢is. The fair values of interest rate swaps aerest rate caps are determined using the maesedard
methodology of netting the discounted future fixegh receipts (or payments) and the discounteccigeariable cash payments (or receipts). Thelbki
cash payments (or receipts) are based on an etipaadéfuture interest rates (forward curves) dedi from observable market interest rate curves.

The Trust incorporates credit valuation adjustmémegppropriately reflect both its own nonperforrmamnisk and the respective counterpatydnperformanc
risk in the fair value measurements. In adjustimgfair value of its derivative contracts for ttifeet of nonperformance risk, the Trust has conside¢he
impact of netting as well as any applicable credliancements, such as collateral postings, thesholtual puts and guarantees.

Although the Trust has determined that the majaitthe inputs used to value its derivatives fathin Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the dtedaluation
adjustments associated with its derivatives utilieeel 3 inputs, such as estimates of current tegnleads, to evaluate the likelihood of defaulitbgif and it¢
counterparties. However, the Trust has assesseighiéicance of the impact of the credit valuatamjustments on the overall valuation of its deiiea
positions and has determined that the credit vialnadjustments are not significant to the overalliation of its derivatives. As a result, the Truas
determined that the derivative valuations in tlegitirety should be classified in Level 2 of the failue hierarchy.

The table below presents the Trust's assets abititiess measured at fair value on a recurring $asi of December 31, 2013, according to the levttle fair
value hierarchy within which those measurementgifathousands):

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets fol Significant Othe
Identical Assets ar Observable Inpu Significant
Unobservable
Recurring Bas Liabilities (Level 1 (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3 Total
Assets
Loan securities carried at fair val $ — $ — $ 22€ $22¢
Interest rate hedge — 31€ — 31€
$ = $  3ic $ 22 $542
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The table below presents the Trust's assets abitities measured at fair value on a recurring ®asi of December 31, 2012, according to the levitle fair
value hierarchy within which those measurementgifathousands):

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets fol Significant Othe
Identical Assets ar Observable Inpu Significant
Unobservable
Recurring Bas Liabilities (Level 1 (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3 Total
Assets
Securities carried at fair valt $ 19,69« $ — $ — $19,69¢
Loan securities carried at fair val — — 11 11
Interest rate hedge — 8 — 8
$ 19,69/ $ 8 $ 11 $19,71:

There were no inter-level transfers of assetsatuilities during the years ended December 31, 20it32012.

The table below includes a roll forward (in thouss)nof the balance sheet amounts from January1ll, @0December 31, 2013, including the changeiin fa
value, for financial instruments classified by freist within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. ¥tha determination is made to classify a finariosttumen
within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy, the deteation is based upon the significance of thebiseovable factors to the overall fair value measerg.

Loan Securitie

Carried at Fai

Value
Fair value, January 1, 2011 $ 11,98
Purchase —
Sale/repaymer (662)
Payoff at pa (8,74¢)
Realized gair —
Unrealized gair 2,73¢
Transfers in/fand or out of Level —
Fair value, December 31, 20 5,30¢
Purchase —
Sale/repaymer (6,359
Realized gair 614
Unrealized gair 447
Transfers in and/or out of Level —
Fair value, December 31, 20 11
Purchase —
Sale/repaymer —
Realized gair —
Unrealized gair 21E
Transfers in and/or out of Level —
Fair value, December 31, 20 $ 22€
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Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
The amount of total gains or losses for the penotuded in
earnings attributable to the change in unrealizédsgor
losses relating to assets still held at the repgdiate $ 21F $ 23

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Valuedsurements

At December 31, 2013 the Trust held only one lasusty which is valued at $226,000, or 20% of faakie. The valuation reflects assumptions thatlavou
be considered by market participants along withagament's assessment of collectible future castsflo

Non-Recurring Measurements

Equity and Preferred Equity Investments

Equity and preferred equity investments are asddss@ther-than-temporary impairment when theyiag value of the Trust's investment exceeds iis fa
value. The fair value of equity investments is dateed using a discounted cash flow model whiclviiporates a residual value utilizing an income
capitalization approach considering prevailing neadapitalization rates. The Trust reviews eaclestwment based on the highest and best use of the
investment and market participation assumptions. Significant assumptions used in this analysikiderental revenues, operating expenses, inflatites,
market absorption rates, tenanting costs, the digaate and capitalization rates used in the irecoapitalization valuation. The Trust has deteruhitihat the
significant inputs used to value its Marc Realtg &ealy equity investments fall within Level 3. Thist recognized other-than-temporary impairmessés
of $7,687,000, $0, and $21,058,000, on these imarss during the years ended December 31, 2012, &0d 2011, respectively. See Note 8-Equity
Investments for further details on these impairment

The Trust has determined that the significant isusied to value certain of its preferred equitgstmnents fall within Level 3. There were no impainn
losses recorded on these preferred equity invessndeming the years ended December 31, 2013, 2042@11.

Investments in Real Estate and Assets Held For Sale

During 2013, 2012, and 2011 the Trust recognizguhirment charges of $2,904,000, $3,260,000 and®60, respectively, relative to investments &l re
estate and assets held for sale. The Trust asghesa&ssets in its portfolio for recoverability edsipon a determination of the existence of impaiitm
indicators including significant decreases in magkeing and market rents, a change in the exdentanner in which real estate assets are beirdjarse
decline in their physical condition, current perlodses combined with a history of losses or agot@n of continuing losses, and a current expiectahat
real estate assets will be sold or otherwise depos before the end of their previously estimateeful lives. When such impairment indicators exist
management estimates the undiscounted cash flowstfre expected use and disposition of the asiggtifi§ant inputs for this recoverability analysielude
the anticipated holding period for the asset a$ agehssumptions over rental revenues, operatipgneses, inflation rates, market absorption ragemriting
and other capital improvement costs and the assgtiimated residual value. For those assets natelbéo be fully recoverable, the Trust records an
impairment charge equal to the difference betwhercarrying value and estimated fair value of sealess costs to sell the asset. Managemenirdessr
the fair value of those assets using an incomeatialu approach based on assumptions it believearietparticipant would utilize. Significant assuiops
include discount and capitalization rates usethénimicome valuation approach.

The Trust’'s Memphis, Tennessee property was pletedliscontinued operations during the period enieptember 30, 2012. The carrying value of the
property exceeded the fair value less costs taeslilting in a $698,000 impairment charge.

At December 31, 2012 the Trust re-evaluated iténegs plan and revised its holding period for twseds in the operating properties segment. Asudt rés
was determined that due to the shorter hold petiwdcarrying value of the Atlanta, Georgia and tbenTexas properties were no longer fully recoblera
Impairment charges of $1,738,000 and $824,000 vem@ded on the Atlanta, Georgia and Denton, Tasasts, respectively.
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During the quarter ended June 30, 2013 the Trustexhinto a purchase and sale agreement on itodehexas property. At June 30, 2013 the purchase
deposit was non-refundable and it was probabletiigasale would be consummated. As a result theeptpwas classified as held for sale at June GD32A
fair value measurement was prepared based on thegse contract less costs to sell and a $154r9paiiment charge was recorded at June 30, 2013. The

property was sold on July 2, 2013.

In light of continued leasing challenges and spesifib-market dynamics, at September 30, 2013 thst Teevaluated its business plan and revised its hc
period for its operating property in Lisle, llliroieferred to as 701 Arboretum. As a result, it determined that due to the shorter holding petiog carrying
value of the 701 Arboretum property was no longdly frecoverable. The Trust had previously recorde&8,000,000 impairment charge in 2011 as a rebult
continued declines in occupancy. The Trust recoededdditional $2,750,000 impairment charge in 2843 result of the purchase contract. The propeaty

sold on December 17, 2013.

The table below presents the Trust's assets abitities measured at fair value as of December2B13, according to the level in the fair value aiehy

within which those measurements fall (in thousands)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets fol
Identical Assets ar

Nor-Recurring Basi Liabilities (Level 1

Equity Investment $ —
Assets held for sal —
$ -

Significant Othe
Observable Inpu Significant
Unobservable
(Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
$ — $ 6,751
$ — $ 6,751

Total

$6,751

$6,751

The table below presents the Trust's assets abitities measured at fair value as of December2B12 according to the level in the fair value hieng

within which those measurements fall (in thousands)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets fol
Identical Assets ar

Nor-Recurring Basi Liabilities (Level 1

Investments in real este $ =
$ _

Significant Othe
Observable Inpu Significant
Unobservable
(Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
$ = $ 3,73¢
$ — $ 3,73

Total

$3,73¢
$3,73¢

The following table provides quantitative infornmatiabout the significant unobservable inputs usedidn-recurring fair value measurements categdrize
within Level 3 at December 31, 2013. Fair value soeaments related to impairments involve Levelgits.

Assets
Measured at Weightec
Fair Value
(in thousand: Valuation Technigur Unobservable Inpt Input Range Average
Equity Investment $ 6,551 Indicative Bids @ Indicative Bids N/A N/A
Equity Investmen $ 15C Indicative Bids (@) Indicative Bids N/A N/A
Equity Investmen $ 5C Indicative Bids @) Indicative Bids N/A N/A

@ This fair value measurement was developed fromrehaise contract currently in negotiati
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Financial Instruments Not Reported at Fair Value

The carrying value and estimated fair value ofrizial instruments not recorded at fair value or@urring basis but required to be disclosed atviline were

as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Fair value hierarchy levt

Carrying

Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level Z Level 3
Loans receivabl $101,10¢ $105,04 §$ — $— $105,04!
Secured financing receivak 30,72¢ 30,72¢ — — 30,72¢
Mortgage loans payab 444,93: 444,78 — — 444,78
Senior notes payab 86,25( 86,94( 86,94( — —
Secured financing 29,15( 29,327 — — 29,327
Notes payabli 1,742 1,742 — — 1,742

December 31, 201
Fair value hierarchy levt

Carrying

Amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Loans receivabl $211,25(  $22224¢ $ — $— $222,24¢
Mortgage loans payab 280,57t 270,92: — — 270,92:
Senior notes payab 86,25( 89,18! 89,18: — —
Secured financing 52,92( 53,25 — — 53,25
Notes payabli 1,67¢ 1,67¢ — — 1,67¢

Fair Value Option

The current accounting guidance for fair value raemment provides a fair value option election #iktws companies to irrevocably elect fair valudhes
measurement attribute for certain financial asaetsliabilities. Changes in fair value for assetd Babilities for which the election is made aeewgnized in
earnings on a quarterly basis based on the theketanice regardless of whether such assets dlitiiedhave been disposed of at such time. Theviue
option guidance permits the fair value option étetto be made on an instrument by instrument bhalsén it is initially recorded or upon an eventtthaes
rise to a new basis of accounting for that asséability. The Trust has elected the fair valudiop for all loan securities and REIT securities.

The Trust recognized a net unrealized gain of $X8,87,363,000 and $5,526,000 for the years endegmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 respectively, as a
result of the change in fair value of the secwsitiad loan securities carried at fair value, wigalecorded as an unrealized gain in the TrustissGlidated
Statements of Operations. Income related to séesigarried at fair value is recorded as interedtdividend income.
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The following table presents as of December 3132010 December 31, 2012 the Trust's financial assetwhich the fair value option was elected (in

thousands):
Financial Instruments at Fair Va December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
Assets
Securities carried at fair valu
REIT Common share $ — $ 19,69
Loan securities carried at fair val 22€ 11
$ 22€ $ 19,70¢

The table below presents as of December 31, 2@ 8itference between fair values and the aggregattractual amounts due for which the fair valugap
has been elected (in thousands):

Fair Value at Amount Due
December 31, 20: Upon Maturity Difference
Assets
Loan securities carried at fair val $ 22¢€ $ 1,13( $ 904
$ 22¢ $ 1,13( $ 904

4. Acquisition, Disposition, Leasing and Financing Advities

Operating Properties
Operating Properties Acguisition and Financing Activities

1515 Market Street — loan modification, equity dsifion and refinancing- On December 12, 2012, the Trust acquired for@88000 a $70,000,000 non-
performing first mortgage loan collateralized bgGastory, 514,000 square foot office building lechat 1515 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsyévani
(“1515 Market Street”). On February 1, 2013 thestentered into a loan modification agreement weidended the maturity date to February 1, 2016,
increased the loan balance to $71,629,000, fron0$BM000, and changed the interest rate to bertatag of 7.5% or LIBOR plus 6.5%.

Simultaneously with the modification of the loane fTrust acquired, for $10,000, an indirect 49%itgquterest in the entity (“1515 Market Owner”)ath
owns 1515 Market Street and the general partnerdst in 1515 Market Owner. Management has detegdrtimat this entity is a variable interest entity
(“VIE") and the Trust is the primary beneficiary thle VIE. As a result, the Trust has consolidatesl property as of February 1, 2013. All intercompa
transactions have been eliminated in consolidaffon segment reporting purposes, this investmelhbwiclassified within the operating propertiegrsent a
of February 1, 2013. Prior to consolidation, theestment was part of the loan asset segment.

On April 25, 2013 1515 Market Owner obtained a 88,000 non-recourse first mortgage loan (the “15it& Mortgage”) from an unaffiliated third party.
The 1515 First Mortgage bears interest at LIBOR @10% per annum, requires monthly payments oféatenly and matures on May 1, 2016. On the same
date, the 1515 Market Owner entered into an inteads swap agreement which effectively fixes LIB&FR.50% for the term of the 1515 First Mortgabiee
Trust received $38,472,000 of loan proceeds froernl8il5 First Mortgage financing which reduced thlace on the mortgage loan it holds to $33,157,000
The loan balance can be increased through futmdirig advances up to an aggregate of $6,000,006vier tenant improvements, capital expenditures and
leasing commissions. For each $500,000 of futurameks, the interest rate increases by 0.10%. Aeoémber 31, 2013 the Trust had advanced an
additional $1,500,000 resulting in a 0.3% incrdaghe interest rate. The loan modification alsovies the Trust with a 40% participation inteieshe cast

of a capital event. At December 31, 2013 the Id@nTrust holds had a balance of $36,171,000 inausi accrued interest, and entitles it to inteiesin
amount equal to a rate of 14.3% (subject to ineré®s0.10% for each additional $500,000 advanciadyrust). At December 31, 2013 the Trust’s
investment in this loan was $21,098,000 resultingri effective interest rate on its cash investriretitis asset of 19.6%.
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Summit Pointe Apartments — property acquisitiddn-October 25, 2013 the Trust contributed $4,962f60an 80% equity interest in a newly formed
venture. On the same date, the venture acquiréd aidit garden apartment complex known as Sumniitt®&partments located in Oklahoma City,
Oklahoma for a gross purchase price of $14,500,J@0€nnection with the acquisition, the ventursuased an existing $9,248,000 first mortgage lodve. T
loan bears interest at a rate of 5.7% per annuwmijnes monthly payments of principal and interest matures in February 2021. Pursuant to the tefrtie
venture agreement, the Trust holds an equity istevhich entitles the Trust to an 8% priority ret@rom cash flow and, upon disposition of the propea
minimum priority return equal to a 12% IRR. The 3iris the managing member of the venture and Inaaj@rity voting interest. The Trust has controlratd
that of a general partner and therefore consobdhie venture as of October 25, 2013, the datedfisition.

Luxury Residential — property acquisitierOn October 31, 2013 the Trust acquired throughally owned venture four newly constructed luxapartment
buildings for an aggregate purchase price of $BMHAD0. The properties are located in Phoenix,ohidz Stamford, Connecticut; Houston, Texas and San
Pedro, California. The properties consist of arregate of 761 unsold residential condominium ortapent units and approximately 25,000 square feet o
retail space. The acquisition was funded with a0$1®0,000 first mortgage loan which is cross cetidized by all four properties. The loan bearsrigst at a
rate of LIBOR plus 2%, requires monthly paymentitgrest only and matures on October 31, 2016 tmithone year extension options. The balance of the
purchase was funded from cash on hand. On the dategthe venture entered into an interest ratp ssgeeement which effectively fixes LIBOR at 0.688
the initial term of the first mortgage. In additighe venture acquired two interest rate caps, @dttha notional amount of $50,000,000 for an aggte cost

of $390,000. The initial cap is effective for thisf one year extension period and caps LIBOR at®8 second cap is effective for the second oae ye
extension period and caps LIBOR at 5%.

On November 6, 2013, New Valley LLC (“New Valley¢pntributed approximately $16,365,000 to the erilit acquired the properties in exchange for an
indirect 16.3% interest in the properties. The Tratined an 83.7% interest in the venture andhesght to make all decisions with respect toheaf the
properties, other than the Stamford, Connecticop@rty, subject to obtaining New Vallesytonsent to certain major decisions. New Valleythe right at an
time after November 6, 2015 (or in certain instanmeor thereto), but on or prior to November 61@00 have its interest in the venture redeemed 0%
interest in the Stamford, Connecticut property.

The following table summarizes the allocation & #ygregate purchase price of 1515 Market Streetn8t Pointe Apartments and Luxury Residential at
their respective dates of acquisition (in thousgnds

Summit Point
1515 Market Stre Apartments Luxury Residentit Total
Land $ 18,62° $ 1,32¢ $ 26,80¢ $ 46,76(
Building 21,86( 11,96: 214,50! 248,32°
Other improvement 73 1,12¢ 197 1,39¢
Fixtures and equipme — 262 1,89t 2,15¢
Tenant improvemeni 1,407 — 72 1,47¢
Lease intangible 14,94: 28% 2,86( 18,08¢
Above market lease intangibl 2,86 — 49 2,91¢€
Net working capital acquire 1,13 284 (2,09¢) 68C
Below market lease intangibl (620 — (389 (1,009
Total fair value of assets acquir 60,28¢ 15,24¢ 243,90 320,79¢
Long term liabilities assume (60,279 (9,24%) — (69,527)
Assumed debt premiu — (712) — (7112)
Net assets acquire $ 1C $ 5,28¢ $ 243,90: $250,56(
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Intangible assets acquired and intangible liabsitassumed for 1515 Market Street, Summit PointtAgents and Luxury Residential consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Weighted
Average
Carrying Amortization
Value Period (year:
Intangible asset:
In place lease intangiblt $ 9,43t 4.4
Above market lease intangibl 2,91¢€ 6.C
Tenant relationship valt 7,38¢ 13.c
Lease commissions, legal and marketing 1,26: 4.4
Total $21,00: 7.C
Intangible liabilities:
Below market lease intangibl $(1,009) 4.C

1515 Market Street contributed approximately $9,@88 of revenue and a loss of approximately $3@Wbfor the period from February 1, 2013 through
December 31, 2013. Summit Pointe Apartments carteithapproximately $335,000 of revenue and a lmsa ontinuing operations of approximately
$474,000 for the period from October 25, 2013 tgroDecember 31, 2013. Luxury Residential contridaeproximately $3,874,000 of revenue and a loss of
approximately $2,097,000 for the period from Octakik 2013 through December 31, 2013.

The accompanying unaudited pro forma informatiartlie years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 andig@@tésented as if the acquisition of (i) 1515 Ma
Street on February 1, 2013, (ii) Summit Pointe Apants on October 25, 2013 and (iii) Luxury Restidgmon October 31, 2013, had occurred on January 1
2012 and the acquisition of (i) Waterford PlaceAgmil 17, 2012, (ii) Cerritos on October 4, 20124jii) Lake Brandt on November 2, 2012 had ocadioa
January 1, 2011. This unaudited pro forma inforarets based upon the historical consolidated firstatements and should be read in conjunctidh thie
consolidated financial statements and notes theféis unaudited pro forma information does noipput to represent what the actual results of ojmersif
the Trust would have been had the above occurtedjmthey purport to predict the results of ogerst of future periods.

For the year ended

(In thousands, except for per share d December 31

2013 2012 2011
Total revenue $101,46! $112,69:- $76,04¢
Income from continuing operatiol 8,89( 10,61( 8,29¢
Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr 24,41¢ 17,51¢ 8,14(
Per common share de- basic 0.72 0.5 0.2t
Per common share de- diluted 0.7z 0.52 0.2

Amherst, New York Buring 2013 the Trust acquired four residentiacpls adjacent to its Amherst, New York office pndpdor an aggregate purchase price
of $896,000. The Trust is in the process of lexgthe acquired parcels and expanding the parkieg far the office property. Development of thisgedy is
expected to be completed during the second quafr2d14. The total estimated cost to complete theebpment is $1,625,000, of which $482,000 has bee
incurred as of December 31, 2013.

Houston, Texas — Non Controlling Interedbering 2013 the Trust acquired two additiorddh limited partner units in 5400 Westheimer Holder LP
(“Westheimer”) for an aggregate price of $150,086 a result of these transactions, the Trust nowso82% of Westheimer.

Churchill, Pennsylvania — financing®n June 28, 2013 the Trust obtained a $5,100,880fiortgage on its Churchill, Pennsylvania propefhe loan bears
interest at a rate of 3.5% per annum, requires htypayments of principal and interest and matareswugust 1, 2024. After closing costs, the Treseived
net proceeds of approximately $4,922,000.
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Operating Property Activity through Equity Investite

WRT-Elad Lender/Equity (Sullivan Center) — loan ification, equity investment and refinancin®n February 18, 2013, WRT-Elad One South Statelee
LP (“Lender LP”),the entity in which the Trust held a 50% interex avhich holds the mezzanine loan indirectly sedimgthe property located at One Sc
State Street, Chicago, lllinois known as the SaliCenter (“Sullivan Center”), entered into a fenlaece agreement with the borrower (the “Sullivan
Borrower”). WRT-Elad One South State Equity LP (tig LP”), a venture in which the Trust holds a 50%erest, held a 65% indirect future interest in
Sullivan Borrower. Pursuant to the forbearanceement, Lender LP agreed to forbear from exerciamgremedies as a result of Sullivan Borrower'kifei
to pay debt service for the period from Decembdr22Brough October 2013. In exchange for the fadoeze, Equity LP’s indirect future interest in Stdh
Borrower increased by 11% (5% in February 2013améddditional 6% in November 2013) to 76%, wittoaresponding decrease in Sullivan Borrower’s
general partner’s interest.

On August 21, 2013 the Trust acquired the 50% jeémture interest (the “Elad Interest”) in Lendét that was held by Elad for $30,000,000 (“Acquisiti
Price”). The mezzanine loan had an outstandingnoalaf principal and accrued interest of approxailye$56,150,000 at the time the Elad Interest was
acquired. Concurrently with the acquisition of #lad Interest, the Trust entered into an optioragrent (the “Elad Option”) which grants Elad théap
but not the obligation, to repurchase the Eladrésiein Lender LP for the Acquisition Price adjasfer the pro-rata portion of any accrued and unjraterest
and principal payments made by the borrower. Retdims of the agreements, the Elad Interest sl @ption cannot be transferred to parties othaer the
Trust and Elad. The term of the Elad Option coresis with Lender LP’s mezzanine loan. Given theimeadf the Elad Option and the specific rights tafce
the transaction is accounted for as a secureddingrarrangement und&SC 860-Transfers and Servicinghe Trust will recognize interest income on the
secured financing receivable in accordance with GBA4t an annual interest rate of 15%, and will iowet to recognize equity income on its previousidh
50% interest in the venture.

On October 18, 2013, Sullivan Center, which is Wwholvned by Sullivan Borrower, obtained a new $508,000 first mortgage loan. The loan bears interes
at a rate of 3.95% per annum, requires monthly geysnof interest only and matures on November 82The proceeds from the loan were used to rdpe
existing $110,550,000 first mortgage loan whichebioterest at a rate of 11.0% per annum.

Atrium Mall LLC — Equity InvestmenOn June 20, 2013 the Trust invested in a newly &®0-50 joint venture with Marc Realty that acqdia non-
performing $10,650,000 mortgage loan for $6,625,08@ddition, the joint venture paid $1,137,000und escrows at the closing. The Trust investeata
of $3,935,000 in this joint venture during 2013eThan was in maturity default at the time of asiign and was acquired with the intention of féosing or
working out a consensual assignment with the bagroivhe loan was collateralized by a leaseholdéstdan the Atrium Mall in Chicago, lllinois. The
leasehold interest is for 71,000 square feet ofrnernial/retail space that comprises the bottorretfioors of an office building known as the James R
Thompson building of which the lease expires intSeyper 2014 with six automatic five-year extensiwhich are exercisable at the lessee’s option. The
building is owned by the State of lllinois.

On July 26, 2013 the joint venture entered intagreement with the borrower pursuant to which tredwer conveyed the leasehold interest to thewernn
lieu of foreclosure. Accordingly, the venture noalds the leasehold interest in the property. Thevepance of the leasehold interest does not chidnege
ownership structure of Atrium Mall LLC or alter anfthe members’ rights. The Trust will continueatttount for its investment in Atrium Mall LLC urde
the equity method.

701 Seventh Avenue, New York, New York — Equisgtiment- During 2013, with respect to the joint venturattimdirectly owns the property located at 701
Seventh Avenue, New York, New York the Trust elddteparticipate in the future hotel developmertt daring 2013, the Trust made additional cash
contributions to the venture totaling $24,465,008e Trust has contributed an additional $33,419j8@D14 bringing its total capital contributeddate to
$86,855,000 against its total commitment of $128,000.

WRT-Fenway Wateridge — Mortgage Lea®n October 15, 2013, the Trust's venture thadthis property obtained a $7,000,000 first m@égi@an on its

San Diego, California property. The loan bearsregtat the greater of 6%, or LIBOR plus 4.5% penen, requires monthly payments of interest only an
matures on November 1, 2016. The venture purchaséuterest rate cap which caps LIBOR at 2.5%oimection with the financing, the Trust received a
distribution of $6,255,000 in partial redemptionitsfpreferred equity investment. The Trust retdiresbalance of its preferred equity interest alé agea 50%

equity interest in the venture.
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Operating Property Disposition Activity

Andover, Massachusetts - property saf@n March 28, 2013 the Trust sold its Andover, dahusetts office property to an independent fhartly for gross
sale proceeds of $12,000,000. After costs and qtiorrs, the Trust received net proceeds of apprabeiy $11,425,000 and recorded a gain of $2,7750000
the sale of the property.

Deer Valley, Arizona — property sal®©n June 11, 2013 the Trust sold its Deer Valleyzdra office property to an independent third péotygross sale
proceeds of $20,500,000. After costs and pro-ratitve Trust received net proceeds of approxim&ed/585,000 and recorded a gain of $6,745,000@n t
sale of the property.

Denton, Texas — property sal®n July 2, 2013 the Trust sold its Denton, Texé#alrproperty to an independent third party forggaale proceeds of
$1,850,000. After costs and pro-rations, the Treiséived net proceeds of approximately $1,703,8@0gain or loss was recognized on the sale of the
property.

Seabrook, Texas — property sal@n August 1, 2013 the Trust sold its SeabrookaSeetail property to an independent third pastygross sale proceeds of
$3,300,000. After costs and pro-rations, the Treiséived net proceeds of approximately $3,202,@@0racorded a gain of $1,428,000 on the sale of the
property.

Lisle, lllinois — property sale ©n December 17, 2013 the Trust sold its Lislendiis office property known as 701 Arboretum to reeheipendent third party

for gross sale proceeds of $2,500,000. After castspro-rations the Trust received net procee@dppfoximately $2,351,000 and recorded a gain ofCREB
on the sale of the property.

Operating Property Dispositions through Equity |etraents

Sealy Airpark — Nashville, Tennessee — foreclosu®a October 7, 2013 the lender foreclosed ondhe that was collateralized by this property. ThasT
held its interest in this property through a veatilvat was managed by its partner and had preyieugten down its investment to zero. Accordindiyr,
financial reporting purposes the Trust did not gggpe a gain or loss in connection with the foreale.

Sealy Newmarket — Atlanta, Georgia — foreclosuf@n December 2, 2013 the lender foreclosed otodrethat was collateralized by this property. Thest
held its interest in this property through a veetilvat was managed by its partner and had preyieugten down its investment to zero. Accordingdiyr,
financial reporting purposes the Trust did not gggpe a gain or loss in connection with the forsale.

Operating Property Leasing Activity

Amherst, New York©n July 29, 2013 the Trust entered into a leasendment with the existing tenant, Ingram Micro Inehich leases the entire 200,000
square foot premises. The initial lease was sigmd®88 and was scheduled to expire October 313 2ibject to two five-year extensions). The neasée
extends the term through October 31, 2023 withteneyear or two five-year renewal options. Leasaents under the amendment remained unchanged
through the expiration of the original lease. Arimeats under the original lease were $2,016,000ual rents under the amended lease are $1,80@006
period November 1, 2013 through October 31, 201B%%002,000 for the period November 1, 2018 thhoDgtober 31, 2023. The base rent is subject to
increase upon the delivery of additional parkinggato the tenant.

Loans

Loan Asset Originations

Playa Vista, California — loan originationOn January 24, 2013 the Trust originated a $20(8 mezzanine loan collateralized by a 260,00@msfoot
office campus in the Los Angeles, California afBze loan is subordinate to an $80,300,000 morttmaye matures January 23, 2015, bears interedB@R
plus 14.25% per annum, with a 0.5% LIBOR floor aequires payments of interest only at a rate dd%.2vith the remaining interest being accrued arttbe
to principal. In connection with the originatiohgtborrower paid the Trust an origination fee d%$200. On March 1, 2013 the Trust sold a 50% pessu
participation interest in the loan to an independieind party for $10,250,000 and gave the trarsfex credit of $100,000 from the initial loan anifion.

88



Table of Contents

Loan Asset Repayment Activity

Disney B Note — sale of participatioi®n January 25, 2013 the Trust sold for $9,000,000046 participation interest in the $10,000,000 @eN\collateralize
by an office building located in Burbank, CalifaaniThe selling price was equal to the Trust's éagyalue of the B Note.

127 West 28 Street — loan payoffOn March 1, 2013 the $8,583,000 loan collaterallzgthe property located at 127 West 25th Streety Nork, New Yorl
was paid off in full at par.

180 N Michigan — loan payoffOn March 28, 2013 the $5,200,000 loan collateealiby the property located at 180 North Michigare#ue, Chicago, lllinois
was paid off in full at par.

Fenway Shea — loan payof©n June 14, 2013 the $2,250,000 loan collateraligeithe property located at Shea Blvd in Phoenhizdwa was paid off in full
at par.

Renaissance Walk — loan payofdr October 31, 2013 the $3,000,000 loan collaizzdlby the property known as Renaissance WalkdddatAtlanta,
Georgia was paid off in full at par.

Queensridge Tower — loan paymeniBuing 2013, several of the condominium units delalizing the Queensridge Tower loan receivableevgeld
resulting in payments to the Trust of approxima®&3%,863,000. The Trust made corresponding pay s@ff23,770,000 in full satisfaction of its recemir
debt with KeyBank which was collateralized by thee®nsridge Tower loan receivable.

Loan Asset Activity through Equity Investments

RE CDO Management — asset sal€n February 20, 2013, RE CDO Management (“RE CD&xi entity in which the Trust holds a 50% intéresld its
subordinated interests in, and collateral manageagneement with respect to, Sorin CDO 1l for $0;000. On March 8, 2013 RE CDO sold its C Tranche
subordinated interests in Sorin CDO |V for $6,240,0As a result of the sales, the Trust receivsttibiitions of approximately $4,416,000 in the aggte.
The Trust's share of the gain has been recordeduity in earnings of this equity investment. RE@Bad originally acquired the sold assets anditsést

in Sorin CDO 1V, which it still retains, for $2,5@DO.

CDH CDO LLC - sale of interestOn February 25, 2013 the Trust sold for $25,000% interest in the equity of CDH CDO, exclusifete interest in the
entity that holds the collateral management agreewieCDH CDO, to Inland American. As a resultloétsale, the Trust now holds a 49.67% interesDR C
CDO. The Trust maintains 100% of CDH CDO'’s inteiasStVRP Management. The sale of the interest didaffect the voting rights within CDH CDO and
did not result in a change in control. The Trudt @antinue to account for its investment in CDH GDinder the equity method.

10 Metrotech Loan LLC — equity investment repaymedh July 30, 2013 the $40,000,000 loan collateedliby the property at 10 Metrotech Center,
Brooklyn, New York and held by a venture in whitle fTrust held a one-third interest was paid offaat The venture had acquired the loan in Augu$220
for $32,500,000. As a result of the payoff, thesimeceived a distribution from the venture of 883,000 and recorded equity in earnings of $2,&16i0
connection with its 33.33% ownership interest ia ¥lenture.

Concord Debt Holdings and CDH CDO - loan payoffsvo of the underlying loans held by the Trust's €ondl ventures paid off during the third quarter of
2013. In July 2013 the loan collateralized by theperty commonly referred to as Thanksgiving Toleeated in Dallas, Texas was satisfied. In Aug@t32
the loan collateralized by the property referreds®ne Riverwalk located in San Antonio, Texas saisfied. As a result of the loan payoffs thestru
received an aggregate distribution of $6,470,000.

REIT Securities Activity

During 2013 the Trust liquidated all of its holdingf REIT Securities. In particular, the Trust s8Jd00,716 shares of common stock in Cedar ReaitgtT
Inc. which it had acquired for an aggregate co$t1d,891,000 for aggregate sales proceeds of $2,6@9. The Trust also sold 1,250,000 of MPG Office
Trust, Inc., which it had acquired for an aggregatst of $2,980,000, for aggregate proceeds 0253060.
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5.

Loans Receivable

The Trust's loans receivable at December 31, 20832812 are as follows (in thousands):

Descriptiot

Hotel Wales (5.

The Shops at Waile
Legacy Orchard (1) (%
Queensridge (€

San Marbeya (&
Churchill (1)

1515 Market

Playa Vista / Wat¢’'s Edge
Rockwell (7)

50(-512 7th Ave (5
Pinnacle Il

Popiu Shopping Villag
Wellington Tower (5,
Mentor Building
Renaissance Walk (i
Fenway Shea (1) (¢
127 West 25th Street (
180 N. Michigan (8
The Disney Building (9

@

Loan Positior

Stated
Interest Ratt

Whole Loan
B-Note

Corporate Loa

Whole Loan
Whole Loan
Whole Loan
Whole Loan
Mezzanine
Mezzanine
B-Note
B-Note
B-Note
Mezzanine
Whole Loan
Mezzanine
Whole Loan
Mezzanine
Mezzanine
B-Note

LIBOR + 4.(% (2)
6.15%
15.0%

LIBOR + 11.5% (3)
5.88%
LIBOR + 3.7%%
4)

LIBOR + 14.2'% (3)
12.0%
7.1%
6.31%
6.62%
6.7%
10.0%

Carrying Amouni

December 3: December 3: Contractue
Maturity
2013 2012 Date
$ 20,10: $ 20,10 10/05/1¢
6,292 5,37¢ 10/06/1«
9,75( 9,75( 10/31/1«
2,94; 39,17( 11/15/1¢
28,54¢ 27,14¢ 01/01/1¢
68% 68% 06/01/1¢
— 58,65( (4)
10,327 — 01/23/1¢
— 32: 05/01/1¢
10,25( 10,00¢ 07/11/1¢
4,64¢ 4,652 09/06/1¢
2,05¢ 1,94¢ 01/06/1°
2,991 2,681 07/11/1°
2,512 2,512 09/10/1°
— 3,00( —
— 2,27¢ —
— 8,681 —
— 5,231 —
— 9,04¢ —
$ 101,10( $ 211,25(

The Trust determined that certain loans receivat#evariable interests in VIEs primarily basedlosfiact that the underlying entities do not havicgent
equity at risk to permit the entity to financeaistivities without additional subordinated finaaapport. The Trust does not have the power tectihe

activities of the entity that most significantly paect the entit's economic performance and is not required to dimfade the underlying entity

LIBOR floor of 3%.
LIBOR floor of 0.5%.

This loan was in maturity default at the tinfeoquisition. The loan was modified on Februarg2d13. The Trust consolidates the operations obtreower

entity and the loan receivable is eliminated insmidation.
These loans were sold to an independent third frafgbruary 2014. See Note - Subsequent Events for details on the ¢

This loan was paid off at par in January 2014.1$eie 26- Subsequent Events for details on the pa
Loan defaulted in December 2013. Carrying amouBteaiember 31, 2013 reflects a $348 loan loss res

The loans were satisfied during the year ended mbee31, 2012

Loan was sold during 201
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The carrying amount of loans receivable includeswad interest of $501,000 and $1,016,000 at DeeeBih 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectivety, an
cumulative accretion of $6,488,000 and $2,527,@@ezgember 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, resphcti

At December 31, 2013, the Trust's loan receivabs accretable discount yet to be recognizedcasria totaling $5,782,000. At December 31, 2012, the
Trust's loan receivables had accretable discouninybe recognized as income totaling $9,865,000.

The weighted average coupon on the Trust's loacevable was 6.55% and the weighted average yoehdaturity was 11.59% at December 31, 2013. The
weighted average coupon on the Trust's loans rab&wvas 7.65% and the weighted average yield tantyawas 11.43% at December 31, 2012.

With the exception of the San Marbeya, Hotel Waled Queensridge Tower loans receivable, none db#res receivable are directly financed.

On November 15, 2012 the Trust obtained a $25,000d@an from KeyBank collateralized by the QueeattgiTowers loan. The loan bears interest at LIBOR
plus 4%, requires monthly payments of interest amigl is co-terminous with the Queensridge Towean leith a maturity date of November 15, 2014, stthje
to one, twelve month extension. Principal paymengsrequired to be made in accordance with prihgiggments received on the Queensridge Tower loan.
The KeyBank loan payable is recourse to the Tmdtthe Operating Partnership. As of September @03 2he Trust has fully repaid the recourse secured
financing.

Loan Receivable Activity

Activity related to loans receivable is as follogirs thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 3. December 3:
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of ye $ 211,25( $ 114,33
Purchase and advanc 22,31« 175,55(
Interest (received) accrued, 1 (514 51€
Repayments / sale procee (75,40°) (68,824
Elimination of 1515 Market Street in consolidat (60,279 —
Loan accretior 4,121 8,33:
Discount accretion received in ce (37 (15,720
Provision for loss on loans receival (34¢) —
Conversion of 180 North Michigan loan to equityestment: — (2,939
Balance at end of ye. $ 101,10 $ 211,25(

The following table summarizes the Trust’s inte@sd dividend income for the years ended Decembe?(L3, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Interest and dividends dete
Interest on loan asse $14,33¢ $11,73¢ $11,07¢
Accretion of loan discour 4,121 8,33: 13,40:
Interest and dividends on REIT securi — 1,05¢ 984
Total interest and dividenc $18,45¢ $21,12: $25,45¢

The San Marbeya loan and the Queensridge loan,repofsenting more than 10% of interest incometritried approximately 34% of interest income @&
Trust for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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The 160 Spear loan and the San Marbeya loan, eacbsenting more than 10% of interest income, ifmrtd approximately 34% of interest income of the
Trust for the year ended December 31, 2012. TheSpé@r loan and the Metropolitan Tower loan, eaphesenting more than 10% of interest income,
contributed approximately 48% of interest incoméhef Trust for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Credit Quality of Loans Receivable and Loan Losses

The Trust evaluates impairment on its loan poxtfoln an individual basis and has developed a loadigg system for all of its outstanding loans thrat
collateralized directly or indirectly by real estaGrading categories include debt yield, debtisersoverage ratio, length of loan, property typan type, an
other more subjective variables that include priyper collateral location, market conditions, inttysconditions, and sponsor’s financial stability.
Management reviews each category and assigns aallowemeric grade for each loan to determine tlam’s risk of loss and to provide a determinatisitica
whether an individual loan is impaired and whethepecific loan loss allowance is necessary. A'tograde of credit quality is determined quarterly.

All loans with a positive score do not require arldoss allowance. Any loan graded with a neutralesor “zero” is subject to further review of the
collectability of the interest and principal basedcurrent conditions and qualitative factors ttedmine if impairment is warranted. Any loan witinegative
score is deemed impaired and management then wraddure the specific impairment of each loan séggnasing the fair value of the collateral lesstsdc
sell.

Management estimates the loan loss allowance loylatihg the estimated fair value less costs toodehe underlying collateral securing the loaisézion
the fair value of the underlying collateral, andng@ring the fair value to the loan’s net carryirdue. If the fair value is less than the net caigyialue of the
loan, an allowance is created with a correspondiggge to the provision for loan losses. The allmesfor each loan is maintained at a level theftTrus
believes is adequate to absorb losses.

The table below summarizes the Trust's loans redéévby internal credit rating at December 31, 20 3housands, except for number of loans).

Carrying
Value of Mezzanin
# of Loans # of Whole # of # of

Internal Credit Qualit Loans Receivabl Loans Loans Loan: B-Notes Loan: Loans
Greater than zer 11  $ 90,77 6 $64,53¢ 4 $23,24¢ 1 $ 299
Equal to zerc 1 10,327 — — — — 1 10,327
Less than zer 1 — — — — — 1 —
Subtotal 13 $101,10( 6 $64,53¢ 4 $23,24¢ 3  $13,31¢

The table below summarizes the Trust's loans redéévby internal credit rating at December 31, 20 2housands, except for number of loans).

Carrying
Value of Mezzanin:
# of Loans # of Whole # of # of

Internal Credit Qualit Loan: Receivable Loan: Loans Loan: B-Notes Loans Loans
Greater than zer 18 $211,25( 8  $160,28¢ 5  $31,02¢ 5 $19,93¢
Equal to zerc — — — — — — — —
Less than zer — — — — — — — —
Subtotal 18 $211,25( 8  $160,28¢ 5  $31,02¢ 5 $19,93¢
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Non Performing Loans

The Trust considers a loan to be non-performing@aces loans on non-accrual status at such timeasgement determines it is probable that itlveill
unable to collect all amounts due according toctivétractual terms of the loan. While on non-accstatus, based on the Trust’s judgment as to ¢abiédity
of principal, loans are either accounted for omshdbasis, where interest income is recognizedudy actual receipt of cash, or on a cost-recobasys,
where all cash receipts reduce a loan’s carryimgevdf and when a loan is brought back into coamdie with its contractual terms, the Trust willuee
accrual of interest.

As of December 31, 2013 there was one non-perfarhoian with past due payments. There was $348,0pfowision for loan loss recorded during the years
ended December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2012 there were no non-perfagriians and no past due payments. There was nasjmovor loan loss recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Secured Financing Receivable

In August 2013 the Trust closed on an agreemeatdaire Elad’s 50% interest in Lender LP for $30,000. In connection with the transaction, the Trus
entered into an option agreement with Elad grarflagl the right, but not obligation, to repurchdsinterest in the venture. The option agreememtiges
Elad, as the transferor, the option to unilateralyse the return of the asset at the earlier @f/ars from August 21, 2013 or an event of defawltender
LP’s mezzanine debt. As such, Elad is able tomeatantrol of its interest in Lender LP for finarigieporting purposes as the exercise of the opgion
unconditional other than for the passage of timeaAesult, for financial reporting purposes, tiaasfer of the financial asset is accounted fax sscured
financing rather than an acquisition. The $30,000,&cquisition price is recorded as a secured ingrreceivable. The Trust will recognize interiesbme
on the secured financing receivable on an accrasisbn accordance with GAAP, at an annual inteagstof 15%. The Trust recorded $1,386,000 oféste
income during the year ended December 31, 2013.

6. Securities and Loan Securities Carried at Fair Vale

Securities and loan securities carried at fair @ate summarized in the table below (in thousands):

2013 2012
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
REIT Common share $— $ — $15,87¢ $19,69¢
$— $ — $15,87¢ $19,69-
Loan securitie: $161 $ 22¢ $ 161 $ 11
$161 $  22¢ $16,03° $19,70¢

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@bd available for sale securities, securitiesieamt fair value and loan securities carried mtalue
were sold or paid off for total proceeds of appnosiely $19,918,000, $28,133,000 and $35,156,08pertively. The gross realized gains on these salés
payoffs totaled approximately $742,000, $655,008 $123,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively pbgose of determining gross realized gainscds
of securities is based on specific identification.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arld 284 Trust recognized net unrealized gains oiladla for sale securities, securities carriedaat¥alue
and loan securities carried at fair value of $73,(8¥,363,000 and $5,526,000, respectively, asethdt of the change in fair value of the finaneissets for
which the fair value option was elected.

7. Preferred Equity Investments

On December 21, 2012 the Trust made a $6,000,@36rped equity contribution to its WRT-Fenway Walge joint venture. The Trust is entitled to a 12%
priority return which is to be paid 8% currentlpiin operating cash flow and the remaining 4% ismede During 2013, the Trust received distributions
inclusive of its preferred return, totaling $6,37&). The Trust still holds a $229,000 preferredtgdovestment at December 31, 2013.
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During 2012 the Trust made preferred equity contiims of $4,750,000 to its Vintage Housing ventutech entitles the Trust to a 12% return.

During 2012 the Trust converted its $1,500,000 lmeits Vintage Housing venture to preferred equitth a 12% return. During 2011 the loan bore ieséat
12% with no payments due until there is operatimghdlow from the property. No income was recognie2013, 2012 or 2011 on this investment.

The Trust recognized earnings from its Marc Repifeferred equity investments of $338,000 for tharynded December 31, 2011. On January 2, 2012 the
Trust restructured its 180 North Michigan preferegglity investment of $3,923,000 and its loan neatele of $2,938,000 to an equity investment.

8. Equity Investments
The Trust’'s equity investments consist of the feiltg at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 201tAdimsands):

Nominal % Ownershi December 3! December 3!
Venture Partne Equity Investmen at December 31, 20! 2013 2012
Gancar Trust (1 Vintage Housing Holdings LL( 75.(% $ 34,15! $ 30,53«
Elad Canada Lt WRT-Elad One South State Equity | 50.(% — 46C
Elad Canada Lt WRT-One South State Lender | 50.(% 23,66 24,64«
Mack-Cali WRT-Stamford LLC 20.(% 9,06¢ 8,501
Atrium/Northstar 10 Metrotech Loan LL( 33.2% 11 10,84¢
Atrium Holding RE CDO Management LL! 50.(% 99z 1,77¢
Freed Mentor Retail LLC 49.% 63t 551
Inland/Lexington Concord Debt Holdings LL( 33.2% — —
Inland/Lexington CDHCDOLLC 24.8% — —
Inland (2) Concord Debt Holdings LL( 33.2% 96€ 3,97¢
Inland (2) CDH CDO LLC 24.&% 4,21¢ 32z
Sealy (1) Northwest Atlanta Partners L 60.(% 7,63 8,10
Sealy (1) Newmarket GP LLC 68.(% — —
Sealy (1) Airpark Nashville GF 50.(% — —
Marc Realty (1 Brooks Building LLC 50.(% 6,551 7,98:%
Marc Realty (1 High Point Plaza LL(C 50.(% — 2,241
Marc Realty (1, 1701 Woodfield LLC 50.(% 15C 1,97
Marc Realty (1 Enterprise Center LL( 50.(% 50 2,67¢
Marc Realty (1, Atrium Mall 50.(% 3,84t —
ROIC WRT-ROIC Lakeside Eagle LL! 50.(% — —
New Valley/Starwood (3 Socal Office Portfolio Loan LL( 73.(% — 8
New Valley/Witkoff 701 7th WRT Investors LL( 70.5% 55,25¢ 28,73¢
Fenway WRT-Fenway Wateridge LL( 50.(% 1,89¢ 1,522
$ 149,08! $ 134,85¢

(1) The Trust has determined that these equitysimvents are investments in VIEs. The Trust hasméted that it is not the primary beneficiary oése VIEs
since the Trust does not have the power to dihecattivities that most significantly impact theEgleconomic performanc

(2) Represents the interests acquired from LexingtaitiR@rust on May 1, 201:

(3) The underlying loan investment was satisfied atip&eptember 201.
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The following table reflects the activity of theuBt's equity investments for the year ended Decerdbe2013 (in thousands):

Balance at Equity Balance at
December 3. Income December 3!
Investmer 2012 Contribution: (loss) Distributions Sales Pric 2013
Vintage Housing Holdings, LLC (¢ $ 3053 $ = $917¢ $ (5559 $ — $ 34,15
WRT-Elad One South State Equity LP 46( 2,35¢ (2,81%) — — —
WRT-One South State Lender LP | 24,64« — 4,13 (5,116 — 23,66:
WRT-Stamford LLC 8,501 — 93C (367) — 9,06¢
10 Metrotech Loan LL( 10,84¢ — 3,28¢ (14,119 — 11
RE CDO Management LL! 1,77¢ — 3,70¢ (4,49¢) — 99z
Concord Debt Holdings LL( — — 3,07z (3,079 — —
CDH CDO LLC — — 1,03 (1,020 (13 —
Concord Debt Holdings LLC (2 3,97 — 64 (3,072) — 96€
CDH CDO LLC (1) 32z — 4,92¢ (1,020 (13 4,21F
Mentor Retail LLC 551 — 84 — — 63E
701 7th WRT Investors LLC (¢ 28,73t 25,91 3,42¢ (2,819 — 55,25¢
WRT-Fenway Wateridge LLC (Z 1,527 19z 18z — — 1,89¢
Sealy 8,10« — (469) — — 7,63¢
Marc Realty 14,88( — (7,97)) (15¢) — 6,751
WRT-ROIC Lakeside Eagle LL! — 25 (25) — — —
SoCal Office Portfolio Loan LL( 8 — 2 (6) — —
Atrium Mall — 3,93t (90) — — 3,84t
Total $ 134,85¢ $ 32,42 $22,64: $ (40,81) $ (26) $ 149,08!

(1) Represents the interests acquired from LexingtadtiR@rust on May 1, 201:
(2) The Trust has elected to report its share of egsnim a one month lag peric
(3) The Trust has elected to report its share of egsnim a three month la
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The following table reflects the activity of theuBt's equity investments for the year ended Decerdbe2012 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at

December 3: Equity December 3!
Income
Investmer 2011 Contribution: (loss) Distributions Sales Pric 2012

Vintage Housing Holdings LLC (2 $ 29,880 $ 2067 $460: $ (602) $ — $ 30,53¢
WRT-Elad One South State Equity LP — 2,83¢ (2,37¢) — — 46C
WRT-One South State Lender LP | 10,15( 11,21 3,281 — — 24,64+
WRT-Stamford LLC — 8,03¢ 76¢ (3049 — 8,501
10 Metrotech Loan LL( — 10,91¢ 33t (405) — 10,84t
RE CDO Management LL! 1,29¢ 55C 67 (1349 — 1,77¢
Mentor Retail LLC — 50& 46 — — 551

Concord Debt Holdings LL¢ — — 422 (422) — —

CDH CDO LLC — — 1,71t (1,71 — —
701 7th WRT Investors LLC (¢ — 29,02t — (290 — 28,73
WRT-Fenway Wateridge LLC (Z — 1,527 — — — 1,522
CDH CDO LLC (1) — 2,50( (997 (1,187 — 32z
Sealy 11,34¢ — (3,19¢ (45) — 8,10¢
Marc Realty 27,14 11,83¢ 33 (4,11¢) 20,01t 14,88(

WRT-ROIC Lakeside Eagle LL! 7 3E (42) — — —

WRT-ROIC Riverside LLC 7,88 — 70€ (8,589 —
SoCal Office Portfolio Loan LL( 72,62¢ — 9,70¢€ (82,329 2,032 8

FIl Co-invest LLC 1,80( — 232 — —
Concord Debt Holdings (- — 4,501 (45€) (72) — 3,97¢
Total $ 162,14. $ 8554(  $14,84: $(105,61) $22,047 $ 134,85

(1) Represents the interests acquired from LexingtaitiR@rust on May 1, 201:
(2) The Trust has elected to report its share of egsnim a one month lag peric
(3) The Trust has elected to report its share of egsnam a three month lag peric

See Note 4 for information relating to 2013 actiwitith respect to equity investments.

Sullivan Center There is a basis differential of $11,196,000 lestwthe Trust’s carrying value of its investmentSillivan Center and the basis reflected at
the joint venture level, which is amortized ovee tifie of the related assets. The basis differeptianarily relates to a bargain purchase gain geced at the
joint venture level upon acquisition.

Concord- During the years ended December 31, 2013 and, 20& Xrust received cash distributions from Coddoebt Holdings LLC of $3,072,000 and
$422,000, respectively. The Trust recognized equitgme for the full amount of the distributionhelTrust has suspended losses of $40,493,000st off
against future equity income from Concord at Decan®i, 2013.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 Zrust received cash distributions from CDH COQ of $1,020,000 and $1,715,000, respectively.
The Trust recognized equity income for the full amioof the distribution. The Trust has suspendsdde of $19,605,000 to offset against future edodyme
from CDH CDO LLC at December 31, 2013.

Sealy -On May 30, 2013 the Trust contributed its interedlewmarket GP and its interest in Airpark NaslevEP to TRS. The Trust’s carrying value of both
investments was zero at the time of the contrilmst@and the transaction had no effect on the firdstatements of the Trust. On October 7, 201 3cihaer
foreclosed on the loan that was collateralized &glysAirpark Property. On December 2, 2013 the éeridreclosed on the loan that was collateralizethb
Sealy Newmarket Property. These transactions haaffact on the financial statements of the Trust.
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Sealy Impairments

During 2011 the Trust determined that, as a redidurrent market conditions, including current @gancy levels, current rental rates and an incriease
terminal capitalization rates, the fair value sféuity investments in Sealy were below the cagyialues. Accordingly, the Trust assessed wheitfer
decline in value was other-than-temporary. In mglhis determination, the Trust considered thettendtime which the decline has occurred, the tlerug
time before an expected recovery and the lack yicamparable in the market. The Trust determinedalr value of its investments utilizing an unleaged
cash flow methodology and an estimated terminaltalagation rate. The cash flows were then discednising an estimated market rate. Based on the
foregoing, all of which requires significant judgmgethe Trust concluded that the declines in valeee other-than-temporary, and during 2011 thetTrus
recorded other-than-temporary impairment charge¢§00,000, $900,000 and $1,494,000 on its inverstsnin Sealy Northwest Atlanta, Sealy Newmarket,
and Sealy Nashville, respectively.

The Trust has determined that the fair value dfageiof its equity investments each marginally exttheir carrying values. While the ventures cargito
aggressively market available space for lease aml with existing tenants for lease renewal, dediin occupancy could cause impairment of thestikes
that could be material to the Trust’s future resoftoperations.

Marc Realty- On January 1, 2012, the Trust restructured orits @fvestments (180 North Michigan) and conveitedhvestment from loans receivable
($2,938,000) and preferred equity ($3,923,000)aitg investments ($6,861,000) which is includedamtributions in the above table.

On March 1, 2012, the Trust sold to Marc Realtyriterest in 3701 Algonquin for $250,000. On May 2212, the Trust sold to Marc Realty its interésts
Salt Creek, River Road and Ridgebrook for $0, $1,@00 and $1,100,000, respectively.

On May 31, 2012, the Trust sold to Marc Realtyriterest in the 30 North Michigan property for 8@),000. The purchase was financed with a $6,580,00
secured promissory note. The note was fully satisfin August 3, 2012.

Marc Realty Impairments

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Trust’s ¢girivestments in the Brooks Building, LLC (“223 ¥{elackson”), High Point Plaza, LLC (“High Point”),
1701 Woodfield, LLC (“1701 Woodfield"), and Enteige Center, LLC ( individually “Enterprise” and théorementioned investments collectively the “Marc
Investments”) suffered declines in occupancy, iasireg competition for tenants, and increasing dostgerate the investments. Additionally, recent
discussions related to marketing available spapetential tenants, along with lease renewals waibting tenants, indicated a capital infusion fribve Trust
would be necessary to upgrade the investmentshievacrental rates in-line with the suburban Chigaliinois office market. The factors above alomigh
increasing capital demands and rising cost of abp#tused the Trust to reassess its business gdaniated with the Marc Investments in the fouttarter of
2013.

Subsequent to year end the Trust entered into reemgnt with Marc Realty, its joint venture partimethese equity investments, to sell its inter@stdigh

Point, 1701 Woodfield, Enterprise Center along wtgtcontrolling interest in the River City propgrtocated in Chicago, Illinois, which is consolied, for a
gross sales price of $6,000,000. The Trust cormsitiére underlying investment characteristics amgbtiations with Marc Realty in allocating the puask

price to the specific assets included in the tretisa Additionally, the Trust granted Marc Readtry option exercisable within two years to acquieriterest

in 223 West Jackson for a purchase price rangomg $5,000,000 to $6,600,000. The purchase priceZ8rWest Jackson is dependent upon when the option
is exercised and certain operating characterisfitise investment at the time of exercise.

Based on the factors noted above, the Trust coedltitht each of the Marc Investments were other-temporarily impaired in the aggregate by $7,680,0
at December 31, 2013, when comparing each of tiaeiying values of $14,438,000 in the aggregatsath of their fair values of $6,751,000 in the agagte
and a corresponding impairment charge has beemdiedlin Equity in income (loss) of equity investrisein the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year then enfleel Trust separately tested the River City prigpfar impairment and determined that the carrying
value of River City was recoverable at December2813 when comparing the portion of the gross gatfies attributable to the River City property t® i
carrying value.

SoCal Office Portfolio Loar On September 28, 2012, the loan held by SoCatéifortfolio Loan (“SoCal”) was paid off at pahd Trust’s joint venture
WRT-SoCal Lender LLC (“SoCal Lender”) which heletequity investment on SoCal received
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a return of capital distribution of $44,224,000itninvestment from this transaction. The Trustisaable share of the distribution was $38,407,(RfCal
acquired the loan on November 4, 2011. Earliel0ih2 SoCal obtained a recourse repurchase faailidyreceived net proceeds of approximately $38)D00,
which was distributed entirely to the Trust in pErtedemption of its interest. The SoCal balaritees consisted of total assets of $13,000 and 89,000 at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively and ltakilities of $0 and $269,000 as of December 3, 2and 2011, respectively. SoCal had net income of
$16,892,000 and $366,000 for the years ended Demre®ih 2012 and 2011, respectively. A majorityhaf proceeds from the payoff of the loan were
distributed in 2012. Remaining funds were utilizedvind up and dissolve SoCal in 2013.

Vintage Housing Holdings LLEThe Trust has made additional investments iraigregate of $6,779,000 to the Vintage platfornindu2012. The venture’s
new investments included a $5,500,000 contributiiom planned 345 unit multamily project in Lynnwood, Washington, a $750,@@tribution to a planne
204-unit multi-family property in Marysville, Wagigton and $529,000 contribution to complete theussitipn of interests in the general partners af tw
multifamily properties comprising approximately 494its located in California and Nevada.

ROIC — Riverside Loan On September 18, 2012, the loan was paid ofaatThe joint venture received a return of captsiribution of $15,600,000 on its
investment. The Trust's allocable share of therithistion was $7,800,000.

Separate Financial Statements for UnconsolidatédiSiaries

The Trust has determined that for the periods piteden the Truss financial statements, certain of its unconsodidaubsidiaries have met the conditions
significant subsidiary under Rule 1-02(w) of Regjola S-X for which the Trust is required, pursuamRule 3-09 of Regulation S-X, to attach separate
financial statements as exhibits to its Annual Repo Form 10-K as follows:

Year(s) determine

Entity significant Exhibit
Concord Debt Holdings LL( 2011 99.1
CDH CDO LLC 2013 99.2
Sealy Northwest Atlanta Partners 2011 99.3
Sealy Newmarket General Partners 2011 99.4

Combined Financial Statements for Unconsolidatdusiiaries

Pursuant to Rule 4-08(g), the following summarifirdncial data for unconsolidated subsidiariesudek information for the following entities: Vintag
Housing Holdings, LLC, WRT-Elad One South State igquP, WRT-Stamford LLC, 10 Metrotech Loan LLC, Mi®r Retail LLC, 701 Seventh WRT
Investors LLC, WRT-Fenway Wateridge LLC, Brooks Birig LLC, High Point Plaza LLC, 1701 Woodfield LL.Enterprise Center LLC, Atrium Mall LLC
and WRT-ROIC Lakeside Eagle LLC.

For the Year Ende¢

For the Year Ende For the Year Ende

December 31, 20: December 31, 20: December 31, 20:

Income Statements

Rental Revenu 57,89( 70,68¢ 54,60(
Interest, dividends and discount accre 14,53¢ 6,51¢ 3,74¢
Expense: 43,67: 68,28¢ 59,19(
Income from continuing operatiol 28,75¢ 8,91: (84%)
Trus''s share of net incom 16,67¢ 6,472 (35)

As of December 3

As of December 3

2013 2012
Balance Sheet:
Investment in real esta 913,89 542,12«
Total asset 1,022,35; 631,48
Total debt 734,85t 401,04(
Total liabilities 799,94¢ 463,21¢
Non controlling interest 34,07 15,997
Trust share of equit 119,30« 65,31

The Trust was granted a waiver of the requiremengsovide S-X 3-09 financial statements for itsiiggmethod joint venture investee WRT — One South
State Lender LP (“Lender LP”) by the U.S. Secuwsitiédd Exchange Commission. Lender LP met the dondibf a significant subsidiary under Rule 1-02(w)
of Regulation S-X for 2013 solely due to the trantisg as discussed in Note 4.

Lender LP holds a single loan receivable with & famount of $51,716,000 at December 31, 2013. ddrelbears interest at a rate of 15% per annumiresqu
payments of interest only and matures December.20i& loan was acquired at a discount to face la@dliscount is being accreted into income ovetithe
of the loan.
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The balance sheets of Lender LP are as followth@nsands):

Assets
Loan Receivabl
Other assets, n
Total Asset:

Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Total Liabilities and Equit

The statements of operations for Lender LP arelésfs (in thousands):

Revenue
Interest Income
Management Fee Incon

Expense:
General and Administrativ
Other expense

Other Income and Expen
Other Income

Net Income

Statement of Cash Flows (in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investm
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Cash and cash equivalents, end of !
Non cash investing and financing activ
Distribution to partner

@

December 3:

2013 2012
$42,17: $41,51¢
5,02¢ 7,784
$47,20: $49,30:
$ 23 $ 427
23 427
47,17¢ 48,87¢
$47,20: $49,30:

Year Ended December !

2013 2012 2011 (1

$8,50¢ $7,37¢ $ —

8,50¢ 7,37¢ —

86 127 —

86 127 —

$8,42( $7,251 $ —
Year Ended December !

2013 2012 2011 (1)

$ 87¢ $ 4,967 $ —

$ — $(21,369  $(20,150)

$(5,952) $ 21,47 $ 20,15(

$ — $ 5,07: $ —

$(4,16¢) $ — $ —

The year ended December 31, 2011 represents tivel fcember 23, 2011 through December 31, 20&1pehiod of our ownershi|
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The Trust was granted a waiver of the requiremenpsovide S-X 3-09 financial statements for itsiggmethod joint venture investee RE CDO Managemen
LLC (“RE CDO”) by the U.S. Securities and Exchari@@mmission. RE CDO met the conditions of a sigaificsubsidiary under Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation
S-X for 2013 solely due to the transactions asudised in Note 4.

RE CDO holds a 5.52% interest in (i) a first priprinortgage loan collateralized by land locatedas Vegas, Nevada (the “Land”), which loan beafrsrest
at LIBOR plus 40% with a current pay rate of 7.586 ¢he balance accruing and compounding and whidhah outstanding balance of $21,227,000 at
December 31, 2013, and (ii) a second priority megtgloan collateralized by the Land which beaer@dt at 10% per annum, all of which accrues, amdhw
had an outstanding balance of $30,401,000 at Deeegih 2013. The interest in the loan was acquoe#1,093,000 and RE CDO accounts for this
investment on the cost recovery method.

RE CDO also holds the collateral management agneefoea collateralized debt obligation entity thaids loans and loan securities.
The balance sheets of RE CDO are as follows (ingaods):

December 3.
2013 2012
Assets
Loan Receivabli $1,03: $1,07(C
Other assets, n 96E 2,52
Total Asset: $1,99¢ $3,59:
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 16 $ 36
Other liabilities — —
Total Liabilities 16 36
Equity 1,98: 3,551
Total Liabilities and Equit $1,99¢ $3,59¢

The statements of operations for RE CDO are asvisli(in thousands) :

Year Ended December !

2013 2012 2011 (1
Revenue
Management Fee Incon $ 22¢ $61¢ $ 324
Interest Incom — = —
22¢ _6l¢ 324
Expense:
General and Administrativ 29C 354 164
Other expense 1,45¢ 12¢ 67
1,74¢ 48< 231
Other Income and Expen
Gain on sale of asse 8,94( — —
Net Income $7,417 $13E $ 93
Statement of Cash Flows (in thousands)
Year Ended December :
2013 2012 2011 (1)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ @ $ 292 $ 11¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investm $ 8,94( $(1,099) $(2,525)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi $(8,997) $ 83C $ 2,50(
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 63 $ 122 $ 94

(1) The year ended December 31, 2011 represents tioel fim June 28, 2011 through December 31, 201l period of our ownershi
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The Trust was granted a waiver of the requiremenpsovide S-X 3-09 financial statements for itsiiggmethod joint venture investee SoCal by the.U.S
Securities and Exchange Commission. SoCal metaheitions of a significant subsidiary under Rul®Z(w) of Regulation S-X for 2012 solely due to the
early payoff of its sole investment in a loan as§ke proceeds from the loan payoff have beenibliged, and SoCal was dissolved in 2013.

The balance sheets of SoCal are as follows (inséuuds):

December 31, 20:

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalel $ 11
Real estate debt investme —
Receivables and other ass 2
Total Assets $ 13
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS ' CAPITAL

Other current liabilitie: $ —
Member’ Capital 13
Total Liabilities and Membe’ Capital $ 13
Carrying value of the Tru's investments in the equity investme $ 8

The statements of operations for SoCal are asdsllin thousands):

For the Year Ende
December 31, 20:

Interest, dividends and discount accretion $ 25,12:
Expense:
Interest 7,79¢
General and administratit 424
Other expense 12
Total expense 8,23(
Net income $ 16,89:
Trus’'s share of net incon $ 9,70¢
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9. Lease Intangibles
Lease intangibles consisted of the following at&weber 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

December 3: December 3:
2013 2012
Lease intangible $ 75,75! $ 65,22
Less: Accumulated amortizatit (25,88 (27,480
Lease intangibles, n $ 49,86¢ $ 37,74
Below market lease $  4,15¢ $ 7,80¢
Less: Accumulated amortizati (1,760 (5,559
Below market leases, n $ 2,39¢ $ 2,25t
Amortization related to deferred leasing costs aliemext five years is a follows (in thousands):
Estimated Net Amortization
In-Place Leases, Leasing Net Decrease (Increase) to Rental
Commissions and Income Related to Above and Bel
Tenant Relationshig Market Lease
2014 $ 8,95¢ $ 34
2015 6,77¢ 36¢
2016 6,62¢ 40z
2017 6,39( 464
2018 4,55( 452
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10. Debt

Mortgage Loans Payable

The Trust had outstanding mortgage loans payald#4,933,000 and $280,576,000 at December 31, 20d 2012, respectively. The mortgage loan
payments of principal and interest are generally monthly, quarterly or semi-annually and are ¢etklized by applicable real estate of the Trust.

The Trust's mortgage loans payable at Decembe2@13 and 2012 are summarized as follows (in thalsan

Location of Collater:

Memphis, TN
Lisle, IL (3)
Chicago, IL
Chicago, IL
Houston, TX
New York, NY
Philadelphia, P#
Greensboro, N(
Phoenix, AZ
San Pedro, C/
Stamford, CT
Houston, TX
Cerritos, CA
Lisle, IL
Orlando, FL
Plantation, FL

Oklahoma City, Ok

Meriden, CT (8]
Churchill, PA
Amherst, NY (9)

Maturity

Spread Over

LIBOR/Prime (1

Aug 201¢
Oct 2014
Apr 2015
Mar 201¢
Apr 2016
May 201¢
May 201¢
Aug 201¢
Oct 201¢€
Oct 201€
Oct 201€
Oct 201€
Jan 2017
Mar 2017
Jul 2017
Apr 2018
Feb 202:
Oct 202z
Aug 202¢
N/A

Libor + 2.5% (2)
Libor + 2.5% (4)

Libor + 2.5% (5)
Libor + 2.(% (6)

Libor + 2.(% (7)
Libor + 2.(% (7)
Libor + 2.0% (7)
Libor + 2.(% (7)

Interest Rate at

December 31, 20:

3.0(%
2.67%
5.5(%
5.7%%
6.01%
3.5(%
2.5(%
6.22%
2.6%
2.6%
2.6%
2.6%
5.0
5.55%
6.4(%
6.48%
5.7(%
3.95%
3.5(%
N/A

December 3: December 3:
2013 2012
$ 13,12¢ $ 13,40¢
5,752 5,752
8,57¢ 8,70(
19,85¢ 20,20(
47,20: 52,05:
51,95( 51,98
42,44( —
14,73¢ 15,13¢
24,39( —
12,19¢ —
48,78( —
64,63t —
23,14 23,18«
5,47( 5,54:
36,98: 37,58(
10,68¢ 10,81:
9,961 —
— 21,00(
5,04¢ —
— 15,22¢
$ 444,93: $ 280,57t

(1) The on-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2013 was 0.1671#%.on-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2012 was 0.20¢
(2) Theloan has a LIBOR floor of 0.5% and an interatt cap which caps LIBOR at 0.5
(3) The loan was previously collateralized by threeppréies. Two of the properties were released fitmembortgage upon partial repayment in October 2

(4) The loan has an interest rate cap which caps LIBORA6.

(5) Theloan has a LIBOR floor of 1% and an interett cap which caps LIBOR at 1.75% through May 13,2

(6) The loan has an interest rate swap which effegtifireés LIBOR at 0.5%

(7)  Theloan has an interest rate swap which effegtifireés LIBOR at 0.69%

(8) Theloan is classified as liabilities of assetsltiel sale at December 31, 20.
(9) The loan was fully satisfied on July 26, 20
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Non-Recourse Secured Financings

The Trust’s non-recourse secured financings at Dbee 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are summagzéaliows (in thousands):

Interest Rate

Spread Over December 31 December 3: December 3!
Collatera Maturity LIBOR/Prime 2013 2013 2012
Hotel Wales Loai Oct 201« LIBOR plus 1.2'% (1) 4.25% $ 14,00( $ 14,00(
San Marbeya Loa Jan 201 — 4.8% 15,15( 15,15(

$  29,15( $ 29,15(

(1) Theloan has a LIBOR floor of 3¢

Recourse Secured Financings

In November 2012, the Trust obtained a $25,0001680 which is secured by the Queensridge loanvabi. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
recourse secured financing has a carrying vald® @ind $23,770,000, respectively, bears interestaie of LIBOR plus 4.0% and matures on Noverber
2014.

Notes Payable

In conjunction with the loan modification on theoperty located in Cerritos, California the Trusfsed a $14,500,000 B Note that bears interest at
6.6996% per annum and requires monthly paymerapmfoximately $12,000 with the balance of the gdérccruing. The loan modification agreement
provides for a participation feature whereby thRde can be fully satisfied with proceeds from shée of the property after the Trust receives.i@8®
priority return of capital, during a specified tirperiod as defined in the loan modification docutnAs of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the carryaigesof
the participating B Note was $942,000 and $876,6&pectively, which approximates fair value. Tiguits used in determining the estimated fair vafube
Trust's Notes Payable are categorized as Leveti3atair value hierarchy.

On October 15, 2012, 5400 Westheimer LP, an eintityhich the Trust holds an indirect interest exedwa note payable in the amount of $1,600,000. The
note bears interest at 15% per annum and matur@simher 15, 2022. In the consolidation of the Tr$800,000 of the note payable and the correspgndi
interest expense is eliminated for accounting psepoThe balance of the note as of December 338, &@d 2012 was $800,000 which approximates faire

11. Revolving Line of Credit

The Trust has a revolving line of credit in thenpipal amount of $50,000,000 which bears interektBOR plus 3% and has a maturity date of MarcB®L4
with a one year option to extend the maturity dat®arch 3, 2015. The Trust has elected not toaseiits option to extend. The Trust must complghwi
financial covenants on an ongoing basis. The cavsraxe tested as of the end of each quarter hhgeedresults for the most recently ended quartee. Tirus
was in compliance with its financial covenants uriterevolving line of credit as of December 3013 and 2012.

The revolving credit line is recourse and as ssdffectively collateralized by all of the Trustissets. The Trust has directly pledged certainaumehered
consolidated operating properties and loans rebksas the borrowing base for the revolving linem@dit. The revolving credit line requires monthly
payments of interest only. To the extent that thewants outstanding under the facility are in exadshe borrowing base (as calculated), the Tustquired
to make a principal payment to reduce such exdémsTrust may prepay from time to time without piem or penalty and re-borrow amounts prepaid.

The outstanding balance under the facility wastdDezember 31, 2013 and 2012. The Trust is requirgdy a commitment fee on the unused portiohef t
line, which amounted to approximately $175,000 $b80,000 for years ended December 31, 2013 and 28d/&ctively.
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12.

13.

Senior Notes Payable

In August 2012 the Trust issued a total $86,250¢f06 7.75% Senior Notes due August 2022 (thenf@eNotes”)at an issue price of 100% of par value.
Trust received net proceeds of approximately $&®, after deducting the underwriting discouatsnmissions and offering expenses of $3,022,000.

The Senior Notes mature on August 15, 2022 andibtaest at the rate of 7.75% per year, payabdetgtly in arrears commencing November 15, 2012. Th
Trust may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole o, @t any time or from time to time on or aftargist 15, 2015 at a redemption price in cash equal
100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accamedunpaid interest.

The Senior Notes rank senior to all of the TruBitsre indebtedness that by its terms is expressiprdinate to the Senior Notes; except as disduzsew,
pari passu to all of the existing and future ligiei of the Trust's subsidiaries, including thegtgting Partnership. However, the Senior Noteslvaille
priority with respect to a security interest inramissory note issued by the Operating Partnesstifpa principal balance equal to the outstandialgqice of
the Senior Notes, which will be pari passu withexdisting and future unsecured senior indebtedoitse Operating Partnership.

The indenture relating to the Senior Notes conte@rtain restrictions and requirements, includirgp@asolidated leverage ratio of 60%, covenantgéegyve
corporate existence and comply with laws, and defaiavisions, including defaults for nquayment, breach of representations and warrafigslyency, an
non-performance of covenants. At December 31, 20832012, the Trust was in compliance with allrieibns and requirements.

The following table summarizes future principalagments of mortgage loans payable, senior noteabpaynotes payable and secured financings (not
including fair market value adjustments) as of Dalger 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Yeal Amount
2014 $ 40,89¢
2015 32,07(
2016 312,24(
2017 63,64¢
2018 10,41¢
Thereaftel 99,84
$559,11!

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Trust has exposure to fluctuations in markiefrest rates. The Trust seeks to limit its riskaterest rate fluctuations through match finanangts assets
as well as through hedging transactions. The Tsulgtivative financial instruments are classifisdther assets on the balance sheet.

The Trust’s objective in using interest rate deiixes is to add stability to interest expense anch&nage its exposure to interest rate movemeats. T
accomplish this objective, the Trust primarily usgsrest rate caps and interest rate swaps asfistinterest rate risk management strategytingdo
certain of its variable rate debt instruments.

The effective portion of changes in fair value efidatives designated and that qualify as cash fedges is recorded in accumulated other compreteens
income and is subsequently reclassified into egmin the period that the hedged forecasted trénsaaffects earnings. The ineffective portionteé thange
if any, in fair value of the derivatives is recoged directly in earnings. During the twelve morghsled December 31, 2013, interest rate caps wecetas
hedge the variable cash flows associated withiegis@riable-rate debt. The Trust also assess#s dbdts inception and on an ongoing basis, whetie
hedging instrument is highly effective in achievioffsetting changes in the cash flows attributabléhe hedged item. The Trust has recorded chandas
value related to the effective portion of its ietstrrate hedges designated and qualifying as t@asthédges totaling $(74,000) and $42,000 of coimgmsive
(loss) income for the years ended December 31, a8@3ecember 31, 2012, respectively. The Trushdidecord any hedge ineffectiveness during tlaes
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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The table below presents information about the flFuisterest rate caps and swaps that are inclodetie consolidated balance sheet that were desidjaa
cash flow hedges of interest rate risk at DecerBheP013 (dollars in thousands):

Change in Hedge
Valuations
Included in Other
Comprehensive Incor

Notional Costo
Amount Estimated Fai for the Year Ended
Maturity Strike Rat of Hedge Hedge Value of Hedg December 31, 201
Aug 2014 0.5% $ 13,40¢ $ 22 $ 4) $ 4)
May 2016 0.5% 42,44( — $ (33 (33
Oct 201€ 0.6%% 150,00( — $ (86) (86)
Nov 2017 4.0(% 50,00( 165 $ 18¢€ 21
Nov 2018 5.0(% 50,00( 22C $ 24¢ 28
The table below presents information about the fuisterest rate caps and swaps that were nogdatsd as cash flow hedges at December 31, 2013 (in
thousands):
Change in Cap
Valuations Include
Notional Cost o Estimated Fa in Interest Expens
Amount for the Year Ende
Maturity Strike Rat of Hedge Hedge Value December 31, 201
Oct 2014 1.0(% $ 5,75 $174 $ — $ 1
May 2013 1.25% — 19¢ — —
May 2014 1.7% 51,98: 434 — =

14. Non-controlling Interests

Deer Valley Operating Property On March 29, 2012 the Trust purchased the 3.5%coatrolling ownership interest of its consolidhjeint venture, WRT-
DV LLC, for $400,000. The Trust accounted for thischase as an equity transaction recording tlierdifce in the $192,000 carrying value of the aegli
non-controlling interest and the purchase prica $208,000 reduction in paid-in capital.

One East Erie/Ontario Operating PropertyOn June 1, 2012, the Trust purchased from MaadtiRigss 20% non-controlling interest in FT-OntaHoldings
LLC (“Ontario”) for $5,850,000. The Trust accountied this purchase as an equity transaction rengrtlie difference in the $363,000 carrying valuéhef
acquired non-controlling interest and the purchasz as a $5,487,000 reduction in paid-in capital.

Houston, Texas Operating PropertyDuring the first quarter of 2013, a wholly-owrsgbsidiary of the Trust acquired a quarter-uniitieh partner interest,
representing 1% of Westheimer, for a purchase jofi¢5,000. The Trust accounted for this purclassan equity transaction recording the differendhé
$127,000 carrying value of the acquired non-colit@iinterest and the purchase price as a $52@@@ase in paid-in capital. During the second uart
2013, the wholly-owned subsidiary acquired an aolcl 1% interest in Westheimer for a purchaseepoic$75,000. The Trust accounted for this purclagse
an equity transaction recording the differencenin$126,000 carrying value of the acquired non+odlittg interest and the purchase price as a $81,00
increase in paid-in capital.

During the fourth quarter of 2012, a wholly-ownedbsidiary of the Trust conducted a tender offexdquire additional limited partner units in 5400
Westheimer Holding LP. The Trust acquired an addél 5.5 limited partnership units resulting fradme offer, representing 22% of Westheimer for a pase
price of $1,650,000. The Trust accounted for thicpase as an equity transaction recording theréifice in the $2,812,000 carrying value of the imedu
non-controlling interest and the purchase prica $%,162,000 increase in paid-in capital.
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As of December 31, 2013 the Trust owns 32% of \stér.
The changes in the Trust's ownership interesténstibsidiaries impacted consolidated equity duttiegoeriod shown as follows:

For the Years Ende

December 3.
2013 2012 2011
Net income attributable to Winthrop Realty Tr $28,77¢ $ 24,63 $10,93:
Decrease in Winthop Realty Trust paid in capitqlistinents from non-controlling
interests 102 (4,537%) —
Changes from net income attributable to Winthropl®eTrust and transfers from nor
controlling interest: $28,88: $ 20,09¢ $10,93:

15. Common Shares
The following table sets forth information relatitgysales of Common Shares during the years endedriber 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013:

Number of Shares Issue

Date of Issuance / Repurch Repurchase Price per Sha Type of Offering
January 15, 2009 61,29: $ 10.8¢ DRIP (1)

April 15, 2009 7,462 $ 8.27 DRIP

July 15, 200¢ 37,98: $ 8.72 DRIP

October 15, 200 63,47 $ 8.9¢ DRIP
November 27, 200 4,450,78 $ 9.0t Rights Offering (2
January 15, 201 47,38t $ 12.7:¢ DRIP

April 15, 2010 44,18 $ 13.7¢ DRIP

July 15, 201( 50,43¢ $ 12.1¢ DRIP
September 27, 201 5,750,00 $ 12.25(3) Public Offering
October 15, 201 48,39¢ $ 12.5¢ DRIP

January 15, 201 58,16: $ 11.7¢ DRIP

April 6, 2011 5,750,00 $ 11.25(3) Public Offering
April 15, 2011 59,20° $ 11.6: DRIP

July 15, 2011 61,22« $ 11.3¢ DRIP

October 17, 201 82,25¢ $ 8.4¢ DRIP

January 17, 201 12,46¢ $ 10.67 DRIP

April 16, 2012 12,77¢ $ 10.6(¢ DRIP

July 16, 201- 10,767 $ 11.9¢ DRIP

October 15, 201 11,70« $ 10.2¢ DRIP
December 1, 201 (70,040 $ 10.6( Share Repurcha:
January 13, 201 10,14: $ 11.3( DRIP

April 17, 2013 9,90« $ 12.0¢ DRIP

July 16, 201 9,19: $ 12.9¢ DRIP
September 26, 201 2,750,001 $ 11.45(3) Public Offering
October 16, 201 10,06¢ $ 10.97 DRIP
November 11, 201 92C $ 11.6¢ Option Exercisel

(1) The Trus's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase |

(2) Rights offering pursuant to which each holde€ommon Shares and Series B-1 Preferred Sharelweelcone basic subscription right for every ttaed one-
half Common Shares owned, or in the case of SBrie®referred Shares, one basic subscription figtevery three and one-half Common Shares issuable
upon conversion of such Serie-1 Preferred Share

(3) Before underwriting discoun
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Common Share Options

In May 2007 the Trust's shareholders approved thihkbp Realty Trust 2007 Long Term Incentive Ridre “2007 Plan”) pursuant to which the Trust can
issue options to acquire Common Shares and restréttare awards to its Trustees, directors anduttants. In May 2013 the Trust's shareholders apgalo
anamendment to the 2007 Plan increasing the numtshases issuable under the plan to 1,000,000. B@013 the Trust 600,000 Restricted Shares pur
to the plan amendment. There are 400,000 CommoresSheserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan@sagmber 31, 2013. No stock options have been
issued.

In December 2003 the Board of Trustees grantedd®@tions under a Long Term Incentive Performd?lea to a Trustee who was Interim Chief Executive
Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer. Thetams had an exercise price of $11.15 and expireB@cember 16, 2013. The options were exercised on
November 11, 2013 and 920 Common Shares were isShete were no other options granted, cancellegkpired and in March 2005 the plan terminated.

Discontinued Operations

The Trust’s properties in Deer Valley, Arizona; Mien, Connecticut; Lisle, lllinois; Indianapolisidiana; Lafayette, Louisiana; Andover, Massachss8tt
Louis, Missouri; Knoxville, Tennessee; Memphis, essee; Denton, Texas; and Seabrook, Texas as#ielhss discontinued operations.

The Knoxville, Tennessee location was classifiediasontinued operations as of September 30, 2618ugust 2011 the Trust sold its Knoxville, Tenses
property for net proceeds of $2,151,000 and recbad®58,000 loss of the sale of the property.

In January 2011 the Trust classified the St. Lddissouri property into discontinued operationsFebruary 2011 the Trust entered into an agreetoesdl|
this property, and in December 2011 the property sedd for net proceeds of $1,485,000. The Trusiroked a $450,000 gain on the sale of the property.

In September 2012, the Indianapolis, Indiana anchptés, Tennessee properties were classified asrdisaed operations and sold. The Indianapolisiaima
property was sold for net proceeds of $1,071,06€r ahtisfaction of the debt. The Trust record&845,000 gain on the sale of the property. The Mes)p
Tennessee property was sold on September 28, a6d2he Trust recorded a $698,000 impairment chaftget by $592,000 of settlement income which is
included in discontinued operations for the yeateshDecember 31, 2012.

In March 2013 the Andover, Massachusetts propeay elassified as discontinued operations and $blel property was sold for net proceeds of $11,588,0
and the Trust recorded a $2,775,000 gain on tleecfahe property.

In June 2013 the Deer Valley, Arizona and Dentaxab properties were classified as discontinuecatipaes. The Deer Valley, Arizona property was sold
June 2013 for net proceeds of $19,585,000 andrilngt Tecorded a $6,745,000 gain on the sale giribygerty.

The Trust recorded an $824,000 impairment chargh@Denton, Texas property in 2012 as a reswdtafange to the anticipated holding period of this
property. The Trust recorded an additional $154&gfairment charge for this property in June 2043 aesult of the purchase contract. The propeaty w
sold in July 2013 and the Trust received net prdseé $1,703,000.

In August 2013, the Seabrook, Texas property wassified as discontinued operations. The propeaty sold in August 2013 for net proceeds of $3,202,0
and the Trust recorded a $1,428,000 gain on tleec$ahe property.

In September 2013, the Trust’'s 701 Arboretum priydecated in Lisle, lllinois was classified asabstinued operations. The Trust had previously néexd a
$3,000,000 impairment charge on this property ih128s a result of continued declines in occupahiog. Trust recorded an additional $2,750,000 impaitm
charge in 2013 as a result of the purchase conffhetproperty was sold in December 2013 for necgeds of $2,351,000 and the Trust recorded a 38,0
gain on the sale.

The Meriden, Connecticut property was classifiediasontinued operations as of December 31, 20j8ir8hase and sale contract was signed for a gross
sales price of $27,500,000 and the Trust receiveshaefundable deposit of $500,000. The sale of thegnty was consummated on February 26, 2014. .
transfer of the debt, the Trust received net prdseé $5,106,000 on the sale of the property.
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Results for discontinued operations for the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as ®liovthousands):

2013 2012 2011
Revenue: $ 4,552 $ 8,222 $ 9,05¢
Operating expenst (2,65%) (3,949 (4,150
Depreciation and amortizatic (1,469 (2,947 (2,850
Interest expens (86¢) (1,467) (2,020
Impairment los: (2,909 (1,522) (3,000
Gain on sale of asse 11,00 94kt 392
Settlement incom — 592 —
Gain on extinguishment of de — — 2,91¢
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic $ 7,661 $ (11§ $ 34¢

Federal and State Income Taxe

The Trust has made no provision for regular cureemteferred federal income taxes and no defetteed s1come taxes have been provided for on this bzs
the Trust operates in a manner intended to enatdeontinue to qualify as a real estate investrtreist under Sections 856-860 of the Code. Inmiale
qualify as a REIT, the Trust is generally requieadh year to distribute to its shareholders at B@g% of its taxable income (excluding any net tdgain).
The Trust intends to comply with the foregoing mioim dividend requirements. As of December 31, 2612 Trust has net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $4,830,000 which will expire in 2023w Trust does not expect to utilize any of theaperating loss carryforwards to offset 2013 tdsab
income. The Trust treats certain items of inconeexpense differently in determining net incomeorégd for financial and tax purposes.

The Trust's capital loss carryforwards of $31,69D,@re not available in certain states and loeaslitvhere the Trust has an obligation to pay incaxes.
The Trust’s capital loss carryforwards will expirem 2014 through 2015. In addition, certain staed localities disallow state income taxes ascuctéon
and exclude interest income from United Stategyakitns when calculating taxable income. Federdistate tax calculations can differ due to diffgrin
recognition of net operating losses. Accordinghg Trust has recorded $247,000, $234,000 and $30 $hGstate and local taxes for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Both of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares and S€rieferred Shares were fully redeemed in 2011.
The 2011 cash dividends per Series B-1 PreferradeShr an individual shareholder’s income tax psgs were as follows:

Capital Gain Nontaxable Total Dividend:
Ordinary Dividend 15% Rate Distributior Paid
2011 $ 1.3C $ — $ — $ 1.3C

The 2011 cash dividends per Series C PreferreceSbaan individual shareholder’s income tax pugsowere as follows:

Capital Gain Nontaxable Total Dividend:
Ordinary Dividend 15% Rate Distributior Paid
2011 $ 1.3C $ — $ — $ 1.3C
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The 2013 and 2012 cash dividends per Series Driredf€hare for an individual shareholder’s incomepurposes were as follows:

Capital Gain Nontaxable Total Dividend:

Ordinary Dividend 15% Rate Distributior Paid
2013 $ 2.31 $ = $ o $ 2.31
2012 2.31 — — 2.31

The 2013, 2012 and 2011 cash dividends per ComrhareSor an individual shareholder’s income taxppses were as follows:

Capital Gain Nontaxable Total Dividend:

Ordinary Dividend 15% Rate Distributior Paid
2013 $ 0.6% $ — $ — $ 0.6t
2012 0.4¢ — — 0.4¢
2011 0.6¢ — — 0.6¢

The following table reconciles GAAP net incomeihtitable to the Trust to taxable income (in thoasan

For the Years Ended December

2013 2012 2011

Net income(loss) attributable to Winthrop Realtydt $ 28,77¢ $24,63: $ 10,93:
Book/Tax differences from depreciation and amotiiraexpenst 9,56: 5,297 4,58¢
Book/Tax differences of accretion of disco (4,127 (8,339 (13,409
Book/Tax differences of unrealized ga (73) (6,929 (2,78¢)
Book/Tax differences on gains/losses from capitaigaction: (14,849 (1,87¢) (5,84%)
Book/Tax differences on Preferred She — — 1,42¢
Book/Tax differences for impairment loss 2,90¢ 3,26( 7,60(
Book/Tax differences on investments in unconsoéidgoint venture: (17,880 4,131 31,63«
Other book/tax differences, r 4,19¢ (8,787 (76€)
Book/Tax differences on dividend incor — (452) (371
Book/Tax differences of market discot — 14,06 13,25(
Taxable incom $ 8,517 $25,01¢ $ 46,26¢

Commitments and Contingencie:

The Trust is involved from time to time in litigati on various matters, including disputes with tesa@nd disputes arising out of agreements to psehbr
sell properties. Given the nature of the Trust'sibess activities, these lawsuits are consideretin®to the conduct of its business. The resudinyf
particular lawsuit cannot be predicted becaustef/ery nature of litigation, the litigation proseand its adversarial nature, and the jury systéma.Trust
does not expect that the liabilities, if any, thegty ultimately result from such legal actions Wwilve a material adverse effect on its financiabldton or
results of operations.

In addition to the initial purchase price of cantians and operating properties and initial inwestts in equity investments, the Trust has futungling
commitments which total approximately $71,092,00December 31, 2013. The Trust also has groune leasmmitments of $1,405,000, $1,463,000,
$1,592,000, $1,656,000, $1,791,000 and $107,627%@00e years ended December 31, 2014, 2015, 2, 2018 and thereafter, respectively.

See Note 20 - related-party transactions for detailpotential fees payable to our Advisor.
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In 2011 the Trust was conveyed title to the landastying the Churchill, Pennsylvania property. Ptithe conveyance of the land, a Phase Il enmental
study was performed. The study found that thereewertain contaminants at the property all of whieie within permitted ranges. In addition, givea t
nature and use of the property currently and irptst, it is possible that additional contaminationld occur which could require remediation. Thest
believes that based on applicable law and existgrgements any such remediation costs would begpensibility of a prior owner or tenant.

Relatec-Party Transactions
FUR Advisors

The activities of the Trust are administered by FAtRisors LLC (“FUR Advisors”) pursuant to the tesrof the Advisory Agreement between the Trust and
FUR Advisors. FUR Advisors is controlled by andtjzdly owned by the executive officers of the TruRtrsuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement,
FUR Advisors is responsible for providing asset agament services to the Trust and coordinating thihTrust’s shareholder transfer agent and prgpert
managers. FUR Advisors is entitled to receive & lmagnagement fee. In addition, FUR Advisors oafiifiate is also entitled to receive property and
construction management fees subject to the appobtiae Independent Trustees of the Trust.

The following table sets forth the fees and reirsbuarents paid by the Trust for the years ended Deee81, 2013, 2012 and 2011 to FUR Advisors and
Winthrop Management (in thousands):

For the Years Ende

December 31, 20: December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
Base Asset Management Fee (1) $ 9,28¢ $ 8,95: $ 7,69(
Property Management F 1,22¢ 724 537
Construction Management F 397 12¢ 1
$ 10,91: $ 9,80¢ $ 8,22¢

The base asset management fee paid by theforukird party equity contributions amounted 08,000, $139,000 and $49,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respecti

At December 31, 2013, $2,423,000 payable to FURiskds and $408,000 payable to Winthrop Managemenewcluded in related party fees payable.

Base Asset Management FeEUR Advisors is entitled to receive a base managefee of 1.5% of equity as defined in the Adviséigreement and in
certain instances, a termination fee and/or amiioe fee in accordance with the terms of the AdmisAgreement. Additionally, FUR Advisors receivefee
equal to 0.25% of any equity contributions by uitiated third parties to a venture managed by thesl

Incentive Fee / Supplemental Feln-ertain circumstances, FUR Advisors is entitledeceive an incentive fee and/or a supplemeatal f

The incentive fee is equal to 20% of any amounéslable for distribution in excess of the threshaldount and is only payable at such time, if at(glwhen
holders of our Common Shares receive aggregatéatids above the threshold amount or (ii) upon taation of the Advisory Agreement if the net valde o
our assets exceeds the threshold amount baseémuubhrent market values and appraisals. Thdtésncentive fee is not payable annually but ohlsuzh
time, if at all, as shareholders have receivedddinds in excess of the threshold amount (set a,$38,000 on December 31, 2012 plus the issuance for
any equity interests in the Trust issued from dter danuary 1, 2013 plus an annual return theegpral to the greater of (x) 4% or (y) the 5 yea8.U.
Treasury Yield plus 2.5% (such return, the “GroWwtttor”) less any dividends paid from and aftetuday 1, 2013). The incentive fee will also be pdgédb
the Advisory Agreement is terminated, other tharcBuse (as defined) by us or with cause by ouiigsdyand if on the date of termination the netieadf
the Trust's assets exceeds the threshold amoulieéémber 31, 2013 the threshold amount requirée wistributed before any incentive fee would be
payable to FUR Advisors was $563,966,000, which eqasvalent to $15.75 per diluted Common Share.

With respect to the supplemental fee, it is onlygte if there is (i) a termination of the Advisakgreement for any reason other than for causdétised)
by us or with cause by our Advisor, (ii) a dispwsitof all or substantially all of our assets, iiij &n election by us to orderly liquidate our etss The
supplemental fee, if payable, is equal to the teskg) the base
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management fee paid to our Advisor for the pricelts® month period or (i) either (x) in the caseadErmination of the Advisory Agreement, 20% a th
positive difference, if any between (A) the appediset asset value of our assets at the datenoiniaiion and (B) the threshold amount less $104(¥81) or

(y) in the case of a disposition or liquidation%20f any dividends paid on account of our Commoar&hat such time as the threshold amount is reidoce
$104,980,000, which will be achieved at such timaggregate distributions of approximately $12.82@ommon Share in excess of the Growth Factor have
been paid. For example, if the Trust had beendiafeid at January 1, 2014, the supplemental feednmly have been payable if total dividends of
approximately $12.82 per Common Share had been gaitithen only until the total supplemental feiel peould have equaled $9,289,000 (the base
management fee for calendar 2013), which amountdiaeiachieved when total dividends paid per ComBioare equaled approximately $14.12.

Property Management and Construction Managem#tiinthrop Management, an affiliate of FUR Advisorglahe Trust's executive officers, assumed
property management responsibilities for variowspprties owned by the Trust. Winthrop Managemesgives a property management fee and construction
management fee pursuant to the terms of individu@erty management agreements. Construction mareagdees are capitalized in accordance with
GAAP.

Winthrop Management

Winthrop Management, an affiliate of FUR Advisorgldahe Trust’'s executive officers, assumed propmdpagement responsibilities for various properties
owned by the Trust pursuant to the terms of indiglgproperty management agreements.

Other Transactions

On October 4, 2012 the Trust purchased from aficaéfiof FUR Advisors for $75,000 a 100% membershiprest in the entity that holds fee simple tidex
Class B office building located in Cerritos, Catii@.

Restricted Share Grants

On February 1, 2013 the Board approved the issuain®@0,000 shares of Restricted Common Sharess{tieReed Shares”) to the Trust's Advisor, 500,000 o
which were subject to the approval of the sharedsltb the increase in the number of shares issugiddler the 2007 Plan. The initial 100,000 Reslict
Shares were issued on February 28, 2013. At the2ag013 annual shareholders meeting the incieag®res issuable under the SOP from 100,000 to
1,000,000 was approved by the requisite numbenarfeholders and the remaining 500,000 shares w&ued on May 28, 2013. The Restricted Shares are
subject to forfeiture through December 31, 201&dpx in limited circumstances, if the holder of Restricted Shares does not remain in continuous
employment with FUR Advisors or its affiliate thigluDecember 31, 2017 (the “Forfeiture Period”) céltheir rights to the Restricted Shares and the
associated dividends held in escrow will be foeféitDividends will be paid on the issued RestriGédres in conjunction with dividends on Commonr&ha
not issued under the 2007 Plan. However, the mtipiof the Restricted Shares will only receiveddinds as if the shares vested quarterly over dinfeifure
Period, with the remaining dividends to be placgd escrow and paid to the holders at the expimaifdhe Forfeiture Period.

Until the awards are no longer subject to forfafithe Trust measures stock-based compensationsxpeeach reporting date for any changes ivéie

and recognizes the expense prorated for the pasfitite requisite service period completed. Acamgtyi, the Trust recognized $899,000 in non-cash
compensation expense for the year ended Decembp2033. As of December 31, 2013 7,500 Restrictaateéthhad been forfeited. As of December 31, 2013
there was $5,648,000 of unrecognized compensatistnassociated with the 592,500 shares subjeotfiitiire.
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22. Future Minimum Lease Payments
Future minimum lease payments scheduled to bevexteinder non-cancellable operating leases amla®/$é (amounts in thousands):

Yeal Amount
2014 $ 49,68(
2015 46,99
2016 42,42¢
2017 39,74(
2018 33,09¢
Thereatftel 127,49t
$339,43:

Spectra Energy represented more than 10% of treerbagal revenues of the Trust for the year endexkBiber 31, 2013 contributing approximately 12.1%.
This tenant represented approximately 16.7% ofdta rentable square footage of the consolidapeataiing portfolio.

Spectra Energy represented more than 10% of treerbagal revenues of the Trust for the year endexkBber 31, 2012 contributing approximately 19.7%.
This tenant represented approximately 17.5% ofdts rentable square footage of the consolidapettaiing portfolio.

Spectra Energy represented more than 10% of treerbagal revenues of the Trust for the year endexkBber 31, 2011 contributing approximately 21.8%.
This tenant represented approximately 14.5% ofdts rentable square footage of the consolidapettaiing portfolio.

These revenues are reported in the operating giepéusiness segment.

23. Reportable Segment:

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBlI)dance on segment reporting establishes stanftarttee way that public business enterprises report
information about reportable segments in finansialements and requires that those enterprises megpected financial information about reportadBgment
in financial reports issued to shareholders.

Based on the Trust’'s method of internal reportingnagement determined that is has three repogeablaents: (i) the ownership of operating properties
(i) the origination and acquisition of loans arebtisecurities secured directly or indirectly byneoercial and multi-family real property — collealy, loan
assets; and (iii) the ownership of equity and delsurities in other REITs — REIT securities. Theoamting policies of the segments are identicahtse
described in Note 2.

The operating properties segment includes all®fTitust’'s wholly and partially owned operating pedjes. The loan assets segment includes all ofithst's
activities related to real estate loans includmeyk receivable, loan securities and equity investsin loan related entities. The REIT securiiegment
includes all of the Trust's activities related e townership of securities in other publicly tradeal estate companies. In addition to its thresriass
segments, the Trust reports non-segment specf@rie and expense under corporate income (expense).
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The following table summarizes the Trust's assgteeportable segment and capital expenditures ieduor the Trust's operating properties for tharge
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
Assets
Operating propertie $ 845,69! $ 562,82:
Loan asset 147,70:. 239,53:
REIT securities — 19,69
Corporate
Cash and cash equivale! 112,51. 97,68:
Restricted cas 18¢€ —
Accounts receivable and prepa 542 33€
Deferred financing cos 2,64t 3,09t
Discontinued operatior 23,03¢ —
Total Assets $ 1,132,322 $ 923,16:
Capital Expenditures
Operating Propertie $ 3,897 $ 12,41°
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The Trust defines net operating income for eacimseg presented as all items of income and expdresglg derived from or incurred by each business
segment before depreciation, amortization andéstezxpense. Interest on cash reserves, generatlanidistrative expenses and other non-segmenifispec
income and expense items are reported under céegame (expense). The following table presersisramary of revenues from operating properties) loa
assets and REIT securities and expenses incurreddiysegment for the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2011 (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Operating Properties
Rents and reimbursemel $61,10: $ 44,21 $ 35,84¢
Operating expenst¢ (20,729 (13,619 (12,43))
Real estate taxe (5,87¢) (3,679 (3,54)
Equity in earnings of preferred equity investmenEenway- Wateridge 612 — —
Equity in (loss) income of Marc Realty investme (284) 33 (775)
Equity in (loss) income of Sealy Northwest Atla (469) (38¢) 4,30¢
Equity in loss of Sealy Airpark Nashvil — — (1,039
Equity in loss of Sealy Newmark — (2,81)) (2,93¢)
Equity in income of Vintag 9,17¢ 4,60: 11z
Equity in income of WR-Elad 1,31¢ 90z —
Equity in income of Mento 84 46 —
Equity in income of 701 Seventh Aven 3,42¢ — —
Equity in income of Fenwa- Wateridge 182 — —
Equity of loss in Atrium Mal (90) — —
Equity in income of -Il Co-invest — 232 —
Operating properties operating inco 48,45 29,54t 19,54¢
Depreciation and amortization expel 20,44 (15,119 (10,699
Interest expens (14,204 (12,349 (11,05))
Impairment loss on investments in real es — (1,73 (4,600
Impairment loss on Marc Realty equity investme (7,687%) — (15,769
Impairment loss on Sealy equity investme — — (5,299
(Loss) gain on extinguishment of de — (121 6,43¢
Settlement (expense) incor (411 — 5,86¢
Gain on consolidation of proper — — 81¢
Operating properties net income (lo 46,59/ 21¢ (14,736
Loan Assets
Interest incom 14,33¢ 11,73¢ 11,07:
Discount accretiol 4,121 8,33¢ 13,40:
Equity in earnings of preferred equity investmenbarc Realty — — 33¢€
Equity in earnings of Le-Win Concord — — 25¢
Equity in earnings of Concord Debt Holdir 3,07z 422 3,21¢
Equity in earnings of CDH CDt 1,03: 1,71¢ 48C
Equity in earnings (loss) of Concord Debt Holdird}s 64 (45€) —
Equity in earnings (loss) of CDH CDO ( 4,92¢ (997) —
Equity in earnings of ROIC Riversic — 70€ 93¢
Equity in (loss) earnings of ROIC Lakeside Ee (25) (42) 664
Equity in earnings of 46th Street Goth. — — 621
Equity in earnings of Sofite — — 2,17
Equity in earnings of RE CDO Managem 3,70¢ 67 46
Equity in (loss) earnings of Socal Office Loan Raid 2 9,70¢ 27z
Equity in earnings of WR-Stamford 93C 76¢ —
Equity in earnings of 10 Metrote« 3,28¢ 33t —
Realized gain on sale of loan securities carriddinvalue — 614 —
Unrealized gain on loan securities carried atvfalue 21F 447 2,73¢
Loan assets operating incol 35,66 33,35¢ 36,22(
General and administrative expel (46) (121) (75)
Interest expens (1,899¢) (1,499 (850)
Provision for loss on loans receival (34¢) — —
Loan assets net incor 33,36¢ 31,74( 35,29¢
REIT Securities
Dividends — 1,05¢ 984
Gain on sale of securities carried at fair ve 742 41 12z
Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi (142) 6,91¢€ 2,78¢
REIT securities net incon 60C 8,011 3,89¢
Net Income from segments before corporate incomexgense) 80,56: 39,97( 24,45
Reconciliations to GAAP Net Incom
Corporate Income (Expense
Interest and other incon 37¢ 69¢ 1,17¢
General and administratiy (4,317%) (3,409 (3,452
Related Party Fee (9,28¢) (8,957%) (7,690
Transaction cosi (1,88%) (421) (519
Interest expens (7,310 (3,159 (2,099
Loss on redemption of Serie-1 Preferred Share — — (1200)
Federal, state and local ta> (430) (232) (37¢€)
Income from continuing operations before -controlling interes 16,82: 24,50: 11,39¢

Non-controlling interes 4,29( 247 (8149




Income from continuing operations attributable to Winthrop Realty Trust $21,11; $ 24,74¢ $ 10,58
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Variable Interest Entities
Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

Consolidated variable interest entities are thoseresthe Trust is the primary beneficiary of aalle interest entity. The primary beneficiary is frarty that
has a controlling financial interest in the VIE,iathis defined by the entity having both of thddaling characteristics: 1) the power to direct slotivities
that, when taken together, most significantly imighe VIE’'s economic performance, and 2) the obiligato absorb losses or the right to receive éterns
from the VIE that could potentially be significantthe VIE. The Trust's office properties in Cessf California and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania are
consolidated VIEs. The Trust has no future fundibtigation to these entities, and the Trust’'s maximexposure to loss is limited to its invested &pi

Variable Interest Entities Not Consolidated

Equity Method and Preferred Equity Investmerifie Trust has reviewed its various equity metaid preferred equity investments and identifieénin
investments for which the Trust holds a variabteriest in a VIE. Of these nine interests therdiaesinvestments for which the underlying entitaégs not
have sufficient equity at risk to permit them tadice their activities without additional subordé@thfinancial support. There are four additiondites for
which the VIE assessment was primarily based offattethat the voting rights of the entity holdare not proportional to their obligations to absexpected
losses and rights to receive residual returnsefeabal entities. These unconsolidated joint vexgtare those where the Trust is not the primarefigary of
VIE.

Loans Receivable and Loan Securitif$ie Trust has reviewed its loans receivable and $egurities and four of these assets have beatifidd as variable
interests in a VIE. Of these four assets therdtaee investments for which the equity investménmisk at the borrowing entity level is not congiele
sufficient for the entity to finance its activitissthout additional subordinated financial suppdtiere is one loan asset for which the VIE assessmas
made primarily based on the fact that the equitddrs or the underlying investment lack the righteceive returns due to the lender’s participatimerest.

Certain loans receivable and loan securities whate been determined to be VIEs are performingsasseeting their debt service requirements, aad th
borrowers hold title to the collateral. In thessasthe borrower holds legal title to the realtestallateral and has the power to direct the #igs/that most
significantly impact the economic performance @& YHE, including management and leasing activitieghe event of default under these loans thetTonly
has protective rights and has the risk to absa@$el® only to the extent of its loan investment. Atreower has been determined to be the primargfimary
for these performing assets.

The Trust has determined that it does not currdrgiye the power to direct the activities of thetuegs collateralizing any of its loans receivabid &ban
securities. For this reason, management beliewstttioes not control, nor is it the primary béciafy of these ventures. Accordingly, the Trust@amts for
these investments under the guidance for loansvedile and real estate debt investments.
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25.

26.

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is an unaudited condensed summaih®fesults of operations by quarter for the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Trust bslieve
all adjustments (consisting of normal recurringraats) necessary to present fairly such interimiaed results in conformity with accounting pririeip
generally accepted in the United States of Améraae been included.

(In thousands, except |-share dates Quarters Ende

March 31 June 3( September & December 3
2013
Revenue: $19,03¢ $19,04( $ 18,25¢ $ 23,227
Net income (loss) attributable to Winthrop Realtyst $13,74¢ $ 8,374 $ 11,72¢ $ (5,070
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sh $10,94: $ 5,49( $ 8,83t $ (7,946
Per shart
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharescgl $ 0.3: $ 0.17 $ 0.27 $ (0.2
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharestetil $ 0.3¢ $ 0.17 $ 0.27 $ (0.29
2012
Revenue: $15,82" $16,75: $ 15,20/ $ 17,55:
Net income (loss) attributable to Winthrop Realtyst $ 8,25¢ $ 3,35¢ $ 15,10¢ $ (2,089
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Shi $ 7,32¢ $ 571 $ 12,32: $ (4,879
Per shart
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharescl $ 0.2Z $ 0.0Z $ 0.37 $ (0.1
Net income (loss) applicable to Common Sharestetil $ 0.2Z $ 0.0Z $ 0.37 $ (0.1%

Subsequent Event:

All relevant events or transactions that occuriiéel ahe balance sheet date not otherwise disclasddncorporated in the Notes to the Consolid&iadncial
Statements are described below.

Playa Vista Loan Modification©n January 10, 2014 the mezzanine loan agreemerameanded to increase the principal balance byp$400 and to
increase the interest rate by 1.5% to a rate &5P6.per annum. The Trust's share of the increasad damount was $2,000,000. To date, the Trusturatetl
$1,375,000.

Newbury Apartments Property Sale — On February22@4 the Trust sold its interest in the Newburyr&pants property located in Meriden, Connecticut fo
gross sale proceeds of $27,500,000.

Freed Management Loan OriginatierOn March 5, 2014 the Trust originated a $15,500 @ezzanine loan secured by a majority of thetdichpartnership
interests in entities controlled by Freed Managdrtteat indirectly hold Edens Plaza and Norridge @mms, two retail shopping centers in Chicago, dikn
The Trust also acquired the general partnershgést in each of the above entities for an aggeggate of $500,000. The loan bears interest aORBlus
12% per annum (increasing by 100 basis pointsé¢h eatended term), requires payments of curreatést at a rate of 10% per annum (increasing dya5%
points each year) and has a three-year term, gubjeso, one-year extensions. Upon satisfactiothefloan, the Trust will be entitled to a partatipn
interest equal to the greater of (i) a 14.5% IRRr@asing to 15.5% IRR after the initial term) &id30% (increasing by 40% after the initial teemd 50%
after the first extended term) of the value of ineperties in excess of $115,000,000. As additionBiateral for the loan, the Trust acquired a pkedf the
interests held by Freed Management and its aéfia the Sullivan Center and Mentor Retail vergure
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ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed under the supervisiahwith the participation of our management, inalgdour Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finandfficer,
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls pratedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeExiehange Act) as of December 31, 2013. Based cm su
evaluation, the Trust's Chief Executive Officer aDiief Financial Officer have concluded that, athefend of such period, the Trust's disclosurdrctsmand
procedures are effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Trust’'s management is responsible for estabtistind maintaining adequate internal control dvemncial reporting. The Trust's internal contrelen financial
reporting is a process which was designed undesupervision of the Trust’s principal executives anincipal financial officers to provide reasorebbksurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdithe preparation of the Trust's financial statetedor external reporting purposes in accordandk WiS. generally
accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to thater@nce of records that, in reasonable detailirately and fairly
reflect transactions and dispositions of assetsjige reasonable assurances that transactions@meled as necessary to permit preparation ofdiabstatements i
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptiimgiples, and that receipts and expendituredeirg made only in accordance with authorizatidns o
management and the Trustees of the Trust; andgeeeasonable assurance regarding prevention elytiietection of unauthorized acquisition, useispaksition
of the Trust's assets that could have a materiattbn our financial statements.

As of December 31, 2013 the Trust’'s managementugiad an assessment of the effectiveness of tra’'Jinternal control over financial reporting. Theust's
management used the criteria set forth by the Cét@endf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwam@ssion (COSO) (1992) in “Internal Control - Intetgd
Framework.” Based on that assessment and thosei@ritve concluded that our internal control owearcial reporting is effective as of December2&113.

The effectiveness of the Trust’s internal contnaicfinancial reporting as of December 31, 20130&en audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, aperdient
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtieport appearing in this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporthg

There has been no change in our internal contred fivancial reporting during our last fiscal qearended December 31, 2013 that has materiallgtafie or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intekcantrol over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION
None
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PART Il

ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

Information about Trustees of the Trust may be tbunder the caption “Election of Trustees” presefieour Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, expected to be held in May 2014, wiie refer to as the Proxy Statement. That infoionads incorporated herein by reference.

The information in the Proxy Statement under thetioas “Executive Officers” “Section 16(a) BeneéitiOwnership Reporting Compliance”, “Audit
Committee Financial Expert” and “Code of Ethicsegented in the Proxy Statement is incorporatedrhbyereference.

ITEM 11 — EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thgtioas “Compensation of Trustees” and “Executiverpensation” presented in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12 — SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTE RS

The information in the Proxy Statement under thgtioa “Security Ownership of Trustees, Officers ®@ithers” presented in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13 — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information in the Proxy Statement under thetioa “Certain Transactions and Relationships” dndependence of Trustees” presented in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information in the Proxy Statement under thetioas “Compensation of Trustees” and “Principatégntant Fees and Services” presented in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 — EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement 8edules.

(1) Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfingn on page 64 of Iltem 8.

Management's Report on Internal Controls over FererReporting on page 118 of Item 9A.

Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2013Gk®Ion page 66 of Item 8.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compseleemcome - For the Years Ended December 31,, 20112 and 2011 on page 67 of ltem 8.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equityrtfte Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and @@page 68 of Item 8.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - For thesyEeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 on F&gasd 71 of Item 8.
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements on pagesré2gh 117 of Item 8.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule Il - Real Estate and Accumulated Deptiecia

Schedule IV — Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

All Schedules, other than 1l and IV, are omittaed,the information is not required or is otherviisaished.

The Trust’s unconsolidated joint ventures, 701 88v8/RT Investors LLC and Vintage Housing Holdindg<C, meet the definition of a significant subsidiamder
S-X 210.1-02(w) and financial statements for therstities will be filed as an amendment to this FAOFK.

(b) Exhibits.
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index on pagé &2e filed as a part of this Report or incorpatdig reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(t)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amertiedTrust has duly caused this report to be sigmeits
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

Dated: March 17, 2014 By: /s/ Michael L. Ashner
Michael L. Ashnel
Chief Executive Office

Dated: March 17, 201 By: /s/ John A. Garill
John A. Garilli
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xagd Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the Regigtand in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Michael L. Ashner Trustee March 17, 2014
/sl Carolyn Tiffany Trustee March 17, 201«
Arthur Blasberg, Ji
Howard Goldber¢
Thomas McWilliams
Lee Seidlel
Steven Zalkinc Trustee March 17, 201«

By: /s/ Carolyn Tiffany
Carolyn Tiffany,
as attorne-in fact
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
SCHEDULE I
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At December 31, 2013
(amounts in thousands)

Initial Cost to Registrant

Cost
capitalized/(impaired)
subsequent to
acquisition

As of December 31, 201

Accumulated

Mortgage Building and Land/Building and Building and Date
Description Location  Location Encumbrances Land Improvements Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Acquired
Office Orlando  FL $ 3698 8 — $ 17,24¢ $ 42 $ — $ 17,29C $ 17,29 $  3,94¢ 11/200:¢
Office Plantation FL 10,68¢ — 8,91¢ 4,02( 4,00( 8,93¢ 12,93¢ 2,03¢ 11/200¢
Office Chicago IL 19,85¢ — 23,63t 2,87% — 26,51( 26,51( 5,792 10/200¢
Office Amherst  NY — 1,591 18,02] 1,377 2,57 18,42: 20,99t 3,887  5/200¢
Office South
Burlington VT — — 3,09¢ 30¢ — 3,40¢ 3,40¢ 671 12/200¢
Office Chicago IL 8,57¢ 1,14¢ 9,98¢ 5,631 1,14¢ 15,62(  16,76¢ 2,517 10/200°
Office Houston TX 47,20 7,07t 62,46¢ — 7,07¢ 62,46¢ 69,54: 14,18¢  1/200¢
Office Lisle IL 5,752 3,77¢ 16,37: 2,461 3,77¢ 18,83: 22,60¢ 3,77¢  2/200¢
Office Lisle IL 5,47( 78C 2,80 68¢ 78C 3,49 4,272 635 2/200¢
Office Englew ooc CO — 2,58( 5,402 3,341 2,58( 8,75( 11,33( 1,341 11/201(
Office Englew ooc CO — 1,82¢ 5,612 717 1,82¢ 6,32¢ 8,15¢ 875 12/201(
Office New York NY 51,95( — 52,77¢ 7,46¢ — 60,24" 60,24 3,74C 11/201:
Office Cerritos CA 23,14 4,11¢ 16,19( 3,41¢ 4,11¢ 18,68: 22,79¢ 911 10/201:
Office Philadelphii PA 42,44(  18,62° 23,34( 2,21 18,62% 25,55: 44,17¢ 78¢  2/201:
252,05  41,51¢ 265,87t 34,56¢ 46,50 294,53t 341,03 45,10:
Retail Atlanta GA — — 4,63 (2,675 — 1,95¢ 1,95¢ 14z 11/200¢
Retail Louisville KY — — 2,722 377 37< 2,72¢ 3,09¢ 62z 11/200-
Retail Greensborc NC — — 3,797 4 — 3,801 3,801 867 11/200-
— — 11,15: (2,299 37< 8,48t 8,85¢ 1,631
Other Jacksonville FL — 2,16¢ 8,68¢ 2,241 2,16¢ 10,92t  13,09: 2,541 11/200:
Other Churchill  PA 5,04¢ — 23,83¢ (24,129 — 9,70¢ 9,70% 4,17¢ 11/200¢
Other Memphis TN 13,12¢ 3,08( 17,48¢ 882 3,08( 18,36¢ 21,44¢ 1,15C 4/201:
Other Greensborc NC 14,73¢ 1,961 16,48: 132 1,961 16,61« 18,57¢ 76€ 11/201:
Other Oklahome
City OK 9,967 1,32¢ 13,35 — 1,32¢ 13,35: 14,67¢ 7C 10/201<
Other Phoenix  AZ 24,39( 1,05: 38,48¢ — 1,05z 38,48t  39,54: 181 10/201:
Other San Pedrc CA 12,19¢ 3,87¢ 15,952 — 3,87¢ 15,95 19,83: 98 10/201:
Other Stamford CT 48,78( 5,70 73,46( — 5,707 73,46( 79,16’ 315 10/201<
Other Houston TX 64,63t 16,16 88,76¢ — 16,16° 88,76¢ 104,93¢ 417 10/201:
192,87t  35,34: 296,50! (10,879 35,34: 285,63 320,97: 9,71¢
Total $ 44493 $76,86( $ 573,53 $ 21,40 $82,21¢ $ 588,65: $670,86¢ $ 56,44¢

(1) Buildings are depreciated over 30-40 yesiding improvements are depreciated over 5-20/€eenant improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life or the term of the rethtease

The aggregate cost in the properties for federalrire tax

purposes was approximate $ 576,49¢
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SCHEDULE I
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
(amounts in thousands)

The following is a reconciliation of real estateets and accumulated depreciation:

Year Ended December &

2013 2012 2011
Real Estate
Balance at beginning of peric $421,98t¢ $363,83: $308,49¢
Additions during the perioc
Other acquisition 258,15: 59,31: —
Improvements, et 6,16t 12,417 11,96:
Other addition: 41,967 — 52,77¢
Deductions during this perio
Cost of real estate sc (27,979 (629) —
Other deduction — (2€) —
Asset impairment (2,799 (2,567) (7,600
Disposal of fully amortized asse (1,082 (297) (16€)
Transfer of discontinued operatic (25,557) (10,059 (1,639
Balance at end of peric $670,86¢ $421,98¢ $363,83:
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of peric $ 51,55 $ 44,55¢ $ 36,23
Additions charged to operating expen 13,67: 11,207 8,64«
Disposal of propertie (4,94¢) — —
Transfer (to) from discontinued operations, nel (2,74¢) (3,919 (152)
Disposal of fully amortized asse (1,087) (297) (16¢)
Balance at end of peric $ 56,44¢ $ 51,55: $ 44 55¢

@
Louis, Missouri property was placed into disconddwperations
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Schedule IV
Mortgage Loans on Real Estate
December 31, 2013
(Amounts in thousands)

Outstandin

Contractual Periodic Senior Carrying
Type of Loal Location Interest Rat Maturity Date ~ Payment Term Liens Face Valui Principal Amount (1
Whole Loan New York, NY  LIBOR +4.0% 10/05/14 InterestOnl $ — $ 20,00 $ 20,00 $ 20,10:
Whole Loan Tempe, AZ 5.88% 01/01/15 Amortizing — 29,03t 28,40: 28,547
Whole Loan (6 Philadelphia, P4 7.7% 02/01/16 Interest Onl 42,44( 36,17: 24,82 —
Whole Loan (2 Various Various Various  Interest Onl — 6,08¢ 6,08¢ 6,13¢€
B-Note New York, NY 7.19% 07/11/16  Amortizing 243,37( 10,87: 10,20¢ 10,25(
B-Note Other (3 Various Various Various Amortizing 218,36t 15,47¢ 12,927 12,997
Mezzanine Other (4) (¢ Various Various Various Interest Onl 38,88: 4,98¢ 3,32¢ 2,992
Mezzanine Playa Vista, C/# LIBOR 4.25% 01/23/15 Interest Onl 80,30( 10,25( 10,25( 10,327
Corporate Loal n/a 15.00% 10/31/24  Interest Onl: — 9,75( 9,75( 9,75(
$142,63. $125,77(  $101,10(

(1) Carrying amount of loans receivable includes aatinterest of $501 at December 31, 2C

(2) Lineitem includes whole loans each of which repnédess than 3% of the total Loan Ass

(3) Lineitem includes three-Notes each of which represent less than 3% ofota lLoan Asset:s

(4) Line item includes four mezzanine loans each ottvinépresent less than 3% of the total Loan As
(5) Line item includes one loan with a face valfi®b486 which is on non-accrual status. The tpiteicipal amount of loans subject to delinquentrpemts is

$348.
(6) This loan is eliminated in consolidatic

Reconciliation of Mortgage Loans on Real Estate:

The following table reconciles Mortgage Loans fug years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Balance at January 1
Purchase and advanc
Interest (received) accrued, |
Repayments / Sale Proce
Loan accretior
Discount accretion received in ce
Reclass from loan securiti
Reclass from equity investmet
Reclass to equity investmet
Elimination of 1515 Market Street in consolidat
Reclass to preferred investme
Provision for loss on loans receival
Balance at December .

2013 2012 2011
$211,25( $114,33 $110,39:
22,31 175,55( 67,61¢
(514) 51€ (37
(75,407 (68,829 (70,289
4,121 8,33¢ 13,40:
(37 (15,720 (13,290
— — 662
— — 12,54¢
— (2,939 (4,650
(60,279 — —
— — (2,029
(34€) — —
$101,10( $211,25( $114,33:
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Exhibit
3.1

10.1

Descriptior

Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trusit gy 21, 2009 - Incorporated by reference toiBi!3.1 to the Trusg Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended June 30, 2C

By-laws of Winthrop Realty Trust as amended anthted on November 3, 2009 - Incorporated by refaréa Exhibit 3.1 to the Trust's
Current Report on Formr-K filed November 6, 200¢

Amendment to B-laws- Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to thest's Current Report on Forn-K filed March 6, 2010

Form of certificate for Common Shares of Benefitidérest. Incorporated by reference to Exhibittd.the Trust's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

Agreement of Limited Partnership of WRT Realty |.ghated as of January 1, 2005 - Incorporated lareate to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Trus''s Current Report on Forn-K filed January 4, 200t

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement of Limited PartnersifigVRT Realty, L.P., dated as of December 1, 2606rporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Tru’s Form 1-K filed March 15, 2012

Amendment No. 2 to Agreement of Limited PartnersifigVRT Realty, L.P., dated as of November 28, 201ricorporated by referen
to the Tru<'s Current Report on Forn-K filed November 28, 201:

Amendment No. 3 to Agreement of Limited PartnergfigVRT Realty, L.P., dated as of March 23, 2018cerporated by reference to
the Trus's Current Report on Forn-K filed March 23, 2012

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designatior®s2§% Series D Cumulative Redeemable PreferrereSlod Beneficial Interest -
Incorporated by reference to the T's Current Report on Forn-K filed March 23, 2012

Form of Specimen Certificate for the 9.25% SerigSuUnulative Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beakfitderest - Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Tri's Form A filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarNovember 23, 201

Indenture, dated August 6, 2012 between the TnfTae Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee — In@vgied by reference to the
Exhibit 4.1 to the Tru’s Current Report on Forn-K filed August 9, 2012

First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 15, 2b&&veen the Trust and the Bank of New York Mellastrustee and collateral ag
- Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of thesI's Current Report on Forn-K filed August 15, 2012

Stock Purchase Agreement between the Trust andIRuHRtors, LLC, dated as of November 26, 2003 uidiclg Annex A thereto, beir
the list of Conditions to the Offer - Incorporategireference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Trust's Curr@eport on Form & filed December !
2003.
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10.2

103

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.1¢(

10.1:

10.1:

21
23.1
232
233
23.4
235
24

Third Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement dagdatuary 1, 2013, between the Trust, WRT RealBy bnd FUR Advisors LL(-
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thes's Current Report on Forn-K filed February 4, 201:

Exclusivity Services Agreement between the Trustiichael L. Ashner - Incorporated by referenc&xhibit 10.4 to the Trust's Current Report
on Form K filed December 1, 200:

Amendment No. 1 to Exclusivity Agreement, dated &ober 7, 2005 - Incorporated by reference to ExAili7 to the Trust's Current Report on
Form ¢-K filed November 10, 200¢

Amendment No. 2 to Exclusivity Agreement, datedrbiaby 1, 201 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thes’s Current Report o
Form &K filed February 4, 201z

Covenant Agreement between the Trust and FUR lokgdtLC - Incorporated by reference to ExhibitSlth the Trust's Current Report on Form
8-K filed December 1, 200:

Amendment No. 1 to Covenant Agreement, dated Fepory&2013 - Incorporated by reference to Exhibif3lto the Trust's Current Report on
Form ¢K filed February 4, 201%

Winthrop Realty Trust 2007 Long Term Stock Inceat®lar- Incorporated by reference to the T's Definitive Proxy Statement on Sched
14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Comrissin March 30, 200°

Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated asm@h\a2011, between WRT Realty L.P. and KeyBar&tjdthal Association. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Trs Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C

Guaranty from Winthrop Realty Trust and certaiit®fSubsidiaries in favor of KeyBank, National Asistion. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Tru's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C

Restricted Share Award Agreement, dated Februa2@13, between Winthrop Realty Trust and MichaeAshner- Incorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.4 to the Tru’s Current Report on Forn-K filed February 4, 201

Restricted Share Award Agreement, dated Februa2@13, between Winthrop Realty Trust and Carolyifafi - Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Tru’s Current Report on Forn-K filed February 4, 201:

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Independent Registered Accounting - PricewaterhouseCoopers LI

Consent of Independent Registered Accounting - KPMG LLP (Concord Debt Holdings LLC financial

Consent of Independent Registered Accounting - KPMG LLP (CDH CDO LLC financials

Consent of Independent Registered Accounting + Frazier & Deeter, LLC (Sealy Northwest Atlanta Rars LP financials
Consent of Independent Registered Accounting - Frazier & Deeter, LLC (Sealy Newmarket General fenghip financials

Power of Attorney
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31

32

99.1

99.2

99.3

99.4
101.INS
101.SCF
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

Certifications Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saet-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sagk-Oxley Act of 2002
Consolidated Financial Statements of Concord DeibdiHgs LLC
Consolidated Financial Statements of CDH CDO 1

Consolidated Financial Statements of Sealy Northw#anta Partners L
Consolidated Financial Statements of Sealy Newnt&kaeral Partnersh
XBRL Report Instance Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Presentation Linkbase Documg

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

* filed herewith
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Entity

1515 Market Street Acquisition Partners,
1515 Market Street Partners,
44€-High Line LLC

450 SPE Manager, In

5400 Westheimer Court LL

5400 Westheimer Holding L.I
5400 Westheimer Limited Partners|
701 Seventh JV LL(

701 Seventh Partners LL

701 Seventh WRT Investor LL
Ambherst Outparcel LL(

Atrium Mall LLC

CDH CDO LLC

Cerritos Corporate Partners i
Cerritos Corporate Tower, L.
CNL-AB LLC

Concord Debt Holdings LL(
FT-5400 Unit LLC

FT-5400 Westheimer LL(
FT-Amherst Property LLC
FT-Amherst Property Manager LL
FT-Churchill Lender LLC
FT-Churchill Property L.P
FT-FIN Acquisition LLC

FT-FIN GP LLC

FT-Florida Property LLC
FT-Florida Property Manager LL
FT-KRG (Atlanta) LLC

FT-KRG (Greensboro) LL(
FT-KRG (Louisville) LLC
FT-KRG Property L.P

FT-Marc Class B LLC

FT-Marc Loan LLC

FT-Ontario Holdings LLC
FT-Ontario Parking LLC
FT-Ontario Parking Manager LL
FT-Ontario Property LLC
FT-Ontario Property Manager LL
FT-Orlando Property LL(
FT-Orlando Property Manager LL
FT-WD Property LLC

MARC 1701 E. Woodfield Roa
MARC Brooks Building LLC
MARC Highpoint Plaza LLC
Mentor Retail, L.L.C

Newbury Apartments LL(
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State of Formatic
Delaware
Delaware
New York
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New York
Delaware
Delaware
California
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
lllinois
Illinois
Illinois
lllinois
Delaware



Newbury Properties DE LL(

RE CDO Management LL!

RS Summit Pointe Apartments LL
Sealy Northwest Atlanta Partners, |
SRE Weststate LL(

Stamford SM LLC

Vintage Housing Holdings, LL¢

WRP Management LL(

WRT One South State Lender L
WRT Realty L.P

WRT TRS Management Cor
WRT-1050 Corporetum Holdings LL
WRT-1050 Corporetum Property LL
WRT-1050 Corporetum Property Manager L
WRT-1515 Limited Partnershi
WRT-1515 MS L.P

WRT-1515 MSA GP LLC

WRT-1515 Property GP LL(
WRT-550/650 Corporetum Property LL
WRT-550/650 Corporetum Property Manager L
WRT-701 Arboretum Property LL!
WRT-701 Arboretum Property Manager Ll
WRT-701 Seventh LL(C

WRT-Atlanta LLC

WRT-CDH Il LLC

WRT-CDO LLC

WRT-Concord LLC
WRT-Crossroads LL(
WRT-Crossroads One LL!
WRT-Elad One South State Equity L
WRT-Fenway Wateridge LL(
WRT-High Line LLC
WRT-Highgrove Property GP LL¢
WRT-Highgrove Property L.F
WRT-Lake Brandt Property LL(
WRT-Lender (Disney) LLC
WRT-Lender (Pinnacle) LL(
WRT-Lender (Poipu) LLC
WRT-Lender (Wailea) LLC
WRT-Lender LLC

WRT-LP LLC

WRT-Marc RC Holding LLC
WRT-Marc RC LLC

WRT-Mentor Equity LLC
WRT-Monroe Property GP LL¢
WRT-Monroe Property L.F
WRT-Mosaic Property GP LL(
WRT-Mosaic Property L.F

WRT-NV ST Holdings LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
lllinois

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



WRT-Property Holdings LLC
WRT-PV Lender LLC
WRT-Queensridge Lender LL
WRT-Rockwell LLC

WRT-ROIC Lakeside Eagle LLt¢
WRT-San Pedro Property GP LL
WRT-San Pedro Property L.
WRT-South Burlington Property LL!
WRT-South Burlington Property Manager L1
WRT-Springing Member LLC
WRT-ST LLC

WRT-Stamford LLC

WRT-State Street Lender LL
WRT-Summit Pointe LLC
WRT-VHH LLC

WRT-Waterford Place LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B83927) and Form S-3D (No. 333-161664) of Winghro
Realty Trust and subsidiaries of our report dateddid 17, 2014, relating to the consolidated finalhsiatements, financial statement schedules,tendffectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, whielppears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 17, 2014



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B83927) and Form S-3D (No. 333-161664) of Winghro
Realty Trust and subsidiaries of our report dateddd 7, 2012, with respect to the consolidateeéstants of operations, changes in membeapital, and cash flov

of Concord Debt Holdings LLC for the year ended &aber 31, 2011, which report appears in the DeceBhe2013 annual report on Form 10-K of Winthrop
Realty Trust.

/s| KPMG LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 17, 2014



Exhibit 23.%

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B83927) and Form S-3D (No. 333-161664) of Winghro
Realty Trust and subsidiaries of our report dateddd 11, 2014, with respect to the consolidatedriza sheet of CDH CDO LLC and subsidiaries as aceb#er

31, 2013 and the related consolidated statememtpeshitions, changes in members’ capital, and ftasts for the year then ended, which report appeatise
December 31, 2013 annual report on Form 10-K oftkiYop Realty Trust.

/s| KPMG LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 17, 2014



Exhibit 23.¢
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B83927), and Form S-3D (No. 333-161664) of Wioghr

Realty Trust and subsidiaries of our report dateddd 9, 2012, relating to the financial statemefitSealy Northwest Atlanta Partners, LP which app@&athis
Form 10-K.

/sl Frazier & Deeter, LL(
Atlanta, Georgie
March 14, 201



Exhibit 23.£
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B83927) and Form S-3D (No. 333-161664) of Winghro

Realty Trust and subsidiaries of our report dateddd 14, 2014, relating to the financial statemenSealy Newmarket General Partnership which appieahis
Form 10-K.

/sl Frazier & Deeter, LLC
Atlanta, Georgia
March 14, 2014



Exhibit 24

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNIO N
REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS)

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Power of Attorney — Trustees

Each of the undersigned, a Trustee of Winthrop tiR@alst (formerly known as First Union Real EstBgity and Mortgage Investments), an Ohio business
trust (the “Trust”), which anticipates filing withe Securities and Exchange Commission, Washin§td,, under the provisions of the Securities ExggaAct of
1934, an Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiseedr ended December 31, 2013 (the “Form 10-K”) sduereby constitute and appoint Carolyn Tiffanythviull
power of substitution and resubstitution, as a#gno sign for him and in his name the Form 10-K any and all amendments and exhibits theretogagdnd all
other documents to be filed with the Securities BRchange Commission pertaining to the Form 10-# full power and authority to do and perform amd all
acts and things whatsoever required or necessé® tione in the premises, as fully to all intems purposes as he could do if personally presengbly ratifying
and approving the acts of said attorney and anly substitute.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasurep set his hand thisday March, 2014.

/sl Arthur Blasberg, Jr.
Arthur Blasberg, Ji

/s/ Howard Goldberg
Howard Goldber¢

/sl Thomas McWilliams
Thomas McWilliams

/sl Lee Seidler
Lee Seidlel

/sl Steven Zalkind
Steven Zalkinc




Exhibit 31.1

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Michael L. Ashner, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKVinthrop Realty Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadominy untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make thenséats
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with respehbt period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as definékahange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internatrobover financial reporting (as defined in ExcharAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regist and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaites designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is midewn to us by others within those entities, pattrly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faialhreporting to be designed under our supervision
to provide reasonable assurance regarding thditedizof financial reporting and the preparatioffimancial statements for external purposes iroed&nce with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbib report our conclusions about the effectessno
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrileoéthe period covered by this report based ch swaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirfgat occurred during the registrant’'s most recesuidi
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettie case of an annual report) that has materiffthgted, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlaave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial reporting, the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons periog the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cormtvel financial reporting which are reasonablyliike
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability toaet; process, summarize and report financial inédiom; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014 /s/ Michael L. Ashner
Michael L. Ashne
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST
FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

CERTIFICATIONS
I, John A. Garrilli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKVinthrop Realty Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadominy untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make thenséats
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with respehbt period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as definékahange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internatrobover financial reporting (as defined in ExcharAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regist and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaites designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is midewn to us by others within those entities, pattrly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faialhreporting to be designed under our supervision
to provide reasonable assurance regarding thditedizof financial reporting and the preparatioffimancial statements for external purposes iroed&nce with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbib report our conclusions about the effectessno
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrileoéthe period covered by this report based ch swaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirfgat occurred during the registrant’'s most recesuidi
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettie case of an annual report) that has materiffthgted, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlaave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial reporting, the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons periog the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cormtvel financial reporting which are reasonablyliike
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability toaet; process, summarize and report financial inédiom; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014 /s/ John A. Garrilli
John A. Garrilli
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of WinthropalRg Trust (formerly known as First Union Real Est&quity and Mortgage Investments (the “Company”
on Form 10-K for the annual period ended DecemlbePB13, as filed with the Securities and Exchabgmmission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the
undersigned, in the capacities and on the dateateti below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S&2tion 1350, as adopted, pursuant to SectiorBe
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) the Repdty ftomplies with the requirements of Section 13{a}5(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of4t2®d
(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 17, 2014 /sl Michael L. Ashner

Michael L. Ashnel
Chief Executive Office

Date: March 17, 201 /s/ John A. Garill

John A. Garrilli
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 99.1
CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

(With Independent Audito’ Report Thereon
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Members
Concord Debt Holdings LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséaits of operations, changes in members’ capitdl cash flows of Concord Debt Holdings LLC and
subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, ZlHdse consolidated financial statements are tiponsibility of the Compang management. Our responsibilit
to express an opinion on these consolidated fiahstatements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with geneeadtepted auditing standards in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require that we planpanfbrm
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouherttte financial statements are free of materiatatement. An audit includes consideration adrimal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designiaditeprocedures that are appropriate in the cir¢antes, but not for the purpose of expressing araspon the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting. Accordingly, we express mels opinion. An audit includes examining, on a besis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the accounting principles used and sigmifiestimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfineancial statement presentation. We believe tha audit provides a reasonable basis for ouniopi

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagaferred to above present fairly, in all mategapects, the results of operations and castsflivConcord Debt
Holdings LLC and subsidiaries for the year endedddsber 31, 2011 in conformity with U.S. generaligepted accounting principles.

The accompanying consolidated balance sheetssagimber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidaagehsents of operations, memberapital and cash flows f
the years then ended were not audited by us amddiegly, we do not express an opinion on them.

/s KPMG LLP

March 7, 201z



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2013 (unaudited) and 2012 (unaudited)

(In thousands)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalel

Restricted cas

Real estate debt investments carried at fair v
Securities carried at fair vall

Interest and other receivabl

Other asset

Total asset
Liabilities and Capital

Liabilities:
Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Member!’ capital

Total liabilities and capite

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtérsients.

2013
unauditet

$ 894

13,29¢
3,41z
72

22

$17,69¢

58
58
17,631
817,69

©~

2012
unauditet

$ 741

43
43

©~




CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 20 u(lired) and 2011

(In thousands)

2013 2012 2011
unauditer unauditer
Income:
Interest incomt $1,470  $1,74¢ $3,47:
Fees received from related pa 41 48 57
Total income 1,51« 1,79¢ 3,562¢
Expenses
Interest — — 72€
General and administratiy 294 625 44¢
Total expense 294 622 1,17¢
Net investment incom 1,22( 1,17¢ 2,35¢
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) from investsi
Realized gain on sale of securities carried ataline — — 37C
Realized loss on sale of securities carried atliie 3 (7) (1,127)
Realized gain on sale of real estate debt invessreamried at fair valu 85¢ — 8,63¢
Realized loss on sale of real estate debt investhwanried at fair valu (4,560 — (1,537)
Realized loss on repurchase agreement carried abfae — — (2,850
Realized loss on revolving credit facility carriatfair value — — (845)
Total realized (loss) gain from investments, (3,710 (7 3,65(
Unrealized gain (loss) on real estate debt investrarried at fair valu 46€ (1,409 3,66¢€
Unrealized loss on securities carried at fair vi — (544 (273
Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi 3,38¢ — —
Total unrealized gain (loss) from investments, 3,851 (1,949 3,39:
Total realized and unrealized gain (loss) from streents 141 (1,955 7,04:
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic 1,361 (782) 9,39¢
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operatic — 13 36
Total income from discontinued operatic — 13 36
Net income (loss $1361 $ (769 $9,43¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtérsients.



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members't@api
Years ended December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 20Eu(lired) and 2011

(In thousands)

Inland
Lexington American
WRT Concord Suk
Concord CDH |

LLC LLC LLC Total
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 9,09C 9,09( 8,962 27,14:
Net income 3,14¢ 3,14¢ 3,14« 9,43¢
Distribution (3,216) (3,21¢) (2,900 (9,337)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 9,01¢ 9,01¢ 9,20¢€ 27,24«
Net loss (512 — (257) (769)
Transfer of equit 8,66¢ (8,66¢) — —
Distribution (492 (35)) (280 (1,129
Balance at December 31, 2012 (unaudi 16,68: — 8,66¢ 25,35:
Net income 907 — 454 1,361
Distribution (6,144 — (2,939 (9,077%)
Balance at December 31, 2013 (unaudi $11,44¢ — 6,19( 17,63¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtérsients.



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 20Eu(lired) and 2011

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to @shcprovided by operating activitie
Unrealized (gain) loss on real estate debt investroerried at fair valu
Realized gain on sale of securities carried atvaline
Realized loss on sale of securities carried atlire
Realized loss on sale of real estate debt investhoanried at fair valu
Realized gain on sale of real estate debt invedtosrned at fair valu
Realized loss on repurchase agreement carried abfae
Realized loss on credit facility carried at faituea
Unrealized (gain) loss on securities carried atvfaiue
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Interest and other receivabl
Other asset
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Proceeds from sale of securities carried at fdires
Repayment of real estate debt investm
Proceeds from sale of real estate debt investn
Advances on real estate debt investm
Purchase of real estate debt investm
Change in restricted ca

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi

Cash flows from financing activitie
Repayments on repurchase agreem
Repayment of revolving credit facili
Distribution to member

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

2013 2012 2011
unauditer unaudite:
$ 1,361 $ (769 $ 9,43
(46€) 1,40¢ (3,666€)
— — (370
3 7 1,125
4,56( — 1,532
(859 — (8,632
— — 1,85(C
— — 84t
(3,385 544 277
31 @) 28¢
7 78 15
15 (107 (185)
1,27: 1,15¢ 2,50¢
— — 37C
4 3 —
7,79¢ — 56,67
(845) (1,272 —
— — (11,000
1,00( (1,000 2,214
7,951 (2,269 48,25¢
— — (6,137)
— — (35,599
(9,07%) (1,123 (9,339
(9,077) (1,129 (51,069
152 (2,23)) (3039
741 2,97¢ 3,281
$ 894 $ 741 $ 2,97¢




CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 20Eu(lired) and 2011

(In thousands)

2013 2012 2011
unaudite unaudite:
Supplemental cash flow informatic
Interest paic $ — $ — $ 691
Supplement disclosure of noncash investing anahéima activities
Debt assumed on sale of real estate investmeairahérket value $ — $ — $56,09(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtérsients.



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

(1) Description of Business and Basis of Presentatic

@)

Formation and Ownershig

Concord Debt Holdings LLC (the Company) is a Delalanited liability company (LLC) that was origithaformed on March 31, 2006
(Formation Date). At its Formation Date, the Compaas owned 50% each by Winthrop Realty Trust (Wimp) and Lexington Master Limited
Partnership (Lexington).

On August 2, 2008 (Recapitalization Date), the Canypwas recapitalized and amended and restated@sgreement to admit Inland American
Concord Sub, LLC (Inland). Inland received a redaiele preferred membership interest in exchangeduar capital invested in the Company.
Concurrently with the admission of Inland as a @nefd member, Lexington and Winthrop contributéa&their interest in the Company to
Lex-Win Concord, LLC (Lex-Win), which was owned 5% Winthrop and 50% by Lexington and Lex-Win wasidnated as the Company’s
managing member.

Winthrop and Lexington funded 100% of their capiammitments of $162,500,000 prior to the Compaagisiission of Inland as a preferred member
and Inland invested $76,000,000 in the Companyrasut of the Company’s recapitalization.

On August 26, 2010 (Reorganization Date or Inceptithe Company was reorganized and its LLC agreemas amended and restated to admit two
new Lexington and Winthrop affiliates as membeesihgton CDH | LLC and WRT-Concord LLC. Concurrgntinland’s existing preferred member
interest was eliminated and Lex-Win was dissolviger & distributed its 100% common member inteieghe Company to the newly admitted
members and Inland equally, resulting in each meraeing an equal 33.3% common member interest wittnd designated as the Company’s
managing member.

As of the Reorganization Date, Winthrop and Lexamgeffectively reduced their 50%/50% common menititerests and Inland exchanged its
preferred member interest for a common memberdateAs a result of the Reorganization, each heldcqual one-thirdommon member interest in t
Company. Income is divided equally among membedsdistributions of operating cash flow, capital ggeds, and quarterly guarantees are made in
accordance with the LLC agreement. The Companyisinees are not required to make any future capitaiributions to the Company. On May 1,
2012, WRT-Concord LLC purchased the equity of Lgiim CDH | LLC and now owns two-thirds of the commmaember interest in the Company.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include toeants of the Company, and its subsidiaries, wareheither wholly owned or controlled by the
Company. The Company identifies entities for wtgohtrol is achieved through means other than thraaging rights (a variable interest entity or
VIE) through the analysis as set forth in ASC &lhsolidation of Variable Interest Entitiesd determines when and which business entergragy,
should consolidate the VIE. In addition, the Compdiscloses information pertaining to such entitigerein the Company is the primary beneficiary
or other entities wherein the Company has a sianifi variable interest. All significant intercomgéaransactions and balances have been eliminated.

7 (Continued



(b)

©

(d)

(e)

®

(9)

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

Use of Estimate:

The preparation of consolidated financial stateséntonformity with accounting principles geneyatcepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) requires management to make estimates audrgtions in determining the reported amounts sétgsand liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efctbnsolidated financial statements and the reghameounts of revenue and expenses during the ieg
period. Significant estimates in the consolidatadricial statements include the valuation of thenGany’s real estate debt investments and
available-for-sale securities and estimates pen@gito credit. Actual results could differ matelyarom those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risl

The Company maintains cash deposits and restrieteld deposits, which balances from time to time;, exaeed federally insured limits. The Comp

believes it mitigates its risk of loss by maintamits cash deposits with major financial instibas. To date, the Company has not experienced any
losses of its cash deposits. Real estate debttineess and available-for-sale securities can p@ténsubject the Company to concentrations of itred
risk. Management of the Company performs ongoiegitevaluations of borrowers and valuations ofréke property and interests that collateralize
the Company’s investments.

Cash and Cash Equivalent

All highly liquid investments with maturities ofree months or less at time of acquisition and dee@balance sheets date are considered to be cash
equivalents. The Company places its cash and cpshadents in major financial institutions.

Restricted Casl

The Company had $1,000,000 of restricted cash BEaember 31, 2012, which is being held in theraép escrow fund (see commitments and
contingencies).

Fair Value Measurement:

The Company has elected the fair value option tasuee the Company’s financial instruments includizey estate debt investments, securities, and
debt outstanding. The fair value of these finanicisiruments is the amount that would be receiveskt! an asset or paid to transfer a liabilitain
orderly transaction between market participanth@measurement date (i.e., the exit price) andggsin the fair value are recorded in earnings as
unrealized gain or loss in the consolidated statgsnef operations.

Real Estate Debt Investmen

Loans are stated at the estimated fair value.dsténcome is recorded on the accrual basis inrdanoe with the terms of the respective loan. Laans
which the accrual of interest has been discontirarediesignated as nonaccrual loans.

8 (Continued



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The Company recognizes interest income on certaiperforming real estate debt investments usingdisb-basis method. The accrual of interest on
loans is discontinued when principal or interegtmpents are past due 90 days or when, in the opisfiomanagement, it is probable it will be unable to
collect contractual principal and interest in tliemal course of business. When loans are placewoaccrual status, all interest previously acctued
not collected is reversed against current peritet@st income. Income on nonaccrual loans is sulesely recognized only to the extent that cash is
received and the loan’s principal balance is deecodidctible.

(h) Memberd Capital

Capital contributions, distributions, and profiteddosses are allocated in accordance with thestefrthe Company’s LLC Agreement.

(i)  Gain on Sale of Loan:

All loans sold to date have been sold without reseuWhen loans are sold, a gain or loss is rezedrb the extent that the sales proceeds plus
unamortized fees and costs exceed or are lesdhbararrying value of the loans. Gains and loseesletermined using the
specific-identification method.

) Income Taxes

The Company is an LLC and is treated as a partipefshU.S. Federal income tax purposes. Accordingb provision or benefit for income taxes is
made in the consolidated financial statements dincable income or loss passes through to, arepizrtable by its members on their respective income
tax returns. However, the Company is required toqeatain state and local entity level taxes whioh expensed as incurred and included in gened
administrative expenses in the consolidated stattswe operations.

(3) Fair Value Measurement

Accounting guidance establishes a fair value measent framework, provides a single definition of falue based on the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or ligband requires expanded disclosure summariziirgvillue measurements.

The accounting guidance establishes a hierarchipfoits used in measuring fair value that maximthesuse of observable inputs and minimizes theotise
unobservable inputs by requiring that the most slad#e input be used when available. Observableténare inputs that the market participants wosklin
pricing the asset or liability based on market ddttained from sources independent of the Compangbservable inputs are inputs that reflect the
Company’s assumptions about the assumptions maaketipants would use in pricing the asset oriliigibased on the best information available ia th
circumstances. The hierarchy is measured in tlenesld based on the reliability of inputs:

Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology aretgd prices (unadjusted) for identical assetsabilities in active markets.

9 (Continued



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology inigwquoted prices for similar assets and liabilitieactive markets, and inputs that are observiablthe
asset or liability, either directly or indirectligr substantially the full term of the financiakinument.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology amehservable and significant to the fair value measent. Valuations derived from other valuation
methodologies, including pricing models, discourtash flow models, and similar techniques, andbased on market, exchange, dealer, or
broker-traded transactions. Level 3 valuationsiipoate certain assumptions and projections tieahat observable in the market and significantgssibnal
judgment in determining the fair value assignesdtich assets or liabilities.

In instances where the determination of the faneyaneasurement is based on inputs from diffeergl$ of the fair value hierarchy, the level in thie value
hierarchy within which the entire fair value measuent falls is based on the lowest level input ihatgnificant to the fair value measurement sneittirety.

(@) Fair Value Option

The fair value option election allows companiegtevocably elect fair value measurement attribdtedcertain financial assets and liabilities. Taie
value option election is permitted on an instrurdgnrinstrument basis at initial recognition for Ireatate debt investments, securities, and debt
outstanding at the Company’s inception and ongdlihg. Company elects the fair value option to miggadivergence between accounting and
economic exposure. Changes in fair value for assetdiabilities for which the election is madevaé recognized in earnings as they occur.

The following is a description of the valuationhe@ues used for investments measured at fair yakievell as the general classification of such
instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy:

(b) Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted C

The Company'’s cash, cash equivalents, and restrieteh are generally classified within Level 1haf fair value hierarchy because they are valued
using quoted market prices, broker or dealer gigutsit or alternative pricing sources with reasoaddbels of price transparency. The types of
instruments valued based on quoted market pricastine markets include most U.S. government stesinvith original maturities less than 90 days
and most money market securities.

(c) Real Estate Debt Investmen

Real estate debt investments are nonpublic investie loan assets collateralized by real estag¢eining the fair value of nonpublic investments
involves a significant degree of management juddrasmo quoted prices exist and such investmeatgemerally very illiquid. Due to the unique
nature of the individual properties collateralizihg Company’s loans, the Company uses the incomearket approach, as deemed appropriate. Fair
value determination through the income approadstisnated through the use of a discounted cashrflodel. In addition to the characteristics of the
underlying loans (including principal, contractirsterest rate, and contractual fees), key inputeéanodel include interest rates, prepayment rates
credit spreads. Fair value estimates from interaklation techniques are then verified, where fssio prices obtained from independent valuation
specialists that use primarily a discounted caslv fhodel using similar inputs for valuation. Restlage debt investments are classified as LeveltBeof
fair value hierarchy since valuation models areedam significant inputs that are unobservablé&énharket.

10 (Continued



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The securities portfolio comprises commercial magtetbacked securities. The Company considers #itabwity of quoted market prices. If quoted
market prices are not available for the specifuséy, the Company may estimate the value of smsttuments using a combination of observed
transaction prices, independent pricing serviced,ralevant broker quotes. Consideration is gieetié nature of the quotes (e.g., indicative anfir
and the relationship of recently evidenced markgvity. Management also performs further analysithe performance of the loans and collateral
underlying the securities, the estimated valudefdollateral supporting such loans and a condideraf local, industry, and broader economic tiend
and factors. Because significant judgment and wrobble market inputs are used in the estimatidhese metrics and the ultimate determination of
fair value, this valuation methodology has beenattarized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Bas

The following tables present for each of the falue hierarchy levels the Company’s assets andlitied that are measured at fair value on a récgrr

basis at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

(d) Securities
(e)
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalel

Restricted cas

Real estate debt investme

Securities

Quoted
prices
in active Significant
markets for
other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets and
liabilities inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(unaudited
$ 894 —

11

— 13,29¢
— 3,412

Balance a

Decembel

2013

894

13,29¢
3,41

(Continued



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

Quoted
prices
in active Significant
markets for
other
identical observable
assets and
liabilities inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivale! $ 741 —
Restricted cas 1,00¢ —
Real estate debt investme — —
Securities — —

12

u

Significant
nobservable

inputs

(Level 3)

(unaudited

23,49;
3C

Balance a

Decembel

2013

741
1,00¢
23,49:
30

(Continued



CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

The following is a reconciliation of the beginniagd ending balances for assets measured at fai eal a recurring basis using significant unobsgeva
inputs (Level 3) during the years ended Decembge2313 and 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Real estate
debt
investments Securities
Fair value, December 31, 20 $ 23,627 581
Total realized and unrealized gains and lossesadied in statements of operatic (1,409 (55))
Repayments of securities, investments, and | (©) —
Advance on real estate debt investm 1,27 —
Fair value, December 31, 2012 (unaudit 23,49: 30
Total realized and unrealized gains and lossesdied in statements of operatic (3,24) 3,38
Repayments of securities, investments, and | 4) —
Advance on real estate debt investmi 84t —
Sale of investments and securil (7,799 —
Fair value, December 31, 2013 (unaudit $ 13,29: 3,412
Change in unrealized gain included in earningdedlto the investments still held
December 31, 2013 (unaudite $ 42¢ 3,38t
Change in unrealized loss included in earningseélto the investments still held at
December 31, 2012 (unaudite $ (1,019 (544)
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The following table presents additional quantitatinformation about assets measured at fair vl Becember 31, 2013 and 2012 on a recurrin
nonrecurring basis for which the Company has etilizevel 3 inputs to determine fair value (dolliarghousands).

December 31, 2013 (unauditec

Unobservable Weighted
Unobservable input
Financial instruments Fair value Valuation technique input value or range average
Real estate debt investme $ 13,294 Discounted cash flo  Discount rat: 7.267% 7.261%
Securities $ 3,41 Discounted cash flo  Discount ratt  62.63% to 73.90¢ 70.(%
December 31, 2012 (unauditec
Unobservable Weighted
Unobservable input
Financial instruments Fair value Valuation technique input value or range average
Real estate debt investme $ 23,49: Discounted cash flo  Discount rat: 7.1%- 8.6% 7.8¢%

(f)  Transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3hef Fair Value Hierarchy
There were no transfers of assets or liabilitids/ben Levels 1, 2, or 3 of the fair value hierardying the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

(4) Real Estate Debt Investment:
Real estate debt investments, consisting of whualed, B-Note participation interests, and mezzaloiaes, are held for investment and are carriddiat
value. B-Notes are junior positions of whole loaviezzanine loans are loans that are subordinaetmventional first mortgage loan, including B &oand

senior to the borrower’s equity in a transactionede loans may be in the form of a junior partidfgginterest in the senior debt. Mezzanine finagehay
take the form of loans collateralized by pledgeswfership interests in entities that directlyradirectly control the real property or subordinaleahs

collateralized by second mortgage liens on thegntgp

The Company’s methodology to fair value these itniesits considers amongst others, the collaterabwvaf the underlying assets. The following table is
summary of the Company’s real estate debt invegsrarDecember 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

2013 (unaudited)

Real estate
debt
investments
at fair value Loan count
Mezzanine loans 13,29 2
Total loans $ 13,29 2

14 (Continued
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

2012 (unaudited)

Real estate
debt
investments
at fair value

$ 10,62:
12,87(

$ 23,49:

B-notes
Mezzanine loan

Total loans

Loan count

3
2

5

The following table sets forth the maturity datesthe Company’s real estate debt investments e¢idber 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 (unauditec

Year of maturity (1)

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018 and thereaftt

Total real estate debt investme

Weighted average maturity is 2.78 years. Theutation of weighted average maturity is basednubh@ remaining initial term and does not take axtoount

Number of
loan asset Principal
maturing balance Fair value
— $ — —
2 12,89 13,29
2 $12,89: 13,29

Percentagt

of total

— %

10C

10(%

any maturity extension period or the ability togmag the investment after a negotialock-out period, which may be available to the borrov

December 31, 2012 (unauditec

Year of maturity (1

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017 and thereaftt

Total real estate debt investme

Weighted average maturity is 2.28 years. The cafimul of weighted average maturity is based uperréimaining initial term and does not take intooaet

Number of

loan asset Principal

maturing balance Fair value
3 $11,89" 10,62:
2 12,89¢ 12,87(
5 $24,79: 23,49:

Percentagt

of total

45%

55

10(%

any maturity extension period or the ability togmg the investment after a negotialock-out period, which may be available to the borrov

15
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The Company considers a loan to be nonperformidgotaces loans on nonaccrual status at such timeaagement determines it is probable that itlveill
unable to collect all amounts due according toctireractual terms of the loan. While on nonaccsttus, based on the Company’s judgment as to
collectibility of principal, loans are either acetad for on a cash basis, where interest incomecisgnized only upon actual receipt of cash, caon
cost-recovery basis, where all cash receipts reducean’s carrying value. As of December 31, 2@ti8,Company had no nonaccrual loans.

Credit Risk Concentrations

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a numlb@oorowers, tenants, or issuers related to the i2my's investments are engaged in similar business
activities or located in the same geographic locesind are similarly affected by changes in econ@onditions. The Company monitors its portfolio to

identify potential concentrations of credit riskhéfCompany’s real estate debt investments cong&ihidvestments collateralized with office buildéngnd

represent 100% of the unpaid principal balancefaindalue of real estate debt investments as aebder 31, 2013 and 2012.

As of December 31, 2013, two loans exceeded 108teoCompany’s assets and for the year ended Deece8hp2013, there were two loans that generated
more than 10% of the Company’s income. The twodae collateralized by office buildings in HonoluHawaii and East Hartford, Connecticut.

As of December 31, 2012, two loans exceeded 108teo€ompany’s assets and for the year ended Dece3hp2012, there were three loans that generated
more than 10% of the Company’s income.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngeald three loans for total proceeds of $7.8 oilliThe Company recognized a net realized los8 3!
million. The Company had recognized an accumulatedalized loss of $0.2 million at the beginnin64.3.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyngald eight loans for total proceeds of $56.7 ionll The Company recognized a net realized gain of
$7.1 million from the sale in 2011. The Company hexbgnized an accumulated unrealized gain of Bllibn at the beginning of 2011.

Securities Carried at Fair Value

The Company has a portfolio of loan securities iheltides three investments at December 31, 20d2@h2. These bonds are marked to fair value on a
recurring basis.
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The cost and fair value of securities at fair vakege as follows (in thousands):

CMBS:
Pool Bonds

Total securities at fair valt

CMBS:
Pool Bonds

Total securities at fair valt

2013 (unaudited)

Unrealized Unrealized
Par Cost basi: gains (losses) Fair value
$15,39( 1,11¢ 3,38t (1,099 3,412
$15,39( 1,11¢ 3,38t (1,092 3,41;

2012 (unaudited)

Unrealized Unrealized
Par Cost basi gains (losses) Fair value
$15,39: 1,122 — (1,097) 3(
$15,39: 1,122 — (1,099 30

The table below shows the fair value of investméntssailable-for-sale securities that have beesniminrealized loss position for less than 12 mentifor
12 months or longer at December 31, 2013 and 281RAd¢usands):

CMBS:
Pool Bonds

Total securitie:

CMBS:
Pool Bonds

Total securitie:

2013 (unaudited)

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses

341: (1,099

341: (1,099

341: (1,099

341: (1,099

2012 (unaudited)

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
$ — — 30 1,09: 3( 1,09:
— — 30 1,092 30 1,092

17
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

The following table presents the amortized costfairdralue of debt securities available for safecbntractual maturity dates as of December 313201
2012 (in thousands).

2013 (unaudited)
Cost Fair value

CMBS-Pool Bonds

Due within 1 yea $ 521 3,04(
After 1 but within 5 year 59¢ 372
Total CMBS- Pool Bonds $1,11¢ 3,41

2012 (unaudited)

Cost Fair value
CMBS-Pool Bonds
Due within 1 yea $ — —
After 1 but within 5 year 1,122 3(
Total CMBS- Pool Bonds $1,122 30

Changes in fair value of securities are reflectethé statements of operations as unrealized gdasses on securities. During the years endedrbeee31,
2013 and 2012, the Company did not sell any séesrit

Changes in fair value of securities are reflectethé statements of operations as unrealized gdasses on securities. During the year ended Dbeee8tl,
2011, the Company sold four securities for a tptateed of $370 thousand. The Company recognined i@alized loss of $757 thousand from the sale in
2011. The Company had recognized an accumulatezhlized loss of $659 thousand at the beginnindafi2

Variable Interest Entities

A reporting entity is required to perform an an&yts determine if its variable interests give damtrolling financial interest in a variable irgst entity (VIE).
The analysis required under ASC 810 identifiespttimary beneficiary of a VIE as the entity havingtbof the following: (1) the power to direct thetigities
of a variable interest entity that most signifidgrtpact the entity’s economic performance andtli2)obligation to absorb losses of the entity twaid
potentially be significant to the VIE or the rigbtreceive benefits from the entity that could ptitly be significant to the VIE. FASB’s accourgiguidance
on consolidation requires a VIE to be consoliddtgdts primary beneficiary.

In addition, a reporting entity must assess whethes an implicit financial responsibility to eme that a VIE operates as designed when detergihinhas
the power to direct the activities of the VIE thadst significantly affect the entity’s economic feemance. FASB requires ongoing reassessments etheh
a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary of . Specifically, the list of reconsideration ev®includes a change in facts and circumstancesawhe
holders of an equity investment at risk as a glogp the power to direct the activities of the tgrttiat most significantly affect the entity’s econic
performance. In addition, a troubled debt-restmictuis now defined as a reconsideration event.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company haéal@state debt investments that were deemed a VIE.

Discontinued Operations

The Company received expense reimbursements faranse and real estate taxes of approximately 03 the year ended December 31, 2012, related to
an operating property held for sale and subsequsalil by the Company’s predecessor prior to thea@amy's inception. The property was collateral on a
loan that the Company’s predecessor obtained thréargclosure and was included in discontinued atg@nrs of Company’s predecessor. Therefore the
Company included this reimbursement as incomesufoditinued operations.

Commitment and Contingencies

In December 2011, Concord Real Estate CDO 2008dl,(the CDO), Cedarwoods CRE CDO I, Ltd., ReselReal Estate Funding CDO 2006-1 Ltd., and
TCG Holdings I LLC (collectively, the Plaintiffshrought an action in New York Supreme Court (tfed tourt in New York) against Galante Holdings;.In
Trimont Real Estate Advisors, Hotspur Resorts Nayatt. Aberdeen Realty Holdings, Ltd., Keycorp Restate Capital Markets, Inc., and Douglas S.
Rohrer (collectively, the Defendants). The actionght to enjoin the sale of the mortgage loaniredato the JW Marriott Hotel in Las Vegas, Nevatte (W
Loan). Both Concord and CDO hold CMBS bonds forahitthe JW Loan is underlying asset.

As a condition to obtaining the injunction, in Janu2012, the New York Appellate Court required the Plaintiffs post a $2,000,000 surety bondhia
regard, one of the Plaintiffs (the Guaranteeingnff§ agreed to guaranty the obligations under sarety bond. The CDO and each of the other Ffaint
entered into an agreement with the Guaranteeirigt®igpursuant to which the CDO agreed to paypits rata share (25%) of any payments required to be
made by the Guaranteeing-Plaintiff to the suretycbissuer as well as 50% of any amounts that tbheotiver co-Plaintiffs were obligated to the extinaty
breached their obligations. Concord, which alsa&al bond in the CMBS that contains the JW Loareeajto provide cash collateral for the CDO’s
obligations to the guaranteeing Plaintiff. Accoglin such amount is characterized as restricted§uAs of December 31, 2013, this litigation hasrbe
resolved in favor of the plaintiffs and the redwit funds released and returned to the Company.
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December 31, 2013 (unaudited), 2012 (unauditedp@id

(9) Relatec-Party Transactions

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arld #61Company received advancing agent fees front@d CDO in the amount of $41,000, $48,000
and $57,000, respectively.

CDH-CDO LLC, a related party to the Company, asslithe equity interest in the property secured By@million real estate debt investments held ley th
Company. The investments were scheduled to matuhely 2013. The property was sold on August 29320

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compadiyesal estate debt investments and securitias @ffiliate of Winthrop for net proceeds of $290D0
which was also the carrying value at the time &.sa

(10) Subsequent Event:

In connection with the preparation of the consaéddinancial statements, the Company evaluatesesutent events through March 7, 2012, which was the
date the consolidated financial statements wergeda to be issued.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Members
CDH CDO LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated dinhstatements of CDH CDO LLC and its subsidignisich comprise the consolidated balance sheet as
December 31, 2013, and the related consolidatéehs¢ats of operations, changes in members’ capital,cash flows for the year then ended, and ta&etknotes
to the consolidated financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statments

Management is responsible for the preparation aingbfesentation of these consolidated financatkestents in accordance with U.S. generally acceptedunting
principles; this includes the design, implementatand maintenance of internal control relevarth&opreparation and fair presentation of consaiddinancial
statements that are free from material misstatermérether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on aiit. AMe conducted our audit in accordance with éngli
standards generally accepted in the United Stdtdmerica. Those standards require that we planpanfbrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurapoetavhethe
the consolidated financial statements are free fraaterial misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtaidiaevidence about the amounts and disclosurteisonsolidated financial statements. The proesdselected
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including thesssient of the risks of material misstatementettnsolidated financial statements, whether ddieta or
error. In making those risk assessments, the authitwsiders internal control relevant to the efdifyreparation and fair presentation of the consméd financial
statements in order to design audit proceduresatiea@ppropriate in the circumstances, but nathi@ipurpose of expressing an opinion on the effenéss of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we expre®ss such opinion. An audit also includes evaluathappropriateness of accounting policies usedtand
reasonableness of significant accounting estinmagee by management, as well as evaluating the lbpegaentation of the consolidated financial steats.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamedfficient and appropriate to provide a basisour audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly in all materéspects, the financial position of CDH CDO LLQlars
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013, and thetsasfulheir operations and their cash flows forykar then ended, in accordance with U.S. geneaaligpted
accounting principles



The accompanying consolidated balance sheet asadrbber 31, 2012, and the consolidated statemEapemations, members’ capital and cash flowslierytears
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were not auditad bnd accordingly, we do not express an opiaiothem.

/sl KPMG LLP

Boston, Massachuse
March 11, 201«



CDHCDOLLC
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2013 and 2012

(In thousands)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalel

Restricted cas

Real estate debt investments carried at fair v
Securities carried at fair vall

Land, building, and improvements, t
Intangible assets, n

Interest and other receivabl

Other asset

Total asset
Liabilities and Capital
Liabilities:
Collateralized debt obligation carried at fair v&
Mortgage note payab

Interest rate swap liabilit
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Member’ capital:
Member!’ capital
Noncontrolling equity interes

Total capital

Total liabilities and capite

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtérsients.

2013 2012
(unaudited
$ 191t $ 1,88t
50 80t
180,09: 185,06(
56,39¢ 95,99«
— 19,90¢
— 1,66¢
912 1,03(
75 1,42:
$239,44.  $307,77.
$166,65° $191,34!
— 22,29
7,245 11,41
2,341 5,427
176,24 230,47-
63,08 77,19t
114 10z
63,19¢ 77,29,
$239,44:  $307,77:




CDHCDO LLC
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited2@htl (unaudited)

(In thousands)

Income:
Interest income on real estate debt investmentsaoutities

Expenses
Interest expens
Fees and expenses paid to related g
General and administrati\

Total expense
Net investment incom

Realized and unrealized gain (loss) from investsie
Realized gain on securities carried at fair vi
Realized loss on securities carried at fair vi
Realized gain on real estate debt investmentsechati fair value
Realized loss on sale of real estate debt investhoanried at fair valu
Realized loss on extinguishment of collateralizeldtabligatior

Total realized gain (loss) from investments,

Unrealized gain on interest rate swi

Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi

Unrealized gain (loss) on real estate debt investsnearried at fair valu
Unrealized (loss) gain on collateralized debt atiign carried at fair valu

Total unrealized (loss) gain from investments,
Total unrealized and realized (loss) gain from sireents
Net (loss) income from continuing operatic

Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operatio
Gain on extinguishment of debt related to disca@thoperation
Loss on sale from discontinued operati

Total income (loss) from discontinued operati
Net (loss) incomt
Net income attributable to the non controlling et

Net (loss) income attributable to memb

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigrsents.

2013 2012 2011
(unaudited (unaudited
$16,82¢ $17,38. $ 16,06«
6,35¢ 6,647 8,56:
1,00(¢ 1,00( 1,00(
62F 1,247 1,904
7,981 8,89/ 11,467
8,841 8,487 4,597
— 1,69( 6,084
(6) (40) (5,500
13,36 1,897 2,972
— — (122
(5,049 (4,169 (2,589
8,32( (614 85(C
4,16¢ 2,25¢ 43C
2,42¢ 7,06% 5,31(
2,441 (10,507 (3,967
(37,489 (2,407 28,67¢
(28,459 (3,589 30,44¢
(20,139 (4,209 31,29¢
(11,289 4,28¢ 35,89¢
(216) (880) (750

4,75¢€ — —

(2,919 — —
1,62¢ (880) (750)
(9,65 3,40¢ 35,14¢
(12) (12) (12
$(9,67) $ 3,39 $3513¢




CDHCDOLLC

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members't@api

Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited2@htl (unaudited)

(In thousands)

Inland
Lexington American
WRT (CDH 1) Sub, Noncontrolling
CDH Il CDH Il
LLC LLC LLC interest Total
Balance at December 31, 2010 (unaudi $11,12: 11,12: 24,95¢ 114 47,31
Distributions to membel (480) (480) (1,367%) (29 (2,35))
Net income 11,71; 11,71 11,71: 12 35,14¢
Balance at December 31, 2011 (unaudi 22,35¢ 22,35 35,29¢ 10z 80,10¢
Distributions to membel (2,895) (53%) 2,779 (12 (6,215
Net income 2,261 — 1,131 12 3,40¢
Transfer of Ownershi 21,81¢ (21,81%) — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C 43,53¢ — 33,657 10z 77,297
Distributions to membel (2,047 — (2,399 — (4,440
Net loss (5,00%) — (4,66) 12 (9,659
Transfer of Ownershi (6,590 — 6,59( — —
Balance at December 31, 2C $29,90( — 33,18« 114 63,19¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigrsients.




CDHCDO LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited2@htl (unaudited)

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incoms
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Realized gain on sale of securities carried atvaline
Realized loss on securities carried at fair vi
Realized gain on sale of real estate debt invedsmwamried at fair valu
Realized loss on sale of held prope
Realized loss on sale of real estate debt investhoanried at fair valu
Realized loss on extinguishment of collateralizeftabligatior
Realized gain on extinguishment of d
Unrealized gain on interest rate sw.
Unrealized gain on securities carried at fair vi
Unrealized (gain) loss on real estate debt investsnearried at fair valu
Unrealized loss (gain) on collateralized debt ddtlions carried at fair valt
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Interest and other receivabl
Other asset
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Repayment of real estate debt investments cartitadravalue
Proceeds from sales of securities carried at e
Proceeds from disposition of real estate debt invests
Purchase of real estate debt investments carrifedr aalue
Repayment of securities carried at fair ve
Purchase of securities carried at fair ve
Proceeds from foreclosure of prope
Proceeds from sale of prope
Purchase of fixed asse
Change in restricted ca

Net cash provided by investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activitie
Repayment of mortgage payal
Repayment of collateralized debt obligation caraéthir value
Repayment of relat-party notes payab
Distributions to membet
Distributions to noncontrolling interes

Net cash used in financing activiti
Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigrsents.

2013 2012 2011
(unaudited (unaudited
$ (9659 $ 3,40¢ $ 3514
841 2,05¢€ 1,89
— (1,690 (6,082
6 40 5,50(
(13,367 (1,897) (2,979
2,911 — —
— — 12z
5,041 4,161 2,58¢
(4,756 — —
(4,16¢) (2,252 (430
(2,424) (7,065 (5,310
(2,447) 10,50: 3,967
37,48¢ 2,401 (28,676
11¢ 14¢ (409
1,34¢ (1,199 49
(3,08 1,58¢ (786)
7,85¢€ 10,20¢ 4,60/
7,407 4,84: 51,08:
— 13,00( 23,19¢
13,36 8,59 35,97:
— — (75,65()
42,01° 3,23¢ 9,17¢
— — (52,019
— — 80
17,82: — —
— (2,239 (467)
755 1,13¢ 40,17¢
81,36¢ 28,57: 31,54¢
(17,53)) (595) (1,079
(67,217 (30,759 (28,659
— — (3,49¢)
(4,440 (6,209 (2,32)
— 12 (29
(89,194 (37,569 (35,579
3C 1,211 574
1,88t 674 10C
$ 1,91¢ $ 1,88t $ 674




CDH CDO LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited2@htl (unaudited)
(In thousands)

2013 2012 2011
(unaudited (unaudited

Supplemental cash flow informatic
Interest paic $ 6,77¢ $ 7,17 $ 8,95(

Noncash investing and financing activiti
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing amahfiing activities

Restricted cash acquir $ — $ — $ 1,88¢
Land, building, and improvemer — — 22,82:
Mortgage note payab — — 23,96

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigrsients.
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CDHCDOLLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

Description of Business

CDH CDO LLC (the Company) is a Delaware limitecllly company that was formed on August 26, 201lGe Company is organized as a limited liability
company (LLC) and at the time of formation was od/nae-third each by WRT CDH Il LLC (Winthrop), Lexjton CDH Il LLC (Lexington), and Inland
American (CDH Il) Sub, LLC (Inland), collectivelthe Members. On May 1, 2012, Winthrop purchasedtteethird interest of Lexington and now owns two-
thirds of the Company. On February 25, 2013, Winitsold a 17% member interest in the Company mbhl As a result of the sale, Winthrop now owns
49.67% and Inland owns 50.33% of the Company. to@ance with the sale, the Limited Liability ComgaAgreement of the company was amended to
reflect this change in member ownership.

In connection with the formation of the Companyaivd made an initial capital contribution of $1G@&B0, which was used to acquire the Company’mlnit
assets, 100% of the common shares of Concord Retatifrg Trust (Concord REIT), a Maryland real estatestment Trust, and other initial permitted
investments acquired by the Company pursuant td i agreement. This acquisition of assets andliii@s has been accounted for on a fair valuesasia
result of the change of control on August 26, 2018 remainder of the opening balance of membeysital represents the excess fair value of the Goryip
assets over liabilities of $24,466,000 upon fororatf the Company and was equally allocated amlo@dtembers. Winthrop is not required to make any
additional capital contributions and Inland is coitived to invest up to a maximum of $14,000,000.6Ligh its wholly owned direct and indirect subsigigy
the Company acquires real estate whole loans dratdinate real estate debt investments such agdénand mezzanine loans, and commercial reakestat
securities including collateralized mortgage-backeclurities (CMBS), which are also referred toitizee pool bonds or rake bonds. A rake bond isnéoju
interest in a securitized mortgage loan, whichifeen structured in one or more classes of CMBS3smued in a transaction that solely relates topaméculal
mortgage loan.

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Concord RE¥fiich was formed by the Company’s predecesso29@6, had a capital structure that consisted of
100,000 common shares and 102 shares of 12% cuveulatieemable preferred shares, which are chaizdeas noncontrolling equity interest on the
balance sheet. The Company owns 100% of the consimemes of Concord REIT while the preferred shareswaned by individuals associated with Winth
and Lexington. These shares represent the nondlorgrequity interest of the Company. Concord REHS the right to redeem the preferred shares if the
Board of Trustees of Concord REIT determines thhee(i) it is no longer required or necessarytf@ entity to qualify as a real estate investnierst

(REIT) or (ii) keeping the preferred shares outsiiag is no longer necessary for the entity to dyas a REIT.

Through its subsidiaries, Concord Real Estate CD@62L Ltd (CDO-1), which wholly owns Concord Reatdie CDO 2006-1 LLC (the Co-Issuer), Concord
REIT completed a nonrecourse collateralized deligation (CDO) transaction in December 2006 whereénfain real estate related and other assets were
contributed to the CDO. Concurrent with the CDOgction, CDO-1 and the Co-Issuer issued $413,88@0investment grade floating-rate notes

(the CDO-1 bonds) and $51,150,000 of preferredesh&oncord REIT retains ownership of CDO-1's prefit shares.

8 (Continued
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CDHCDOLLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

The Company also owns 100% interest in WRP Managehie€C (WRP Management), an entity that providesiagement services to CDO-1. WRP
Management contracted with an affiliate of the Camp WRP Sub-Management LLC, to act as adminis&atianager to the Company.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include toeants of the Company, and its subsidiaries, whieheither majority owned or controlled by the
Company. The Company identifies entities for whiohtrol is achieved through means other than thraaging rights (a variable interest entity or
VIE) through the analysis as set forth in ASC 8Z6nsolidation of Variable Interest Entitieand determines when and which business enterfirise
any, should consolidate the VIE. In addition, tr@®any discloses information pertaining to suclitiestwherein the Company is the primary
beneficiary or other entities wherein the Compaay & significant variable interest. All significantercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

Use of Estimate:

The preparation of consolidated financial stateséntonformity with accounting principles geneyatcepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) requires management to make estimates audrgtions in determining the reported amounts sétasand liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date eftibnsolidated financial statements and the reppant@ounts of revenue and expenses during the ieg
period.

Significant estimates in the consolidated finanstatements include the valuation of the Compareas estate debt investments, securities, and CDOs.
Actual results could differ materially from thosgtimates.

Concentration of Credit Risl

The Company maintains cash deposits and restrietetdl deposits, which balances from time to time;, exaeed federally insured limits. The Comp

believes it mitigates its risk of loss by maintamits cash deposits with major financial instibas. To date, the Company has not experienced any
losses of its cash deposits. Real estate debttineess and available-for-sale securities can p@ténsubject the Company to concentrations of itred
risk. Management of the Company performs ongoiegitevaluations of borrowers and valuations ofréke property and interests that collateralize
the Company’s investments.

Cash and Cash Equivalent

All highly liquid investments with maturities ofrsee months or less are considered to be cash égptisaThe Company places its cash and cash
equivalents in major financial institutions.

9 (Continued
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CDHCDOLLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

Restricted Casl

The Company had restricted cash of $50,000 and,$80%t December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivély.Oecember 31, 2013 restricted cash cot
of $50,000 held by the CDO for current expenses. Dbcember 31, 2012 restricted cash consists go@8Mheld by the CDO for current expenses and
$755,000 held in escrow for future payments of $akesurance, and capital expenditures by the holtidne mortgage note payable.

Fair Value Measurement:

The Company has elected the fair value option tasme certain of the Company’s financial instruraémtluding real estate debt investments,
securities, and its CDO (see notes 4, 6 and 8)fdihgalue of these financial instruments is theoant that would be received to sell an asset iof tpa
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants at the measurement datetfie exit price) and changes in the fair vahee a
recorded in earnings as unrealized gain or lofiserconsolidated statements of operations.

Real Estate Debt Investmen

Loans are stated at the estimated fair value.dsténcome is recorded on the accrual basis inrdanoe with the terms of the respective loan. Laans
which the accrual of interest has been discontirarediesignated as nonaccrual loans.

The Company recognizes interest income on nonpeifigr real estate debt investments using the casis-beethod. The accrual of interest on loans is
discontinued when principal or interest paymengsparst due 90 days or when, in the opinion of memeat, it is probable it will be unable to collect
contractual principal and interest in the normalrse of business. When loans are placed on noreataius, all interest previously accrued but not
collected is reversed against current period isténeome. Income on nonaccrual loans is subselyueaibgnized only to the extent that cash is
received and the loan’s principal balance is deecodidctible. As of December 31, 2013, there is @@ estate debt investment with a fair market
value of $0 on a nonaccrual basis.

Land, Building, and Improvements, ne

Land, building, and improvements are stated abhstl cost. Expenditures for repairs and mainteaare expensed as incurred. Significant
renovations that extend the useful life of the prtips are capitalized. Depreciation for financggorting purposes is computed using the
straight-line method. Buildings are depreciatedr dlieir estimated useful lives based on the prgisesige, overall physical condition, type of
construction materials, and intended use. Improveste the buildings are depreciated over the shoftthe estimated useful life of the improvement
or the remaining useful life of the building at tivee the improvement is completed. Tenant improsets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the improvement or thertef the lease of the tenant.

Upon the acquisition or the change in control aoted for as a business combination of real estaeCompany assesses the fair value of the acquired
assets (including land, buildings, and improvemants identified intangibles such as above- or betwavket leases and acquired
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

in-place leases and tenant relationships) and edjliabilities and the Company allocates purchpie based on these assessments. The Company
assesses fair value based on estimated cash f@cpions and utilizes appropriate discount andtabgation rates and available market information.
Estimates of future cash flows are based on a nuoflfactors including the historical operatinguks, known trends, and market/economic conditions
that may affect the property.

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquieperty is determined by valuing the propertyf &swere vacant, and the “as-if-vacamélue is thel
allocated to land, building, and improvements artifes and equipment based on managerselefermination of the fair values of these asetstor:
considered by management in performing these amlyslude an estimate of carrying costs duringettpected lease-up periods, current market
conditions, and costs to execute similar leasessfimating carrying costs, management includdssate taxes, insurance, and other operating
expenses and estimates of lost rental revenuegitirinexpected lease-up periods based on curreketdemand. Management also estimates costs to
execute similar leases including leasing commission

Real estate investments and purchased intangiblgscs to amortization are reviewed for impairmehenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of an asset group na&ye recoverable. Recoverability of real estatestments to be held and used is measured by
comparison of the carrying amount of an assettimated undiscounted future cash flows expectdzbtgenerated from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset. If the carrying amouramfsset exceeds its estimated undiscounted ftasteflows, an impairment charge is recognized
equal to the amount by which the carrying amounhefasset exceeds the fair value of the assete There no impairments in 2013, 2012, or 2011.
Assets to be disposed of are separately presentbd balance sheet and reported at the lowerrnfieg amount or fair value less costs to sell. The
assets and liabilities are classified separatehett-for-sale in the consolidated balance sheetsage no longer depreciated.

Intangible Assetsin estimating the fair value @& ttlentified intangible assets and liabilities nfacquired property, above-market and

below-market lease values are recorded based atifteeence between the current in-place leaseardta management estimate of current market
rents. Below-markdease intangibles are recorded as a liability andréized into rental revenue over the noncancelpbtods of the respective leas
Above-market leases are recorded as part of iftengssets and amortized as a direct charge againiat revenue over the noncancelable portion of
the respective leases. In-place lease values aeelhgon the Company’s evaluation of the spedifaracteristics of each tenant lease. Factors
considered include estimates of carrying costaxduai hypothetical lease-up period considering otimearket conditions and costs to execute similar
leases. The in-place leases are recorded as ibtaragisets and amortized as a charge to amortizatjgense.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitie

The Company accounts for derivatives and hedgitigiges on the balance sheet at their respectirevialues. On the date a derivative contract is
entered into, the Company designates the derivativather (1) a hedge of a forecasted transaotitime variability of cash flows to be receivedpaid
related to a recognized asset or liability (castvfhedge) or as (2) a derivative trading instrument
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

There were no derivative contracts accounted féveages. The Company carries derivatives at thepactive fair value on the balance sheet and
recognizes any subsequent changes in fair valite statement of operations.

Member¢ Capital

Capital contributions, distributions, and profiteddosses are allocated in accordance with thestefrthe Company’s LLC agreement.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company accounts for its leases with tenantgesating leases with rental revenue recognizeal straight-line basis over the minimum
noncancelable term of the lease. The straightréné adjustment increased revenue by $205,000, $82%nd $57,000 in 2013, 2012, and 2011
respectively, over actual cash received.

Leases typically provide for reimbursement to tleen@any of common area maintenance costs, reatdatas, and other operating expenses.
Operating expense reimbursements are recognizearasd.

The Company recognizes lease termination paymerdscamponent of rental revenue in the period vedeiprovided that the Company has no further
obligations under the lease; otherwise, the leaseihation payment is amortized on a straight-himsis over the remaining obligation. There were no
lease termination payments received in 2013, 281@,2011.

Income Taxes

Concord REIT is organized and conducts its openatto qualify as a REIT and to comply with the psamns of the Internal Revenue Code with res
thereto. A real estate investment trust is generalt subject to federal income tax on the portibits REIT taxable income, which is distributedt®
shareholders, provided that at least 90% of taxableme is distributed and certain other requireimane met. Additionally, 75% of a REIT’s gross
income must be derived from interest on obligatisesured by mortgages on real property or on isteiia real property.

Taxes on income, as applicable, are the respoitgibilthe individual members. Accordingly, no pisien for federal or state income taxes has been
recorded.

The Company reviews its tax positions under acdngrguidance that requires that a tax position orady be recognized in the financial statements
is more likely than not that the tax position vpitevail if challenged by tax authorities. The Compaelieves it is more likely than not that our tax
positions will be sustained in any tax examinatMfe have no income tax expense, deferred tax asseatsferred tax liabilities associated with any
such uncertain tax positions for the operationamf entity included in the consolidated resultspérations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standar

On December 16, 2011, FASB issued ASU No. 2011Balance Sheet (Topic 210)Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilitiegich
requires entities to disclose both gross infornmagind net information about both instruments aadsactions eligible for offset in the financial
statements
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December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

particularly for transactions related to derivasiveale and repurchase agreements and reversmdalepurchase agreements, and securities borrowing
and securities lending arrangements. The new disctarequirements are effective for annual repgrpieriods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
The new disclosures are required for all prior carafive periods presented. The adoption did no¢ lrawaterial impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement

Accounting guidance establishes a fair value measent framework, provides a single definition of falue based on the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiand requires expanded disclosure summarifairgrzalue measurements.

The statement establishes a hierarchy for inpud ilsmeasuring fair value that maximizes the dsgbservable inputs and minimizes the use of unobbde
inputs by requiring that the most observable ifmiised when available. Observable inputs aresrtpat the market participants would use in pridhmey
asset or liability based on market data obtainechfsources independent of the Company. Unobserirghlés are inputs that reflect the Company’s
assumptions about the assumptions market partisipesuld use in pricing the asset or liability lhea the best information available in the circuanses.
The hierarchy is measured in three levels basatereliability of inputs:

Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology aretgd prices for identical assets or liabilitiesgtive markets.

Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology inigwquoted prices for similar assets and liabilitieactive markets, and inputs that are observiabléhe
asset or liability, either directly or indirectligr substantially the full term of the financiakinument.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology amehservable and significant to the fair value measent. Valuations derived from other valuation
methodologies, including pricing models, discourtash flow models, and similar techniques, andbased on market, exchange, dealer, or
broker-traded transactions. Level 3 valuationsiipoate certain assumptions and projections tieahat observable in the market and significantgssibnal
judgment in determining the fair value assignesdtich assets or liabilities.

In instances where the determination of the faueyaneasurement is based on inputs from diffeeargl$ of the fair value hierarchy, the level in thie value
hierarchy within which the entire fair value measuent falls is based on the lowest level input ighatgnificant to the fair value measurement sneittirety.

Fair Value Option

The Company elects the fair value option for reshie debt investments, securities, and CDOs adhepany’s inception and on an ongoing basis. The
Company elects the fair value option to mitigativergence between accounting and economic expoStenges in fair value for assets and liabilites
which the election is made will be recognized imeas as they occur.
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December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

The following is a description of the valuationhe@ues used for investments measured at fair yakievell as the general classification of suckrimsents
pursuant to the valuation hierarchy:

@

(b)

(©

(d)

Real Estate Debt Investmen

Real estate debt investments are nonpublic invegse loan assets collateralized by real estag¢erining the fair value of nonpublic investments
involves a significant degree of management juddrasmo quoted prices exist and such investmeatgemerally very illiquid. Due to the unique
nature of the individual properties collateraliziig Company’s loans, the Company uses the incomearket approach, as deemed appropriate. Fair
value determination through the income approaestisnated through the use of a discounted cashrfiodel. In addition to the characteristics of the
underlying loans (including principal, contractirsterest rate and contractual fees), key inputeéanodel include interest rates, prepayment rates,
credit spreads. Fair value estimates from interahlation techniques are then verified, where fssto prices obtained from independent valuation
specialists that use primarily a discounted caslv fhodel using similar inputs for valuation. Restiade debt investments are classified as LeveltBeof
fair value hierarchy since valuation models areedam significant inputs that are unobservablé&énharket.

Securities

The securities portfolio comprises commercial magerbacked securities. The Company considers #ibiity of quoted market prices. If quoted
market prices are not available for the specifauséy, the Company may estimate the value of smsttuments using a combination of observed
transaction prices, independent pricing serviced,ralevant broker quotes. Consideration is gieethé nature of the quotes (e.g., indicative anfir
and the relationship of recently evidenced markgétity. Management also considers the performaridhe loans and collateral underlying the
securities, the estimated value of the collatarppsrting such loans, and a consideration of landlstry, and broader economic trends and factors.
Because significant judgment and unobservable rhargats are used in the estimation of these netid the ultimate determination of fair values
valuation methodology has been characterized asl 3w the fair value hierarchy.

Collateralized Debt Obligatiol

The Company uses a third-party pricing model taldisth values for the CDO. The model derives vétmeugh a discounted cash flow methodology
that considers credit risk factors and discourd essumptions. Management also performs furthdysis@iving consideration to one or more of the
following criteria as appropriate: (i) interestasffor liabilities of comparable quality and matyr{ii) the value and performance of the undeugyin
collateral, (iii) local, industry, and broader eoamic trends and factors, and (iv) recent marketsimations. Because significant judgment is useden
ultimate determination of fair value, this valuatimethodology has been characterized as Levett®ifair value hierarchy.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has determined that the inputs usealte its derivatives fall primarily within Level & the fair value hierarchy. Currently, the
Company uses interest rate swaps to manage iteshtate risk. The valuation of these instruméntietermined using widely accepted valuation
techniques including discounted cash flow analgeithe expected cash flows of each derivative. &haysis reflects the contractual terms of the
derivatives, including the period to maturity, argbs observable market-based inputs, includingesteate curves, and implied volatilities.
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The Company incorporates credit valuation adjustsyenappropriately reflect both its own nonperfarme risk and the respective counterparty’s
nonperformance risk in the fair value measureméntadjusting the fair value of its derivative catts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the
Company has considered the impact of netting agdhpplicable credit enhancements, such as collgiestings, thresholds, mutual puts, and
guarantees.

(e) Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Bas

The following tables present for each of the falue hierarchy levels the Company’s assets andlitied that are measured at fair value on a récgrr
basis at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Quoted prices

Significant
in active
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable Balance at
assets and December 31
liabilities inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2013
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,91¢ — — 1,91¢
Restricted cas 5C — — 50
Real estate debt investme — — 180,09« 180,09:
Securities — — 56,39¢ 56,39¢
Liabilities:
Collateralized debt obligatic $ — — 166,65 166,65
Derivatives — 7,24 — 7,24
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Real estate debt investme
Securities

Liabilities:
Collateralized debt obligatic
Derivatives
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Quoted prices

Significant
in active
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable Balance at
assets and December 31
liabilities inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2012
(unaudited; (unaudited (unaudited (unaudited,
$ 1,88t — — 1,88¢
80& — — 80t
— 185,06( 185,06(
= — 95,99« 95,99/
$ — = 191,34! 191,34!
— 11,41 — 11,41
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Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Measuremer

The following is a reconciliation of the beginniagd ending balances for assets and liabilities aredsat fair value on a recurring basis using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during tlears ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thdsisa

Real estate Collateralized
debt debt
investments Securities obligations
Fair value, December 31, 2010 (unaudi $219,61¢ 77,97 (270,27°)
Total unrealized and realized gains (los: (1,119 5,89« 26,09:
Repayments of real estate debt investments anditses (51,089 (9,175 —
Repayment on collateralized debt obligat — — 28,65¢
Purchase of real estate debt investments and ses 75,65( 52,01¢ —
Sale of real estate debt investments and sect (35,97) (23,196 —
Fair value, December 31, 2011 (unaudit 207,09¢ 103,51¢ (215,53)
Total unrealized and realized gains (los¢ (8,609 8,71t (6,56¢)
Repayments of real estate debt investments andites (4,84%) (3,239) —
Repayment on collateralized debt obligat — — 30,75¢
Purchase of real estate debt investments and ses — — —
Sale of real estate debt investments and sect (8,597) (13,000 —
Fair value, December 31, 20
185,06( 95,99« (191,34)
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Real estate Collateralized
debt debt
investments Securities obligations
Total unrealized and realized gains (los: $ 15,80¢ 2,41¢ (42,529
Repayments of real estate debt investments andities (7,40%) (42,017 —
Repayment on collateralized debt obligat — — 67,21°
Purchase of real estate debt investments and ses — — —
Sale of real estate debt investments and sect (13,367) — —
Fair value, December 31, 20 $ 180,09:¢ 56,39¢ (166,65)
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) included in egmirelated to investments a
obligations still held at December 31, 2( $ 2,474 2,63¢ (37,489
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) included in egrmirelated to the investments still
held at December 31, 2012 (unaudit (10,507 7,068 (2,407
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) included in egymirelated to investments and
obligations still held at December 31, 2011 (untadji (3,967) 5,31( 28,67¢

The Company received a payment amounting to $13r88% year ended December 31, 2013 from oneestate debt investments that had been
previously written off, and had a fair value of &December 31, 2012.

The following table presents additional quantitatinformation at December 31, 2013, about assessuned at fair value on a recurring and
nonrecurring basis for which the Company has etilizevel 3 significant unobservable inputs to datee fair value (dollars in thousands).

December 31, 201:

Unobservable Unobservable input Weighted
Financial instruments Fair value Valuation technique input value or range average
Real estate debt investme $ 180,09 Discounted cash floo  Discount rate 4.17% to 7.92% 6.21%
Securities 56,39* Discounted cash flor  Discountrate  0.73% to 72.99% 8.0¢%
Collateralized debt obligatior (166,65) Discounted cash floo  Discount rate  14.39% to 37.34¢ 18.5(%
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The following table presents additional quantitatinformation at December 31, 2012, about assessuned at fair value on a recurring and
nonrecurring basis for which the Company has etilizevel 3 significant unobservable inputs to datee fair value (dollars in thousands).

December 31, 2012 (unauditec

Unobservable Unobservable input Weighted
Financial instruments Fair value Valuation technique input value or range average
Real estate debt investme $ 185,06( Discounted cash flo Discount rat 4.20% to 12.40¢ 6.85%
Securities 95,99« Discounted cash flo Discount rat 1% to 111% 8.95%
Collateralized debt obligatior (191,349 Discounted cash flo Discount rat 12% to 143% 15.1%

(g) Transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3nef Fair Value Hierarchy
There were no transfers of assets or liabilitigs/ben Levels 1, 2, or 3 of the fair value hierardlying the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

(h)  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
All financial instruments on the Company’s consatitl balance sheets are carried at fair value.

(4) Real Estate Debt Investment:

Real estate debt investments, consisting of whialed, B-note participation interests, and mezzdoiues, are held for investment and are carri¢deit
estimated fair value. Whole loans are loans todweers who are typically seeking capital for userioperty acquisition and are predominantly colkiteed
by first mortgage liens on real property. B-notesjanior positions of whole loans. Mezzanine loarsloans that are subordinate to a conventidnsal f
mortgage loan, including B-notes and senior taoihr@ower’s equity in a transaction. These loans b®in the form of a junior participating inter@sthe
senior debt. Mezzanine financing may take the fofeans collateralized by pledges of ownershipri@sts in entities that directly or indirectly canhthe res
property or subordinated loans collateralized lmoad mortgage liens on the property.

The following tables are a summary of the Compargés estate debt investments at December 31, 2042012 (in thousands):

2013
Real estate
debt

investments
at fair value Loan count
Whole loans $ 71,90( 4
B-notes 39,58t 4
Mezzanine loan 68,60¢ 4
Total loans $ 180,09 12

19 (Continued



CDHCDOLLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2013, 2012 (unaudited) and 2011 (uteai)d

2012 (unaudited)

Real estate
debt

investments
at fair value Loan count
Whole loans $ 75,92¢ 5
B-notes 39,61 5
Mezzanine loan 69,51" 4
Total loans $ 185,06( 14

The following table sets forth the maturity datesthe Company’s real estate debt investments e¢idber 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Number of
loan asset Percentagt
Par Fair
December 31, 201 maturing value (2) value (3) of total
Year of maturity (1)
2014 5 $100,59: 72,65¢ 41%
2015 3 49,46: 34,98( 19
2016 3 60,62¢ 63,15¢ 35
2017 — — — —
2018 and thereaftt 1 10,00( 9,30 5
Total real estate debt investme 12 $220,68: 180,09 10(%

(1) The December 31, 2013 weighted average maturitysié years. The calculation of weighted averageuntgts based upon the remaining initial term i
does not take into account any maturity extensemiod or the ability to prepay the investment afteregotiated lock-oygeriod, which may be available to
borrower. The weighted average maturity with thereise of any extension options is 1.54 ye

(2) At December 31, 2013, included in the par valuewam®are two loans with an aggregate par valuédfl$9 which have been written down to

(3) Of the 12 real estate debt investments, treomé loan that is not performing and its fair eak$0. The remaining 11 loans included in thevalue at
December 31, 2013 are performing loe
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Number of
loan asset Percentagt
Par Fair
December 31, 201 maturing value (2) value (3) of total
(unaudited (unaudited (unaudited (unaudited
Year of maturity (1)
2013 4 $ 65,44« 21,29¢ 12%
2014 2 51,50( 49,70« 27
2015 4 54,04: 39,547 21
2016 3 63,45( 65,96¢ 36
2017 and thereaftt 1 10,00( 8,54¢ 4
Total real estate debt investme 14 $244,43° 185,06( 10(%

The December 31, 2012 weighted average matisri2yl7 years. The calculation of weighted averagaurity is based upon the remaining initial texnal
does not take into account any maturity extensemniod or the ability to prepay the investment afteregotiated lock-oyderiod, which may be available to
borrower. The weighted average maturity with thereise of any extension options is 2.24 ye

At December 31, 2012, included in the par value amtoare three loans with an aggregate par val$8®609 which have been written down to

Of the 14 real estate debt investments, therenardoans that are not performing and their failueals $0. The remaining 12 loans included in theviaue at
December 31, 2012 are performing loe

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpald one loan for total proceeds of $13,367. Thenpany recognized a net realized gain of $13,367
from the sale in the year. The Company had prelyicesognized an accumulated unrealized loss of38IBrelated to this loan as of the beginning ef th
year.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynpald two loans for total proceeds of $8,592. Toenpany recognized a net realized gain of $292
the sale in the year. The Company had previousiygieized an accumulated unrealized loss of $3,&@fed to this loan as of the beginning of the year

Credit Risk Concentrations

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a numlbdéoorowers, tenants, or issuers related to the i2my's investments are engaged in similar business
activities or located in the same geographic lotasind are similarly affected by changes in econ@onditions. The Company monitors its portfolio to
identify potential concentrations of credit risk.
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The Company’s real estate debt investments containentrations in the following asset types, caiegd by industry as a percentage of the unpaittjpal
balance and fair value of real estate debt invastsres of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013
Unpaid
principal
Asset type balance Fair value
Office 46% 58%
Hospitality 37 29
Mixed use 10 13
Industrial 7 —
Total 10C% 10C%
2012
(unaudited;
Unpaid
principal
Asset type balance Fair value
Office 50% 57%
Hospitality 33 28
Mixed use 8 2
Industrial 9 13
Total 10C% 10C%

As of December 31, 2013, two loans exceeded 108teo€ompany’s assets, and for the year ended Dexnedih2013, three loans generated more than 10%
of the Company’s revenue. As of December 31, 281@ loans exceeded 10% of the Compargssets, and for the year ended December 31, 20&8,loan
generated more than 10% of the Company’s revenue.
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Land, Building, and Improvements andRelatec-Party Note Payable

On April 1, 2011, the Company obtained control miéfice building located in San Antonio, Texas @hit accounted for as a business combination. The
previous owner of the property was in default @itlinancial covenants and the mortgage loan wapeécial servicing. Since the controlling holdethe
debt was a related party, a modification was negediwhere the Company would become the successomeer, the maturity would include
two-one-year extension options subject to a 6% Néddtl Test (tested only to the Senior ParticipaYiand monthly pay downs to the Senior Participetm
the extent of available excess cash. As a restiteo€hange in control, the Company consolidatedpierations of the property. The fair value ofdbsets
and liabilities was calculated by an independeintitparty valuation firm and reviewed by managem@&hie assets and liabilities at the time the compan

obtained control were allocated as follows (in temds):

Amount
Land, building, and improvemer $ 18,04¢
In-place lease vall 1,70:
Above-market lease 354
Below-market lease (25¢)
In-place tenant relationsh 2,30¢
Other intangible: 411
Accounts receivable and other as: a0
Cash and restricted ca 1,96¢
Mortgage note payab (23,969)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (655

The property was sold on August 29, 2013 and thegage note payable was settled for $17,537,008wigsulted in a realized gain on the extinguisttmen
of debt of $4,756,000. A loss on the sale of thapprty and write off of the related assets andlitas of $2,911,000 was recognized.

The Company had purchased an interest rate caéppethat matured on July 31, 2013. The Cap éffdgtfixed the interest rate on the mortgage note
payable at 2% per annum on a notational amoun2®#47,000.

The Company held no land, building, improvementstangible assets at December 31, 2013. The Coyripeld Intangible Assets with a gross carrying
value $4,513,000 at December 31, 2012. The Intémdibsets had accumulated amortization of $2,8488d@ecember 31, 2012.
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Major classes of fixed assets at December 31, 264 2s follows (in thousands):

2012
(unaudited
Land $ 11,77¢
Building 5,36:
Building improvement: 87¢
Tenant improvemen: 2,72
Construction in progres 112
Less accumulated depreciati (944
Net land, building, and improvemer $ 19,90¢

Amortization expense was $522,888 and $1,607,36théoyears ended December 31, 2013 and Decemb20382, respectively.

(6) Securities Carried at Fair Value

The Company has a portfolio of loan securities thelidded 9 investments in pool bonds and 1 investrin a rake bond at December 31, 2013, and
14 investments in pool bonds and 1 investmentraka bond at December 31, 2012. These bonds akedhtr fair value on a continuous basis.

The cost and fair value of securities at fair vakege as follows (in thousands):

2013
Unrealized Unrealized
Par value Cost basi: gains loss Fair value
CMBS:
Rake bond: $ 10,50¢ 10,72: 35 — 10,757
Pool bonds 49,74: 43,031 3,192 (59)) 45,63¢
Total securities at fair valt $ 60,25 53,75¢ 3,22 (59)) 56,39¢
2012 (unaudited)
Unrealized Unrealized
Par value Cost basi: gains loss Fair value
CMBS:
Rake bond: $ 10,71¢ 11,04 — (119 10,93:
Pool bonds 101,68( 77,88 7,53% (359 85,06:
Total securities at fair valt $112,39¢ 88,92¢ 7,53¢ (46€) 95,99«
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The tables below show the fair value of investméntecurities that have been in an unrealizedposgtion for less than 12 months or for 12 momthlnge
at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

2013
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
CMBS:
Rake bond: $ — — — — — —
Pool bonds 34,84¢ (591) = = 34,84¢ (591)
Total securitie: $ 34,84¢ (597) — — 34,84¢ (597)
2012 (unaudited)
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
CMBS:
Rake bond: $ 10,93 (114 — — 10,93: (114
Pool bonds — — 51C (354 51C (354)
Total securitie: $ 10,93 (114 51C (354) 11,44: (46€)

The following tables present the amortized costfairdralue of securities by contractual maturigteb as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands

2013
Cost Fair value

CMBS - rake bonds

Due within 1 yea $ — —

After 1 but within 5 year 10,72: 10,757
Total CMBS- rake bond: 10,72: 10,757

CMBS - pool bonds
Due within 1 yea 2,647 2,85t
After 1 but within 5 year 29,327 32,20¢
After 5 but within 10 year 11,06 10,57¢
Total CMBS- pool bonds 43,031 45,63¢
Total securitie: $53,75¢ 56,39t
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2012 (unaudited)

Cost Fair value

CMBS - rake bonds

Due within 1 yea $ — —

After 1 but within 5 year 11,047 10,93:
Total CMBS- rake bond: 11,047 10,93:

CMBS - pool bonds
Due within 1 yea 652 92t
After 1 but within 5 year 27,84 28,88t
After 5 but within 10 year 49,38¢ 55,25
Total CMBS- pool bonds 77,88: 85,06
Total securitie: $88,92¢ 95,99/

Changes in fair value of securities are reflectethe consolidated statements of operations aslized gain or losses on securities. During the geded
December 31, 2013, the Company received payoffis@fecurities for total proceeds of $35,000,000e Company had recognized an accumulated
unrealized gain of $200,000 at the beginning ofyier related to these securities.

Variable Interest Entities

A reporting entity is required to perform an anéyte determine if its variable interests give @antrolling financial interest in a VIE. The ansily required
under ASC 810 identifies the primary beneficianadfIE as the entity having both of the followir{t) the power to direct the activities of a VIE tthaost
significantly impact the entitg’economic performance and (2) the obligation sodblosses of the entity that could potentiallystgmificant to the VIE or th
right to receive benefits from the entity that @bpbtentially be significant to the VIE. FASB’s acmting guidance on consolidation requires a VIBdo
consolidated by its primary beneficiary.

In addition, a reporting entity must assess whethes an implicit financial responsibility to eme that a VIE operates as designed when detergihinhas
the power to direct the activities of the VIE thadst significantly affect the entity’s economic feemance. FASB requires ongoing reassessments etheh
a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary of . Specifically, the list of reconsideration ev&includes a change in facts and circumstancesawhe
holders of an equity investment at risk as a glogp the power to direct the activities of the tgrttiat most significantly affect the entity’s econic
performance. In addition, a troubled debt-restmictuis also defined as a reconsideration event.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company idedtifivo real estate debt investments and one sgauitit an aggregate carrying value of zero to be
variable interests in VIEs. These investments wleemed VIEs primarily based on the fact that thétgdnvestment at risk is not sufficient to perrtie
entity to finance its activities without additiorfalancial support. The Company has determineditfi@not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs asldes not
have voting or other rights that allow the Compamgxercise control over the borrower entity nothigy have participation features that would regjthie
Company to absorb expected losses or be entitlsst@ve expected residual returns of the borreméty.
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Collateralized Debt Obligation

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the CDO-1 bomligh represent the Company’s CDO, have a congelidautstanding principal balance of
$192,648,000 and $259,865,000 and a fair valua 66,557,000 and $191,345,000, respectively. The @O©llateralized by assets, consisting primaofly
whole loans, B-notesnezzanine loans, and securities with an aggregategtue of approximately $291,639,492 (fair vadfi€236,489,713) at December !
2013, which serves as collateral for the CDO-1 lsond

The seven investment grade tranches of the CDrdwere issued with floating rate coupons witlmalgined weighted average rate of 0.7163% and
0.6921% at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectaetyhave a maturity of December 21, 2016. Therse@westment grade tranches are treated as a
secured financing and are nonrecourse to the Compraterest proceeds received from investmentatathlizing the CDO-1 bonds are distributed to add
of the CDO notes on a monthly basis.

The following tables present the Company’s CDO eténber 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Notes and Outstanding
certificates balance at Borrowing Unaudited
December 31 Ratings
originally spread to (Moody’s/
issued 2013 LIBOR __s&pP)
Class /-1 $202,27! 76,39¢ 0.28% Al/BB+
Class £-2 23,25( 23,25( 0.3¢ Baa3/BB
Class B 46,50( 46,50( 0.41 Ba3/E-
Class C 20,92¢ 10,00( 0.4¢ B2/CCC+
Class D 37,20( 6,00( 0.7t Caal/CCt
Class E 22,087 8,087 1.2C Caa2/CCt-
Class F 24,41 22,41 1.7t Caa3/CCt-
Total notes 376,65( 192,64t
Class G (trust certificate 18,60( — N/A
Class H (trust certificate: 18,60( — N/A
Total $413,85( 192,64
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Notes and Outstanding
certificates balance at Borrowing Unaudited
December 31 Ratings
originally spread to (Moody’s/
issued 2012 LIBOR S&P)
(unaudited (unaudited, (unaudited (unaudited;
Class /-1 $202,27! 143,61! 0.2&% Al1/BBB
Class /-2 23,25( 23,25( 0.3¢ Baa3/BB
Class B 46,50( 46,50( 0.41 Ba3/E-
Class C 20,92t 10,00( 0.4t B2/CCC+
Class D 37,20( 6,00( 0.7¢ Caal/CCt-
Class E 22,087 8,087 1.2C Caa2/CCt-
Class F 24,418 22,418 1.7t Caa3/CCt-
Total notes 376,65( 259,86!
Class G (trust certificate 18,60( — N/A
Class H (trust certificate: 18,60( — N/A
Total $413,85( 259,86!

CDO-1 is subject to covenants that are both fir@rand nonfinancial in nature. Significant covesantlude cash coverage and collateral qualitygtest
CDO-1 was in compliance with its financial coversaat December 31, 2013 and 2012. On February 8, 204 Thanksgiving Loan defaulted due to
foreclosure. Due to this default, the par valuéwess not satisfied which resulted in interest pagta that otherwise would be payable to the Clgds, @nd F
being used to amortize the Class A-1 Notes. TheRdgiving loan was sold on July 5, 2013 and thevpare test was satisfied on the note valuatioontep
dated July 25, 2013. The CDO matures on Decemhe&®b.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to certain risks arisingfboth its business operations and economic canditiThe Company principally manages its exposores
a wide variety of business and operational risksugh management of its core business activitise. Jompany manages economic risks, including istere
rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by manag the amount, sources, and duration of its defdihg and the use of derivative financial instratse
Specifically, the Company enters into derivativeficial instruments to manage exposures that faoisebusiness activities that result in the receipt
payment of future known and expected cash amotirgsjalue of which is determined by interest rafése Company’s derivative financial instruments are
used to manage differences in the amount, timind,duration of the Company’s known or expected cashipts and its known or expected cash payments
principally related to the Company'’s investmentd barrowings. The notional amounts of these agreésneere $137,887,000 at December 31, 2013 and
2012.

The Company’s objectives in using interest ratévdéwes are to add stability to interest expensdta manage its exposure to interest rate movesn€at
accomplish this objective, the Company primarilgaisterest rate swaps as part of its interestisitenanagement strategy. The Company’s inteedst r
swaps are not designated as cash flow hedgesed¢hetpense related to these interest rate swapsnded to $4,678,000 and $4,677,000 in 2013 and,201
respectively, and is included in interest expenmsthe consolidated statements of operations.
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Changes in the fair value of derivatives are reedmdirectly to earnings and the Company recogriZeti68,000 and $2,254,000 of unrealized gain fer th

years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respgcfifed tables below present the fair value of toen@any’s derivative financial instruments as présen
on the consolidated balance sheets as of Deceritb2033 and 2012 (in thousands):

Liability derivatives

Fair value Notional amount
Balance December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
sheet
location 2013 2012 2013 2012
(unaudited’ (unaudited’
Derivatives not designated as hedging instrum
Interest rate cap Derivative
liabilities $ — — — 22,41°
Interest rate swaps Derivative
liabilities 7,24¢ 11,41: 137,88 137,88
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instnis $ 7,24¢F 11,41% 137,88 160,30«
Fair values of derivative
instruments
Location of Amount of
gain gain
(loss) (loss)
recognized recognized
in income on in income on
derivative derivative
Derivatives not designated as hedging instrum
Interest rate swaps Unrealized gait
on interest rate
swaps $ 4,168,001
Total derivative fair value gair— net $ 4,168,00!

(10) Dividends

In order for the Company’s consolidated subsidi@yncord REIT, to maintain its status as a REIMmuist distribute, at a minimum, an amount equ&loh
of its taxable income to its shareholders. Foryers ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, dividemdpresed 100% ordinary dividends. Because taxable

income differs from cash flow from operations daeoncash revenues and expenses, the Company mesatgeoperating cash flow in amounts below or in
excess of its dividends.
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s meshbapital was $51,370,598 and $49,755,800 forriddax reporting purposes as compared to
$63,084,000 and $77,196,000 for financial reporpogposes, respectively.

Relatec-Party Transactions

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 281 Company paid advancing agent fees to Corigdebd Holdings LLC in the amount of $41,000,
$48,000 and $57,000, respectively.

The Company has accrued fees of $250,000 for thesymded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, resgectue to WRP Sub-Management LLC, an
affiliate of Winthrop for providing administrativend management services.

During 2013 and 2012, the Company received advaocésnant improvements from a related third paftyese advances will increase the mortgage debt
upon completion of the improvements.

On October 6, 2011, the Company purchased fronfféiata of Winthrop a $14,000,000 real estate debestment at par, bearing interest at LIBOR ©3(

During 2011, the Company purchased Class E not€®ai-1's CDO for $748,000 with a carrying value$é75,000 and a face value of $9,000,000 from an
affiliate of Winthrop. Those notes were subsequecdhceled.

During 2011, the Company reimbursed an affiliat&fithrop $3,498,000 for an unsecured loan witlyéag amount of $3,498,000 at December 31, 2010,
along with accrued interest at a rate of 12%.

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgkclaims that arise in the ordinary course airiss. These matters are generally covered byaimse.
Management believes that the final outcome of snatters will not have a material adverse effecthenfinancial position, results of operations,iquidity of
the Company.

In January 2010, the trustee for CDO-1 refuseditwel the CDO-1 bonds held by Concord REIT. CDQelght an action in the Delaware Court of
Chancery (the Court) seeking declaratory relief the bonds held by Concord REIT should be cancatetino longer remain outstanding. If the bondsaiem
outstanding obligations, CDO-1 will not satisfy taém of its par value tests. This would resultunds available for interest payments and distrimstion
certain of the CDO-1 bonds being used insteaddeem the most senior class of CDO-1 bonds, themhycing the cash flow to Concord REIT from

The parties in the action brought cross summargrjueht motions, which were heard on April 21, 2020.May 14, 2010, the Court ruled in favor of
CDO-1 and issued a ruling that the bonds be de@aeckled effective January 2010. However, on J4n2d10, the trustee for CDO-1 issued a notice to
appeal the Court’s ruling. On March 4, 2011, thei€auled in favor of the Concord REIT. The Delaw&upreme Court affirmed the Court’s ruling that th
bonds submitted for cancellation should be deenoddmger outstanding effective January 2010.
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In December 2011, Concord Real Estate CDO 2006d1,(the CDO), Cedarwoods CRE CDO I, Ltd., ReseluReal Estate Funding CDO 2006 1 Ltd., and
TCG Holdings | LLC (collectively, the Plaintiffsprought an action in New York Supreme Court (tied trourt in New York) against Galante Holdings;.In
Trimont Real Estate Advisors, Hotspur Resorts Nayath. Aberdeen Realty Holdings, Ltd., Keycorp Restate Capital Markets, Inc., and Douglas S.
Rohrer (collectively, the Defendants). The actionght to enjoin the sale of the mortgage loan ireto the JW Marriott Hotel in Las Vegas, Nevattee (JW
Loan). Both Concord and CDO hold CMBS bonds forahitthe JW Loan is an underlying asset.

As a condition to obtaining the injunction, in Janu2012, the New York Appellate Court required the Plaintiffs post a $2,000,000 surety bondhia
regard, one of the Plaintiffs (the Guaranteeingnéf§ agreed to guaranty the obligations under surety bond. The CDO and each of the other Ffaint
entered into an agreement with the GuaranteeirigtPigursuant to which the CDO agreed to paypits rata share (25%) of any payments required to be
made by the Guaranteeing Plaintiff to the suretydbigsuer as well as 50% of any amounts that tbeottver co Plaintiffs were obligated to the extiety
breached their obligations. Concord, which alsalé@ bond in the CMBS that contains the JW Loareeabto provide cash collateral for the CDO’s
obligations to the guaranteeing Plaintiff. Accoglin such amount was characterized as restrictedsfuManagement believes that the likelihood daarcon
such amounts is remote. As of December 31, 20islitigation has been resolved in favor of theipiéfs and the company was reimbursed $463,00egsl
fees incurred due to this litigation.

Subsequent Event:

In connection with the preparation of the consa#ddinancial statements, the Company evaluatesesjtent events after the consolidated balance dheet
of December 31, 2013 through March 11, 2014, whiah the date the consolidated financial statemeats available to be issued.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of
Sealy Northwest Atlanta Partners, L.P.
Shreveport, Louisiana

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatts of operations, partners’ capital, and cashdlof Sealy Northwest Atlanta Partners, L.P. (the
“Partnership”) for the year ended December 31, 20h&se consolidated financial statements areetfigonsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobdated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&@nited States). Those standards require thailare
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assearainout whether the consolidated financial statésreme free of material misstatement. The Partigisimot
required to have, nor were we engaged to perfonnaudlit of its internal control over financial refiog. Our audit included consideration of internahtrol over
financial reporting as a basis for designing apditedures that are appropriate in the circumstare not for the purpose of expressing an opiniothe
effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal cortrar financial reporting. Accordingly, we expresssuch opinion. An audit also includes examinmya test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurd®inonsolidated financial statements, assessegdbounting principles used and significant etésanade by
management, as well as evaluating the overall diolaged financial statement presentation. We beligat our audit provides a reasonable basis foopinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the results of operations and casls ftd the
Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2@1chriformity with accounting principles generaltcapted in the United States of America.

/sl Frazier & Deeter, LLC

March 9, 2012
Atlanta, Georgia



SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED) AND 2012 (UNAUDTED)

ASSETS
2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings and improvemen $22,600,49 $22,600,49
Land 8,048,57' 8,048,57!
Land improvement 3,967,04. 3,967,04.
Tenant improvement 2,863,86. 2,639,92!
Total property and equipment, at ¢ 37,479,98 37,256,04
Less accumulated depreciati (8,318,16) (7,290,67)
Total property and equipment, r 29,161,81 29,965,37
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 357,75 274,84
RESTRICTED CASH 469,01: 436,73t
OTHER ASSETS
Deferred rent receivab 562,95 534,87
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amatitin of $344,734 and $194,118 for 2013 and : 257,72¢ 408,34«
Prepaid expenses and other as 28,87: 37,39
Tenant rent receivable, r 123,26( 96,31
Due from related partie 7,70C 4,45(
Deferred leasing costs, net of accumulated amdtidizaf $506,729 and $570,058 for 2013 and 2 424,99( 354,60¢
Total other asse’ 1,405,50 1,435,97
TOTAL ASSETS $31,394,08 $32,112,93
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS ' CAPITAL
LIABILITIES
Note payable $13,592,48 $13,773,00
Accrued interest payab 65,54¢ —
Accounts payable and accrued expel 139,72 38,28¢
Unearned revenue 179,15 117,91:
Tenant security deposi 179,20! 156,56:
Total liabilities 14,156,11 14,085,76
PARTNERS' CAPITAL $17,237,97 $18,027,16
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS ' CAPITAL $31,394,08 $32,112,93

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED, 2012 (UNAUDITED) AND2011

2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED) 2011
REVENUES
Minimum rent $ 2,207,701 $ 2,236,501 $ 2,516,60;
Tenant Reimbursemer 413,22: 412,14¢ 444.61(
Total revenue $ 2,620,92; $ 2,648,64 $2,961,21;
OPERATING EXPENSES
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,142,95. 1,245,58! 1,133,83:
Repairs and maintenan 541,08¢ 358,57¢ 432,17(
Property taxe 325,86¢ 346,47 330,23«
General and administrati\ 182,91 190,05¢ 146,13:
Utilities 158,06¢ 153,96« 144,03:
Management fee 93,17+ 94,33! 106,15¢
Insurance 59,40¢ 62,84¢ 66,67:
Bad debt 64,76¢ — 23,53¢
Total operating expens 2,568,23 2,451,83; 2,382,76!
OPERATING INCOME 52,68 196,81+ 578,44«
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Gain on extinguishment of debt and accrued inte — — 9,158,57.
Other income 85,84 13,70¢ 16,29:
Interest expens (927,72() (956,21)) (2,188,04)
Total other income (expens (841,879 (942,50) 6,986,81!
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ (789,19 $ (745,69) $ 7,565,26.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

FOR THE YEARS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED) AND2011

Sealy Northwes WRT-Atlanta,
Atlanta Ventures, L.I L.L.C. Total

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2010 (UNAUDITED) $ 1,413,038 $ 2,119,55 $ 3,5632,59!

Contribution 3,100,001 4,650,001 7,750,001

Net Income 3,026,10! 4,539,15! 7,565,26.
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2011 7,539,14. 11,308,71 18,847,85

Distribution (30,000) (45,000) (75,000)

Net Income (298,27) (447,419 (745,697
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2012 (UNAUDITED) 7,210,86! 10,816,29 18,027,16

Net Loss (315,679 (473,51) (789,19
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED) $ 6,895,18:! $10,342,78 $17,237,97

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED) AND2011

2013

2012

(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED) 2011
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss $ (789,19) $ (745,69) $ 7,565,26:
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @shcprovided by (used in) operating activit
Depreciation expens 1,027,49. 1,128,28 1,019,13:
Bad Debt Expens 64,76¢ — 23,53¢
Amortization of acquired intangible — — —
Amortization of deferred financing cos 150,61t 150,61} 54,11:
Amortization of deferred leasing co: 115,45 117,29! 114,70(
Gain on extinguishment of debt and accrued intt — — (9,158,57)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Restricted cas (32,279 (291,78¢) 254,35(
Deferred rent receivab (28,08Y (586) (84,24Y
Prepaid expenses and other as 8,51¢ 44,96: 17,60(
Tenant rent receivab (91,719 (96,31) 43,86¢
Other receivable — 37,82¢ (37,82¢)
Due from related partie (3,250 (500) 7,45(
Deferred leasing costs pe (185,831) (44,599 (152,359
Accrued interes 65,54¢ (67,829 1,290,73!
Accounts payable and accrued expel 101,43! (95,139 108,14¢
Due to related partie — (386) 38€
Unearned revenus 61,24¢ (6,079 (51,66¢)
Tenant security deposi 22,64 (4,709) 4,37(
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 487,36! 125,39: 1,018,98:
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipm (223,93) (189,23)) (221,76))
Net cash used in investing activiti (223,93) (189,23) (221,76))
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributions from partne! — — 3,100,001
Deferred financing costs pa — — (602,467)
Payments on note payat (180,52)) (196,87¢) (3,130,11)
Distributions to partner — (75,000 —
Net cash used in financing activiti (180,52)) (271,87¢) (632,58()
Change in cash and cash equival 82,90° (335,71¢) 164,64
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 274,84° 610,56: 445,92:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 357,75 $ 274,84 $ 610,56:
Cash paid during the year for inter $ 711,55¢ $ 805,59 $ 843,19:

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED) AND2011

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and f&ncing Transactions:

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Rahipeentered into a discounted payoff option witlender, whereby, the Lender reduced the amoumbtef
payable outstanding by $7,000,000 and reducednioeiat of accrued interest outstanding by $2,158,571

During the year ended December 31, 2011, a refsegt converted $4,650,000 of a note payable tnPes’ capital.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.



SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

ORGANIZATION

Sealy Northwest Atlanta Partners, L.P. (the “Pasinip”), a Delaware limited partnership, was orgediin December 2006 (expires December 31, 2056) by
Sealy Northwest Atlanta Ventures, L.P. (“Sealy"JaifRT-Atlanta, L.L.C. (the “WRT") (collectively, th“Partners”) to acquire, own, operate, maintaia, a
lease certain commercial properties located in dtej Georgia (the “Property”). The Partnershipuiregl the Property on December 12, 2006 and began
operations.

(@) Profits (Losses) Allocatio
Net profits and losses shall be allocated to thénBes in accordance with the terms of the Partrigidgreement. Profits are allocated as follows:

0] First, to the Partners, in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to causeGagital Accounts to equal the balance of their
Additional Capital Contributions Preferred ReturocAunts; ant

(i) Second, to the Partners, in proportion to emthe extent of the amounts necessary to caugethpital Accounts to equal the sum of the
amount referred to in tier (i) above, plus the baéaof their respective Additional Capital Conttibn Accounts; an

(i) Third, to the Partners, in proportion to and todkgent of the amounts necessary to cause theitaCApcounts to equal the sum of the amc
referred to in tier (ii) above, plus the balancehair respective Initial Capital Preferred Retédatount Balances; ar

(iv) Fourth, to the Partners, in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to causedhpital Accounts to equal the sum of the
amount referred to in tier (iii) above, plus thédee of their respective Initial Capital Contrilout Account Balances; ar

v) Fifth, to the Partners, in proportion to andtie extent of the amounts necessary to causeGagital Accounts to equal the sum of the amount
referred to in tier (iv) to be in the same propmr# as their respective Residual Percentages

(vi) Sixth, any remainder allocated to the Partnergapartion to their respective Residual Percentagerésts

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

1. ORGANIZATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Losses are allocated to the Partners as follows:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

First, to the Partners in proportion to andte extent of the amounts necessary to cause therasnby which such Partners’ Capital Accounts
exceed the sum referred to in tier (iv) of the pralfocation shown above to be in the same progastas their respective Residual Percente
and

Second, to the Partners in proportion to and te#tent of the amounts necessary to reduce eatie’ Capital Accounts to the sum refen
to in tier (iv) of the profit allocation shown ak&pvand

Third, to the Partners in proportion to amdthe extent of the amounts necessary to redu¢eReatnersCapital Accounts to the sum referrec
in tier (iii) of the profit allocation shown abovand

Fourth, to the Partners in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to redu¢eReatners’ Capital Accounts to the sum referred
to in tier (i) of the profit allocation shown abeyvand

Fifth, to the Partners in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to reduceReathers’ Capital Accounts to the sum referred to
in tier (i) of the profit allocation shown aboverc

Sixth, to the Partners in proportion to, and togktent of the amounts necessary to cause th@iecgge Capital Accounts to equal ze

Distribution of cash flow

The Partnership’s distributable cash from operatias defined, shall be distributed as follows:

@

(i)

(iii)

First, to the Partners in proportion to theispective Additional Capital Preferred Return Aaecaalances until such balances are reduced to
Zero;

Second, to the Partners in proportion to theireespe Initial Capital Preferred Return Accountdrales until such balances are reduced to
and

Third, any balance to the Partners in proportioth&r respective Residual Percentas
See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentationThe Partnership has adopted Financial Accourtagdards Board (FASB) Codification. The Codifioatis the single official source
of authoritative accounting principles generallgegmted in the United States of America (GAAP) retped by the FASB to be applied by non-governmental
entities and all of the Codification’s content éasrthe same level of authority.

Principles of consolidationThe Partnership’s consolidated financial statemerclude its accounts and the accounts of SeatthWest Atlanta, L.P., which
holds the Property and Sealy Northwest Atlanta G@rigartner, L.L.C. All intercompany profits, batas and transactions are eliminated in consolidatio

Cash and cash equivalentall highly-liquid debt instruments with originahaturities of three months or less are considerdxttcash equivalents.

Use of estimatesThe preparation of financial statements in comity with GAAP requires management to make estisated assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, thelalsire of contingent assets and liabilities athefdate of the consolidated financial statememdstiae
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringploeting periods. Actual results could differrfréhose estimates.

Property and equipmenProperty and equipment, including property imgmments, are recorded at cost. Major renewals arahases of property and
equipment are capitalized. Repairs and maintenareceharged to operations as incurred.

Property and equipment are depreciated over teémated useful lives using the straight-line metHestimated useful lives are 5 to 39 years foldings
and improvements, and 15 years for land improvesa@&epreciation of tenant improvements is compuggdg the straight-line method over the life of the
respective lease. Depreciation expense for thesysrated December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was&A®L $1,128,287, and $1,019,138, respectively.

Restricted cashRestricted cash represents amounts escroweddpefty taxes, insurance, tenant improvements andrissions, and repairs and
improvements.

Deferred chargesDeferred charges consist of financing costs aadihg costs. Deferred financing costs are retatétte Partnership’s note payable.
Financing costs are amortized, as a componenteriist expense, over the term of the loan usingtaed that approximates the effective-interest oukth

Tenant rent receivableThe Partnership’s estimate for the allowanceufarollectible accounts represents the probabletieddosses within its tenant
receivables as of December 31, 2013 and

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIE{(CONTINUED)

2012. The Partnership estimates probable incuogskbk based upon an evaluation of delinquent atxalomg with the Partnership’s own experience with
collections and charge-offs. The allowance for dfullaccounts as of December 31, 2013 and 2012bAas respectively. Bad debt expense for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $647%9%$23,536, respectively.

Revenue recognitionMinimum rent revenue is recognized on a stralgie-basis over the term of the lease agreemegtsakess of when payments are due.
Differences between rents billed in accordance thighlease terms and the minimum rent revenue réoedg) on a straight-line basis are reported asdefe
rent receivable in the accompanying consolidateahitial statements. Tenant reimbursements arenmizesbas revenue in the same period the related
expenses are incurred by the Partnership.

Income taxes No federal or state income taxes are payablé&é&yartnership, and none have been provided theiaccompanying consolidated financial
statements. The Partners are to include their cfigpeshares of Partnership income or losses, m@ted on an income tax basis, in their individaad teturns

The Partnership recognizes the tax benefit frorararertain tax position only if it is more likelyah not the tax position will be sustained on exatidim by
the taxing authorities, based on the technicaltsefithe position. Tax years that remain subj@examination by major tax jurisdictions date baxkhe yea
ended December 31, 2010. Federal and state in@apmsitions taken or anticipated to be taken éniicome tax returns are attributable to the Pestaed
not to the entity. As of December 31, 2013, and22@ere are no known items which would result maerial accrual attributable to uncertain taxitpmss.

Impairment of londived assets and lodived assets to be disposed-dfhe Partnership reviews long-lived assets anticeidentifiable intangibles for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurnstimndicate that the carrying amount of an assgtmt be recoverable. Recoverability of assebsto
held and used is measured by a comparison of th@rggamount of an asset to future net cash flewgected to be generated by the asset. If suctsasse
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/icaramount of the assets exceeds the fair valdieeof
assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported &iviler of the carrying amount or fair value lessts to sell. There was no impairment charge rézedn
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122@htl

Subsequent eventdlanagement has evaluated subsequent events thkbaigh 3, 2014.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COST:

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Partpgrall $602,463 of financing costs related tortee note payable. For the year ended December 31,
2011, the Partnership wrote off $49,918 of finagainsts related to the previous loan paid off ih22(Bee Note 5). Amortization of deferred financhogts
was $150,616, $150,615, and $54,112 for the yemtsceDecember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

The following is a schedule by year of future arization of deferred financing costs, which are geimortized over the life of the note payable:

Year Ending December 3

2013 $150,61¢
2014 107,11:
$257,72¢

Amortization of deferred leasing costs was $115,43717,295, and $114,700 for the years ended Dezer2®13, 2012, and 2011, respectively. An additi
$19,497, $31,646, and $18,090 of commissions wasresed in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, dtieetrelated leases having a life of less thanyeae
or a total commission amount of less than $1,00@. following is a schedule by year of future anmation of deferred leasing costs, which are being
amortized over the respective lives of the leases:

Year Ending December 3

2014 $109,34:
2015 100,22:
2016 78,75¢
2017 46,96¢
2018 41,00¢
Thereaftel 48,70(

$424,99(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Partnership has entered into a managementagnégvith a property management company relat&etdy, and will pay a monthly management fee of
3.5% of gross receipts from the Properties, legglaird-party management fees, 50% of all late paymentsetndned checks collected, and an accountin

of $2,480 per month. Management fees paid to idladeties for the years ended December 31, 20112 20d 2011 were $93,174, $94,331, and $106,154,
respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012ethere $-0- of accrued management fees. The mareagegreement also states that the related party
may receive leasing commissions of 4.00% to 6.008asing commissions paid to related parties foytas ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were
$70,841, $25,855, and $49,418, respectively. Apleyees are currently employed by Sealy Operatiogn@ny Ill, Inc., a related party, and the Partniprs
periodically reimburses the management companthfosalaries of the onsite staff. The Partnersisip i@imburses Sealy & Company, L.L.C., a relatedyp

for miscellaneous postage, copier charges and &tatdément fees incurred.

During 2010 the Partnership paid $10,000 on bejfeédfealy Acquisitions, L.L.C., a related party, émsts incurred related to the loan renegotiatdin.
amounts were collected in 2011. The remaining edlaarty receivables represent amounts paid bidhmership on behalf of the Partners for tax pejmm
and annual registration fees that are expected teimbursed at some time in the future. No intésedue and there are no set repayment termsynfahe
related party receivables.

NOTE PAYABLE

On December 12, 2006, the Partnership enteredamtcquisition loan (the “Loan”) in the amount @B$750,000 with an unrelated third party to obthm
Property. The Loan matured January 1, 2012, baeedst at a fixed rate of 5.7% per annum and reduiterest only payments until the loan matured.

On June 23, 2011, WRT made a $20,641,000 bridgettothe Partnership which enabled the Partnetshsptisfy its $28,750,000 first mortgage loan at a
discounted payoff amount of $20,500,000, resulitin§9,158,571 of cancellation of debt that was reggbas a gain on extinguishment of debt and adcrue
interest in the consolidated statement of operationthe year ended December 31, 2011.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

NOTE PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

On September 29, 2011, the Partnership obtainddcerpent financing in the amount of $14,000,00Gihganterest at Libor plus 5.35% and maturing on
September 29, 2015. In connection with the finagcihe Partnership purchased an interest rate baghwaps Libor at 1% through October 1, 2013. Net
proceeds from the new loan plus additional capitatributions of $4,650,000 from WRT and $3,100,800n Sealy were utilized to pay off the bridgerioa
The loan bears interest at the USD LIBOR - BBA (orenth) as normally published by Bloomberg Profesai Service, which was 0.20% at December 31,
2013, plus a LIBOR margin rate of 5.35%, with aflon the LIBOR rate of no less than 0.25%. Theuniigtdate of the loan is September 29, 2015, with
monthly principal and interest payments being maéhe loan based on a 30-year amortization schedul

A total of $700,000 of the loan was not fundedtom ¢losing date. It has been retained by the lemsian unfunded reserve for leasing costs. Notieesé
funds have been disbursed as of December 31, Z0&3pan is collateralized by a security intereghie Property and an assignment of rents andde@ke
note is personally guaranteed by related parti¢iseoPartnership.

Future scheduled principal maturities are as falevDecember 31, 2013:

Year Ending December 3

2014 178,05¢
2015 13,414,43
$13,592,48

OPERATING LEASES

The Partnership leases the Property to tenants wpeeating leases with expiration dates extenthr020. The leases typically provide for minimwntr
and other charges to cover certain operating exgsemdinimum future rentals on non-cancellable lsagebecember 31, 2013 are as follows:

n

Years Ending December 2

2014 1,986,421
2015 1,613,64
2016 1,354,86.
2017 865,17(
2018 745,57.
Thereaftel 1,118,90:

$7,684,58!

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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SEALY NORTHWEST ATLANTA PARTNERS, L.P.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISF

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit&hndt times may exceed federally insured limitse Tompany has not experienced any losses in such
accounts.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiiements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Partners of
Sealy Newmarket General Partnership
Shreveport, Louisiana

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatts of operations, partners’ capital, and cashdlof Sealy Newmarket General Partnership (the
“Partnership”) for the year then ended DecembefB11. These consolidated financial statementtharessponsibility of the Partnership’s managem@nt.
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobdated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&@nited States). Those standards require thailare
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assearainout whether the consolidated financial statésreme free of material misstatement. The Partigisimot
required to have, nor were we engaged to perfonnaudlit of its internal control over financial refiog. Our audit included consideration of internahtrol over
financial reporting as a basis for designing apditedures that are appropriate in the circumstaree not for the purpose of expressing an opiniothe
effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal corarar financial reporting. Accordingly, we expresssuch opinion. An audit also includes examinmya test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréeinonsolidated financial statements, assessigdbounting principles used and significant esésenade by
management, as well as evaluating the overall fiishstatement presentation. We believe that odit guovides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the results of operations and casls ftd the
Partnership for the year then ended December 31, 20conformity with accounting principles genéralccepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeae been prepared assuming that the Partnershigowiinue as a going concern. As discussed ireab the
consolidated financial statements, the Partnefsh§psuffered a significant decline in operatindidsny from operations and recurring net lossesaddition, the
Partnership’s sole operating asset was foreclosgdgithe year ended December 31, 2013. Theser§agtise substantial doubt about its ability totoare as a
going concern. Management'’s plans in regard toethestters are also described in Note 6. The cafedeli financial statements do not include any adieists that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As discussed in Note 7 and above, the Partnersbgiesoperating asset was foreclosed during thegreded December 31, 2013. Due to this foreclosbestesults
of operations and cash flows resulting from thedétwsed assets have been presented as disconipesradions for the year ended December 31, 2011.

/sl Frazier & Deeter, LLC

March 14, 2014
Atlanta, Georgia



SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED) AND 2012 (UNAUDTED)

ASSETS
2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings and improvemen $ — $36,640,26
Land — 6,286,50
Tenant improvement — 2,359,00:
Total property and equipment, at ¢ — 45,285,77
Less accumulated depreciati — 6,629,12:
Total property and equipment, r — 38,656,64
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 553,77! 482,18:
RESTRICTED CASH — 6,406,93!
OTHER ASSETS
Acquired intangible assets, r — 419,80¢
Deferred rent receivab — 458,28t
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amatitin of $125,758 for 201 — 116,07!
Prepaid expenses and other as 9,53¢ 36,23¢
Tenant rent receivab — 22,44¢
Due from related partie 5,40( 39,10(
Deferred leasing costs, net of accumulated amdidizaf $317,750 for 201 — 291,16:
Total other asse’ 14,93t 1,383,11;
TOTAL ASSETS $ 568,71 $46,928,88
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS ' CAPITAL
LIABILITIES
Note payable $ 392,38t $37,000,00
Accrued interest payab — 9,099,09!
Accounts payable and accrued expel 171,70:. 57,01(
Unearned revenue — 110,47:
Tenant security deposi — 108,04¢
Acquired intangible obligations, n — 30E
Total liabilities $ 564,09( $46,374,93
PARTNERS' CAPITAL $ 4,62( $ 553,95(
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS ' CAPITAL $ 568,71( $46,928,88

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

2013

2012

(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED) 2011
OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrati 5,99% 9,28¢ 39¢€
Total operating expens 5,99¢ 9,28¢ 39€
OPERATING LOSS (5,999 (9,28¢) (396
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Operating loss from discontinued operati (18,876,06) (4,544,98) (4,402,74)
Gain on foreclosure of the note paya 18,332,73 — —
Total loss from discontinued operatic (543,33) (4,544,98) (4,402,74)
NET LOSS $ (549,330 $ (4,554,27) $(4,403,14)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2010

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2011
Net Loss (UNAUDITED)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2012 (UNAUDITED) 177,26:

Transfer of Partnership Interest (UNAUDITE
Net Loss (UNAUDITED)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED) $ 1,47 $

SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

WRT TRS
Sealy Newmarki WRT-Atlanta, Managemer
Ventures, L.P L.L.C. Corp Total
$ 3,043,63 $ 6,467,73. $ — $9,511,36!
(1,409,00) (2,994,13) — (4,403,14)
1,634,63. 3,473,59! — 5,108,22
(1,457,36) (3,096,90) — (4,554,27)
376,68 — 553,95(
— (16,699 16,69¢ —

(175,78%) (359,98¢) (13,556 (549,33()
— $ 3,14 $ 4,62(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiements
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pexvby (used in) operating activiti¢
Gain on the foreclosure of the note pay:
Impairment of property and equipme
Depreciation expens
Amortization of acquired intangible
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of deferred leasing co:
(Increase) decrease
Restricted cas
Deferred rent receivab
Prepaid expenses and other as
Tenant rent receivab
Due from related partie
Deferred leasing costs pe
Increase (decrease)
Accrued interes
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Unearned revenus
Due to related partie
Tenant security deposi
Net cash provided by operating activit
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activiti
Change in cash and cash equivals

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR
Cash paid during the year for inter

2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED) 2011
$ (549,33)  $(4,554,27)  $(4,403,14)
(18,332,73) — —
14,562,20 — —
1,179,09 1,357,44 1,494,51!
61,67( 113,65( 199,18:
29,02: 29,02: 29,02
194,161 111,60 96,34¢
(366,87Y) (1,048,69) (1,216,69)
7,12¢ 59,39° (121,39
2,281,31 99z 382
(330,64:) (14,866 12,16¢
33,70( 44,94 (70,744
(236,85:) (9,277 (180,819
1,375,25 4,293,45. 4,305,47.
192,91 (321,919 77,64
201,52: (9,975 (77,089
1,60( — —
11,90: 5,00( (34,079
315,05! 56,49¢ 110,78:
(243,465) (10,90%) (652,441
(243,46 (10,90%) (652,441
71,59: 45,59 (541,662
482,18: 436,58t 978,25(
$ 553,77 $ 482,18 $ 436,58t
$ — $ — $ 18,84

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

ORGANIZATION

Sealy Newmarket General Partnership (“the Parti@sta Delaware partnership, was organized Mag(®8 (expires December 31, 2056) by Sealy
Newmarket Ventures, L.P. (“Sealy”) and WRT-Atlanitd,.C. (“WRT”) (collectively, the “Partners”) tocguire, own, hold, manage, operate, mortgage,
pledge, sell, assign, transfer and lease certaim@rcial properties located in Cobb County, Georgie “Property”).

On May 30, 2013, WRT-Atlanta, L.L.C. transferresidwnership interest to WRT TRS Management Corjiclwlissumed all obligations of Winthrop under
the governing documents of the partnership.

The Partnership acquired the Property on Augus2@08 and began operations. On December 3, 204 rtiperty was foreclosed by the bank (see Note 7).
(@) Profits (Losses) Allocatio

Profits and losses are allocated to the Partneasdardance with the terms of the Partnership aggae Capital contributions of the Partners doesot
preferred returns. Profits are allocated as follows

0] First, to the Partners, in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to causeGagital Accounts to equal the balance of their
Additional Capital Contributions Preferred ReturocAunts; ant

(i) Second, to the Partners, in proportion to andécettient of the amounts necessary to cause thpitaCAccounts to equal the sum of i
amount referred to in tier (i) above, plus the baéaof their respective Additional Capital Conttibn Accounts; an

(i) Third, to the Partners, in proportion to atudthe extent of the amounts necessary to causepital Accounts to equal the sum of the amount
referred to in tier (ii) above, plus the balancehsfir respective Initial Capital Contribution Acott Balances; an

(iv) Fourth, to the Partners, in proportion to andhe extent of the amounts necessary to causedhpital Accounts to equal the sum of the
amount referred to in tier (iii) above, plus thédee of their respective Initial Capital Contrilout Account Balances; ar

v) Fifth, to the Partners, in proportion to andtie extent of the amounts necessary to causeGagital Accounts to equal the sum of the amount
referred to in tier (iv) to be in the same proptd as their respective Residual Percentages

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiements
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

1. ORGANIZATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

(vi)

Sixth, any remainder allocated to the Partnergapartion to their respective Residual Percentagerésts

Losses are allocated to the Partners as follows:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

First, to the Partners in proportion to andfe extent of the amounts necessary to cause therasby which such Partners’ Capital Accounts
exceed the sum referred to in tier (iv) of the praffocation shown above to be in the same praogastas their respective Residual Percente
and

Second, to the Partners in proportion to amthe extent of the amounts necessary to redudeRmtners’ Capital Accounts to the sum referred
to in tier (iv) of the profit allocation shown akevand

Third, to the Partners in proportion to amdthe extent of the amounts necessary to redu¢eRatnersCapital Accounts to the sum referrec
in tier (iii) of the profit allocation shown abovand

Fourth, to the Partners in proportion to aodhe extent of the amounts necessary to redu¢eRatners’ Capital Accounts to the sum referred
to in tier (ii) of the profit allocation shown abeyvand

Fifth, to the Partners in proportion to and to ¢éixéent of the amounts necessary to reduce eaahe?’ Capital Accounts to the sum referrec
in tier (i) of the profit allocation shown aboveidc

Sixth, to the Partners in proportion to, and toekeent of the amounts necessary to cause th@iectge Capital Accounts to equal ze

Distribution of cash flow

The Partnership’s distributable cash, as defineal] be distributed as follows:

0}

(i)

First, to the Partners in proportion to theispective Additional Capital Contributions Accobiatances until such balances are reduced to zero;
and

Second, to the Partners in proportion to tmegpective Initial Capital Preferred Return Acdolog@lances until their respective Additional
Capital Preferred Return Account balances are etit@zero; an

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

ORGANIZATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Third, any balance to the Partners in proportioth&r respective Residual Percente

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation and principles of consolatati The Partnership has adopted Financial Accour@tagdards Board (FASB) Codification (Codification).
The Caodification is the single official source oftloritative accounting principles generally aceegh the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) muped
by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental exstitind all of the Codification’s content carries same level of authority.

The Partnership presents its consolidated finasta@éments on the going concern basis of accauntitich contemplates realization of assets andfaation
of liabilities in the normal course of businesse(dote 6).

The Partnership’s consolidated financial statemiegiade its accounts and the accounts of Sealyrnket, L.P., which holds the Property, and Sealy
Newmarket General Partner, L.P. All intercompanyfifs, balances and transactions are eliminatedmsolidation.

Use of estimatesThe preparation of financial statements in comity with GAAP requires management to make estisiatel assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, thelalsire of contingent assets and liabilities athefdate of the financial statements and the reda@inounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting perfarigal results could differ from those estimates.

Property and equipmenProperty and equipment, including property imgmments are recorded at cost. Major renewals archases of equipment are
capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are chargepei@tions as incurred.

Property and equipment are depreciated over te#émated useful lives using the straight-line medthestimated useful lives are 5 to 39 years foldings
and improvements, and 15 years for land improvesa@&epreciation of tenant improvements is compuggdg the straight-line method over the life of the
respective lease. Depreciation expense for the

years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 whEa%¥199, $1,357,440, and $1,494,515, respectively.

Deferred financing costsDeferred financing costs are related to the Rastrip’s note payable. Financing costs are amalitase a component of interest
expense, over the term of the loan using a metmaidapproximates the effective-interest method.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(CONTINUED)

Deferred leasing costsDeferred leasing costs are related to commisgiaisfor certain tenant leases. Leasing costsapitalized and amortized over the
life of the respective tenant lease.

Accounting for intangible assets and liabilitie&ccounting guidance for acquisitions of a busingsor to revised guidance effective for the fashual
reporting period beginning on or after December20®8, required that upon acquisition, the purchmige is to be allocated to the components of the
acquisition based on the Partnership’s estimatésaasumptions of each component’s fair value. Themates and assumptions impact the amount &f cos
allocated between components. They also impacedigtion expense and gains or losses recordediore fsales of property. First, the Partnershiprdatess
the value of the physical property including labdildings, and improvements utilizing an “as-if aat’ methodology. Factors considered by management
their analysis of the “as-if vacant” value includst rentals at market rates during an expecteskle@ period and costs to execute similar leashsdimg
incremental tenant improvements, leasing commissiand other related expenses. The Partnershigatsiders information obtained about the propasta
result of its pre-acquisition due diligence.

The balance of the purchase price is allocatedrtartt improvements and acquired intangible assdighilities. Tenant improvements represent thgible
assets associated with the acquired leases andlaesl at estimated fair market value on the adtprisdate considering the remaining lease terrheyTare
classified as a component of property and equipmerhe consolidated financial statements and epeetiated over the remaining lease terms. Expirati
dates of acquired non-cancellable leases exteRd18. Acquired intangible assets and liabilitidatesto the value of acquiring a property with &rig in-
place operating leases and come in three formacéyired lease origination values, (ii) acquirbdwe and below market in place leases, and (iguaed
tenant relationships.

Acquired lease origination values are costs thenBeship estimates, based on terms generally exrpezd in the local market, it would incur to exedetases
with terms similar to the remaining lease termghefin-place leases, including commissions andrao#fiated expenses. They are recorded as a compoinen
acquired intangible assets in the accompanyingatiolaged financial statements and are amortized theeremaining terms of the respective non-caabkl
leases.

Acquired above and below market in place leaseseaded based on the present value (using autiscate that reflects the risks associated wigh th
property acquired and the respective tenants)eflifierence between (i) the contractual amoutetpaid pursuant to the in place lease and (ii)agament
estimate of the fair market lease rate for a coafgarin place lease on the acquisition date, medsurer a period equal to the

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(CONTINUED)

remaining non-cancellable term of the lease. Abroaeket in place leases are classified as a compohecquired intangible assets in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and are amortiseaireduction of rental income over the remaitengs of the respective leases. Below marketédnel
leases are classified as a component of acquitadgible liabilities in the accompanying consol&thfinancial statements and are amortized as aedse to
rental income over the remaining terms of the retge leases.

Revenue recognitionMinimum rent revenue is recognized on a stralgiet-basis over the term of the lease agreemegésakess of when payments are due.
Differences between rents billed in accordance thi¢hlease terms and the minimum rent revenue nézedj on a straight-line basis are reported agefe
rent receivable in the consolidated accompanyingritial statements. Tenant reimbursements areestesirevenue in the same period the related espens
are incurred by the Partnership. For the yearseebadeember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 the Partnershipred $2,410, $10,902, and $18,389 of costiad!
to tenant improvements on behalf of a tenant, whiehreimbursable to the Partnership per the tefrtiee lease agreement. These direct tenant c@sts a
presented as a component of repairs and mainteaadcenant reimbursement revenue on the accompaoghsolidated statements of operations.

Income taxes No federal or state income taxes are payablé&é&yartnership, and none have been provided theiaccompanying consolidated financial
statements. The Partners are to include their ceispeshares of Partnership income or losses, mé@ted on an income tax basis, in their individaa teturns
The Partnership’s tax return and the amount otabite Partnership profits or losses are subjegkémination by federal and state taxing authoritfesuch
examinations result in changes to Partnershipgrofilosses, then the tax liability of the Parsngould be changed accordingly.

The Partnership recognizes the tax benefit frorararertain tax position only if it is more likelyah not the tax position will be sustained on exatidim by
the taxing authorities, based on the technicaltefithe position. Tax years that remain subjeedamination by major tax jurisdictions date baxkhe yea
ended December 31, 2010. Federal and state in@apmsitions taken or anticipated to be taken éniicome tax returns are attributable to the Pestaed
not to the entity. As of December 31, 2013, theeer® known items which would result in a mateaiedrual attributable to uncertain tax positions.

Impairment of londived assets and loAged assets to be disposed-dfhe Partnership reviews long-lived assets aniceidentifiable intangibles for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurnstaimndicate that the carrying amount of an assgtmot be

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(CONTINUED)

recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hettlused is measured by a comparison of the cargyimgunt of an asset to future net cash flows exgdotee
generated by the asset. If such assets are coedittebe impaired, the impairment to be recognigedeasured by the amount by which the carryinguarno
of the assets exceeds the fair value of the agsssdsts to be disposed of are reported at the lofvae carrying amount or fair value less costsdlh The
company recorded an impairment of $14,562,200 w2013 (see Note 7).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Partnership has entered into a managementagnégvith a property management company relat&etdy, and will pay a monthly management fee of
3.5% of gross receipts from the Property less himgl-party management fees, 50% of all late paysant returned checks collected, and an accoufeting
of $2,025 per month. Management fees paid to idiadeties for the years ended December 31, 20112 20d 2011 were $86,612, $97,354, and $104,399,
respectively. The management agreement also stetethe related party may receive leasing comomssof 3.00% to 6.75%. Leasing commissions paid to
the related party for the years ended Decembe2(@®13, 2012 and 2011 were $32,701, $9,276, and $34rBspectively. All employees are currently
employed by Sealy Operating Company lll, Inc.,latesl party, and the Partnership periodically reirsbs the management company for the salarieg of th
onsite staff. The Partnership also reimburses Se&pmpany, L.L.C., a related party, for miscellans postage, copier charges, and bank statement fee
incurred.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122@hd, the Partnership paid $0, $0, and $22,5@perdively, on behalf of Sealy Acquisitions, LLC, a
related party, for costs incurred related to ttemlcenegotiation. The remaining related party ket#es represent amounts paid by the Partnershiygloalf of
the Partners for tax preparation and annual registr fees that are expected to be reimbursedhag sime in the future. No interest is due and tlaeeeno set
repayment terms on any of the related party reb&gaAll amounts are expected to be collected.

NOTE PAYABLE

On August 20, 2008, in connection with the acqiaisibf the Property, the Partnership assumed 20$87Q00 note payable (the “Note”) from the selldre
Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.12% pauanand matures on November 10, 2016, at which ainyeunpaid principal and interest were due. From
December 2006 until November 2011, monthly

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

NOTE PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

interest only payments were due. From December R@fillthe maturity date, monthly principal andergst payments of $224,696 were due. The Note was
collateralized by the Property, an assignment iofsrand leases, all deposits held by lender, et receivables and personal guarantees fronaffiiates
of Sealy. The Note was foreclosed on December B3 26ee Note 7).

Upon closing of the loan, the seller was requiteddt aside certain amounts of the loan proce¢d®atrow accounts to pay future costs such asanee,
repairs, taxes and leasing commissions. Thesewesmmounts were transferred to the Partnership apsamption of the loan. The Partnership was redua
make monthly payments into these escrow accoumaytduture costs such as insurance, repairs, eneteasing commissions. The balances in thesevesc
accounts were transferred to the bank upon forerdos

Since the Note was in default, the Note was sultjettte default interest rate as described in thie f 5.00% per annum in addition to the fixee rait
6.12% per annum, for a total of 11.12% per annuate ffees were charged equal to 5.00% of the payameotint due.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISF

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit&hndt times may exceed federally insured limitse Tompany has not experienced any losses in such
accounts.

GOING CONCERN

The Partnership has a history of recurring lossdsnegative cash flows from operating activitiearibg the year ended December 31, 2013, the sole
operating asset of the Partnership was foreclasszi Nlote 7). The Partnership is currently evalgatsoptions regarding future operations and fogdi
sources. No assurance can be given that the Paripevill continue in its current form and struawor whether additional debt and/or equity canaised an:
if available it will be on terms acceptable to Pertnership. Collectively, these factors raise suit®l doubt about the Company’s ability to conéras a
going concern.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemdmtsot include any adjustments that might be necgshould the Partnership be unable to restruthere
debt and continue in existence as a going concern.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The historical operating results and gains (losies) the disposition of certain assets, includipgrating properties sold, are required to be ctdtkin a
separate section (“discontinued operations”) indhesolidated statements of operations for allqusrpresented. As a result, the revenues and eepehs
Sealy Newmarket, L.P. are included in loss froncaliginued operations in the accompanying conse@latatements of operations for all periods present

On December 3, 2013, the property was foreclosetidpank. Thus, the partnership recorded a gath@foreclosure of the note payable of $18,332at81
a loss on the impairment of property and equipméfti4,562,200. The gain on the foreclosure ofribie payable was based on the fair value of theeastp
and equipment of $24,675,000, which was basedesadtes price of the property sold by the banis, tles note payable of $37,000,000, accrued interest
payable of $10,474,352, offset by restricted cds$dp166,622 transferred to the bank. The loserfareclosure of the property and equipment wasdan
the fair value of the property and equipment of,$28,000, less The net book value of the propertyequipment of $37,766,993, net book value of
intangible assets of $1,216,567, and net uneamamue and uncollected tenant receivables of $263,6

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments
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SEALY NEWMARKET GENERAL PARTNERSHIP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 (UNAUDITED), 2012 (UNAUDITED), AND 2011

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS(CONTINUED)

The following table shows the revenues and expeofsie above-described discontinued operations.

REVENUES
Minimum rent
Tenant Reimbursemer
Total revenue
OPERATING EXPENSES

Impairment of property and equipme

Depreciation and amortizatic

Repairs and maintenan

Property taxe

General and administrati\

Management fee

Bad Debi

Insurance

Total operating expens

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Gain on the foreclsoure of note paya

Other income
Interest expens

Total other expens
NET LOSS

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finkesteiments

14

2013

2012

(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED) 2011
$ 2,200,32 $ 2,305,48 $2,628,89
295,47! 302,38 379,43
$ 2,495,79 $ 2,607,87 $ 3,008,33
14,562,20
1,318,16 1,502,97 1,648,56
529,32 549,62 644,25(
307,52 323,18: 336,18:
538,41 289,37 244,54(
86,61 97,35¢ 104,39¢
— — 22,64¢
74,39¢ 74,15" 75,72
17,416,64 2,836,66 3,076,30.
(14,920,85) (228,790 (67,97)
18,332,73
14,37: 6,27¢ 18,56:
(3,969,58) (4,322,47) (4,353,33)
14,377,51 (4,316,19) (4,334,77)
$  (543,33) $ (4,544,98) $(4,402,74)




